## HAAG DUALITY AND JONES-KOSAKI-LONGO INDEX

IN

KITAEV'S QUANTUM DOUBLE MODELS FOR FINITE ABELIAN GROUPS

Von der Fakultät für Mathematik und Physik der Gottfried Wilhelm Leibniz Universität Hannover zur Erlangung des Grades

> "Doktor der Naturwissenschaften" (Dr. rer. nat.)

> > genehmigte Dissertation von

Leander Karl Wilhelm Fiedler, M. Sc.

2017

Referent: Prof. Dr. Reinhard F. Werner Korreferent: Dr. Pieter Naaijkens Tag der Promotion: 18.01.2017

## Kurzzusammenfassung

Inhalt dieser Dissertation ist die Untersuchung analytischer Aspekte des thermodynamischen Limes des Kitaev Quantum Double Modells für endliche abelsche Gruppen. Es wird gezeigt, dass in der GNS Darstellung des eindeutig bestimmten translationsinvarianten Grundzustands die von Neumann Algebren der in Kegeln lokalisierten Operatoren die Eigenschaft der Haag-Dualität erfüllen. Unter Zuhilfenahme der im Verlauf des Beweises für die Haag Dualität entwickelten Techniken wird der Jones-Kosaki-Longo Index für bestimmte Inklusionen von von Neumann Algebren in der Grundzustandsdarstellung berechnet. Dies erlaubt die vollständige Charakterisierung der Superauswahlsektoren gemäß einer kürzlich entwickelten Klassifizierung solcher fundamentalen Ladungen in zweidimensionalen Quantengittersystemen. Letztere sind Äquivalenzklassen von Darstellungen der quasilokalen Algebra, welche einer DHR-artigen Auswahlregel genügen. Im Zuge dessen lässt sich eine Version der Split-Eigenschaft für von Neumann Algebren von in Paaren disjunkter Kegel lokalisierter Operatoren zeigen. Der für die Klassifizierung der Sektoren berechnete Jones-Kosaki-Longo Index ist im Quantum Double Modell für endliche abelsche Gruppen durch die totale Quantendimension der modularen Tensorkategorie gegeben, welche die lokale Anregungsstruktur charakterisiert. Darüber hinaus kann der Index als Dimension des Kodierungsraumes eines Verfahrens für Geheimnisteilung interpretiert werden. Das steht im Zusammenhang mit der operationellen Interpretation einer relativen Entropie der Inklusion, welche gleich dem Logarithmus des Index ist, als die zusätzliche Information, welche mithilfe den zusätzlichen Operationen der größeren von Neumann Algebra der Inklusion in die Kodierungszustände chiffriert werden kann. Als Resultat erhält man eine Struktur, welche auch in der Analyse der Quantum Double Modelle für endliche Systemgrößen zu finden ist.

SCHLAGWORTE: Quantum Double Modell, Superauswahlsektoren, Index Theorie v

## Abstract

Content of this thesis is the study of analytic aspects of the thermodynamic limit of Kitaev's quantum double models for finite abelian groups. We prove that in the GNS representation of the unique translationally invariant ground state the von Neumann algebras of observables localised in cones satisfy Haag duality. The techniques developed in the proof of Haag duality are then used to derive the Jones-Kosaki-Longo index of certain inclusions of von Neumann algebras in the representation of the translationally invariant ground state. By a recent result on the classification of charges in two-dimensional quantum many body systems, this allows to fully characterise the superselection sectors obtained from a DHR like selection criterion. In the course of this we give an explicit proof of a version of the split property, called approximate split property, for von Neumann algebras associated with pairs of disjoint cones. The Jones-Kosaki-Longo index derived for the classification of the superselection sectors is equal to the total quantum dimension of modular tensor category characterising the local excitations. Moreover, it can be interpreted as dimension of the code space of a secret sharing scheme and its logarithm is equal to a relative entropy of the inclusion giving it an operational interpretation. This resembles a structure which is also found in the analysis of the quantum double models in finite system sizes.

KEYWORDS: Quantum Double Model, Superselection Sectors, Index Theory

vii

## Contents

Co	Contents				
Li	List of Figures				
Pu	Publications				
In	trodu	ction	xv		
	Торо	blogical Order	xv		
	Clas	sifying Topological Order	xvii		
	Beyo	ond Finite Systems Sizes	xix		
	Stru	cture of the Thesis	xxi		
1	Preliminaries				
	1.1	C*-Algebras	2		
	1.2	Crossed Products and Index Theory	10		
	1.3	Quantum Spin Systems	25		
	1.4	Quantum Double of Finite Groups	30		
2	Kitaev's Quantum Double Model				
	2.1	Sites and Ribbons	39		
	2.2	Local Hilbert Spaces	43		
	2.3	Ribbon Operators	44		
	2.4	The Hamiltonian	46		
	2.5	Charge Projections	47		
	2.6	Properties of Ribbon Operators	49		
	2.7	The Abelian Model	59		
			ix		

	2.8	The Thermodynamic Limit	64		
	2.9	Notation	67		
3	Haa	g Duality in the Quantum Double Model for Finite Abelian Groups	69		
	3.1	Cones	70		
	3.2	Preliminaries	75		
	3.3	Three Lemmas	76		
	3.4	The Reduced Commutation Problem	82		
4	Jone	es-Kosaki-Longo Index and Further Structure	89		
	4.1	Superselection Sectors	89		
	4.2	Approximate Split Property and Jones-Kosaki-Longo index	98		
	4.3	Further Structure of the Inclusion	113		
	4.4	Total Quantum Dimension and Secret Sharing	123		
5	Sun	nmary and Outlook	129		
	5.1	Outlook	132		
Ac	Acknowledgements				
Li	Literature				
In	Index				
No	Notational Index				
Cı	Curriculum Vitae 1				
	Academic Career				

x

# List of Figures

2.1	Triangles and ribbons	41
2.2	Crossed and deformed ribbons	42
3.1	Cones and their complements	74
3.2	Illustration of the main cases in Lemma 3.3.2	80
4.1	Cones $\Lambda_1 \ll \Lambda_2$	99
4.2	Different concepts related to the total quantum dimension	126

xi

## Publications

- [Abd+16] Kais Abdelkhalek, Wissam Chemissany, Leander Fiedler, Gianpiero Mangano and René Schwonnek. 'Optimal uncertainty relations in a modified Heisenberg algebra' (2016). arXiv: 1607.00081.
- [FN15] Leander Fiedler and Pieter Naaijkens. 'Haag duality for Kitaev's quantum double model for abelian groups'. *Reviews in Mathematical Physics* 27.09 (2015), p. 1550021. DOI: 10.1142/s0129055x1550021x. arXiv: 1406.1084.
- [FNO17] Leander Fiedler, Pieter Naaijkens and Tobias J Osborne. 'Jones index, secret sharing and total quantum dimension'. New Journal of Physics 19.2 (Feb. 2017), p. 023039. DOI: 10.1088/1367-2630/aa5c0c. arXiv: 1608.02618.

xiii

## INTRODUCTION

In the past 40 years, systems that exhibit phase transitions not covered by Landau's theory of symmetry breaking have gained broad interest in the fields of condensed matter physics, quantum information and mathematical physics. In the theory of symmetry breaking, phase transitions in a quantum spin system are explained by the transition from a disordered, symmetric phase to an ordered phase in which the the state under consideration no longer obeys the symmetry of the system's dynamics [Lan08]. The phase transition can be characterised by a local order parameter, such as the magnetisation or the temperature, and a phase transition occurs if the order parameter becomes non-analytic at some value of the system parameters [Rue69].

In contrast, exotic systems falling outside the paradigm of symmetry breaking are characterised by stability of the ground state against local perturbations of the Hamiltonian and phase transitions of such systems are characterised by non-local order parameters. Another remarkable property of these systems outside framework of symmetry breaking is that the degeneracy of the ground state depends on the topology of the manifold in which the system is embedded. Typical examples for such systems are the fractional quantum hall liquids [KL87; Hal88] and spin liquids [KT73; WWZ89; Kit03; LW05], which can break time and parity symmetry, and can be gapped or gapless.

#### TOPOLOGICAL ORDER

Several definitions of topological order were introduced which are supposed to capture essential features of such systems. For example, the topological quantum order conditions [BHV06; NO09; BHM10; BH11] and variants thereof [RS15; JP13]

xv

address the stability against local perturbations. These conditions are influenced by intuition from quantum error correction (c.f. [KL95; BNS98]) and in fact a large class of models for topologically ordered systems, or rather states, in this sense are provided by surface codes and other topological quantum codes [Kit97; Den+02; BM06; CN08; KL09; Bom13]. In addition to the stability against local perturbations these states exhibit a degeneracy depending only on the topology in which the system is embedded. They are degenerate in the sense that for a fixed system there are multiple, distinct states which are not distinguishable by local operations but only by operations that affect large parts of the system. In fact, these states are the code states of a stabiliser code and the latter operations are given by the logical operators of this code [Kit97; Got97]. This allows for fault tolerant encoding of quantum information, hence makes them promising candidates for quantum memories. Moreover, by using the stability of these non-local operators against perturbations, these models allow for quantum computation [Den+02; KL09; Bom13] or even universal quantum computation, if the models underlying the constructions are complex enough [Moc03; Moc04]. These states also occur as ground states of local, gapped Hamiltonians, where the local terms of the Hamiltonians correspond to the stabilisers of the error correcting code [Kit03; BM08; Bre14].

Other closely related approaches follow an intuition that is derived from the theory of phase transitions by defining quantum phases as equivalence classes of ground states of homotopy equivalent Hamiltonians [CGW10]. More precisely, a quantum phase is given by those ground states whose Hamiltonians can be connected by a smooth path of Hamiltonians such that no phase transition occurs along the path. A quantum phase transition occurs, if at some point along a smooth path of Hamiltonians, the expectation values of local observables in the Hamiltonian's ground state exhibit a singularity in the thermodynamic limit of the system. As product states do not contain any quantum correlations between different particles, they are canonical representations of the class of topologically trivial states. Topologically ordered states are then those states, which cannot be connected to topological trivial states with a smooth path of Hamiltonians without undergoing a phase transition. If the Hamiltonian of one ground state is gapped, then this means that the ground state of another gapped Hamiltonian is in the same phase if they are connected by a smooth path of gapped Hamiltonians. In this case the ground state degeneracy is preserved when moving the system along this path. In a sense this approach extends Landau's theory of phase transition

xvi

by symmetry breaking: The topological trivial phase can be divided further into smaller equivalence classes if one requires that symmetries are preserved when changing the system. This results in the so-called symmetry protected topological orders [CGW10; Che+13; EN14; LL13].

Yet another approach to define topological phases, and hence topological order, is by equivalence under finite depth local unitary circuits [CGW10]. This has the advantage of being more accessible for numerical investigations [Osb06; Osb07]. This approach is motivated by the observation that for a given smooth path of gapped local Hamiltonians one can construct a one-parameter family of unitary operators that connects the ground space of the Hamiltonians along the path and which preserves locality of operators up to an arbitrarily small error [HW05; Bac+11]. This shows that, as long the gap stays open, small enough local perturbations of the local Hamiltonian does not change the physics of the ground space. This is complemented by the observation that small enough local perturbations of gapped, local commuting Hamiltonians [BHM10; BH11] do not close the gap. The quasi-adiabatic continuation and the finite depth local unitary quantum circuits share the property that they spread correlations through the system only linearly w.r.t. the parameter of the continuation and the depth of the circuit, respectively [BHV06; HW05; Bac+11; BB15]. This supplies the intuition that topologically ordered states are long-range entangled in contrast to topologically trivial states which are short-ranged entangled but can contain long-range classical correlations. Several further approaches to topological order suitable for purposes of numerical investigations use, among others, projected entangled pair states [Sch+12], matrix product operators [Sah+14] and more general, tensor networks [CV13].

#### CLASSIFYING TOPOLOGICAL ORDER

There are several immediate questions that arise. First, to which extent are the above approaches equivalent? Clearly they are related and intuitively capture much of the same physics. Up to now this seems not to be entirely answered, though some partial results are available [BHM10; Osb07]. Another and related question is, how can one classify topologically ordered phases? Does a complete classification scheme even exist? The nature of topological order indicates that phase is a property of the states alone. If the state under consideration is the ground state of a local, gapped Hamiltonian then its topological order should not depend on the details of the high energy spectrum of the Hamiltonian by

xvii

the quasi-adiabatic continuation [HW05]. Moreover, since we are interested in topological order only for pure states, we can always interpolate between different Hamiltonians with the same ground states and without changing the ground space. Thus, it is not important which Hamiltonian we are considering, as long as its ground state space describe the same ground states. This suggests that quantum phases can be understood as equivalence classes of only states under a suitable equivalence relation. The underlying equivalence relations then determine how well we can distinguish different quantum phases. A classification scheme then consists in finding invariants associated to these classes which can be calculated from any representative from the class of states. Such a scheme is complete if there exists a one-to-one mapping between invariants and phases.

For one-dimension quantum spin systems it was shown that gapped Hamiltonians of finite interaction range only give rise to topological trivial phases [CGW11]. Thus the only interesting phases of one-dimensional gapped are the symmetry protected phases. Related to this, there are are classification schemes in onedimensional systems on the level of local unitary dynamics [Gro+09; Ced+15] and for fermionic systems [Kit09].

In two-dimensional quantum spin systems, topological order is generally associated with the occurrence of anyons, i.e. particles with statistics different form the usual fermi or bose statistics. This is illustrated by Kiteav's quantum double models[Kit03] and by the string-net models [LW05]. It is an open question what the correspondence between gapped Hamiltonians in two spatial dimensions, and modular tensor categories is [Haa16], but it is expected that topological order in two dimensions is fully characterised by modular tensor categories [BN13].

One candidate for and invariant in two-dimensional systems is the topological entanglement entropy [KP06; LW06]. It is derived only from the state under consideration, but suffers certain shortcomings due Bravyi's counter example (c.f. the introduction of [Haa16]). However, it is stable under the quasi-adiabatic continuation [Mar+14]. Unfortunately, it does not provide a complete classification: For systems satisfying an area law it corresponds to a constant correction to the entanglement entropy, which, for the quantum double models and the string-net models (and other anyon models), coincides with the logarithm of the total quantum dimension of the model's underlying modular tensor category. However, the total quantum dimension does not uniquely identify a modular tensor category. Nevertheless, non-zero topological entanglement entropy is considered as a good indicator for the presence of topological order in a state. Some of its

xviii

important properties are that it is considered to be stable under local perturbations that are smaller than the region it is derived from [KP06; LW05] (c.f. [Kim12]), it can be extended to systems with defects [Bro+13] and it is equivalent to an optimal sharing rate in a secret sharing scheme [KFM16].

Another approach to find invariants for 2-dimensional systems aims at computing the topological S-matrix from the ground state [ZGV14; Haa16]. This matrix is stable against local unitary transformations [Haa16], and coincides with the Smatrix of the underlying modular tensor category in the case of the toric code. This suggests that it allows to recover at least parts of the anyonic structure encoded in the state. This invariant is not complete as well, since the S-matrix itself does not uniquely determine a modular tensor category. In fact even the classification of the latter is far from being solved [RSW09].

#### BEYOND FINITE SYSTEMS SIZES

Most of the approaches mentioned in the previous sections have in common that they are taken in systems of finite size, i.e. finite volume and finite particle numbers. The account for the thermodynamic limit is then given by analysing the scaling of the quantities of interest in the limit of large volumes and particle numbers. This raises the issue of intricate and often not very precise notations to keep track of the system size. Furthermore, some assumptions on the systems, such as the the gap between the ground state energy and the higher excitations, or the observation whether a phase transition occurs, make only sense in the thermodynamic limit. An indicator that this could be problematic is given by the undecidability whether a given Hamiltonian has a gap on the basis of its local data [CPW15a; CPW15b]. In addition, there exist models for which deciding the topological order of the ground state depends on the size of the system [Bau+15]. Another example is the definition of the topological entanglement entropy, or, more precisely, the assumption of an area law. It asserts that the von Neumann entropy of the ground state when reduced to a finite region, scales with the size of the boundary of that region plus a correction that, asymptotically, i.e. in the limit of large particle numbers and large volumes, depends linearly on the system size (c.f. [KP06; LW06]).

For purposes of numerical computations, however, the thermodynamic limit is impractical and for this reason it is necessary to have analytic results in systems of finite size. Nevertheless, topological order is a global feature that does not depend on the small scale details of the states. This raises the question whether working

xix

directly in the thermodynamic limit allows one to gain a deeper understanding of this phenomena. In other words, is it possible to understand general features of topological order by abstracting possibly unnecessary details way? Can this help us to understand possible classifications of quantum phases? An advantage of transitioning to the limit of infinite volumes and particle numbers is that the mathematical theory describing this setting is already developed [BR96]. Furthermore, some difficulties arising in the discussion of finite system sizes become much simpler. For instance, relative notions to the system size become unnecessary when trying to define local operations: an observable acts locally, if it acts only on a finite number of particles.

Several methods of analysing quantum many body systems have been developed and generalised to this setting that are useful to investigate topological order, such as Lieb-Robinson bounds [NS10] and Hasting's quasi-adiabatic continuation [Bac+11]. Systems that have been analysed in this mathematical framework include the toric code [Naa11; Naa12b; Naa13a], product vacua with boundary states [BN12; Bac+15] and Kitaev's quantum double models for finite abelian groups [FN15; CNN16]. An important aspect of opening up to a different mathematical field is that it allows us to import new mathematical tools that are potentially helpful in the understanding of topological order. For instance, implementations of the program by Doplicher, Haag and Roberts (DHR) for determining the superselection sectors, or elementary charges, of a theory were used for certain twodimensional systems with quantum symmetries [SV93], for the toric code [Naa11; Naa13a] and Kitaev's quantum double models for finite abelian groups [FN15]. Reference [Naa13a] also provides a general scheme for the classification of superselection sectors in two-dimensional lattice systems via the Jones-Kosaki-Longo index. In the case of the toric code this index is equal to the square of the total quantum dimension of the model. This suggests that it should be related to the topological entanglement entropy. Indeed, the Jones-Kosaki-Longo index is related to a secret sharing scheme, and is connected to a relative entropy [FNO17]. Hence, the index has a structure that is comparable with the topological entanglement entropy [KFM16].

xх

#### STRUCTURE OF THE THESIS

Central to this thesis is the development of certain technical tools to analyse the structure of elementary charges in the thermodynamic limit of Kitaev's quantum double model for finite abelian groups. The quantum double models are a class of toy models introduced by Kitaev [Kit97; Kit03] and they are stabiliser error correction codes implemented on two-dimensional surfaces. The class of models is parametrised by finite groups, and the dynamics of this model is given by a four body Hamiltonian whose ground state space dimension depends only on the topology of embedding surface. They were introduced as examples for systems that can implement fault tolerant quantum computation. However, this is possible only if the groups are complex enough [Moc03; Moc04], and if the systems are kept at zero temperature. At finite temperatures the thermal states are no longer topologically ordered [Has11], for the reason that moving excitations does not cost energy. The latter makes error correction potentially difficult, however, there are methods using classical post-processing which can compensate for this [Den+02]. Nevertheless, Kitaev's quantum double models are considered very useful as toy models for topologically ordered systems; they are analytically solvable, the excitation structure is well understood [Kit03; BM08] and they exhibit many properties which are considered typical for topologically ordered systems [CC07; Bro+11].

In Chapter 1 we introduce the mathematical tools used to treat the thermodynamic limit of quantum spin systems. More precisely, we give a brief introduction in fundamental notions of the theory of C\*-algebras and von Neumann algebras. This is followed by a discussion of the index theory of inclusions of von Neumann algebras by Jones and Kosaki. As an example which we also will use in the discussion of the superselection sectors of the quantum double model, we discuss crossed products of von Neumann algebras with finite groups and review how the index theory applies there. This is followed by a discussion on how quantum spin systems are treated in the thermodynamic limit using the theory of C\*-algebras. In detail, this includes the thermodynamic limit as an inductive limit of C\*-algebras, existence of dynamics generated by local Hamiltonians and an algebraic characterisation of ground states. The last part is devoted to Drinfel'd's quantum double of finite groups. We give a review of the construction of Drinfel'd's quantum double and its representation structure.

Chapter 2 starts with a review of Kitaev's quantum double models for finite groups on the two-dimensional square lattice. The purpose of this chapter is to

xxi

give a largely self-contained, technical introduction to the model with emphasis on the structure of the ribbon operators. We start with an introduction of the fundamental geometric notions such as triangles and ribbons, where we largely follow the notation in reference [BM08]. This is followed by the definition of ribbon operators which are then used to set up the Hamiltonian of the quantum double model, and the local charge projections. The properties of the local excitations above the ground state of the Kitaev Hamiltonian are determined by the commutation relations of the ribbon operators. For this reason we elaborate on the the commutation relations of ribbon operators for different configurations of ribbons. The last two sections of this chapter contains a short review of this discussion in the case that the model's underlying finite group is abelian, and a remark on the existence and uniqueness of the translationally invariant ground state of the Hamiltonian in the thermodynamic limit.

Having established the basic basic notions of the theory of operator algebras and of the quantum double model we proceed in Chapter 3 to the proof of Haag duality for cone algebras in the GNS representation of the translationally invariant ground state. These results are also published in [FN15]. Haag duality for cone algebras is a technical property which says that observables which commute with the observables localised in a cone are exactly given by the observables located in the complement of the cone. While this is a trivial statement in for finite regions, it is not obvious that it also holds for any infinite regions. In fact, it is not true for the observable algebras associated to unions of disjoint cones. Haag duality is an important tool in the analysis of the superselection sectors of the theory. While it is possible to construct representatives of some sectors explicitly without using Haag duality, it is necessary to show that the properties of the explicit representatives carry over to the whole sectors. In addition of its usefulness in the analysis of the properties of the superselection sectors, Haag duality is needed to show the completeness of the sectors.

In the first part of Chapter 4 we review a DHR-like selection criterion for superselection sectors and the construction of representatives of these sectors as presented in [FN15]. Sectors containing the representatives are shown to form a modular tensor category which is isomorphic to the modular tensor category of finite dimensional representations of Drinfel'd's quantum double of the underlying group. Adapting the construction from [Naa13a], we show in the second part that, in the ground state representation, a certain inclusion of von Neumann algebras associated to the union of disjoint cones is irreducible and related to a crossed

xxii

product construction with a finite abelian group. The index of this inclusion is equal to the total quantum dimension of the modular tensor category which describes the excitation structure obtained from the ribbon operators, and can be used to show that the representatives constructed explicitly already describe all superselection sectors. Using the same techniques, we point out a version of the split property for von Neumann algebras associated to unions of disjoint and sufficiently separated cones. In the last part, we analyse the irreducible inclusions obtained in the previous sections, and point out a downward basic construction. We show that in our case the minimal Stinespring dilation of the conditional expectation associated with the original inclusion takes a very simple form, and we relate the inclusion to an error correction condition on the level of von Neumann algebras. After this we discuss how the index relates to the code space of a secret sharing scheme, and review an operational interpretation in terms of relative entropies. This structure turns out to be parallel to what is found in the finite dimensional analysis of the quantum double models. There the total quantum dimension can be obtained from the topological entanglement entropy and it can be interpreted as the maximal size of the code of a secret sharing scheme as well. However, the details of the secret sharing scheme used in this interpretation are different from ours. Nevertheless, this suggests that the underlying concept of the total quantum dimension for the thermodynamic limit is the same as for finite system sizes.

xxiii

## 1 Preliminaries

In the following we give an introduction to most of the terminologies and tools used in this thesis. Emphasis is put on a brief and comprehensible introduction of the material. For details and further discussion relevant literature is pointed out. Very often we use notations and results from this chapter in the subsequent chapters without referring to them explicitly. To support readability there is an index and a notational index in the back matter pointing to most of the terminology used.

We give a brief overview of basic facts of the theory of C\*-algebras, including the GNS construction and the representation theory. This is complemented with a discussion on von Neumann algebras and the Murray-von Neumann classification of factors. We also give a short introduction into Jone's index classification of type II<sub>1</sub> subfactors [Jon83] and its generalisation to arbitrary factors by Kosaki and Longo [Kos86; Lon89; Lon91]. As an example we consider the index of a factor embedded in its crossed product with a finite group [KR97]. Following this, we review some notations and results about quantum spin systems. In particular we discuss how the thermodynamic limit is described using the language of operator algebras, how local Hamiltonians of such systems give rise to dynamics for the case of finite ranged interactions, and how ground states are described in this abstract setting [BR96]. As this thesis is mainly concerned with Kitaev's quantum double model for finite groups [Kit03] we start by introducing Drinfel'd's quantum double of a finite group [Dri88; Gou93]. Finally we discuss its representation structure, which plays a major role in the classification of excitations of the quantum double model.

1

#### 1.1 C\*-Algebras

This section is devoted to a very brief overview on abstract C\*-algebras. Detailed account of the theory of operator algebras can be found, for instance, in the books of Takesaki [Tak79; Tak03a; Tak03b], the book of Sakai [Sak71], and, of course, Bratteli and Robinson [BR96]. We start with the very definition of a C\*-algebra.

Definition 1.1.1:

*A* Banach space  $\mathcal{A}$  over  $\mathbb{C}$  is called a Banach algebra if there exists a map  $\mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{A} \ni$ (a, b)  $\mapsto$  ab  $\in \mathcal{A}$  (multiplication) which is associative, bilinear, distributive, and satisfies

 $\forall a, b \in \mathcal{A} : \|ab\| \leqslant \|a\|\|b\|.$ 

A Banach algebra A is called a Banach \*-algebra<sup>1</sup> if there exists an anti-linear map  $A \ni a \mapsto a^* \in A$  (involution) that satisfies

 $\forall a \in \mathcal{A} : (a^*)^* = a$  $\forall a, b \in \mathcal{A} : (ab)^* = b^*a^*.$ 

A C\*-algebra is a Banach-\*-algebra where the involution satisfies the additional property

 $\forall a \in \mathcal{A} : \|a^*a\| = \|a\|^2.$ 

The topology on a C\*-algebra given by its norm is usually referred to as the *uniform topology*. A C\*-algebra does not necessarily have a unit, but it always possesses an approximate unit. In addition, it is always possible to extend the algebra to a C\*-algebra that has a unit. A C\*-algebra with unit is often called *unital*, and from now on we always assume that a C\*-algebra is unital.

First we discuss some special cases of C\*-algebras. The most important class of examples is given by the bounded operators  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ , and the closed \*-subalgebras thereof, over some Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$ . We will see shortly that those already exhausts all C\*-algebras. Another important class of examples is given by  $C_{\infty}(M)$ , the continuous functions vanishing at infinity over some locally compact space M. Topologised by the uniform norm  $\|\cdot\|_{\infty}$ , equipped with a multiplication given the point-wise multiplication and an involution given by the point-wise complex conjugation, this space becomes a commutative C\*-algebra. In fact, one can show that every commutative C\*-algebra is of this form (see e.g. [Tak79, Theorem I.4.4]).

 $<sup>^1</sup> For brevity we sometimes call <math display="inline">\mathcal A$  just \*-*algebra* and assume that it is appropriately topologised by a norm.



In quantum mechanics the description of a system requires the specification states describing the preparation of the system and observables modelling the measurements<sup>2</sup>. The observables are given by bounded operators on some Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  and the physical states of the system usually by normal states, i.e. density matrices<sup>3</sup> in  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ . Pure states are given by the 1-dimensional projections and mixed states by positive, affine combinations thereof. The expectation value of an operator  $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  w.r.t. the state  $\sigma \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  is given by the trace  $tr(\sigma A)$ . Writing with slight abuse of notation  $\sigma(A) := tr(\sigma A)$ , this defines a continuous, linear, positive and normalised functional on  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ . As  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  is a C\*-algebra these are taken as the defining properties for states on C\*-algebras.

Definition 1.1.2: Let A be a C\*-algebra. A linear function  $\omega : A \to \mathbb{C}$  is called a state, if

- $\omega(\mathbb{1}) = 1$
- $\forall A \in \mathcal{A}: \omega(A^*A) \ge 0.$

Some of the important properties of states are summarised in the following.

#### Proposition 1.1.3:

A state  $\omega$  on a C\*-algebras satisfies a Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, that is, for all A, B  $\in A$  we have

$$|\omega(A^*B)|^2 \leqslant \omega(A^*A)\omega(B^*B).$$

In addition, we have that  $\omega(B^*A) = \overline{\omega(A^*B)}$  and  $|\omega(A)|^2 \leq \omega(A^*A) ||\omega||$  for all  $A, B \in A$ . The norm of the state  $\omega$  is given by  $||\omega|| = \omega(1)$ .

The last statement implies that a state  $\omega$  on a C\*-algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  is continuous, hence states are elements of the positive cone of the dual  $\mathcal{A}^*$  of  $\mathcal{A}$ . For the proof of the above statements, see for instance [Tak79]. A state  $\phi$  on a C\*-algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  is called *tracial*, if for all  $A \in \mathcal{A}$  we have  $\phi(AA^*) = \phi(A^*A)$ . A state  $\phi$  on  $\mathcal{A}$  is called *faithful*, if  $\phi(A^*A) = 0$  implies A = 0 for all  $A \in \mathcal{A}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>This is of course not true for so-called singular states such as the "eigenstates" of the position operator on  $\mathcal{L}^2(\mathbb{R})$ . However, one can discuss to which degree one can actually prepare such a state in the lab.



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>This is roughly the perspective taken by quantum information theory. For introductions, see e.g. [NC09; Hol13; Key02]

#### 1.1.1 GNS THEOREM

An important part of the theory of operator algebras is the representation theory of  $C^*$ -algebras. As mentioned earlier,  $C^*$ -algebras are, in a sense made precise below, algebras of bounded operators on a Hilbert space. The fundamental ingredient for the representation theory is the so-called *GNS-construction*. A sketch of this construction and a precise formulation of the above statements are the content of this section. We start with defining representations of  $C^*$ -algebras.

#### Definition 1.1.4:

*Let* A *be a* C\*-*algebra and*  $\mathcal{H}$  *a Hilbert space.* A representation of A on  $\mathcal{H}$  *is a* \*-*homomorphism*  $\pi : A \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ .

A \*-homomorphism  $\pi$  between two \*-algebras  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\mathcal{B}$  is a homomorphism that preserves the involution, i.e.  $\pi(ab^* + \lambda c) = \pi(a)\pi(b)^* + \lambda\pi(c)$  for all  $a, b, c \in \mathcal{A}$ and  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ . It is not difficult to show that a \*-homomorphism  $\pi$  between two C\*algebras  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\mathcal{B}$  is always continuous in the uniform topology, since one can show that  $\|\pi(A)\| \leq \|A\|$  for all  $A \in \mathcal{A}$  (c.f. [Tak79, Chapter I]). If  $\pi$  is a \*-isomorphism, then in fact  $\|\pi(A)\| = \|A\|$  for all  $A \in \mathcal{A}$ . We call a representation of a C\*-algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  faithful if, for all  $A \in \mathcal{A}$ ,  $\pi(A) = 0$  implies A = 0. If  $\mathcal{A}$  is a C\*-algebra acting on a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$ , we call a vector  $\psi \in \mathcal{H}$  cyclic for  $\mathcal{A}$ , if the linear space  $\mathcal{A}\psi$  is dense in  $\mathcal{H}$ .

Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a C\*-algebra and  $\omega \in \mathcal{A}^*$  be a state. The GNS construction, named after Gelfand, Naimark and Segal, shows how to construct a representation of a C\*-algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  from  $\omega$ . We just give a sketch of the construction. The details can be found in any textbook about operator algebras (e.g. [Tak79]). Denote by

$$\mathcal{J}_{\omega} := \{ A \in \mathcal{A} \, | \, \omega(A^*A) = 0 \}$$

the left kernel of  $\omega$ . With the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality it is easy to see that  $\mathcal{J}_{\omega}$  is a left ideal in  $\mathcal{A}$ . Now the map  $\mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{A} \ni (\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B}) \mapsto \omega(\mathcal{B}^*\mathcal{A}) \in \mathbb{C}$  defines a degenerate inner product on  $\mathcal{A}$ . One can check, that on the quotient space  $\mathcal{A}/\mathcal{J}_{\Omega}$  this gives rise to a non-degenerate inner product

 $\langle [A], [B] \rangle_{\omega} := \omega(B^*A),$ 

where  $[A], [B] \in \mathcal{A}/\mathcal{J}_{\omega}$  are equivalence classes with representatives  $A, B \in \mathcal{A}$ . Hence,  $\mathcal{A}/\mathcal{J}_{\omega}$  endowed with this, now non-degenerate, inner product becomes a pre-Hilbert space, and we denote its completion by  $\mathcal{H}_{\omega}$ . The inner product on  $\mathcal{H}_{\omega}$ 

will now be denoted by  $(\cdot, \cdot)$ . On this space we can now define a representation  $\pi_{\omega}$  of  $\mathcal{A}$  by

$$\pi_{\omega}(A)[B] := [AB]$$

for all  $A, B \in A$ . One can show that for each  $A \in A$  the linear operator  $\pi_{\omega}(A)$  is bounded and can be extended to a bounded linear operator on  $\mathcal{H}_{\omega}$ . Furthermore,  $\pi_{\omega}$  is a \*-homomorphism from A into  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\omega})$ . Next one shows that  $\omega$  extends to a bounded linear functional on  $\mathcal{H}_{\omega}$ , and hence there is a vector  $\Omega \in \mathcal{H}$  such that for all  $A \in A$  we have that  $\omega(A) = (\Omega, [A])$ . This vector has the property  $[A] = \pi_{\omega}(A)\Omega_{\omega}$  for all  $A \in A$ , and hence  $\Omega$  is cyclic for  $\pi_{\omega}(A)$ . In addition the vector  $\Omega$  implements  $\omega$  in the following sense:

$$\omega(\mathbf{A}) = (\Omega, \pi_{\omega}(\mathbf{A})\Omega).$$

This shows that a every state on a  $C^*$ -algebras gives rise to a representation of this  $C^*$ -algebra as bounded linear operators on a Hilbert space.

Тнеогем 1.1.5:

Let  $\omega$  be a state on a C<sup>\*</sup>-algebra A. Then there exists a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_{\omega}$ , a representation  $\pi_{\omega}$  of A on  $\mathcal{H}_{\omega}$ , and a state  $\Omega \in \mathcal{H}_{\omega}$  such that the following hold:

- $\Omega$  is cyclic for  $\pi_{\omega}(\mathcal{A})$ .
- $\forall A \in \mathcal{A}: \omega(A) = \langle \Omega, \pi_{\omega}(A) \Omega \rangle.$

*Furthermore, if*  $\mathcal{H}$  *is another Hilbert space and*  $\pi$  *a representation of*  $\mathcal{A}$  *on*  $\mathcal{H}$ *, and*  $\psi \in \mathcal{H}$  *a vector fulfilling the above properties, then there exists a unitary operator*  $U : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}_{\omega}$  *such that*  $U\psi = \Omega$  *and*  $U\pi(A) = \pi_{\omega}(A)U$  *for all*  $A \in \mathcal{A}$ .

For the uniqueness, consider another representation  $(\pi'_{\omega}, \mathcal{H}'_{\omega}, \Omega')$  with the same properties as  $(\pi_{\omega}, \mathcal{H}_{\omega}, \Omega)$ . Setting

 $U\pi'_{\omega}(A)\Omega' \coloneqq \pi_{\omega}(A)\Omega$ 

for  $A \in \mathcal{A}$ , defines an isometry from  $\pi'_{\omega}(A)\Omega'$  to  $\pi_{\omega}(\mathcal{A})$ , that can be extended to a unitary from  $\mathcal{H}'_{\omega}$  to  $\mathcal{H}_{\omega}$ .

Definition 1.1.6:

The triple  $(\pi_{\omega}, \mathcal{H}_{\omega}, \Omega)$  obtained from the GNS-construction is referred to as the GNS-representation, or the cyclic representation of  $\mathcal{A}$  induced by  $\omega$ .

5

The GNS theorem can then be used to show that every C\*-algebra is isomorphic to a \*-subalgebra of the bounded operators of some Hilbert space ([Tak79]).

Тнеогем 1.1.7:

*Let* A *be a* C<sup>\*</sup>*-algebra. Then there exists a Hilbert space* H *and a faithful representation*  $\pi$  *of* A *on* H.

The proof essentially consists in first showing that every representation of A can be written as a direct sum of cyclic representations. Then one uses the fact that for any non-zero positive operator  $A \in A$  there exists a state  $\omega \in A^*$  such that  $\omega(A) \neq 0$  to construct a faithful representation by summing up over cyclic representations induced by all states on A.

#### 1.1.2 VON NEUMANN ALGEBRAS

In quantum physics, many problems can be formulated by the problem of determining the spectrum, and with it the spectral projections, of a self-adjoint, possibly unbounded operator H on some Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$ . The spectrum  $\operatorname{spec}(H)$  can be interpreted as the possible outcome of a measurement the observable H in the state given by a unit vector  $\psi \in \mathcal{H}$  in which the system under consideration is prepared. In general, an observable can be described by a positive operator valued measure (POVM) E, which is a map from the sigma algebra  $\Omega(X)$  of some measurable space X to bounded positive operators on H such certain conditions are fulfilled<sup>4</sup>. Given that the system under consideration is prepared in the (pure) state described by a unit vector  $\psi \in \mathcal{H}$ , the probability of measuring an outcome contained in the set  $M \in \Omega(X)$  with the observable E is given by  $p_{\psi}(M) = \langle \psi, E(M)\psi \rangle$ . A special case of this are projection valued measures (PVM), where the image of E are projections. The spectral projections  $(P_M)_{M \subset \text{spec}(H)}$  precisely forms such a PVM, and the probability of measuring an outcome contained in  $M \subset \operatorname{specc}(H)$  if the system is prepared in the state  $\phi$  is then  $p_{\psi}(M) = \langle \psi, P_M \psi \rangle$ . Hence, the operator H defines an observable in this sense and its spectral projections provide us with the probabilities of measurement outcomes.

If we assume for a moment that H is bounded and an element of a C\*-algebra  $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  meant to contain all available observables of the physical system under consideration, then it is in general not true that the spectral projections of  $\mathcal{H}$  are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>For an introduction of POVMs and a more detailed discussion see e.g. [Key02].

<sup>6</sup> 

contained in A, i.e. they are not physical available observables. This problem can be solved by considering von Neumann algebras<sup>5</sup>.

In order to define von Neumann algebras, we first define commutants. Given a C\*-algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  acting on a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  (i.e. it is a \*subalgebra of  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ ), define the *commutant* of  $\mathcal{A}$  in  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  as

$$\mathcal{A}' := \{ B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}) \, | \, \forall A \in \mathcal{A} : [A, B] = 0 \}.$$

We write  $\mathcal{A}'' = (\mathcal{A}')'$ ,  $\mathcal{A}''' = (\mathcal{A}'')'$  and so on. Note that  $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathcal{A}''$ ,  $\mathcal{A}' = \mathcal{A}'''$ , and  $\mathcal{A}'' = \mathcal{A}''''$ , etc. A von Neumann algebra is then defined in the following way.

Definition 1.1.8:

Let  $\mathfrak{M}$  be a \*-subalgebra of  $\mathfrak{B}(\mathfrak{H})$  and  $\mathfrak{H}$  some Hilbert space. Then  $\mathfrak{M}$  is called a von Neumann algebra *if* 

 $\mathfrak{M}^{\prime\prime}=\mathfrak{M}.$ 

A von Neumann algebra always has a unit [Tak79]. We say that a \*-subalgebra  $\mathcal{A}$  of  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  is *non-degenerate*, if the closure of the space  $\mathcal{AH}$  is  $\mathcal{H}$ . It turns out that von Neumann algebras are closed in a series of topologies [Tak79; BR96]. Two of them are relevant for our discussion. Let  $\mathcal{H}$  be a Hilbert space with inner product  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ . The *weak operator topology* on  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  is the locally convex topology induced by the family of seminorms

$$p_{\phi,\psi}(\cdot) := |\langle \phi, \cdot \psi \rangle|, \quad \phi, \psi \in \mathcal{H}.$$

The *strong operator topology* on  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  is the locally convex topology induced by the family of seminorms

$$p_{\psi}(\cdot) := \| \cdot \psi \|, \quad \psi \in \mathcal{H}.$$

The weak operator topology is coarser than the strong operator topology, and the strong operator topology is coarser than the uniform topology. The following theorem, von Neumann's double commutant theorem, states that von Neumann algebras are characterised as non-degenerate \*-subalgebras which are closed in the above topologies [BR96].

7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>If H is unbounded, then the spectral projections of H are contained in a von Neumann algebra  $\mathfrak{M}$ , if H is *affiliated* to  $\mathfrak{M}$  [KR97]. This requires a von Neumann algebra as well.

#### Тнеогем 1.1.9:

Let  $\mathfrak{M} \subset \mathfrak{B}(\mathfrak{H})$  be a non-degenerate \*-subalgebra. Then the following statements are equivalent:

- $\mathfrak{M}$  is a von Neumann algebra.
- $\mathfrak{M}$  *is closed in the weak operator topology.*
- $\mathfrak{M}$  is closed in the strong operator topology.

Let  $\mathfrak{M}$  be a von Neumann algebra on some Hilbert space  $\mathfrak{H}$ ,  $A \in \mathfrak{M}$  is a selfadjoint operator, and  $B \in \mathfrak{M}'$ . Then B commutes also with the spectral projections of A, and hence these are also contained in  $\mathfrak{M}$ . As every element A in a C\*-algebra can be written as  $A = A_R + iA_I$  with self-adjoint operators  $A_R$  and  $A_I$  in that algebra, this implies that the projections in  $\mathfrak{M}$  span a norm-dense subspace of  $\mathfrak{M}$ .

A von Neumann algebra  $\mathfrak{M}$  with trivial centre is called a *factor*, i.e.  $\mathfrak{M}$  is a factor if

 $\mathfrak{M}\cap\mathfrak{M}'=\mathbb{C}\mathbb{1}.$ 

A subfactor of a factor  $\mathfrak{M}$  is a subalgebra  $\mathfrak{N} \subset \mathfrak{M}$  such that  $\mathfrak{N}$  is a factor containing the identity of  $\mathfrak{M}$ . A subfactor  $\mathfrak{N} \subset \mathfrak{M}$  of a factor  $\mathfrak{M}$  is called *irreducible* if  $\mathfrak{M} \cap \mathfrak{N}' = \mathbb{C}\mathbb{1}$ . In this case we call the inclusion  $\mathcal{N} \subset \mathfrak{M}$  an *irreducible inclusion of factors* (see also [JS97]).

#### 1.1.3 Type Classification of Factors

Factors of von Neumann algebras can be classified into certain types. The underlying crucial observation is that the projections of a von Neumann algebra  $\mathfrak{M}$  form a complete lattice [Tak79]. This suggests that a classification of von Neumann algebras is tight to the properties of their projections, which is the starting point of the Murray-von Neumann classification of factors [MN36] (see also [Tak79]). In fact, this classification can be extended to general von Neumann algebras, but here we are only interested in factors.

We start with an equivalence relation between projections. Two projections e, f in a von Neumann algebra  $\mathfrak{M}$ , acting on a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$ , are said to be *equivalent*, written  $e \sim f$ , if there is a partial isometry  $E \in \mathfrak{M}$  such that  $E^*E = e$  and  $EE^* = f$ . Furthermore, we there is a partial ordering on the set of projections of a von Neumann algebra. If e, f are projections in  $\mathfrak{M}$  we write  $e \leq f$  if  $e\mathcal{H} \subseteq f\mathcal{H}$ .



A projection  $e \in \mathfrak{M}$  said to be

- *finite*, if  $e \sim f$  and  $e \leq f$  implies e = f,
- *infinite*, if it is not finite,
- *purely infinite*, if all non-zero projections  $f \leq e$  are infinite.
- *abelian*, if eme is abelian.

A factor  ${\mathfrak M}$  is said to be

- of *type* I, if 1 majorises a non-zero abelian projection.
- of *type* II, if  $\mathfrak{M}$  has no non-zero abelian projections, and if  $\mathbb{1}$  majorises a non-zero finite projection.
- of *type* III, if every non-zero projection in  $\mathfrak{M}$  is infinite.

This results in the following classification of factors [Tak79].

Тнеогем 1.1.10:

Let  $\mathfrak{M}$  be a factor. Then  $\mathfrak{M}$  is either of type I, II or III.

It is worth noting, that this classification is not complete in the sense that there are von Neumann algebras of the same type that are not isomorphic to each other. The case of a type II factor can be split into two further classes. A type II factor  $\mathfrak{M}$  is of *type* II<sub>1</sub>, if 1 is finite, otherwise it is called *type* II<sub> $\infty$ </sub>.

Factors of type I can be further classified into type  $I_n$  factors, where n a cardinal. Each type  $I_n$  factor is isomorphic to  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  for some Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  with Hilbert space dimension n. Using the modular theory by Tomita and Takesaki, factors of type III can be classified further into factors of type III<sub> $\lambda$ </sub> with  $\lambda \in [0, 1]$  (for details, see [Tak79; Tak03a]). Note, however, that factors of the same type need not necessarily be isomorphic either. For example, there exist uncountable families of non-isomorphic type II<sub>1</sub>, II<sub> $\infty$ </sub> and III factors (see [Sak71] together with [Tak03a]).

9

For later use, we need the definition of a conditional expectation.

#### Definition 1.1.11:

*Let*  $\mathfrak{M}$  *be a von Neumann algebra and*  $\mathfrak{N} \subset \mathfrak{M}$  *a sub-algebra. A* conditional expectation from  $\mathfrak{M}$  onto  $\mathfrak{N}$  *is a linear map*  $\mathsf{E} : \mathfrak{M} \to \mathfrak{N}$  *satisfying for all*  $\mathsf{A} \in \mathfrak{M}$ *:* 

- E(1) = 1,
- $A \ge 0 \implies E(A) \ge 0$ ,
- $\forall BC \in \mathfrak{N}: E(BAC) = B\mathcal{E}(A)C$ ,

Note that this implies that a conditional expectation  $E : \mathfrak{M} \to \mathfrak{N}$  is a projection, i.e. for all  $A \in \mathfrak{M}$  and  $a \in \mathfrak{N}$  we have  $||E(A)|| \leq ||A||$  and  $\mathcal{E}(a) = a$ . Furthermore, the above conditions imply that for all  $A \in \mathfrak{M}$  we have that  $E(A)^*E(A) \leq E(A^*A)$ . In [Tak79, Theorem III.3.4] it is shown that in fact every projection of norm one from a C\*-algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  to a \*-subalgebra  $\mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{A}$  is a conditional expectation. As an example consider the von Neumann algebras  $\mathfrak{M} = \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_1 \otimes \mathcal{H}_2)$  and  $\mathfrak{N} = \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_1)$ with  $\mathcal{H}_1, \mathcal{H}_2$  both finite dimensional Hilbert spaces. Then the partial trace  $\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{H}_2}$  is a conditional expectation from  $\mathfrak{M}$  to  $\mathfrak{N}$ . Another class of examples are states.

#### 1.2 Crossed Products and Index Theory

This section is devoted to recall the index classification of certain inclusions of factors. In particular, we briefly review the index introduced by Jones which he used to classify inclusions of type II<sub>1</sub> factors [Jon83; JS97]. We then sketch a generalisation of this index which was introduced by Kosaki for inclusions of arbitrary factors [Kos86]. Both of these approaches, and a compatible one by Longo [Lon89; Lon91], are reviewed in [Kos98]. As an example we discuss crossed products of factors with finite groups.

#### 1.2.1 Jones' Index

In [Jon83] Jones introduced an index for inclusions of type  $II_1$  factors, and determined its possible values. We briefly sketch the definition of his index and state the results that are important for us. A detailed discussion about the Jones index can be found in the textbook by Jones and Sunders [JS97].

Let  $\mathfrak{M}$  be a type II<sub>1</sub> factor with separable predual. Since  $\mathfrak{M}$  is a finite factor there exists a unique faithful normal tracial state on  $\mathfrak{M}$  [JS97, Proposition 1.2.2]

(see also [Tak79]). Let  $\operatorname{tr}_{\mathfrak{M}}$  be this state on  $\mathfrak{M}$  and write  $\mathcal{H}_1 := L^2(\mathfrak{M}, \operatorname{tr}_{\mathfrak{M}})$  for the Hilbert space obtained by the GNS construction, and we assume that  $M \subset \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_1)$  (for the existence and uniquencess of  $\operatorname{tr}_{\mathfrak{M}}$ , see [Tak79, Theorem V.2.6]). The vector  $\Omega \in \mathcal{H}_1$  implementing  $\operatorname{tr}_{\mathfrak{M}}$  is cyclic and, due to the faithfulness of  $\operatorname{tr}_{\mathfrak{M}}$ , separating for  $\mathfrak{M}$ . Set  $\mathcal{H}_{\infty} := \mathcal{H}_1 \otimes \ell^2(\mathbb{N})$ , and  $M_{\infty}(\mathfrak{M}) := \mathfrak{M} \otimes \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{l}^2(\mathbb{N}))$ . Then  $\mathcal{H}_{\infty}$  is a left  $\mathfrak{M}$ -module and a right  $M_{\infty}(\mathfrak{M})$ -module, and  $M_{\infty}(\mathfrak{M})$  is a type  $\operatorname{II}_{\infty}$  factor. Furthermore there exists a unique faithful normal semifinite trace  $\operatorname{Tr}$  on  $M_{\infty}(\mathfrak{M})$ , i.e. a unique faithful normal functional  $\operatorname{Tr}$  from the positive elements of  $M_{\infty}(\mathfrak{M})$  to  $\mathbb{R}_+$  with  $\operatorname{Tr}(A^*A) = \operatorname{Tr}(AA^*)$  for all  $A \in M_{\infty}(\mathfrak{M})$ , and such that for all  $A \ge 0$  there exists a  $0 \le B \le A$  with  $\operatorname{Tr}(B) < \infty$  (see [Tak79, Theorem V.2.34]). If  $\mathcal{H}$  is a separable  $\mathfrak{M}$ -module there always exists a projection  $p \in M_{\infty}(\mathfrak{M})$  such that  $\mathcal{H}_{\infty}p \cong \mathcal{H}$ , and one defines the  $\mathfrak{M}$ -dimension of  $\mathcal{H}$  as follows [JS97].

#### Definition 1.2.1:

Let  $\mathfrak{M}$  be a II<sub>1</sub> factor with separable predual, and let  $\mathfrak{H}$  be any separable left  $\mathfrak{M}$ -module. Let  $\mathbf{p} \in \mathsf{M}_{\infty}(\mathfrak{M})$  be a projection such that  $\mathfrak{H}_{\infty}\mathbf{p} \cong \mathfrak{H}$  as a  $\mathfrak{M}$ -module. We define

 $\dim_{\mathfrak{M}} \mathfrak{H} := \mathrm{Tr}(p).$ 

Let  $\mathfrak{N} \subset \mathfrak{M}$  be a subfactor of a type II<sub>1</sub> factor  $\mathfrak{M}$ . The index of  $\mathfrak{N}$  in  $\mathfrak{M}$  is then defined as the  $\mathfrak{N}$ -dimension of  $\mathfrak{H}_1 = L^2(\mathfrak{M}, \operatorname{tr}_{\mathfrak{M}})$ , *i.e.* 

$$[\mathfrak{M}:\mathfrak{N}] := \dim_{\mathfrak{N}}(\mathcal{H}_1). \tag{1.1}$$

The index can be directly calculated from the dimension of an  $\mathfrak{M}$ -module.

#### Proposition 1.2.2:

Let  $\mathfrak{N} \subset \mathfrak{M}$  be an inclusion of type  $II_1$  factors. Let  $\mathfrak{H}$  be an  $\mathfrak{M}$ -module with  $\dim_{\mathfrak{M}} \mathfrak{H} < \infty$ . Then

$$[\mathfrak{M}:\mathfrak{N}]=\frac{\dim_{\mathfrak{N}}\mathcal{H}}{\dim_{\mathfrak{M}}\mathcal{H}}.$$

Furthermore, we have

 $[\mathfrak{N}':\mathfrak{M}']=[\mathfrak{M}:\mathfrak{N}].$ 

In addition, the index is consistent with increasing the inclusion  $\mathfrak{N} \subset \mathfrak{M}$  by another type II<sub>1</sub> factor [Jon83].

PROPOSITION 1.2.3: Let  $\mathfrak{P} \subset \mathfrak{N} \subset \mathfrak{M}$  be a tower of  $II_1$  factors, then

$$\begin{split} & [\mathfrak{M}:\mathfrak{M}] = 1, \\ & [\mathfrak{M}:\mathfrak{P}] \geqslant [\mathfrak{M}:\mathfrak{N}], \\ & [\mathfrak{M}:\mathfrak{P}] = [\mathfrak{M}:\mathfrak{N}][\mathfrak{N}:\mathfrak{P}], \\ & [\mathfrak{M}:\mathfrak{N}] = [\mathfrak{M}:\mathfrak{P}] \implies \mathfrak{P} = \mathfrak{N}. \end{split}$$

It is also possible to determine all possible values of the index [Jon83].

#### Тнеогем 1.2.4:

*If*  $\mathfrak{N} \subset \mathfrak{M}$  *is any inclusion of type* II<sub>1</sub> *factors, then* 

$$[\mathfrak{M}:\mathfrak{N}] \in \{4\cos^2\frac{\pi}{n} \mid n=3,4,\ldots\} \cup [4,\infty].$$

*Furthermore, for any*  $\lambda \in \{4 \cos^2 \frac{\pi}{n} | n = 3, 4, ...\} \cup [4, \infty]$  *there exists a type* II<sub>1</sub> *factor*  $\mathfrak{M}$  *and a subfactor*  $\mathfrak{N} \subset \mathfrak{M}$  *with*  $[\mathfrak{M} : \mathfrak{N}] = \lambda$ .

The index  $[\mathfrak{M} : \mathfrak{N}]$  for an inclusion  $\mathfrak{N} \subset \mathfrak{M}$  of type II<sub>1</sub> factors can be related to a certain conditional expectation from  $\mathfrak{M}$  to  $\mathfrak{N}$ . More precisely, consider the orthogonal projection  $e_{\mathfrak{N}} : L^2(\mathfrak{M}, \operatorname{tr}) \to L^2(\mathfrak{N}, \operatorname{tr})$ , where  $L^2(\mathfrak{N}, \operatorname{tr})$  is identified with the subspace obtained from the closure of  $\mathfrak{N}\Omega$ . Recall that  $\Omega$  is the cyclic and separating vector implementing tr. It is then true that  $e_{\mathfrak{N}}(\mathfrak{M}\Omega) \subset \mathfrak{N}\Omega$ , thus  $e_{\mathfrak{N}}$ gives rise to a trace-preserving conditional expectation  $\mathsf{E} : \mathfrak{M} \to \mathfrak{N}$  satisfying

$$\forall \mathsf{A} \in \mathfrak{M} : \mathsf{e}_{\mathfrak{N}} \mathsf{A} \mathsf{e}_{\mathfrak{N}} = \mathsf{E}(\mathsf{A}) \mathsf{e}_{\mathfrak{N}},$$

and, in addition,  $Je_{\mathfrak{N}} = e_{\mathfrak{N}}J$ , where J is the modular conjugation in  $L^2(\mathfrak{M}, \operatorname{tr})$ . We denote the von Neumann algebra generated by  $\mathfrak{M}$  and  $e_{\mathfrak{N}}$  by  $\langle \mathfrak{M}, e_{\mathfrak{N}} \rangle$ , and the corresponding conditional expectation onto  $\mathfrak{M}$  by  $\mathcal{E}_{\mathfrak{M}} : \langle \mathfrak{M}, e_{\mathfrak{N}} \rangle \to \mathfrak{M}$ . The tower  $\mathfrak{N} \subset \mathfrak{M} \subset \langle \mathfrak{M}, e_{\mathfrak{N}} \rangle$  is usually referred to as *basic construction* (see [JS97]).

PROPOSITION 1.2.5 [JS97]: Let  $\mathfrak{N} \subset \mathfrak{M}$  be an inclusion of type II<sub>1</sub> factors. Then the following hold true.

- $e_{\mathfrak{N}} \in \mathfrak{N}'$ .
- $\mathfrak{N} = \mathfrak{M} \cap \{e_{\mathfrak{N}}\}'$ .
- $\langle \mathfrak{M}, e_{\mathfrak{N}} \rangle = J \mathfrak{N}' J.$
- $\langle \mathfrak{M}, e_{\mathfrak{N}} \rangle$  is a factor if and only if  $[\mathfrak{M} : \mathfrak{N}] < \infty$ .
- If  $[\mathfrak{M}:\mathfrak{N}] < \infty$  then  $[\langle \mathfrak{M}, e_{\mathfrak{N}} \rangle : \mathfrak{M}] = [\mathfrak{M}:\mathfrak{N}].$
- $\operatorname{tr}_{\langle \mathfrak{M}, e_{\mathfrak{N}} \rangle}(e_{\mathfrak{N}}) = [\mathfrak{M} : \mathfrak{N}]^{-1} \mathbb{1}.$
- $\mathcal{E}_{\langle \mathfrak{M}, e_{\mathfrak{N}} \rangle}(e_{\mathfrak{N}}) = [\mathfrak{M} : \mathfrak{N}]^{-1} \mathbb{1}.$

Iterating the basic construction results in an infinite tower

 $\mathfrak{M}_{-1}\subset\mathfrak{M}_0\subset\mathfrak{M}_1\subset\ldots$ 

with  $\mathfrak{M}_{-1} = \mathfrak{N}$ ,  $\mathfrak{M}_0 = \mathfrak{M}$  and  $\mathfrak{M}_1 = \langle \mathfrak{M}, e_{\mathfrak{N}} \rangle$ . This can be used to construct the hyperfinite type II<sub>1</sub> factor and to find inclusions of type II<sub>1</sub> factors for each allowed value of the index [Jon83; JS97].

## 1.2.2 General Factors

With some more effort the theory of the index for type II<sub>1</sub> factors can be generalised for arbitrary factors [Kos86; Kos98] (for type III factors there exists an equivalent approach by Longo [Lon89; Lon91]). Let  $\mathfrak{M}$  be a factor on some Hilbert space  $\mathfrak{H}$ and let  $\mathfrak{N} \subset \mathfrak{M}$  be a subfactor. Let  $P(\mathfrak{M}, \mathfrak{N})$  be the set of normal faithful semi-finite operator-valued weights  $E : \mathfrak{M} \to \mathfrak{N}$ . Using the Haagerup theory of weights (c.f. [Haa79a; Haa79b]) one can show that  $P(\mathfrak{M}, \mathfrak{N})$  is non-empty if and only if  $P(\mathfrak{N}', \mathfrak{M}')$ is non-empty (for details, see [Tak03a], especially Theorem IX.4.24). Furthermore, there exists an order-reversing bijection between  $P(\mathfrak{M}, \mathfrak{N})$  and  $P(\mathfrak{N}', \mathfrak{M}')$  which we write as  $E \mapsto E^{-1}$ .

Definition 1.2.6:

Let  $\mathfrak{M}$  be a factor on a Hilbert space  $\mathfrak{H}$  and  $\mathfrak{N}$  a subfactor of  $\mathfrak{M}$ . Let  $E : \mathfrak{M} \to \mathfrak{N}$  be a normal conditional expectation. The index Ind(E) of E is defined as the scalar

 $\operatorname{Ind}(E) := E^{-1}(\mathbb{1}).$ 

The definition is independent of the choice of the Hilbert space, and satisfies properties similar to the Jones index for type  $II_1$  factors [Kos98; Kos86].

#### Тнеогем 1.2.7:

Let  $\mathfrak{M}$  be a factor with subfactor  $\mathfrak{N}$ , both acting on a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{M}$ . Let  $\mathsf{E} : \mathfrak{M} \to \mathfrak{N}$  be a normal conditional expectation. Then

- If *m* is a von Neumann algebra isomorphic to *m* and *E* : *m* → *n* the corresponding normal conditional expectation then Ind(E) = Ind*E*,
- *if*  $\mathfrak{L} \subset \mathfrak{N}$  *is another subfactor and*  $\mathsf{E}_0 : \mathfrak{N} \to \mathfrak{L}$  *is a normal conditional expectation, then*  $\mathrm{Ind}(\mathsf{E}_0 \circ \mathsf{E}) = \mathrm{Ind}(\mathsf{E}_0)\mathrm{Ind}(\mathsf{E})$ ,
- $\operatorname{Ind}(E) \ge 1$ ,
- Ind(E) = 1 if and only if  $\mathfrak{M} = \mathfrak{N}$ ,
- Ind(E)  $\in \{4\cos^2 \frac{\pi}{n} \mid n = 3, 4, ...\} \cup [4, \infty].$

In the case that  $\mathfrak{N} \subset \mathfrak{M}$  are both type  $II_1$  factors, and  $E : \mathfrak{M} \to \mathfrak{N}$  is the unique normalised trace preserving conditional expectation, then Ind(E) is exactly Jones' index, i.e. Ind(E) = [M : N]. Note, however, that in general the index depends on the choice of the conditional expectation E. If the inclusion  $\mathfrak{N} \subset \mathfrak{M}$  is irreducible, and there exists a conditional expectation, then it is unique. If the inclusion is not irreducible, then one can minimise the index by optimising over all conditional expectations, and, if Ind(E) is finite for some E, then there exists a unique  $E_0$  minimising the index [Hia88; Kos98].

Similar to the case of type II<sub>1</sub> factors one can obtain a basic construction in the general case as well [Kos98]. For this, consider a factor  $\mathfrak{M}$  on a Hilbert space  $\mathfrak{H}$  and a subfactor  $\mathfrak{N}$  of  $\mathfrak{M}$ . Let  $E : \mathfrak{M} \to \mathfrak{N}$  be a normal conditional expectation with  $\operatorname{Ind}(E) < \infty$ . Assume that there exists a faithful normal state  $\phi$  on  $\mathfrak{N}$  and that  $\mathfrak{H}$  is given by  $L^2(\mathfrak{M})$  w.r.t. the state  $\phi \circ E$ . Let  $\xi_0 \in \mathfrak{H}$  be a cyclic and separating vector implementing  $\phi \circ E$  on  $\mathfrak{H}$ . Denote the corresponding modular conjugation by J. Setting

 $e_{\mathfrak{N}} x \xi_0 := \mathsf{E}(x) \xi_0$ 

for all  $x \in \mathfrak{M}$  defines a projection  $e_{\mathfrak{M}} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  that is independent of the choice of the state  $\phi$  [Kos98]. The basic construction is then given by the Neumann algebra  $\langle \mathfrak{M}, e_{\mathfrak{N}} \rangle$  and a conditional expectation  $E_1 : \langle \mathfrak{M}, e_{\mathfrak{N}} \rangle \to \mathfrak{M}$  which can be constructed from the modular conjugation J and the conditional expectation E. These objects satisfy essentially the same properties as in the case of type II<sub>1</sub> factors (compare to Proposition 1.2.5).

 $\begin{array}{l} Proposition \ 1.2.8:\\ \textit{Let} \ \mathfrak{M} \subset \mathfrak{N}, \ e_{\mathfrak{N}}, \ and \ \langle \mathfrak{M}, e_{\mathfrak{N}} \rangle \ be \ as \ above. \ Then \ we \ have \end{array}$ 

- $e_{\mathfrak{N}}$  does not depend on the choice of  $\varphi$ .
- $e_{\mathfrak{N}} \in \mathfrak{N}'$ .
- For all  $x \in \mathfrak{M}$ :  $e_{\mathfrak{N}} x e_{\mathfrak{N}} = \mathsf{E}(x) e_{\mathfrak{N}}$ .
- $\mathfrak{N} = \mathfrak{M} \cap \{e_{\mathfrak{N}}\}'$ .
- $\langle \mathfrak{M}, e_{\mathfrak{N}} \rangle = J \mathfrak{N}' J.$
- $\operatorname{Ind}(E_1) = \operatorname{Ind}(E)$ .
- $E_1(e_{\mathfrak{N}}) = (Ind(E))^{-1} \mathbb{1}.$
- Elements of the form  $a_0 + \sum_{i=1}^n a_i e_{\mathfrak{N}} b_i$  with  $a_i, b_i \in \mathfrak{M}$  densely span  $\langle \mathfrak{M}, e_{\mathfrak{N}} \rangle$ .

*Proof.* The proofs of these statements can be found in [Kos86] and [Kos98].  $\Box$ 

## 1.2.3 PIMSNER POPA BASIS

Pimsner and Popa showed that for type II<sub>1</sub> factors the index can be characterised by a parameter optimising a certain inequality [PP86]. This is also true for arbitrary factors (see [Kos98, Theorem 3.8]). In the following we write  $\mathfrak{M}_+$  for the positive elements of  $\mathfrak{M}$ .

Тнеокем 1.2.9 Pimsner-Popa inequality:

Let  $\mathfrak{N} \subset \mathfrak{M}$  be an inclusion of factors. Let  $E : \mathfrak{M} \to \mathfrak{N}$  be a conditional expectation with  $\operatorname{Ind}(E) < \infty$ . Then we have for all  $x \in \mathfrak{M}_+$ :

$$E(x) \ge (Ind(E))^{-1}x,$$

and equality is attained for  $x = e_{\mathfrak{N}}$ . If  $\mathfrak{M}$  and  $\mathfrak{N}$  are not of type I, then

 $\sup\{\varepsilon > 0 \,|\, \forall x \in \mathfrak{M}_+ : \, \mathsf{E}(x) \geqslant \varepsilon x\} = (\mathrm{Ind}(\mathsf{E}))^{-1}.$ 

In fact, the normality of E is linked to such an inequality (see [Cam+11, Appendix C]). Pimsner and Popa also showed that the index for an inclusion  $\mathfrak{N} \subset \mathfrak{M}$  of type II<sub>1</sub> factors implies that  $\mathfrak{M}$  can be interpreted as a module over  $\mathfrak{N}$ . More precisely, there exists a set of operators in  $\mathfrak{M}$  such that elements of  $\mathfrak{M}$  can be written as linear combinations of these operators with coefficients in  $\mathfrak{N}$ . This is also true for arbitrary factors as shown in [Kos98].

**Тнеокем** 1.2.10 Pimsner-Popa basis:

Let  $\mathfrak{N} \subset \mathfrak{M}$  be an inclusion of factors, and let  $E : \mathfrak{M} \to \mathfrak{N}$  be a conditional expectation with finite index  $\mathrm{Ind}(E)$ . Then there exists a sequence  $\{a_i\}_{i=1}^n$  of elements of  $\mathfrak{M}$  such that

$$\sum_{i=1}^n a_i e_{\mathfrak{N}} a_i^* = \mathbb{1}.$$

*Proof.* This is an adaption of the proof of [Kos86, Corollary 3.4] (see also the remark after [Kos98, Theorem 3.9]).

Let  $(p_i)_{i=1}^{\infty}$  be a family of pairwise orthogonal projections in  $\langle \mathfrak{M}, e_{\mathfrak{N}} \rangle$  such that  $p_1 \leq e_{\mathfrak{N}}$  or  $p_1 = 00$ ,  $p_i \sim e_{\mathfrak{N}}$  or  $p_i = 0$  for  $i \geq 2$ , and  $\sum_i p_i = \mathbb{1}$ . For any  $i \in \mathbb{N}$ , let  $u_i$  be partial isometries in  $\langle \mathfrak{M}, e_{\mathfrak{N}} \rangle$  with  $u_1u_1^* = p_1$ ,  $u_1^*u_1 = f \leq e_{\mathfrak{n}}$ , and  $u_iu_i^* = p_i$ ,  $u_i^*u_i = e_{\mathfrak{N}}$  if  $i \geq 0$ . Setting  $v_1 := u_1 f$  and  $v_i := u_i$  for  $i \geq 1$  we get

$$\mathbb{1} = \sum_{i} v_i e_{\mathfrak{N}} v_i^*.$$

By [Kos98, Lemma 3.10] there exist elements  $a_i \in \mathfrak{M}, i \in \mathbb{N}$  with  $v_i e_{\mathfrak{N}} = a_i e_{\mathfrak{N}}$ , thus proving the claim.

The Pimsner-Popa basis is a basis in the following sense [Kos98].

Proposition 1.2.11:

*Let*  $\mathfrak{N} \subset \mathfrak{M}$ ,  $E : \mathfrak{M} \to \mathfrak{N}$  *a conditional expectation with*  $\operatorname{Ind}(E) < \infty$ *. Let*  $\{a_i\}_{i=1}^n$  *be a sequence of operators in*  $\mathfrak{M}$  *with* 

$$\sum_{i=1}^n a_i e_{\mathfrak{N}} a_i^* = \mathbb{1},$$

for all  $x \in \mathfrak{M}$ . Then

- for all  $x \in \mathfrak{M}$  we have that  $x = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i E(\alpha_i x)$ , and
- $\operatorname{Ind}(E) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_i a_i^*$ .

*Proof.* Let  $x \in \mathfrak{M}$ , then by Proposition 1.2.8 we have  $xe_{\mathfrak{N}} = \sum_{i} a_{i}e_{\mathfrak{N}}a_{i}xe_{\mathfrak{N}} = \sum_{i} a_{i}\mathsf{E}(a_{i}x)e_{\mathfrak{N}}$ . This implies

$$x = \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_i E(a_i x),$$

since, by assumption, there is a cyclic and separating vector  $\xi_0 \in \mathcal{H}$  with  $e_{\mathfrak{N}}\xi_0 = \xi_0$ . (see also the definition of  $e_{\mathfrak{N}}$  in the previous section).

Let  $E_1 : \langle \mathfrak{M}, e_{\mathfrak{N}} \rangle \to \mathfrak{M}$  be the conditional expectation obtained from the basic construction. Then

$$\mathbb{1} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathsf{E}_1(\mathfrak{a}_i \mathfrak{e}_{\mathfrak{N}} \mathfrak{a}_i^*) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathfrak{a}_i \mathsf{E}_1(\mathfrak{e}_{\mathfrak{N}}) \mathfrak{a}_i^* = (\mathrm{Ind} \mathsf{E})^{-1} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathfrak{a}_i \mathfrak{a}_i^*.$$

The Pimsner-Popa basis are also the starting point for Watatani's index for C\*-subalgebras [Wat90].

## 1.2.4 Crossed Products

As an example for an inclusion of factors we consider the crossed product construction of a factor  $\mathfrak{M}$  with a finite group G acting on  $\mathfrak{M}$  as a group of automorphisms. This illustrates how the index can be understood as an analogue of the index for subgroups of groups, and it provides an explicit way to obtain the index as well as the Pimsner-Popa basis. We will encounter crossed products again when we analyse certain inclusions of von Neumann algebras in the thermodynamic limit of Kitaev'S quantum double models for finite abelian groups.

One can define the crossed products of a von Neumann algebra with a locally compact group [Tak03a; BR96; KR97], however, we will define it here only for discrete groups (e.g. [JS97; KR97; Sun87]). Crossed products play a role in the characterisation of certain representations of dynamical systems. More precisely, the covariant representations of a dynamical system are in one-to one correspondence with non-degenerate representations of the crossed product of the corresponding von Neumann algebra with the group from the dynamical system [BR96; Tak79]. Furthermore, crossed products play an important role in the classification of factors [BR96; KR97; MN36].

#### Definition 1.2.12:

Let  $\mathfrak{M}$  be a von Neumann algebra acting on a Hilbert space  $\mathfrak{H}$ , let G be a finite group, and let  $\alpha$  be a continuous homomorphism of G into the group  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathfrak{M})$  of \*-automorphisms of  $\mathfrak{M}$ . We call the triple  $(\mathfrak{M}, G, \alpha)$  a von Neumann dynamical system, or just dynamical system.

A covariant representation of a dynamical system  $(\mathfrak{M}, G, \alpha)$  is a normal representation  $\rho$  of  $\mathfrak{M}$  on some Hilbert space  $\mathfrak{H}$  together with a unitary representation  $\mathfrak{U}$  of G on  $\mathfrak{H}$ such that  $\pi \circ \alpha_{g}(A) = \mathfrak{U}(g)\pi(A)\mathfrak{U}(g)^{*}$  for all  $g \in G$  and  $A \in \mathfrak{M}$ .

Analogously, one can also define a C\*-dynamical system, but in the remainder of the thesis we will mostly work with von Neumann algebras anyway. For a similar reason, we always assume that G is a finite group, although one can define them for more general groups as well. Dynamical systems arise for example as time evolution of physical systems. If  $\mathcal{H}$  is a Hilbert space, and H a Hamiltonian with corresponding strongly continuous one-parameter group  $(U_t)_{t\in\mathbb{R}}$  of unitaries, then  $\alpha_t(A) \coloneqq U_tAU_t^*$ , with  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ , defines a strongly continuous on-parameter group  $\alpha$  of automorphisms on  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ , and the triple  $(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}), \alpha, \mathbb{R})$  is then a dynamical system. Dynamical systems where the group is given by  $\mathbb{R}$  also play a role in the further classification of type III factors [Tak03a].

Let  $(\mathfrak{M}, G, \alpha)$  be a dynamical system with  $\mathfrak{M}$  acting on a Hilbert space  $\mathfrak{H}$ . Let  $\ell^2(G)$  be the Hilbert space of square summable, complex valued functions on G, and let  $\lambda : G \to \ell^2(G)$  be the left regular representation of G on this space, i.e.  $(\lambda_g \xi)(h) = \xi(g^{-1}h)$  with  $h, g \in G$  and  $\xi \in \ell^2(G)$ . The canonical basis  $(\delta_g)_{g \in G}$  in  $\ell^2(G)$  is given by  $\delta_g(h) = \delta_{g,h}$  with  $g, h \in G$ . The crossed product of  $\mathfrak{M}$  with G w.r.t.  $\alpha$  will be defined by operators acting on the Hilbert space  $\tilde{\mathcal{H}} = \ell^2(G, \mathcal{H})$  of square summable  $\mathcal{H}$ -valued functions on G. The Hilbert space  $\tilde{\mathcal{H}}$  is unitarily equivalent to the Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H} \otimes \ell^2(G)$  and  $\bigoplus_{g \in G} \mathcal{H}$ . The first equivalence is can be seen by checking that the map  $\tilde{\mathcal{H}} \ni \xi \mapsto \sum_{g \in G} \xi(g) \otimes \delta_g \in \mathcal{H} \otimes \ell^2(G)$  is unitary. The second equivalence is given by identifying  $\xi \in \tilde{\mathcal{H}}$  with square summable column vectors  $(\xi(g))_{g \in G}$ .

One can now define a normal faithful representation  $\pi$  of  $\mathfrak{M}$  on  $\tilde{\mathcal{H}}$  by

$$(\pi(A)\xi)(g) \coloneqq \alpha_g^{-1}(A)\xi(g), \tag{1.2}$$

with  $A \in \mathfrak{M}, \xi \in \tilde{\mathcal{H}}$  and  $g \in G$ , and a faithful unitary representation  $\Lambda$  of G on  $\tilde{\mathcal{H}}$  by

$$(\Lambda(g)\xi)(h) \coloneqq \xi(g^{-1}h), \tag{1.3}$$

with  $g, h \in G$  and  $\xi \in \mathcal{H}$ . The faithfulness of  $\pi$  follows from the injectivity of  $\alpha_g$  for each  $g \in G$ , and  $\pi$  is normal, since for any  $g \in G \alpha_g$  is an isomorphism of von Neumann algebras (see e.g. [Tak79, Corollary III.3.10]). Also,  $\Lambda$  is a faithful unitary representation, since the left regular representation of G is unitary and faithful.

#### Definition 1.2.13:

Let  $(\mathfrak{M}, G, \alpha)$  be a dynamical system, and let  $\tilde{\mathcal{H}}$ ,  $\pi$  and  $\Lambda$  be the Hilbert space and the representations of  $\mathfrak{M}$  and G on  $\tilde{\mathcal{H}}$  as above. The crossed product of  $\mathfrak{M}$  with G w.r.t.  $\alpha$  is given by

 $\mathfrak{M}\rtimes_{\alpha} \mathsf{G}:=\left(\pi(\mathfrak{M})\cup\Lambda(\mathsf{G})\right)''.$ 

A priori, this definition depends on the Hilbert space on which  $\mathfrak{M}$  is represented. However, this is not the case, as shown in [KR97, Proposition 13.1.2] (see also [Tak03a]).

Тнеогем 1.2.14:

Let  $(\mathfrak{M}, G, \alpha)$  be a dynamical system and let  $\rho$  be any normal faithful representation of  $\mathfrak{M}$  on some Hilbert space  $\mathcal{K}$ . Define a covariant representation  $\ell^2(G, \mathcal{K})$  by

 $(\rho_{\alpha}(A)\xi)(g) := \rho(\alpha_{g}^{-1}(A))\xi(g) \qquad (\Lambda_{\mathcal{K}}(h)\xi)(g) := \xi(h^{-1}g),$ 

with  $g, h \in G$ ,  $A \in \mathfrak{M}$  and  $\xi \in \ell^2(G, \mathcal{K})$ . Then there exists a \*-isomorphism  $\Phi : \mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G \to \{\rho_{\alpha}(\mathfrak{M}) \cup \Lambda_{\mathcal{K}}(G)\}''$  such that

$$\Phi \circ \pi(A) = \rho_{\alpha}(A),$$
  $\Phi(\Lambda(g)) = \Lambda_{\mathcal{K}}(g),$ 

for all  $g \in G$  and  $A \in \mathfrak{M}$ . In addition, there exists a \*-isomorphism  $\theta$  from  $\mathfrak{M}$  onto a von Neumann algebra  $\mathfrak{N}$  such that for all  $g \in G$  the automorphisms  $g \mapsto \theta \circ \alpha_g \circ \theta^{-1}$  on  $\mathfrak{N}$  are unitarily implemented.

This shows that the crossed product  $\mathcal{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G$  is unique up to isomorphism of von Neumann algebras. One can also show that the crossed product is stable under perturbations by cocycles [Tak03a].

Later, it will be of some use to have the descriptions of the crossed product of  $\mathfrak{M}$  with G w.r.t.  $\alpha$  at hand for the different representations of  $\ell^2(G, \mathcal{H})$ . We will give a brief description here. Let  $(\mathfrak{M}, G, \alpha)$  be a dynamical system,  $\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G$  its crossed product, and  $\pi$  and  $\Lambda$  as above. Let  $W : l^2(G, \mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{H} \otimes \ell^2(G)$  be the unitary given by  $W\xi = \sum_{g \in G} \xi(g) \otimes \delta_g$  with  $\xi \in \ell^2(G, \mathcal{H})$  and  $\{\delta_g\}_{g \in G}$  the canonical basis in  $\ell^2(G)$ . Denote by  $\mathbb{E}_g$ ,  $g \in G$ , the projections onto the basis vectors  $\{\delta_g\}_{g \in G}$ , and by  $\lambda$  the left regular representation (or left shift) of G on  $\ell^2(G)$ . Then it is easy to check that

$$W\pi(A)W^* = \sum_{g \in G} \alpha_g^{-1}(A) \otimes \mathsf{E}_g, \qquad \qquad W\Lambda(g)W^* = \mathbb{1} \otimes \lambda_g \tag{1.4}$$

for all  $A \in \mathfrak{M}$  and  $g \in G$ . The crossed product  $\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G$  is then isomorphic to the von Neumann algebra generated by the linear span of products of such operators.

For the representation of  $\ell^2(G, \mathcal{H})$  as  $\bigoplus_{g \in G} \mathcal{H}$ , let  $V : \iota^2(G, \mathcal{H}) \to \bigoplus_{g \in G} \mathcal{H}$ be the unitary given by  $V\xi = (\xi(g))_{g \in G}$  with  $\xi \in \ell^2(G, \mathcal{H})$ . The right hand side of the last equation can be interpreted as a column vector. This implies that any operator  $B \in \mathcal{B}(\bigoplus_{g \in G} \mathcal{H})$  has, with respect to the canonical basis  $(\delta_g)_{g \in G}$  of  $\ell^2(G)$ , a representation as a matrix  $(B_{k,l})_{k,l \in G}$  with coefficients in  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ . We then have for all  $A \in \mathfrak{M}$  and  $g, k, l \in G$ 

$$(V\pi(a)V^*)_{k,l} = \alpha_l^{-1}(A)\delta_{k,l}, \qquad (V\Lambda(g)V^*)_{k,l} = \delta_{k,gl}\mathbb{1}, \qquad (1.5)$$

and again, the von Neumann algebra generated by these operators is isomorphic to  $\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G$ . One should mention that crossed products can also be characterised by a space of  $\mathfrak{M}$ -valued functions on G (for details, see [JS97, Lemma 1.3.1] and discussion thereafter, and [Tak03a]).

If we consider a dynamical system  $(\mathfrak{M}, \mathsf{G}, \alpha)$  where the automorphisms given by the representation  $\alpha$  are spatial, i.e. implemented by unitaries on  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  then there exists a more direct description<sup>6</sup> of  $\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} \mathsf{G}$ . So, assume that there exists a unitary representation U of G on  $\mathcal{H}$  such that for all  $g \in \mathsf{G}$  we have  $\alpha_g(\mathsf{A}) =$  $U_g \mathsf{A} U_g^*$ . Let  $\pi$  and  $\Lambda$  be the representations of  $\mathfrak{M}$  and  $\mathsf{G}$  on  $\ell^2(\mathsf{G}, \mathcal{H})$  as defined in equations (1.2) and (1.3). The representation  $\pi$  then takes the form

 $(\pi(A)\xi)(g) = U_g^* A U_g \xi(g)$ 

for all  $A \in \mathfrak{M}$ ,  $\xi \in \ell^2(G, \mathcal{H})$ , and  $g \in G$ . On  $\ell^2(\mathcal{H}, G)$  we define a unitary T by

 $(\mathsf{T}\xi)(g) := U_g\xi(g)$ 

for all  $x \in \ell^2(G, \mathcal{H})$  and  $g \in G$ . It is then easy to check that  $(T^*\xi)(g) = U_q^*\xi(g)$ , and

$$(T\pi(A)T^{*}\xi)(g) = A\xi(g) \qquad (T\Lambda(h)T^{*}\xi)(g) = U_{h}\xi(h^{-1}g), \qquad (1.6)$$

for any  $A \in \mathfrak{M}$ ,  $g, h \in G$  and  $\xi \in \ell^2(G, \mathcal{H})$ . We set  $(\tilde{\pi}(A)\xi)(g) := A\xi(g)$  and  $(\tilde{\Lambda}_h\xi)(g) := U_h\xi(h^{-1}g)$ . The crossed product  $\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_\alpha G$  is thus unitary equivalent to the von Neumann algebra  $(\{\tilde{\pi}(A) \mid A \in \mathfrak{M}\} \cup \{\tilde{l}_h \mid h \in G\})''$ . If  $W : l^2(G, \mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{H} \otimes \ell^2(G)$  is the unitary used in equation (1.2) we get

$$W\tilde{\pi}(A)W^* = A \otimes \mathbb{1} \qquad \qquad W\tilde{l}_h W^* = U_h \otimes \lambda_h \tag{1.7}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>In the language of [KR97] this is the *implemented crossed product*.

<sup>20</sup> 

with  $A \in \mathfrak{M}$  and  $g, h \in G$ . Hence, in case that  $\alpha$  is spatial, this gives a particular clean characterisation of  $\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G$ , i.e.

$$\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} \mathbf{G} \cong \left( \{ \mathbf{A} \otimes \mathbb{1} \, | \, \mathbf{A} \in \mathfrak{M} \} \cup \{ \mathbf{U}_{\mathbf{h}} \otimes \lambda_{\mathbf{h}} \, | \, \mathbf{h} \in \mathbf{G} \} \right)''.$$

Next we turn to the question when the crossed product of a factor with a group is again a factor. For this we need the following definition.

Definition 1.2.15:

Let  $\mathfrak{M}$  be a von Neumann algebra. An automorphism  $\theta$  of  $\mathfrak{M}$  is said to be free if  $\forall A \in \mathfrak{M} : (\forall B \in \mathfrak{M} : AB = \theta(B)A) \implies A = 0.$ 

The automorphism  $\theta$  is said to be inner, if there exists a unitary  $U \in \mathfrak{M}$  such that  $\theta(A) = UAU^*$  for all  $A \in \mathfrak{M}$ .

If  $(\mathfrak{M}, G, \alpha)$  is a dynamical system, then  $\alpha$  is free if for all  $g \in G$  with  $g \neq e$ ,  $\alpha_g$  is free.

*The action*  $\alpha$  *is called* ergodic, *if* { $x \in \mathfrak{M} | \forall g \in G : \alpha_g(x) = x$ } =  $\mathbb{C}\mathbb{1}$ .

This immediately implies the following.

Lемма 1.2.16:

An automorphism  $\theta$  of a factor  $\mathfrak M$  is free if and only if it is not inner.

*Proof.* First assume that  $\theta$  is inner. Then there exists a unitary  $U \in \mathfrak{M}$  such that for all  $A \in \mathfrak{M}$ ,  $\theta(A) = UAU^*$ . But then, for any  $B \in \mathfrak{M}$ ,  $UB = UBU^*U = \theta(B)U$ , thus  $\theta$  is not free.

Assume now, that  $\theta$  was not free. Then let  $A \in \mathfrak{M}$  such that for all  $B \in \mathfrak{M}$ ,  $AB = \theta(B)A$ . This implies that  $BA = A\theta^{-1}(B)$ , and thus  $A^*AB = A^*\theta(B)A = BA^*A$  for all  $B \in \mathfrak{M}$ , and thus  $A^*A \in \mathbb{C}\mathbb{1}$ . Similarly,  $AA^* \in \mathbb{C}\mathbb{1}$ . Assume now, that  $A \neq 0$ , and let A = U|A| be the polar decomposition of A. Then  $U \in \mathfrak{M}$  is a unitary, since  $AA^*, A^*A \in \mathbb{C}\mathbb{1}$ , and for all  $B \in \mathfrak{M}$  we have,  $UB = \theta(B)U$ . Hence, either A = 0 or  $\theta$  is inner.

This leads to a characterisation of when the crossed product associated to a dynamical system is a factor [JS97, Proposition 1.4.4].

### Proposition 1.2.17:

Let  $(\mathfrak{M}, G, \alpha)$  be a dynamical system, and  $\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G$  its crossed product with  $\pi$  as in equation (1.2). Then

- *The action*  $\alpha$  *is free if and only if*  $\pi(\mathfrak{M})' \cap (\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G) = \pi(\mathfrak{M}' \cap \mathfrak{M}).$
- Given that  $\alpha$  is free, then  $\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G$  is a factor if and only if the action of  $\alpha \upharpoonright_{\mathfrak{M}' \cap \mathfrak{M}}$  is ergodic.

Here, with  $\alpha \upharpoonright_{\mathfrak{M}' \cap \mathfrak{M}}$  we mean the map obtained by the restriction of  $\alpha$  to the subalgebra  $\mathfrak{M}' \cap \mathfrak{M}$  of  $\mathfrak{M}$ .

*Proof.* For the first assertion, first consider  $Y \in \pi(\mathfrak{M})' \cap (\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G)$  with  $Y = \pi(B)\Lambda(h)$  and  $B \in \mathfrak{M}$ ,  $h \in G$ . Let  $X = \pi(A) \in \pi(\mathfrak{M})$  with  $A \in \mathfrak{M}$ . Then [X, Y] = 0, and this is equivalent to

$$\pi(\mathbf{A})\pi(\mathbf{B}) = \pi(\mathbf{B})\Lambda(\mathbf{h})\pi(\mathbf{A})\Lambda(\mathbf{h})^*$$
$$= \pi(\mathbf{B})\pi(\alpha_{\mathbf{h}}(\mathbf{A})).$$

Note that since  $\pi$  is a \*-homomorphism we have that  $\pi(\mathfrak{M}' \cap \mathfrak{M}) \subseteq \pi(\mathfrak{M})' \cap (\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G)$ .

Now, if  $\alpha$  is free, then  $\pi(A)\pi(B) = \pi(B)\pi(\alpha_h(A))$  for all  $A \in \mathfrak{M}$  implies B = 0, if  $h \neq e$ . If h = e this reads  $\pi(AB) = \pi(BA)$ , and since  $\pi$  is faithful, [A, B] = 0 for all  $A \in \mathfrak{M}$ , implying  $B \in \mathfrak{M}' \cap \mathfrak{M}$ . Thus,  $\pi(\mathfrak{M})' \cap (\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G) = \pi(\mathfrak{M}' \cap \mathfrak{M})$ .

If  $\pi(\mathfrak{M})' \cap (\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G) = \pi(\mathfrak{M}' \cap \mathfrak{M})$ , then  $Y = \pi(B)\Lambda(h) \in \pi(\mathfrak{M} \cap \mathfrak{M}')$  and this is only possible, if B = 0 or h = e. The above equation then implies that  $\alpha$  is free.

For the second assertion, let  $\alpha$  be free. Note that  $(\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G) \cap (\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G)' \subseteq (\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G) \cap \pi(\mathfrak{M})' = \pi(\mathfrak{M} \cap \mathfrak{M}')$ . Let  $Y = \pi(A) \in (\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G) \cap (\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G)$  and  $X = \pi(B)\Lambda(h) \in (\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G)$ , with  $A, B \in \mathfrak{M}$  and  $h \in G$ . Then we get, with the same calculation as above,  $\pi(A)\pi(B) = \pi(B)\pi(\alpha_h(A))$ , but also  $\pi(A)\pi(B) = \pi(B)\pi(A)$ , since  $A \in \mathfrak{M} \cap \mathfrak{M}'$ . Hence, for all  $B \in \mathfrak{M}$  and all  $h \in G$  we have  $(A - \alpha_h(A))B = 0$  and consequently, by faithfulness of  $\pi$ ,  $\alpha_h(A) = A$  for all  $h \in G$ . This implies  $(\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G) \cap (\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G)' = {\pi(A) | A \in \mathfrak{M} \cap \mathfrak{M}' : \forall h \in G : \alpha_h(A) = A}$ .

The following is then immediate.

#### Corollary 1.2.18:

*Let*  $(\mathfrak{M}, G, \alpha)$  *be a dynamical system,*  $\mathfrak{M}$  *a factor and*  $\alpha$  *free. Then*  $\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G$  *is a factor, and*  $\pi(\mathfrak{M}) \subset \mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G$  *is an irreducible inclusion of factors.* 

If  $\mathfrak{M}$  is a factor and  $\alpha$  is free, then the crossed product  $\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G$  gives an example where one can easily calculate the index.

#### Proposition 1.2.19:

Let  $(\mathfrak{M}, G, \alpha)$  be a dynamical system with  $\mathfrak{M}$  a factor and  $\alpha$  not inner. Then, in the notation of equations (1.2) and (1.3),

- the map  $\mathcal{E}$  given by  $\sum_{g \in G} \pi(A_g) \Lambda(g) \mapsto \pi(A_e)$  for an arbitrary indexing  $(A_g)_{g \in G}$ of elements in  $\mathfrak{M}$ , is the unique conditional expectation  $\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G \to \pi(\mathfrak{M})$ ,
- the elements  $\{\Lambda(h) | h \in G\}$  form a Pimsner-Popa basis for the inclusion  $\pi(\mathfrak{M}) \subset \mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G$ ,
- $\operatorname{Ind}(\mathcal{E}) = |G|.$

*Proof.* It can be checked by short calculations that  $\mathcal{E}$  satisfies  $\mathcal{E}(1) = 1$ ,  $||\mathcal{E}(X)|| \leq ||X||$ , and  $\mathcal{E}(\alpha Xb) = \alpha \mathcal{E}(X)b$  for all  $X \in \mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G$  and all  $\alpha, b \in \pi(\mathfrak{M})$ . If  $X = \sum_{g \in G} \pi(A_g) \Lambda(g) \in \mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G$ , then

$$\begin{split} X^*X &= \sum_{g,h\in G} \Lambda(g)^* \pi(A_g^*A_h) \Lambda(h) \\ &= \sum_{g,h\in G} \pi(\alpha_{g^{-1}}(A_g^*A_{gh})) \Lambda(h), \end{split}$$

and therefore  $\mathcal{E}(X^*X) = \sum_{g \in G} \pi(\alpha_{g^{-1}}(A_g^*A_g)) \ge 0$ . Hence  $\mathcal{E}$  is a conditional expectation, and since the inclusion  $\pi(\mathfrak{M}) \subset \mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G$  is irreducible, it is unique.

Let  $W : l^2(G, \mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{H} \otimes \ell^2(G)$  be the unitary used in equation (1.4). First, we show that the Jones projection  $e_{\pi(\mathfrak{M})}$  is given by

$$e_{\pi(\mathfrak{M})} = W^* \mathbb{1} \otimes \mathsf{E}_e W$$

where  $E_e$  is the projection in  $\ell^2(G)$  onto the subspace spanned by the basis vector  $\delta_e$ . Indeed, with  $X = \sum_{g \in G} \pi(A_g) \Lambda(g) \in \mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G$ , we get

$$We_{\pi(\mathfrak{M})}Xe_{\pi(\mathfrak{M})}W^* = \sum_{g,h\in G} (1\otimes E_e)(\alpha_{h^{-1}}(A_g)\otimes E_h)(\mathbb{1}\otimes \lambda_g)(\mathbb{1}\otimes E_e)$$
$$= \sum_{g\in G} \delta_{g,e}(A_g\otimes \mathbb{1})(\mathbb{1}\otimes \lambda_g)(\mathbb{1}\otimes E_e)$$
$$= W\mathcal{E}(X)e_{\pi(\mathfrak{M})}W^*.$$

Let  $\phi$  be a faithful normal state on  $\mathfrak{M}$  and, by Theorem 1.2.14, we can assume that  $\mathfrak{H}$  is the corresponding GNS representation of  $\mathfrak{M}$ . Let  $\zeta_0 \in \mathfrak{H}$  be cyclic and separating for  $\mathfrak{M}$ . Then the vector  $\xi_0 := W^* \zeta_0 \otimes \delta_e \in \ell^2(G, \mathfrak{H})$  cyclic and separating

as well: Let  $X \in \mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G$  be of the form  $X = \sum_{g \in G} \pi(A_g) \Lambda(g)$  for some labelling  $(A_g)_{g \in G}$  of elements in  $\mathfrak{M}$ . Then we have

$$W^* X \xi_0 = \sum_{g,h \in G} (\alpha_h^{-1}(A_g) \otimes E_h) (\mathbb{1} \otimes \lambda_g) \zeta_0 \otimes \delta_e$$
$$= \sum_{g \in G} \alpha_g^{-1}(A_g) \zeta_0 \otimes \delta_g,$$

and hence, vectors of the form  $X\xi_0$  span a dense subspace of  $\ell^2(G, \mathcal{H})$ . By denseness of such elements X in  $\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G$  it follows that  $\xi_0$  is cyclic for  $\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G$ .

Very similarly, let  $X, Y \in \mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G$  with  $X = \sum_{g \in G} \pi(A_g) \Lambda(G)$  and  $Y = \sum_{g \in G} \pi(B_g) \Lambda(g)$  with  $A_g, B_g$  elements of  $\mathfrak{M}$  and  $g \in G$ . Assume that  $X\xi_0 = Y\xi_0$ . Then with the same calculation in the previous equation, we find

$$\sum_{g\in G} \alpha_g^{-1}(A_g)\zeta_0\otimes \delta_g = \sum_{g\in G} \alpha_g^{-1}(B_g)\zeta_0\otimes \delta_g,$$

and since  $(\delta_g)_{g\in G}$  is an orthonormal basis of  $\ell^2(G)$ , we find by comparing coefficients, that

$$A_{g}\zeta_{0}=B_{g}\zeta_{0},$$

for all  $g \in G$ . Since  $\zeta_0$  is separating for  $\mathfrak{M}$ , it follows that X = Y. Now it is easy to check that  $e_{\pi(\mathfrak{M})}\xi_0 = \xi_0$ , and therefore

$$e_{\pi(\mathfrak{M})} X e_{\pi(\mathfrak{M})} \xi_{0} = \mathcal{E}(X) e_{\pi(\mathfrak{M})} \xi_{0} = \mathcal{E}(X) \xi_{0}$$

for all  $X \in \mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G$ . Thus  $e_{\pi(\mathfrak{M})}$  is the Jones projection for the conditional expectation  $\mathcal{E}$ .

With similar calculations as above, one can check that

$$\sum_{g\in G} \Lambda(g) e_{\pi(\mathfrak{M})} \Lambda(g)^* = \mathbb{1}.$$

Hence, the operators  $(\Lambda(g))_{g \in G}$  fulfill the assumptions of Proposition 1.2.11, and thus the index  $\operatorname{Ind}(\mathcal{E})$  is given by

$$\operatorname{Ind}(\mathcal{E}) = \sum_{g \in G} \Lambda(g) \Lambda(g)^* = |G|.$$

0	) /
2	-4

For crossed products there exists a correspondence between subgroups of the (discrete) group G and von Neumann subalgebras of  $\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G$  [Cho78]. This can be used to set up a Galois correspondence between von Neumann subalgebras of a von Neumann algebra and subgroups of automorphism groups acting on it [Cho78; HT72].

## 1.3 QUANTUM SPIN SYSTEMS

The main objective of this thesis is the analysis of a quantum spin systems system. In this section we discuss the mathematical description of such systems in general. This includes the treatment of the thermodynamic limit in the setting of operator algebras, the existence of dynamics in the limit of infinite particle numbers and volumes, and ground states. A detailed treatment can be found in the standard reference [BR96], and an educational introduction is provided for instance by [Naa13b]. The detailed discussions of the system we analyse later can be found in the subsequent chapter.

Quantum many body systems describe the interaction between particles situated on a discrete structure, such as a lattice. Usually this framework is used as an idealised model to described crystalline structures, solid bodies and spin liquids.Here we follow the interpretation that at each point of the lattice there is a particle attached which carries degrees of freedom [BR96]. The model then describes how the degrees of freedom of the particles on the lattice interact with each other. A single particle's degrees of freedom are modelled by an n-dimensional Hilbert space. The interaction between various particles is given by a Hamiltonian and its nature depends on the type of physical system under consideration. While there are many possibilities to describe interactions, it turns out that typical physically relevant systems exhibit interactions where each single particle only interacts with the particles in close vicinity, i.e. only with few neighbours, or the coupling strength between particles decays rapidly with their relative distance. Examples for systems that are commonly used in the literature are the Ising model [Kog79; Cha87], the Heisenberg model, the AKLT model [Aff+87], the class of Kitaev's quantum double models [Kit03] and the class of Levin-Wen models [LW05]. The quantum double models can also be interpreted as lattice gauge theories [Kit03; HW05]. However, the only difference we make here is that the Hilbert spaces are not placed on the vertices of the lattice, but instead on the links (edges) between vertices (see [MM97] for an introduction in lattice gauge theories, and also [Kog79]).

#### 1.3.1 KINEMATICS

The kinematics of a quantum spin system are defined in the following way. As the underlying spatial geometry we assume the square lattice  $\mathbb{Z}^d$ . Hereby, we regard  $\mathbb{Z}^d$  as the graph containing both the vertices of  $\mathbb{Z}^d$  and the edges given by tuples of neighbouring vertices. The discussion of more general lattices can be obtained in a straightforward way. The particles in the system are modelled by associating to every edge  $e \in \mathbb{Z}^d$  a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_e$ . We assume that  $\mathcal{H}_e$  is a copy of  $\mathbb{C}^n$ and that for any edge e the dimension n is the same. Again, the latter assumption is not strictly necessary, however it suffices for the purpose of this thesis. For finite regions  $0 \subset \mathbb{Z}^d$  the total Hilbert space is then given as the tensor product  $\bigotimes_{e \in \mathbb{O}} \mathcal{H}_e =: \mathcal{H}_{\mathbb{O}}$ . While it is sufficient to work in the framework of Hilbert space if O is finite, it is more problematic when transitioning to the thermodynamic limit, that is, the limit of large particle numbers and large volumes. One could take an inductive limit of Hilbert spaces, however this requires to select a reference vector, and there is no obvious canonical choice for this [BR96]. Instead, a it is convenient to switch the perspective to bounded operators on the edge Hilbert spaces  $\mathcal{A}(\{e\}) := \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_e)$ , i.e. to the picture of C\*-algebras. There the limit of infinite particles and volumes is unambiguously defined [Tak79; Sak71]. For finite regions  $\mathbb{O} \subset \mathbb{Z}^d$  we define the *local algebra* 

$$\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{O}) := \bigotimes_{e \in \mathcal{O}} \mathcal{A}(\{e\}) = \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{O}}).$$

For disjoint finite sets  $\mathcal{O}_1$  and  $\mathcal{O}_2$  we have  $\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{O}_1 \cup \mathcal{O}_2) = \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{O}_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{O}_2})$ , and  $\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{O}_1)$  can be identified with the subalgebra  $\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{O}_1) \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{O}_2}$ , where  $\mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{O}_2}$  is the identity on  $\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{O}_2)$ . For finite sets  $\mathcal{O} \subset \mathcal{O}'$  the algebra  $\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{O})$  can be canonically embedded into  $\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{O}')$  by identifying  $\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{O})$  with  $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\mathcal{O}' \setminus \mathcal{O}}$ . Thus, if  $\mathcal{P}_f(\mathbb{Z}^d)$  denotes the family of finite subsets of  $\mathbb{Z}^d$ , the map

 $\mathbb{O}\mapsto\mathcal{A}(\mathbb{O})$ 

defines a net of C\*-algebras. One can show that there exists an inductive limit A, which is the smallest C\*-algebra containing all local algebras (c.f. [BR96] and [Sak71], also [Tak55]. This structure is very similar to that found in algebraic quantum field theory, see also [Emc00]).

Moreover, it can be shown that if one chooses a sequence  $(\mathcal{O}_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  in  $\mathcal{P}_f(\mathbb{Z}^d)$ with  $\mathcal{O}_n \subset \mathcal{O}_{n+1}$  and  $\bigcup_n \mathcal{O}_n = \mathbb{Z}^d$ , then for the *algebra of local observables* 

$$\mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{loc}} \coloneqq \bigcup_{\mathfrak{O} \subset \mathbb{Z}^{\mathrm{d}}} \mathcal{A}(\mathfrak{O}),$$

there exists a unique norm  $\|\cdot\|$  such that algebra of local observables is a norm dense subalgebra of  $\mathcal{A}$ , i.e.  $\mathcal{A} = \overline{\mathcal{A}_{loc}} \|\cdot\|$ . The bar denotes the closure in the norm  $\|\cdot\|$ . In fact, this norm is induced by the norms on the local algebras, with the canonical identification  $\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{O}) \subset \mathcal{A}(\mathcal{O}')$ , if  $\mathcal{O} \subset \mathcal{O}'$ . Hence, operators in  $\mathcal{A}$  can be approximated by local observables up to an arbitrarily small error. Due to this property the algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  is usually referred to as the *quasilocal algebra*.

The local algebras have the property that for disjoint  $\mathfrak{O}, \mathfrak{O}' \in \mathfrak{P}_{f}(\mathbb{Z}^{d})$  the operators commute, i.e. for all  $A \in \mathcal{A}(\mathfrak{O})$  and for all  $B \in \mathcal{A}(\mathfrak{O}')$  it holds that  $[A, B] = \mathfrak{O}$ . This is usually referred to as *locality*. The *spatial support*, or just *support*, of a local operator  $A \in \mathcal{A}_{loc}$  is the smallest set  $\mathfrak{O} \in \mathfrak{P}_{f}(\mathbb{Z}^{2})$  such that  $A \in \mathcal{A}(\mathfrak{O})$ . We then write  $\operatorname{supp}(A) := \mathfrak{O}$ .

As the local algebras are type-I factors the algebra A is a uniformly hyperfinite (UHF) algebram, and, as the limit of simple algebras, again simple [BR96; Sak71]. This implies that any representation  $\pi$  of A is automatically faithful.

#### 1.3.2 Dynamics

To define the dynamics of quantum spin systems one starts out with the definition of an interaction between the particles (c.f.[BR96]). Mathematically an *interaction* is a map  $\Phi$  from sets  $\mathcal{O} \in \mathcal{P}_{f}(\mathbb{Z}^{d})$  to self-adjoint operators  $\Phi(\mathcal{O}) \in \mathcal{A}(\mathcal{O})$ . For finite sets  $\Lambda \in \mathcal{P}_{f}(\mathbb{Z}^{d})$  the *local Hamiltonian* that generates the dynamics on  $\mathcal{A}(\Lambda)$  is then given as the sum of all interaction terms of subsets of  $\Lambda$ , i.e.

$$\mathsf{H}_{\Phi}(\Lambda) \coloneqq \sum_{\mathfrak{O} \subset \Lambda} \Phi(\mathfrak{O}),$$

and  $H(\Lambda) \in \mathcal{A}(\Lambda)$ . The *range* of the interaction  $\Phi$  is given by

$$d_{\Phi} := \inf \, \left\{ d \, \big| \, d \geqslant 1 \, \land \, \forall \mathbb{O} \in \mathcal{P}_{f}(\mathbb{Z}^{d}) : \sup_{x,y \in \mathbb{O}} d(x,y) > d \implies \Phi(X) = 0 \right\},$$

where  $d(\cdot, \cdot): \mathbb{Z}^d \times \mathbb{Z}^d \to \mathbb{R}$  is the taxicab metric.

The local Hamiltonians generate dynamics on the local algebras. If the interaction range is finite or decays fast enough then it can be shown that the local

Hamiltonians give rise to a time evolution on the quasilocal algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  in terms of a strongly continuous one-parameter group of automorphisms (see [BR96] for the standard introduction, [NS10] for an overview including recent results, and also [NOS06]). For the purpose of this thesis we only need the result for interactions with finite interaction range, i.e.  $d_{\Phi} < \infty$ . In particular this implies that for any  $x \in \mathbb{Z}^d$  there are only finitely many regions  $\mathbb{O} \subset \mathcal{P}_f(\mathbb{Z}^d)$  with  $x \in \mathbb{O}$  and  $\Phi(X) \neq 0$ .

The generator of the dynamics will be a \*-derivation. A \*-*derivation* of a C\*algebra  $\mathcal{B}$  is a linear, possibly unbounded operator on  $\mathcal{B}$  with domain  $\mathcal{D}(\delta) \subset \mathcal{B}$ such that  $\mathcal{D}$  is a subspace and for all A, B  $\in \mathcal{D}(\delta)$  we have

$$\begin{split} \delta(A)^* &= \delta(A^*),\\ \delta(AB) &= \delta(A)B + A\delta(B). \end{split}$$

We then have the following statement about the existence of dynamics [BR96, Example 6.2.7].

#### Тнеогем 1.3.1:

Let A be the quasilocal algebra of a quantum spin system on  $\mathbb{Z}^d$ , and let  $\Phi$  be an interaction with finite range. Then there exists a norm-closable \*-derivation  $\delta$  of A with domain

$$\mathcal{D}(\delta) = \mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{loc}}$$

such that for all  $\mathfrak{O} \in \mathfrak{P}_{f}(\mathbb{Z}^{d})$  and  $A \in \mathcal{A}(\mathfrak{O})$  it holds

$$\delta(A) = i \sum_{\substack{\Lambda \in \mathfrak{P}_{f}(\Gamma) \\ \Lambda \cap \mathfrak{O} \neq \emptyset}} [H_{\Phi}(\Lambda), A].$$

Its closure  $\overline{\delta}$  generates a strongly-continuous one-parameter group  $\alpha$  of \*-automorphisms of  $\mathcal{A}$ . If  $(\mathcal{O}_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  is any increasing sequence of sets in  $\mathcal{P}_f(\mathbb{Z}^d)$  exhausting  $\mathbb{Z}^d$ , then for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  and all  $A \in \mathcal{A}$ 

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} \|\tau_t(A) - \tau_t^{\mathcal{O}_n}(A)\| = 0$$

where the convergence is uniform for t in compacts, does not depend on the sequence  $(O_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ , and where

$$\tau^{\mathfrak{O}_{\mathfrak{n}}}_{\mathfrak{t}}(A) := e^{\mathrm{i}\mathfrak{t}H_{\mathfrak{O}}(\mathfrak{O}_{\mathfrak{n}})}Ae^{-\mathrm{i}\mathfrak{t}H_{\mathfrak{O}}(\mathfrak{O}_{\mathfrak{n}})}$$

#### 1.3.3 GROUND STATES

Most of the physically relevant Hamiltonians H have a spectrum that is bounded from below<sup>7</sup>. By shifting the spectrum accordingly this bound can be set to zero. This is equivalent to  $\langle \psi, H\psi \rangle \ge 0$  for all  $\psi \in \mathcal{D}(H)$ , where  $\mathcal{D}(H)$  is the domain on which H is self-adjoint. If the spectrum of H is discrete, or if zero is an eigenvalue of H, then vectors  $\psi \in \mathcal{H}$  in the kernel of H, i.e.  $H\psi = 0$ , are called ground states of H.

In the description of dynamics on a C\*-algebra  $\mathcal{B}$  as above, we do not *a priori* have a Hamiltonian at hand. The dynamics are given by a strongly continuous oneparameter group  $\alpha$  of automorphisms of  $\mathcal{B}$  generated by a derivation  $\delta$ . However, if  $\omega$  is a state that is stationary under the time evolution, i.e.  $\omega \circ \alpha = \omega$ , then in the GNS representation  $(\pi_{\omega}, \mathcal{H}_{\omega}, \Omega)$  there exists a strongly continuous one-parameter groups of unitaries U on  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\omega})$  such that for all  $A \in \mathcal{B}$  and for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ 

$$U_t \pi_{\omega}(A) U_t^* = \pi_{\omega}(\alpha_t(A)).$$

Furthermore, U can be chosen such that  $U_t\Omega = \Omega$  for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  (see also [BR96, Corollary 2.3.17]). By Stone's theorem, strongly continuous one-parameter groups of unitaries are generated by essentially self-adjoint operators (see e.g. [Sch12]), thus for the group U there exists a Hamiltonian  $H_\omega$  on  $\mathcal{H}_\omega$ , and it satisfies  $H_\omega\Omega = 0$  (c.f. [BR96, Proposition 3.2.28] and discussion afterwards). In particular, we have that

$$(\forall \psi \in \pi_{\omega}(\mathcal{D}(\delta))\Omega) (\forall A \in \mathcal{D}(\delta)) : \pi_{\omega}(\delta(A))\Omega = \mathfrak{i}[\mathsf{H}_{\omega}, \pi_{\omega}(A)]\psi.$$

One now calls  $\omega$  a ground state of the dynamics  $\alpha$  if  $H_{\omega} \ge 0$ . This is equivalent to a more algebraic criterion (c.f. [Naa13b, Theorem 3.4.3] or [BR96]):

#### Тнеогем 1.3.2:

Let A be a C\*-algebra and  $\alpha$  be a one-parameter group of automorphisms of A generated by a \*-derivation  $\delta$  with dense domain  $D(\delta)$ . For a state  $\omega$  of A the following statements are equivalent:

- For each  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  we have  $\omega \circ \alpha_t = \omega$ , and the Hamiltonian  $H_{\omega}$  in the GNS representation of  $\omega$  satisfies  $H_{\omega} \ge 0$ .
- For all  $A \in \mathfrak{D}(\delta)$  we have  $-i\omega(A^*\delta(A)) \ge 0$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Or they are bounded from above. However, this only differs by a sign.

We take this theorem as the motivation for the following definition of a ground state.

DEFINITION 1.3.3:

Let  $\mathbb{B}$  be a C\*-algebra, let  $\alpha$  be a strongly continuous one-parameter group of automorphisms on  $\mathbb{B}$  generated by a derivation  $\delta$  with dense domain  $\mathbb{D}(\delta)$ . A state  $\omega$  on  $\mathbb{B}$  is said to be a ground state of  $\alpha$  if

 $\forall A \in \mathcal{D}(\delta) : -i\omega(A^*\delta(A)) \ge 0.$ 

To shed some light on this condition, let  $\mathcal{H}$  be a finite dimensional Hilbert space and  $\mathcal{H}$  some Hamiltonian with  $\mathcal{H} \ge 0$  and ground state  $\Omega \in \mathcal{H}$  satisfying  $\mathcal{H}\Omega = 0$ . Then  $\mathcal{H}$  generates a continuous one-parameter group of unitaries by  $U_t = e^{i\mathcal{H}t}$ which gives rise to an automorphism group of  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  by  $\alpha_t(A) := U_tAU_t^*$  for all  $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  and  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . Note, that then  $U_t\Omega = \Omega$  for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . The (bounded) derivation generating  $\alpha$  is given by  $\delta(A) = i[\mathcal{H}, A]$ . Setting  $\omega(A) := \langle \Omega, A\Omega \rangle$  for  $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  defines an  $\alpha$ -invariant state, and we get

$$\omega(\delta(A)) = i \langle \Omega, (HA - AH) \Omega \rangle = 0$$

and

$$-i\omega(A^*\delta(A)) = \langle A\Omega, (HA - AH)\Omega \rangle$$
$$= \langle \Omega, A^*HA\Omega \rangle \ge 0,$$

for all  $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ . The general situation in the above theorem can be proven in a very similar way. We also want to remark, that due to [BR96, Proposition 5.3.25] and Theorem 1.3.1 there always exists a ground state for quantum spin systems.

#### 1.4 QUANTUM DOUBLE OF FINITE GROUPS

In this section we discuss the quantum double  $\mathcal{D}(G)$  for finite groups G. It is an application of a more general scheme by Drinfel'd for constructing quasi-triangular Hopf algebras from a given finite dimensional Hopf algebra with invertible antipode [Dri88; Kas95] (for the construction of  $\mathcal{D}(G)$ , see also [Gou93]). Its importance for us lies in its representation theory which plays a crucial role in determining the excitation structure of Kitaev's quantum double models.

We start with introducing some notations. Consider a finite group G. Throughout this work the inverse of a group element  $g \in G$  is denoted by  $\overline{g}$  and we write



e for the identity of G. We denote the *centraliser* of some element  $g \in G$  in G by  $\mathsf{Z}_G(g),$  i.e.

$$\mathsf{Z}_{\mathsf{G}}(\mathsf{g}) = \{\mathsf{h} \in \mathsf{G} \,|\, \mathsf{h}\mathsf{g} = \mathsf{g}\mathsf{h}\},\$$

which is a subgroup of G. Given  $r \in G$  we denote its *conjugacy class* by

 $C := \{hr\overline{h} | h \in G\},\$ 

and elements of a conjugacy class C are denoted  $c_1, \ldots, c_{|C|}$ . For the following note, that if  $H \subseteq G$  is a subgroup, the cosets gH with  $g \in G$  are either disjoint or equal. This can be seen by noting that  $h \sim g$  if and only if  $\overline{h}g \in H$ , with  $h, g \in G$ , defines an equivalence relation on G. Then we have hH = gH if and only if  $h \sim g$ . This implies the following properties.

Lемма 1.4.1:

Let  $C = \{c_1, \ldots, c_{|C|}\}$  be a conjugacy class of G. Furthermore, let  $Q_C = \{q_1, \ldots, q_{|C|}\}$  be a set of representatives of each coset of  $Z_G(r)$  in G such that  $q_i r \overline{q_i} = c_i \in C$  for all  $i = 1, \ldots, |C|$ , and where we choose  $q_i = e$  if  $c_i = r$ .

- The elements  $c_1, \ldots, c_{|C|}$  are in one to one correspondence with left cosets of  $Z_G(r)$  in G.
- For each  $g \in G$  there exists a unique  $n \in Z_G(r)$  and a unique  $q \in Q_C$  with g = qn.

*Proof.* Concerning the first statement, note that for each  $h, k \in gZ_G(r)$  for some  $g \in G$ , it holds that  $hr\bar{h} = kr\bar{k}$ . Conversely, let  $h, k \in G$  such that  $hr\bar{h} = kr\bar{k}$ . Then  $\bar{h}k \in Z_G(r)$ , but this is equivalent to  $hZ_G(r) = kZ_G(r)$ .

For the second statement, consider a fixed  $g \in G$ . Then certainly  $g \in gZ_G(r)$ , and since the left cosets of  $Z_G(r)$  are either equal or disjoint, there exists a unique  $q \in Q_C$  such that  $g \in qZ_G(r)$ . Now let  $n, m \in Z_G(r)$  be such that g = qn = qm. But this already implies m = n, thus finishing the proof.

The second statement defines a map  $g \mapsto i(g)$  from elements  $g \in G$  to indices  $i(g) \in \{1, \ldots, |C|\}$ , and a map  $G \ni g \mapsto n(g) \in Z_G(r)$ . We then have  $g = q_{i(g)}n(g)$  for  $g \in G$ , and for  $c_i \in C$  we have  $q(c_i) = q_i$  (This notation was also used in [BM08]). For convenience, we will also sometimes write q(g) for  $q_{i(g)}$ .

Given a subgroup  $K \subset G$  let  $\pi$  be an *irreducible unitary representations* of K. We always assume that the representations we consider are unitary. In the following we fix a basis in the representation space of  $\pi$ , and for a given element  $g \in G$  the

matrix elements of  $\pi(g)$  are denoted by  $\pi_{i,j}(g)$ . For convenience we denote the *character* of  $\pi$  (i.e. the trace of  $\pi(g)$ ) also by  $\pi$ . In the discussion of ribbon operators in later sections we will use both the representation and its character in such a way, that it is clear from the context what is meant. The *trivial representation* is denoted by id.

## 1.4.1 The Quantum Double $\mathcal{D}(G)$

We now come to the definition of the quantum double  $\mathcal{D}(G)$  of a finite group G. Let  $\ell^2(G)$  be the vector space of square summable, complex valued functions on G, and  $\mathbb{C}[G]$  be the group algebra of G. Note that  $\ell^2(G)$  has the structure of a commutative algebra with the multiplication defined by the pointwise product. The canonical basis  $(\delta_g)_{g\in G}$  of  $\ell^2(G)$  is given by  $\delta_g(h) := \delta_{g,h}$  with  $g, h \in G$ . We identify the basis of the group algebra  $\mathbb{C}[G]$  with elements  $x \in G$ . The group algebra  $\mathbb{C}[G]$  acts on  $\ell^2(G)$  with the adjoint action which is determined by

$$x\delta_{g}\bar{x} = \delta_{xg\bar{x}},\tag{1.8}$$

with x,  $g \in G$ , and extending linearly to  $\ell^2(G)$ . This allows to define the semi-direct product of  $\ell^2(G)$  with  $\mathbb{C}[G]$ , which we denote by  $\mathcal{D}(G)$ , i.e.

$$\mathcal{D}(\mathsf{G}) \coloneqq \ell^2(\mathsf{G}) \rtimes \mathbb{C}[\mathsf{G}].$$

The product and the unit element of  $\mathcal{D}(G)$  is given by

$$egin{aligned} &(\delta_{g}, \mathbf{x}) \cdot (\delta_{h}, \mathbf{y}) = \delta_{g, \mathbf{x}h\overline{\mathbf{x}}}(\delta_{g}, \mathbf{x}\mathbf{y}) \ &\mathbf{1} = \sum_{g \in G} (\delta_{g}, e), \end{aligned}$$

with g, h, x, y  $\in$  G, which gives it the structure of an algebra. Note, that the product can be regarded as a map  $\cdot : \mathcal{D}(G) \otimes \mathcal{D}(G) \to \mathcal{D}(G)$ , and the unit element as the map  $1 : \mathbb{C} \to \mathcal{D}(G)$ , which is called *unit*. In addition, one can define the maps  $\Delta : \mathcal{D}(G) \to \mathcal{D}(G) \otimes \mathcal{D}(G)$ ,  $\varepsilon : \mathcal{D}(G) \to \mathbb{C}$  and  $S : \mathcal{D}(G) \to \mathcal{D}(G)$ . by the following relations.

$$\begin{split} &\Delta((\delta_g, x)) \coloneqq \sum_{\substack{k, l \in G \\ kl = g}} (\delta_k, x) \otimes (\delta_l, x) \\ &\varepsilon((\delta_g, x)) \coloneqq \delta_{g, e} \\ &S((\delta_g, x)) \coloneqq (\delta_{\overline{x} \overline{g} x}, \overline{x}), \end{split}$$

with  $x, g \in G$ . The map  $\Delta$  is called *co-product*,  $\epsilon$  is called *co-unit* and S is called *antipode*. This structure on  $\mathcal{D}(G)$  makes it a *coalgebra*.

## Definition 1.4.2:

The quantum double D(G) of a finite group G is defined the outer semi-direct product

 ${\mathbb D}(G):=\ell^2(G)\rtimes {\mathbb C}[G].$ 

with respect to the action defined in Equation (1.8), together with the mappings  $(\cdot, 1, \Delta, \epsilon, S)$  as defined above.

The operations  $(\cdot, 1, \Delta, \epsilon)$  defined above w.r.t.  $\mathcal{D}(G)$  satisfy certain compatibility conditions and comprise what is called a *bi-algebra*. The antipode S extends this structure to that of an *Hopf algebra* structure (see also [Kas95]). In addition,  $\mathcal{D}(G)$  there is also a universal R-matrix  $R \in \mathcal{D}(G) \otimes \mathcal{D}(G)$  given by

$$R \coloneqq \sum_{g \in G} (\delta_g, e) \otimes (1, g)$$

which makes  $\mathcal{D}(G)$  a *quasi-triangular* Hopf algebra. Essentially, the existence of a universal R-matrix allows to define a *braiding* on the category of representations of  $\mathcal{D}(G)$  (see for instance [Kas95]). However, in the remainder we will not make direct use of these structures and mention them here only for completeness.

## 1.4.2 Representations of $\mathcal{D}(G)$ in a Nutshell

The rich structure of the quantum double  $\mathcal{D}(G)$  for finite groups G allows for a relatively clean classification of its irreducible representations [DPR91; Gou93] (see [Kas95] for a more general discussion). In what follows we will review the basic analysis of  $\mathcal{D}(G)$ . Some of this will occur later, though implicit, in the analysis of the local excitations of the quantum double model.

Let  $r \in G$  be fixed from now on, and denote its corresponding conjugacy class C in G and the centraliser  $Z_G(r)$  of r in G. As before, let  $Q_C$  be a set of representatives of left cosets of  $Z_G(r)$  in G such that  $q_i r \overline{q_i} = c_i$  for all  $q_i \in Q_C$  and  $c_i \in C$ . There are two observations which are essential in the subsequent discussion. The first is Lemma 1.4.1 and the remark after: Each  $g \in G$  has a unique decomposition g = q(g)n(g) with  $q(g) \in Q_C$  and  $n(g) \in Z_G(r)$ . Note, that this implies  $\bigcup_{q \in Q_C} qZ_G(r) = G$ .

The second observation is the following.

Lemma 1.4.3:

Let C be a conjugacy class of G, and let  $Q_C$  be as in Lemma 1.4.1. Then for each  $g \in G$ and each  $c \in C$  there exists a unique  $c' \in C$  such that  $\overline{q(c)}gq(c') \in Z_G(r)$  and  $gc\overline{g} = c'$ 

*Proof.* Let  $g \in G$  and  $c \in C$ . By Lemma 1.4.1 there exists a unique  $q' \in Q_C$ , and thus a unique  $c' \in C$  with q' = q(c'), such that  $gq(c) \in q(c')Z_G(r)$ , hence we have  $\overline{q(c')}gq(c) \in Z_G(r)$ . Using this, one can check that  $gc\overline{g} = q(c')r\overline{q(c')} = c'$ .

Let now  $\pi$  be an irreducible representation of  $Z_G(r)$  with representation space  $V_{\pi}^r$ . Then, by extending the action  $\pi$  of  $Z_G(r)$  linearly on  $V_{\pi}^r$ , the space  $V_{\pi}^r$  is a also left  $\mathbb{C}[Z_G(r)]$ -module. Since  $\mathbb{C}[Z_G(r)]$  also acts on  $\mathbb{C}[G]$ , we can take the tensor product between  $\mathbb{C}[G]$  and  $V_{\pi}^r$ , and we set

 $V_{r,\pi} := \mathbb{C}[G] \otimes_{\mathbb{C}[Z_G(r)]} V_{\pi}^r.$ 

This space is spanned by vectors of the form

$$\nu(c)\coloneqq q(c)\otimes\nu$$

where  $c \in C$  and  $v \in V_{\pi'}^r$  and carries an action of G given by

$$(gv)(c) := \left(\pi\left(\overline{q(gc\overline{g})}gq(c)\right)v\right)(gc\overline{g}),\tag{1.9}$$

for all  $g \in G$  and  $c \in C$ . This action of G on  $V_{\pi,r}$  can be linearly extended to an action of  $\mathbb{C}[G]$  on  $V_{\pi,r}$ .

Now, it can be shown that the space  $V_{\pi,r}$  can be decomposed as  $V_{\pi,r} = \bigotimes_{c \in C} V_{\pi,r}(c)$  where  $V_{\pi,r}(c) = \operatorname{linspan}\{v(c) | v \in V_{\pi}^{r}\}$ , and each summand  $V_{\pi,r}(c)$  carries an irreducible representation of  $Z_G(c)$  [Gou93]. Thus for different choices  $r, r' \in C$  the spaces  $V_{\pi,r}$  and  $V_{\pi,r'}$  are isomorphic. In the following we identify these spaces, and write  $V_{\pi,C}$  instead of  $V_{\pi,r}$ . Similarly, if  $\pi'$  is a representation that is unitary equivalent to  $\pi$ , then the space  $V_{\pi',C}$  is isomorphic to  $V_{\pi,C}$ , and we suppress the equivalence relation here as well.

Next, one defines an action of  $\ell^2(G)$  on  $V_{\pi,C}$  by

$$(\delta_g v)(c) := \delta_{g,c} v(c) = \delta_{g,c} q(c) \otimes v,$$

for all  $g \in G$ ,  $c \in C$  and  $v \in V_{\pi,C}$ . This, together with the  $\mathbb{C}[G]$  action defined in equation 1.9, extends to an action of  $\mathcal{D}(G)$  on  $V_{\pi,C}$  which then reads

$$((\delta_g, h)\nu)(c) \coloneqq \delta_{g,hc\overline{h}} \left( \pi \left( \overline{q(hc\overline{h})} hq(c) \right) \nu \right) (hc\overline{h}).$$

This is in fact sufficient to determine all irreducible  $\mathcal{D}(G)$ -modules, the proof of which can be found in [DPR91; Gou93]

## Тнеогем 1.4.4:

*Let* G *be a finite group,* C *and* D *conjugacy classes with representatives*  $r \in C$  *and*  $s \in D$ . *Let*  $\pi$  *and*  $\chi$  *be irreducible representations of*  $Z_G(r)$  *and*  $Z_G(s)$ *, respectively. Then* 

- $V_{C,\pi}$  as constructed above, is n irreducible  $\mathcal{D}(G)$ -module.
- $V_{C,\pi} \cong V_{D,\chi}$  if and only if C = D and  $\pi \cong \chi$ .
- Every finite dimensional left  $\mathcal{D}(G)$ -module is completely reducible.
- Every irreducible left  $\mathcal{D}(G)$ -module is equivalent to one of the  $V_{C,\pi}$ .

This means, that every irreducible representation of  $\mathcal{D}(G)$  is labelled by a pair  $(C, \pi)$  where C is a conjugacy class of G and  $\pi$  an irreducible representation of  $Z_G(r)$  for some  $r \in C$ .

The finite dimensional left  $\mathcal{D}(G)$ -modules together with the intertwiners between representations form a category,  $\operatorname{Rep}_{f}\mathcal{D}(G)$ , where f stands for finite. One can show that  $\operatorname{Rep}_{f}\mathcal{D}(G)$  is a modular tensor category. Roughly speaking, this means that the morphism sets in  $\operatorname{Rep}_{f}\mathcal{D}(G)$  are finite dimensional vector spaces, and the category has a tensor product, twist, subobjects, direct sums, conjugates, and invertible S-matrix (for details see [Kas95; Naa12a]).

This structure makes  $\operatorname{Rep}_f \mathcal{D}(G)$  also suitable for topological quantum computation. In topologically ordered systems, where the local excitations are described by anyons, the braiding of pairs of these quasiparticles is a unitary operation on the ground state space. This can be used to implement unitary gates that are capable of performing fault tolerant quantum computations on quantum information that is encoded in the local excitations [Nay+08]. The details of the gate set depend on the details of the statistics of the anyons. However, in order to implement non-trivial gate sets one needs non-abelian anyons, i.e. where the anyons carry multiple inner degrees of freedom and where the braiding is a unitary operation on these degrees. In the case of Kitaev's quantum double model for a finite group *G*, the anyons are described by  $\operatorname{Rep}_f(G)$ . If *G* is complex enough this allows to implement even universal gate sets for quantum computation [Moc03; Moc04]. Note, however, that in order to do this, one needs additional ancillas to the system.

# 2 KITAEV'S QUANTUM DOUBLE MODEL

The quantum double models are a class of analytically solvable quantum spin systems in two dimensions that were proposed by Kitaev as a generalisation of the toric code [Kit03]. Each finite group gives rise to a quantum double model and it determines the type of local excitations above the ground state, as well as the ground state degeneracy (if existent). The toric code, originally defined as a stabiliser code on a lattice embedded in a torus [Kit97], can be formulated as the quantum double model with underlying group  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ .

The quantum double models exhibit many features that are considered typical for topologically ordered systems and which makes them appealing as models to study topological order. The ground state(s) of the quantum double models are locally indistinguishable, i.e. in case of a ground state degeneracy, the expectation values of any operator that acts only on a small part of the system are the same for all ground states<sup>1</sup>. Furthermore, the gapped Hamiltonians have a ground state degeneracy depending on the topology of manifold in which the lattice is embedded. For example, the toric code has 4<sup>9</sup> different ground states, where g is the genus of the surface in which the lattice is embedded [Kit03]. For arbitrary finite groups this degeneracy is more complicated, but the dependence on the genus is similar. This ground state degeneracy is closely related to the existence of anyons [Ein90; WDF90].

In fact, the local excitations above the ground state exhibit anyonic statistics. This means that the braiding rules, which describe the transformation behaviour of exchanging pairs of excitations, are different from those of particles with bose or fermi statistics. For instance, in the case of abelian groups the state vector de-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>This follows from the discussion in [Naa12a, Section 12.1]

scribing two excitations picks up a complex phase when exchanging the positions of excitations. In the case that the underlying group is non-abelian the anyons have additional inner degrees of freedom and the braiding is described by unitary transformations of the state vector. The fundamental object describing the different types of anyons, the braiding, and the fusion, which describes the transformation of the state vector if two excitations are brought together, is determined by the irreducible representations of Drinfel'd's quantum double  $\mathcal{D}(G)$  of the underlying group G [Kit03]. The latter is a certain Hopf algebra constructed from the group, and its finite dimensional representations form what is called a modular tensor category. This essentially means, that there exists a consistent set of braiding and fusion rule on the category **Rep**<sub>f</sub> $\mathcal{D}(G)$  of finite dimensional representations of  $\mathcal{D}(G)$ , and each type of the anyons corresponds to an irreducible representation.

An appealing aspect of Kitaev's quantum double models is the simplicity of the local excitations. They always appear in conjugate pairs and at the endpoint of ribbons, i.e. they can be connected by certain paths on the lattice. It turns out that such pairs of excitations are independent of the ribbon connecting them, as long it does not cross any other excitations or does not change its homotopy class. There is a convenient description in terms of so-called ribbon operators acting non-trivially along ribbons. If acting on the ground state these operators create a pair of local excitations at the endpoint of the associated ribbon. Moreover, for a fixed ribbon, these operators can be labelled by irreducible representations of  $\mathcal{D}(G)$  which in turn can be described by objects solely related to the group G. The study of braiding and fusion of the anyons of the model then translates to the study of the commutation relations of the ribbon operators [Kit03; BM08]. This also allows the study of the quantum double on surfaces with a boundary [BSW11], and extensions of the models to such with broken gauge symmetry [BM08].

In this chapter we review the definition of Kitaev's quantum double model for an arbitrary finite group G on the plane square lattice<sup>2</sup>  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ . Throughout the discussion we largely follow the notation of reference [BM08]. We start with introducing the underlying geometric objects and operations related to the notion of ribbons. This is followed by the definition of ribbon operators. These are then used to set up star and plaquette operators with which we define the local Hamiltonians of the quantum double models. After this we delve into the discussion of charge projections and properties of ribbon operators without making additional assumptions

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>One can also define the model on more general 2D lattices. However, for the purpose of this thesis it suffices to consider Kitaev's quantum double models on the square lattice

<sup>38</sup> 

on the finite group G underlying the construction. Our focus lies on the commutation relations between ribbon operators and how they transform under inverting and deforming the underlying ribbons. We devote one section to summarise the discussion for the case where G is finite and abelian and point out some additional properties which we need in later chapters. In the last section we discuss how to take the thermodynamic limit of the model and the existence of ground states of the dynamics.

## 2.1 Sites and Ribbons

In order to define the local Hamiltonians we need to specify certain geometric objects on  $\mathbb{Z}^2$  and operators associated to them (see also [BM08] for a much more extensive treatment.) In this section we define sites and ribbons in the lattice and recall ribbon inversions and deformations.

In the following we regard  $\mathbb{Z}^2$  as a graph together with a fixed orientation as in Figure 2.1. The *vertices* v of the graph are simply the points of  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ . The links between the vertices of  $\mathbb{Z}^2$  form the *edges* of the graph. Each edge  $b \in \mathbb{Z}^2$  connects two vertices  $v_0, v_1 \in \mathbb{Z}^2$  and we therefore specified b by the tuple  $(v_0, v_1)$ . The orientation of  $\mathbb{Z}^2$  is given by the order in which the vertices appear in the tuple, hence the edge b points from  $v_0$  to  $v_1$ . The vertices  $(v_0, v_1)$  are then the boundary of b and we write  $\partial_0 b = v_0$  and  $\partial_1 b = v_1$ . A *face* f is the square enclosed by four consecutive edges. We say that a face f lies to the *right* (*left*) of an edge  $b = (v_0, v_1)$ if it lies to the right (left) of the edge when viewed from the initial vertex  $v_0$ . If we connect the centers of two adjacent faces with each other, we obtain the dual graph  $(\mathbb{Z}^2)^*$  of  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ . I.e. the dual graph is the graph obtained by regarding each face  $f \in \mathbb{Z}^2$ as a dual vertex  $v^*$ , and connect dual vertices  $v_0^*, v_1^* \in (\mathbb{Z}^2)^*$  if the corresponding faces  $f_0, f_1 \in \mathbb{Z}^2$  are separated by an edge in  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ . Note that by this construction the vertices in  $\mathbb{Z}^2$  will correspond to faces in  $(\mathbb{Z}^2)^*$ . Therefore, we do not distinguish between dual faces and vertices, or faces and dual vertices. Note also that for an edge  $b \in \mathbb{Z}^2$  we have  $(b^*)^* = b$  and so on. A (dual) edge  $b^* \in (\mathbb{Z}^2)^*$  inherits an orientation from the edge  $b \in \mathbb{Z}^2$  it crosses in the following way. The initial (final) dual vertex  $v_0^*$  ( $v_1^*$ ) of b<sup>\*</sup> is the face to the left (right) of b. Similarly as for edges in  $\mathbb{Z}^2$  we write  $B^* = (v_0^*, v_1^*)$  and the order indicates the orientation.

Definition 2.1.1:

A site in  $\mathbb{Z}^2$  is a tuple (v, f) consisting of a vertex  $v \in \mathbb{Z}^2$  and a neighboring face  $f \in \mathbb{Z}^2$ . Note that sites and dual sites coincide. We use the notation  $v_s$  and  $f_s$  to indicate the vertex and face at s and regard a site as the line from v to the center of f.

A direct triangle  $\tau$  is a tuple  $(s_0, s_1, b)$  of sites  $s_0, s_1 \in \mathbb{Z}^2$  and an edge  $b \in \mathbb{Z}^2$ with the following properties: The faces of  $s_0 = (v_0, f_0)$  and  $s_1 = (v_1, f_1)$  coincide, i.e.  $f_0 = f_1$ , and b is the edge given by  $(v_0, v_1)$  or  $(v_1, v_0)$ . Regarding  $s_0, s_1$ , b as lines, the tuple  $(s_0, s_1, b)$  is a list of sides of a triangle listed in counterclockwise order.

A dual triangle  $\tau'$  is a tuple  $(s_0, s_1, b^*)$  with  $s_0, s_1$  being sites as above, but  $b^* \in (\mathbb{Z}^2)^*$  is the dual edge given by  $(f_0, f_1)$  or  $(f_1, f_0)$ . The tuple  $(s_0, s_1, b^*)$  lists the sides of a triangle in clockwise order.

The boundaries of both types of triangles  $\tau$  are given by  $\partial_0 \tau = s_0$  and  $\partial_1 \tau = s_1$ . We say that  $\tau$  points from  $\partial_0 \tau$  to  $\partial_1 \tau$ , providing the triangles with an orientation.

For each direct (dual) triangle  $\tau = (s_0, s_1, b)$  there is a unique *complementary* triangle given by the direct (dual) triangle  $\overline{\tau} = (s'_0, s'_1, \overline{b})$  where  $\overline{b}$  obtained from b by inverting its orientation. Two triangles  $\tau, \tau'$  overlap if either  $\tau = \tau'$  or, if  $\tau$  is direct and  $\tau'$  is dual, then for i = 0 or i = 1 it holds that  $\partial_i \tau = \partial_i \tau'$ .

#### **DEFINITION 2.1.2 [BM08]:**

A strip  $\rho = (\tau_0, \tau_1, \dots, \tau_n)$  is a list of pairwise non-overlapping triangles with

•  $\forall i \in \{1, \ldots, n\} : \partial_0 \tau_i = \partial_1 \tau_{i-1}.$ 

Denote by  $p_{\rho} = (v_{\partial_0 \lambda_0}, \dots, v_{\partial_1 \lambda_k})$  the ordered list of vertices of the direct triangles  $\lambda_i$  in  $\rho$ , and  $p_{\rho}^* = (f_{\partial_0 \lambda'_0}, \dots, f_{\partial_1 \lambda'_m})$  the ordered list of faces of the dual triangles  $\lambda'_j$  in  $\rho$ . Then  $\rho$  is a ribbon if the following conditions are fulfilled:

- $\forall \tau \in \rho : \bar{\tau} \notin \rho$ ,
- $\forall 0 \leq i \neq j \leq k \text{ with } i \neq 0 \lor j \neq k \text{ it holds: } \nu_i \neq \nu_j$ ,
- $\forall 0 \leq i \neq j \leq m \text{ with } i \neq 0 \lor j \neq m \text{ it holds: } f_i \neq f_j.$

Let  $\rho$  be a ribbon and set  $\partial_0 \rho := \partial_0 \tau_0$  and  $\partial_1 \rho := \partial_1 \tau_n$ . A ribbon is said to be closed if  $\partial_0 \tau_0 = \partial_1 \tau_n$ . Two ribbons  $\rho_1, \rho_2$  are composable if  $\partial_1 \rho_1 = \partial_0 \rho_2$  and the list  $\rho_1 \rho_2$ obtained by disjoint union is a ribbon. Two ribbons  $\rho_1, \rho_2$  overlap if there exist triangles  $\tau_1 \in \rho_1$  and  $\tau_2 \in \rho_2$  that overlap. The ribbons  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  are disjoint if the do not overlap. We write  $\rho_1 \cap \rho_2 = \emptyset$  if this is the case.





Figure 2.1: This images illustrates some of the basic geometrical objects used in the discussion of the quantum double models. The triangle  $\tau$  is direct,  $\tau'$  is dual and  $\rho$  is a ribbon connecting the site  $s_2$  with  $s_1$ .

A strip can be regarded as a list of pairwise non-overlapping ribbons. Note that each triangle is a ribbon. Every ribbon  $\rho$  can be decomposed into disjoint ribbons  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  such that  $\rho = \rho_1 \rho_2$ . Given a site s we denote by  $\beta_s$  the closed ribbon starting at s and consisting only of direct triangles. Similarly  $\alpha_s$  is the closed ribbon starting at s and consisting only of dual triangles. Illustrations of triangles and ribbons can be found in Figure 2.1. Throughout the treatment of the quantum double model we will frequently use the following terminology. Given a site s = (v, f) the *star* at s is referring to the edges that have an ending point in v, and we will denote it by star(s). Similarly we call the collection plaq(s) of the edges bounding f the *plaquette* of s.

Most of these and the following definitions can be found in [BM08] in much more detail and we will list them here for convenience. The local excitations of the quantum double models can be expressed by certain operators associated to ribbon.s The fusion and braiding of these excitations are then related to the commutation relations of such operators associated to ribbons that overlap at their ending sites or cross each other.

Definition 2.1.3:

Given  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  strips. We write

- $(\rho_1, \rho_2)_{\prec}$  (left joint), if there exist disjoint ribbons  $\rho, \rho'_1, \rho'_2$  and a direct (dual) triangle  $\tau_2$  ( $\tau_1$ ) such that  $\rho_i = \rho \tau_i \rho'_i$ .
- $(\rho_1, \rho_2)_{\succ}$  (right joint), if there exist disjoint ribbons  $\rho, \rho'_1, \rho'_2$  and a direct (dual) triangle  $\tau_2$  ( $\tau_1$ ) such that  $\rho_i = \rho'_i \tau_i \rho$ .



Figure 2.2: Two ribbons crossing each other, and two ribbons forming a deformation.

- $(\rho_1, \rho_2)_{\prec\succ}$  (left-right joint), *if*  $(\rho_1, \rho_2)_{\prec}$  *and*  $(\rho_1, \rho_2)_{\succ}$ .
- $(\rho_1, \rho_2)_{\times}$  (crossed), if there exist ribbons  $\sigma_1, \sigma'_1, \sigma_2, \sigma'_2$  such that  $\rho_i = \sigma_i \sigma'_i$  $(i = 1, 2), \sigma_1 \cap \sigma'_2 = \emptyset$  as well as  $\sigma'_1 \cap \sigma_2 = \emptyset$ , and  $(\sigma_1, \sigma_2)_{\succ}$  and  $(\sigma'_2, \sigma'_1)_{\prec}$ .

For two ribbons  $\rho_1, \rho_2$  with  $(\rho_1, \rho_2)_{\times}$  the last conditions translate to  $\partial_1 \sigma_1 = \partial_0 \sigma'_2$  and  $\partial_1 \sigma_2 = \partial_0 \sigma'_1$ . Note that the definition of crossings given here is different from the definition of a crossed joint in [BM08]. The latter does not describe the crossing of two ribbons but another way of joining them together.

## Definition 2.1.4:

Let  $\rho, \rho'$  be open ribbons. We say that  $\rho'$  is an inversion of  $\rho$ , written  $\overline{\rho}$ , if we have that  $\partial_0 \rho = \partial_1 \rho'$  and  $\partial_1 \rho = \partial_0 \rho'$  and either one of the following conditions:

- The set of dual edges in  $\rho$  coincides with the set of dual edges with inverse orientation in  $\rho^\prime,$
- The set of direct edges in  $\rho$  coincides with the set of direct edges with inverse orientation in  $\rho'$ .

For the sake of later use we introduce the notations of deformations and inversions of ribbons.

# Definition 2.1.5: Let $\rho$ , $\rho'$ be open ribbons. They are said to form a simple deformation, if

- no triangle in  $\rho$  is contained in  $\rho'$ ,
- $(\rho, \rho')_{\prec \succ}$ ,
- for the dual edges  $b^*$  of the dual triangles in  $\rho$  it holds that the vertices  $\partial_1 b$  are contained in  $\rho'$ ,
- for the edges b of the direct triangles in  $\rho'$  it holds that the dual vertices  $\partial_1 b^*$  are contained in  $\rho$ .

The ribbons  $\rho_1, \rho_2$  form a deformation, if there exist ribbons  $\rho'_1, \rho'_2, \sigma_1, \sigma_2$  such that  $\rho_1 = \rho'_1 \sigma_1 \rho'_2$  and  $\rho_2 = \rho'_1 \sigma_2 \rho'_2$  and  $\sigma_1, \sigma_2$  form a simple deformation.

*We say that two ribbons*  $\rho_1$ ,  $\rho_2$  *are* deformation equivalent *if there is a sequence of deformations transforming*  $\rho_1$  *into*  $\rho_2$ .

For an example of crossed ribbons and ribbons forming a deformation, see Figure 2.2. The definition of deformation equivalence is slightly different that that given in [BM08]. There the equivalence was given with respect to a region in which the ribbons should be transformed into each other. Depending on the context we will however require that the deformation should be possible in a particular region, but in general we will not need this. The reason why it was introduced in [BM08] was that when ribbon operators act on a state that contains no excitations in such region then deforming the ribbon operator in that region does not change its action on the state. However, if there are excitations in that region, this is no longer the case. Later we only need the case, where the ribbon operators act on the ground state of the dynamics, so we do not have excitations to respect.

## 2.2 LOCAL HILBERT SPACES

Throughout the thesis we consider Kitaev's quantum double models on the planar square lattice  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ . We first discuss the construction only for finite subsets of  $\mathbb{Z}^2$  and assume for the following sections that we always work on a finite but large enough patch of the lattice. The reason for this assumption is that in this chapter we are only interested in the local excitations of the model. In the last section discuss how to take the limit of infinite volumes.

From now on let G be any finite group. Consider the Hilbert space of square summable, complex valued functions  $\ell^2(G)$  of G. This space can be viewed as the finite finite dimensional Hilbert space with orthonormal basis of the form  $(|g\rangle)_{g\in G}$  of  $\mathbb{C}[G]$ , i.e.  $\ell^2(G) \cong \mathbb{C}^{|G|}$ , where |G| is the order of the group. To each edge  $b \in \mathbb{Z}^2$  we now associate a copy of this Hilbert space, i.e. the edge Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_b$  is given as  $\mathcal{H}_b = \ell^2(G)$ .

In the following, we use the notation  $\mathcal{P}_{f}(\mathbb{Z}^{2})$  to refer to the set of finite subsets of  $\mathbb{Z}^{2}$ . The Hilbert space describing the system on finite sets  $\Lambda \in \mathcal{P}_{f}(\mathbb{Z}^{2})$  is given as the tensor product of Hilbert spaces  $\mathcal{H}_{b}$  taken over all edges  $b \in \Lambda$ , i.e. for all  $\Lambda \in \mathcal{P}_{f}(\mathbb{Z}^{2})$  we have  $H_{\Lambda} := \bigotimes_{b \in \Lambda} \mathcal{H}_{b}$ . Since the graph  $\Lambda$  is finite there are only finitely many tensor factors in  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}$  and hence the system's Hilbert space is finite dimensional. Note that neither the orientation nor the geometry of the graph play a role in this description. Both come into play when we define the local Hamiltonian for the model.

## 2.3 **RIBBON OPERATORS**

We can use the geometrical objects introduced in the previous section to associate operators to them. These will be used to define the Hamiltonian of the quantum double model in a convenient way that allows for a precise characterisation of its ground state and the local excitation above it (see [Kit03] and [BM08] for a very detailed analysis of the ground state and its excitation structure).

#### DEFINITION 2.3.1 [Kit03; BM08]:

Let  $\tau, \tau'$  be a direct and a dual triangle, and let e, e' be the corresponding edges in  $\tau, \tau'$ . Let  $h, k \in G$  and let  $|h\rangle$  and  $|k\rangle$  be basis vectors at e and e', respectively. In case that the direction of the triangles coincide with those of their respective edges e and e' the triangle operators are defined for  $g \in G$  by:

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{T}^{g}_{\tau} \left| \mathsf{h} \right\rangle &:= \delta_{g, \mathsf{h}} \left| \mathsf{h} \right\rangle \\ \mathsf{L}^{g}_{\tau'} \left| \mathsf{k} \right\rangle &:= \left| g \mathsf{k} \right\rangle. \end{split}$$

In case that the orientation of  $\tau$  and  $\tau'$  is opposite to that of e and e', repsectively, we set:

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{T}^{g}_{\tau} \left| \mathsf{h} \right\rangle &:= \delta_{\overline{g}, \mathsf{h}} \left| \mathsf{h} \right\rangle \\ \mathsf{L}^{g}_{\tau'} \left| \mathsf{k} \right\rangle &:= \left| \mathsf{k} \overline{g} \right\rangle, \end{split}$$

where we used the notation  $\overline{k} = k^{-1}$  for  $k \in G$ . Given a ribbon  $\rho$  and any partition  $\rho = \rho_1 \rho_2$  into ribbons  $\rho_1, \rho_2$ , and  $g, h \in G$ , the ribbon operator  $F_{\rho}^{h,g}$  is defined

recursively by

$$F^{\mathbf{h},g}_{\tau} := \mathsf{T}^g_{\tau} \qquad \qquad \mathsf{F}^{\mathbf{h},g}_{\tau'} := \delta_{g,e} \mathsf{L}^{\mathbf{h}}_{\tau'} \qquad \qquad \mathsf{F}^{\mathbf{h},g}_{\epsilon} = \delta_{g,e} \mathbb{1},$$

for direct triangles  $\tau$ , dual triangles  $\tau'$  and the empty ribbon  $\epsilon$ , and

$$F_{\rho}^{h,g} = \sum_{k \in G} F_{\rho_1}^{h,k} F_{\rho_2}^{\overline{k}hk,\overline{k}g}, \qquad (2.1)$$

with  $h, g \in G$  and  $e \in G$  the unit element. Given a site s we use the notation

$$\mathsf{B}^{g}_{s} := \mathsf{F}^{e,g}_{\beta_{s}} \tag{2.2}$$

$$A_s^h := F_{\alpha_s}^{h,e} \tag{2.3}$$

for any  $h,g\in G.$  Furthermore we set

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{B}_s &:= \mathbf{B}_s^e \\ \mathbf{A}_s &:= \frac{1}{|\mathsf{G}|} \sum_{\mathsf{h} \in \mathsf{G}} \mathbf{A}_s^\mathsf{h}, \end{split}$$

and refer to these as plaquette and star operators.

One can check that this definition of ribbon operators is independent of the partition of  $\rho$  into subribbons [BM08]. We sometimes refer to equation (2.1) as the *ribbon decomposition rule*. Note also that the direction of the graph enters this description. The nomenclature for the star and plaquette operators is justified by the observation that their definition does not depend on the site they are attached to, but only on the vertex, respectivley the face in this site<sup>3</sup>. That is, if  $s_0$  and  $s_1$  are two sites with common vertex, then  $A_{s_0} = A_{s_1}$ . Similarly if  $s_0$  and  $s_1$  have a common face then  $B_{s_0} = B_{s_1}$ .



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>In the language of [BM08] they are rotationally invariant.

#### 2.4 The Hamiltonian

The reason to introduce star and plaquette operators is that the local Hamiltonians of the quantum double model are defined as sums of such.

Lemma 2.4.1:

If s, s' are distinct sites it holds that

$$A_{s}^{g}A_{s}^{g'} = A_{s}^{gg'}, \quad B_{s}^{h}B_{s}^{h'} = \delta_{h,h'}B_{s}^{h}, \quad A_{s}^{g}B_{s}^{h} = B_{s}^{ghg^{-1}}A_{s}^{g}$$

and

$$[A_{s}, B_{s'}] = [A_{s}, A_{s'}] = [B_{s}, B_{s'}] = 0.$$

*Furthermore the operators* A<sub>s</sub> *and* B<sub>s</sub> *are projections.* 

#### DEFINITION 2.4.2:

Let  $\mathcal{O} \in \mathcal{P}_{f}(\mathbb{Z}^{2})$ . Then the local Hamiltonian of the quantum double model is defined as

$$H_{\mathcal{O}} := -\sum_{s: \operatorname{star}(s) \subset \mathcal{O}} A_{s} - \sum_{s: \operatorname{plaq}(s) \subset \mathcal{O}} B_{s}$$

$$(2.4)$$

and the sums go over all sites whose stars respectively plaquettes are contained in O.

This definition is motivated by the stabiliser code formalism [Kit03]. The star and plaquette operators in O form the stabilisers for a code space that will form the ground state space of the Hamiltonian. A ground state  $\Omega$  of H<sub>0</sub> must then satisfy  $A_s\Omega = \Omega = B_s\Omega$  for all star and plaquette operators in 0. This also means that  $H_{\Omega}$  is frustration free<sup>4</sup>. Important for us is that the summands in equation (2.4) all commute due to Lemma 2.4.1. Hence the ground state is stabilised by the summands of  $H_0$  and violations of any of these constraints can be interpreted as local excitations above the ground state. These excitations can be characterised by local operators that do not commute with at least one summand in the local Hamiltonian. In fact, if one acts on the ground state with some non-trivial operator O localised at a single edge *e*, then the pair of star or plaquette operators, or both, which also act on e do not commute with O. Hence, the operator O created a pair of excitations localised at the sites containing e, where we characterise an excitation by a local violation of the ground state condition detected by the star and plaquette operators. We will see in the following that local excitations always occur in conjugate pairs, and that a full description of local excitations is given by ribbon operators.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>See e.g. [BHM10] for a definition of frustration freeness. 46

## 2.5 Charge Projections

Before turning to the discussion about ribbon operators we first discuss projections onto the local excitations, which we call charge projections. As mentioned earlier, local excitations are located at sites. The building blocks for the charge projections are the operators defined in equation 2.2.

Definition 2.5.1: Let  $s \in \mathbb{Z}^2$  be a site, and  $h, g \in G$ . We define

$$D_s^{h,g} := B_s^h A_s^g$$

Borrowing some notation from [Kit03] we can immediately write down the commutation relations for these operators.

#### Lemma 2.5.2:

Given a site s and elements  $g, h, k, l \in G$ , it holds that

$$D_{s}^{h,g}D_{s}^{k,l} = \sum_{m,n\in G} \Omega_{(m,n)}^{(h,g),(k,l)} D_{s}^{m,n}$$
(2.5)

$$\left(\mathsf{D}_{s}^{\mathsf{h},\mathsf{g}}\right)^{*} = \mathsf{D}_{s}^{\overline{\mathsf{g}}\mathsf{h}\mathsf{g},\overline{\mathsf{g}}},\tag{2.6}$$

with  $\Omega_{(\mathfrak{m},\mathfrak{n})}^{(\mathfrak{h},\mathfrak{g}),(k,\mathfrak{l})} = \delta_{\mathfrak{h},\mathfrak{g}k\overline{\mathfrak{g}}}\delta_{\mathfrak{m},\mathfrak{h}}\delta_{\mathfrak{n},\mathfrak{g}\mathfrak{l}}.$ 

Proof. Straightforward calculation using Lemma 2.4.1.

For the following we recall the notations from Section 1.4. Let  $C = \{c_1, ..., c_{|C|}\}$  be a conjugacy class of G, an let  $r \in C$  be a representative, which we fix from now on. Let  $Z_G(r)$  be the centraliser of r in G, and let  $Q_C = \{q_1, ..., q_{|C|}\}$  be a set of representatives of the left cosets of  $Z_G(r)$  in G. We choose  $Q_C$  in such a way that  $q_i = e$ , if  $c_i = r$ . Recall that for each  $g \in G$  there exists by Lemma 1.4.1 a unique  $n \in Z_G(r)$  and a unique  $q \in Q_C$  such that g = qn. For convenience, we write  $G_{irr}$  for the set irreducible representations of G (up to unitary equivalence), and similar for  $Z_G(r)$ . We denote the set of conjugacy classes of G by  $G_{cj}$ .

Definition 2.5.3:

Let  $C \in G_{cj}$ ,  $r \in C$  a representative, and  $Q_C = \{q_1, \ldots, q_n\}$  as above. Let s be a site in  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ . We define

$$\mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{C},\pi}_{\mathsf{s}} := \frac{|\pi|}{|\mathsf{Z}_{\mathsf{G}}(\mathsf{r})|} \sum_{\mathsf{d}\in\mathsf{Z}_{\mathsf{G}}(\mathsf{r})} \sum_{\mathsf{q}\in\mathsf{Q}_{\mathsf{C}}} \overline{\pi(\mathsf{d})} \mathsf{D}^{\mathsf{q}\mathsf{r}\overline{\mathsf{q}},\mathsf{q}\,\mathsf{d}\overline{\mathsf{q}}}_{\mathsf{s}}.$$

This is essentially the definition given in reference [BM08]. However, the star and plaquette terms are in different order. This does not change the properties of these projections. One can easily check that with this definition it holds that  $B_s A_s = D_s^{\{e\},id}$ . Moreover these operators are orthogonal projections, as the next lemma shows.

## Lemma 2.5.4:

Given conjugacy classes C, D of G, representatives  $r \in C$  and  $v \in D$ , and  $Q_C, Q_D$  as before. Let  $\pi \in Z_G(r)_{irr}$  and  $\chi \in Z_G(v)$ . It then holds for any site  $s \in \mathbb{Z}^2$ 

$$\begin{split} D_s^{C,\pi} D_s^{D,\chi} &= \delta_{C,D} \delta_{\pi,\chi} D_s^{C,\pi} \\ & \left( D_s^{C,\pi} \right)^* = D_s^{C,\pi}. \end{split}$$

Proof. For the first assertion we use equation (2.5) to find

$$\begin{split} & \mathsf{D}_{s}^{\mathsf{C},\pi}\mathsf{D}_{s}^{\mathsf{D},\chi} = \\ & = \mathsf{c}_{1}\mathsf{c}_{2}\sum_{d\in\mathsf{Z}_{\mathsf{G}}(r)}\sum_{f\in\mathsf{Z}_{\mathsf{G}}(\nu)}\sum_{q\in\mathsf{Q}_{\mathsf{C}}}\sum_{p\in\mathsf{Q}_{\mathsf{D}}}\overline{\pi(d)}\overline{\chi(f)}\mathsf{D}_{s}^{qr\bar{q},qd\bar{q}}\mathsf{D}_{s}^{p\nu\bar{p},pf\bar{p}} \\ & = \mathfrak{a}_{1}\mathfrak{a}_{2}\sum_{d\in\mathsf{Z}_{\mathsf{G}}(r)}\sum_{f\in\mathsf{Z}_{\mathsf{G}}(\nu)}\sum_{q\in\mathsf{Q}_{\mathsf{C}}}\sum_{p\in\mathsf{Q}_{\mathsf{D}}}\overline{\pi(d)}\overline{\chi(f)}\delta_{qr\bar{q},q\nu\bar{p}}\mathsf{D}_{s}^{qr\bar{q},qd\bar{q}pf\bar{p}} \\ & = \mathfrak{a}_{1}\mathfrak{a}_{2}\delta_{\mathsf{C},\mathsf{D}}\sum_{d\in\mathsf{Z}_{\mathsf{G}}(r)}\sum_{f\in\mathsf{Z}_{\mathsf{G}}(r)}\sum_{q\in\mathsf{Q}_{\mathsf{C}}}\sum_{p\in\mathsf{Q}_{\mathsf{C}}}\overline{\pi(d)}\overline{\chi(f)}\delta_{qr\bar{q},qr\bar{p}}\mathsf{D}_{s}^{qr\bar{q},qd\bar{q}pf\bar{p}} \\ & = \mathfrak{a}_{1}\mathfrak{a}_{2}\delta_{\mathsf{C},\mathsf{D}}\sum_{d,f\in\mathsf{Z}_{\mathsf{G}}(r)}\sum_{q\in\mathsf{Q}_{\mathsf{C}}}\overline{\pi(d\bar{f})}\overline{\chi(f)}}\overline{\pi(d\bar{f})}\pi_{i,s}(d)\pi_{i,s}(f)\overline{\chi_{t,t}(f)}\mathsf{D}_{s}^{qr\bar{q},qd\bar{q}} \\ & = \mathfrak{a}_{1}\mathfrak{a}_{2}\delta_{\mathsf{C},\mathsf{D}}\sum_{d,f\in\mathsf{Z}_{\mathsf{G}}(r)}\sum_{q\in\mathsf{Q}_{\mathsf{C}}}\sum_{i,s=1}^{|\pi|}\sum_{t=1}^{|\chi|}\overline{\pi_{i,s}(d)}\pi_{i,s}(f)\overline{\chi_{t,t}(f)}\mathsf{D}_{s}^{qr\bar{q},qd\bar{q}} \\ & = \mathfrak{a}_{1}\delta_{\mathsf{C},\mathsf{D}}\delta_{\pi,\chi}\sum_{d\in\mathsf{Z}_{\mathsf{G}}(r)}\sum_{q\in\mathsf{Q}_{\mathsf{C}}}\sum_{i,s=1}^{|\pi|}\sum_{t=1}^{|\chi|}\overline{\pi_{i,s}(d)}\delta_{i,t}\delta_{s,t}\mathsf{D}_{s}^{qr\bar{q},qd\bar{q}} \\ & = \mathfrak{a}_{\mathsf{C},\mathsf{D}}\delta_{\pi,\chi}\mathsf{D}_{\mathsf{S}}^{\mathsf{C},\pi}, \end{split}$$

setting  $a_1 = \frac{|\pi|}{|Z_G(r)|}$ ,  $a_2 = \frac{|\chi|}{|Z_G(v)|}$ , and using in step 3 that conjugacy classes are either disjoint or equal, and using in step 6 the orthogonality relations for irreducible representations. The second assertion is easier:

$$\left(\mathsf{D}^{\,\mathsf{C},\pi}_{\,s}\right)^* = c_1 \sum_{d\in\mathsf{Z}_{\,\mathsf{G}}\,(\tau)} \sum_{q\in\mathsf{Q}_{\,\mathsf{C}}} \pi(d) \mathsf{D}^{\,q\tau\overline{q},q\overline{d}\overline{q}}_{\,s} = \mathsf{D}^{\,\mathsf{C},\pi}_{\,s},$$

where we used equation (2.6).
### 2.6 Properties of Ribbon Operators

In the following we will list some elementary and useful properties of ribbon operators.

### Definition 2.6.1:

Let  $\rho$  be a ribbon. We denote the algebra that is spanned by products of ribbon operators at  $\rho$  by  $\mathfrak{F}_{\rho}$ , i.e.

$$\mathfrak{F}_{\rho} := \operatorname{span} \Big\{ \prod_{i=1}^{n} \mathsf{F}_{\rho}^{\mathfrak{h}_{i},\mathfrak{g}_{i}} \, | \, \forall i : \mathfrak{h}_{i}, \mathfrak{g}_{i} \in \mathsf{G} \text{ and } \mathfrak{n} \in \mathbb{N} \Big\}.$$

In fact,  $\mathcal{F}_{\rho}$  can be characterised by operators acting along  $\rho$  that commute with all star and plaquette operators except at the ending sites of  $\rho$  [BM08, Definition 6]. Regarding their action on the ground state this means that ribbon operators create pairs of excitations above the ground state at the ending sites of the associated ribbons. The type of an excitation can be determined by checking the commutation relations. We will come back to this at a later point.

In order to determine the excitations above the ground state of (2.4) it helps to know something about the commutation relations of ribbon operators with star and plaquette operators.

Lemma 2.6.2 [BM08]: Let  $\rho$  be an open ribbon and  $s_0 := \partial_0 \rho$ ,  $s_1 := \partial_1 \rho$  we have

$$\forall g, h, k \in G \ \forall s \neq s_i, i = 0, 1 : [A_s^k, F_o^{g,h}] = 0 = [B_s^k, F_o^{g,h}].$$

*Furthermore, for all*  $g, h, k \in G$ :

$A_{s_0}^k F_{\rho}^{h,g} = F_{\rho}^{kh\overline{k},kg} A_{s_0}^k ,$	$B^k_{s_0}F^{h,g}_{\rho}=F^{h,g}_{\rho}B^{kh}_{s_0},$		
$A^{k}_{s_1}F^{h,g}_{\rho}=F^{h,g\overline{k}}_{\rho}A^{k}_{s_1},$	$B_{s_1}^k F_{\rho}^{h,g} = F_{\rho}^{h,g} B_{s_1}^{\overline{g}\overline{h}gk}$		

If  $\sigma$  is a closed ribbon, we have for all sites s such that there is no triangle  $\tau$  in  $\sigma$  with  $\partial_0 \tau = s$  (equivalently, no triangle  $\tilde{\tau} \in \sigma$  with  $\partial_1 \tilde{\tau} = s$ ), that

$$\forall g, h, k \in G : [A_s^k, F_{\rho}^{g,h}] = \emptyset = [B_s^k, F_{\rho}^{g,h}].$$

If s is a site such that there is a triangle  $\tau\in\sigma$  with  $\vartheta_0\tau=s,$  then for all  $g,h,k\in G$ :

$$\begin{split} A^k_s F^{h,g}_{\sigma} &= F^{kh\bar{k},kg\bar{k}}_{\sigma} A^k_s \\ B^k_s F^{h,g}_{\sigma} &= F^{h,g}_{\sigma} B^{\overline{g}\overline{h}gkh}_s. \end{split}$$

*Proof.* The proofs of these statements can be found in the appendix of [BM08].  $\overset{49}{\square}$ 

Lemma 2.6.3 [BM08]:

Let  $\rho$  and  $\sigma$  be two ribbons with  $\rho\cap\sigma=\emptyset$  , and  $g,h,k,l\in G.$  Then

 $F^{h,g}_{\rho}F^{k,l}_{\sigma} = F^{k,l}_{\sigma}F^{g,h}_{\rho}.$ 

We also have that  $\sum_{g \in G} F_{\rho}^{1,g} = \mathbb{1}$  and

$$\begin{split} \forall g,h,k,l \in G: F_{\rho}^{h,g}F_{\rho}^{k,l} &= \delta_{g,l}F_{\rho}^{hk,l} \\ \forall g,h \in G: \left(F_{\rho}^{h,g}\right)^{*} &= F_{\rho}^{\overline{h},g}. \end{split}$$

We can rewrite the first equation as

$$F^{h,g}_{\rho}F^{k,l}_{\rho} = \sum_{\mathfrak{m},\mathfrak{n}\in G} \Lambda^{(h,g),(k,l)}_{(\mathfrak{m},\mathfrak{n})} F^{\mathfrak{m},\mathfrak{n}}_{\rho},$$

with  $\Lambda_{(m,n)}^{(h,g),(k,l)} = \delta_{g,l} \delta_{m,hk} \delta_{n,l}$ .

Given ribbons  $\rho_1,\rho_2$  with  $\rho=\rho_1\rho_2$  we find for  $m,n\in G$ 

$$F^{\mathfrak{m},\mathfrak{n}}_{\rho} = \sum_{\mathfrak{h},g,k,l\in G} \Omega^{(\mathfrak{h},g),(k,l)}_{(\mathfrak{m},\mathfrak{n})} F^{\mathfrak{h},g}_{\rho_1} F^{k,l}_{\rho_2},$$

with the same  $\Omega$  as in Lemma 2.5.2.

*Proof.* This is straightforward calculation. The first part can also be found in [BM08], the second part stems from [Kit03].

Many more properties were calculated in [BM08], and we will refer to them if necessary.

#### PROPOSITION 2.6.4 [BM08]:

Let  $C = \{c_1, ..., c_n\}$  be a conjugacy class of G,  $r \in C$  some representative and  $\pi$  an irreducible unitary representation of  $Z_G(r)$ , the centraliser of r in G. Choose elements  $q_1, ..., q_n$  such that  $c_i = q_i r \overline{q}_i$  for i = 1, ..., n and set

$$\mathsf{F}_{\rho}^{C,\pi,\mathfrak{i},\mathfrak{i}',\mathfrak{j},\mathfrak{j}'} := \sum_{z \in \mathsf{Z}_{\mathsf{G}}(\mathfrak{r})} \overline{\pi_{\mathfrak{j},\mathfrak{j}'}(z)} \mathsf{F}_{\rho}^{\overline{c}_{\mathfrak{i}},q_{\mathfrak{i}}z\overline{q}_{\mathfrak{i}'}}$$
(2.7)

where  $j, j' \in \{1, ..., |\pi|\}$  label the matrix elements of  $\pi$  and  $i, i' \in \{1, ..., n\}$ . Then the linear span of these operators generate the ribbon algebra  $\mathcal{F}_{\rho}$ . In case that  $\rho$  contains both direct and dual triangles, these operators form a basis of  $\mathcal{F}_{\rho}$ .

This proposition also relates the ribbon operators to the finite dimensional, irreducible representations of the quantum double  $\mathcal{D}(G)$  of G. Those can be labelled by tuples  $(C, \pi)$  where C is a conjugacy class of G and  $\pi$  is an irreducible representation of  $Z_G(r)$  for some  $r \in C$ . In the definition of  $F_{\rho}^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'}$  in [BM08] an additional factor  $\frac{|Z_G(r)|}{|\pi|}$  was used. We omit this factor since, in the case of an abelian group G the ribbon operators are then unitary.

Note that this choice of ribbon operators is closed under taking the adjoint, as the next lemma shows.

# Lемма 2.6.5:

Let  $C = \{c_1, \ldots, c_n\}$  be a conjugacy class of  $G, r \in C$  some representative and  $\pi$  an irreducible unitary representation of  $Z_G(r)$ , the centraliser of r in G. Choose elements  $q_1, \ldots, q_n$  such that  $c_i = q_i r \overline{q}_i$  for  $i = 1, \ldots, n$ . Then

$$(\mathsf{F}^{\mathsf{C},\pi,\mathfrak{i},\mathfrak{i}',\mathfrak{j},\mathfrak{j}'}_{\rho})^* = \mathsf{F}^{\overline{\mathsf{C}},\overline{\pi},\mathfrak{i},\mathfrak{i}',\mathfrak{j},\mathfrak{j}'}_{\rho},$$

#### where $\overline{C}$ is the conjugacy class containing $\overline{r}$ , and $\overline{\pi}$ is the conjugate representation to $\pi$ .

*Proof.* Let C and  $\pi$  be as in the assumptions. Then the conjugate representation  $\overline{\pi}$  to  $\pi$  is given by  $\overline{\pi} = \operatorname{Ad}_{J} \circ \pi$  with the complex conjugation J that is diagonal in the basis chosen to represent  $\pi$ . Note also, that for  $r \in C$  it holds that  $Z_G(r) = Z_G(\overline{r})$ . Furthermore, for  $z \in Z_G(r)$ ,  $r \in C$ , the matrix elements of  $\overline{\pi}(z)$  are given by  $\overline{\pi}_{j,j'}(z) = \overline{\pi_{j,j'}(z)}$ . Hence, for any ribbon  $\rho$  we have

$$(F_{\rho}^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'})^{*} = \sum_{z \in Z_{G}(r)} \pi_{j,j'}(z) F_{\rho}^{c_{i},q_{i}z\overline{q}_{i'}}$$
$$= \sum_{z \in Z_{G}(\overline{r})} \overline{\pi}_{j,j'}(z) F_{\rho}^{c_{i},q_{i}z\overline{q}_{i'}}$$
$$= F_{\rho}^{\overline{C},\overline{\pi},i,i',j,j'}$$

The next lemma shows that at the endpoints of a ribbon these operators create excitations from the vacuum that are conjugate to each other. This was stated already in [BM08], but we will prove it here for completeness and for illustrating the handling of ribbon operators. In addition our definition of the charge projections is slightly different than in the reference, which doesn't change the overall result.

Lemma 2.6.6:

Given conjugacy classes  $C, D \in G_{cj}$ , representatives  $r \in C$  and  $v \in D$ , and  $Q_C, Q_D$  as in the foregoing lemma. Let  $\pi \in Z_G(r)_{irr}$  and  $\chi \in Z_G(v)_{irr}$ . Let j, j' be indices that run through  $1, \ldots, |\pi|$ . Let  $\rho$  be a ribbon, and set  $s_0 := \partial_0 \rho$  and  $s_1 := \partial_1 \rho$ . We then have

$$\begin{split} D^{D,\chi}_{s_0} F^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'}_{\rho} D^{\{e\},id}_{s_0} &= \delta_{C,D} \delta_{\pi,\chi} F^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'}_{\rho} D^{\{e\},id}_{s_0} \\ D^{D,\chi}_{s_1} F^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'}_{\rho} D^{\{e\},id}_{s_1} &= \delta_{\overline{C},D} \delta_{\overline{\pi},\chi} F^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'}_{\rho} D^{\{e\},id}_{s_1} \end{split}$$

*Proof.* The proof of these statements is very similar to the ones of Lemma 2.5.4. Note that, given a conjugacy class C with  $Q_C$  and  $r \in C$  as above, then for any  $g \in G$  there exist a unique  $q_i \in Q_C$  and a unique  $n \in Z_G(r)$  such that  $g = q_i n$ . Adapting the notation from [BM08] we set i(g) := i and n(g) := n. We only prove the first statement, since the second one can be proven in complete analogy. We start with  $C, \pi, Q_C, r$  and  $D, \chi, Q_D, \nu$  as in the preamble, and set  $a := \frac{|\chi|}{|Z_G(\nu)|}$ . We then have by Lemma 2.6.2 for  $h, g \in G$ 

$$D_{s_{0}}^{h,g}F_{\rho}^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'} = \sum_{n \in Z_{G}(r)} \overline{\pi_{j,j'}(n)} D_{s}^{h,g}F_{\rho}^{\overline{c_{i}},q_{i}n\overline{q_{i}'}}$$

$$= \sum_{n \in Z_{G}(r)} \overline{\pi_{j,j'}(n)} F_{\rho}^{g\overline{c_{i}}\overline{g},gq_{i}n\overline{q_{i}'}} D_{s_{0}}^{hg\overline{c_{i}}\overline{g},g}$$

$$= \sum_{n \in Z_{G}(r)} \overline{\pi_{j,j'}(n)} F_{\rho}^{\overline{c_{i}(gq_{i})},q_{i}(gq_{i})n(gq_{i})n\overline{q_{i}'}} D_{s_{0}}^{hg\overline{c_{i}}\overline{g},g}$$

$$= \sum_{n \in Z_{G}(r)} \overline{\pi_{j,j'}(\overline{n(gq_{i})n})} F_{\rho}^{\overline{c_{i}(gq_{i})},q_{i}(gq_{i})n\overline{q_{i}'}} D_{s_{0}}^{hg\overline{c_{i}}\overline{g},g}$$

$$= \sum_{n \in Z_{G}(r)} \sum_{s=1}^{|\pi|} \pi_{s,j}(n(gq_{i})\overline{\pi_{s,j'}(n)}) F_{\rho}^{\overline{c_{i}(gq_{i})},q_{i}(gq_{i})n\overline{q_{i}'}} D_{s_{0}}^{hg\overline{c_{i}}\overline{g},g}$$

$$= \sum_{s=1}^{|\pi|} \pi_{s,j}(n(gq_{i})) F_{\rho}^{C,\pi,i(gq_{i}),i',s,j'} D_{s_{0}}^{hg\overline{c_{i}}\overline{g},g}.$$
(2.8)

Very similarly we get

$$D_{s_{1}}^{h,g}F_{\rho}^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'} = \sum_{s=1}^{|\pi|} \overline{\pi_{s,j'}(n(gq_{i'}))}F_{\rho}^{C,\pi,i,i(gq_{i'}),j,s}D_{s_{1}}^{gc_{i'}}\overline{g}^{h,g}.$$
 (2.9)

Inserting the definition of  $D^{D,\chi}_{s_0}$  in equation (2.8), and using Lemma 2.4.1 we find

$$\begin{split} D^{D,x}_{s_0} \mathsf{F}^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'}_{\rho} D^{e,\mathrm{id}}_{s_0} &= \\ &= a \sum_{\substack{d \in Z_G(\nu) \\ p \in Q_D}} \sum_{s=1}^{|\pi|} \overline{\chi(d)} \pi_{s,j} (\mathfrak{n}(pd\overline{p}q_i)) \delta_{\overline{p}c_ip,\nu} \mathsf{F}^{C,\pi,i(pd\overline{p}q_i),i',s,j'}_{\rho} D^{e,\mathrm{id}}_{s_0} \\ &= a \delta_{C,D} \sum_{\substack{d \in Z_G(r) \\ s \in Z_G(r)}} \sum_{s=1}^{|\pi|} \overline{\chi(d)} \pi_{s,j} (\mathfrak{n}(q_id)) \mathsf{F}^{C,\pi,i(q_id),i',s,j'}_{\rho} D^{e,\mathrm{id}}_{s_0}, \end{split}$$

where we used that  $\delta_{qc_i\overline{q},r}$  is non-zero if and only if  $q = q_i$ . Now  $n(q_id) = d$  and  $i(q_id) = i$ , therefore:

$$\begin{split} D^{D,\chi}_{s_0} F^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'}_{\rho} D^{e,id}_{s_0} &= a \delta_{C,D} \sum_{d \in Z_G(r)} \sum_{s=1}^{|\pi|} \overline{\chi(d)} \pi_{s,j}(d) F^{C,\pi,i,i',s,j'}_{\rho} D^{e,id}_{s_0} \\ &= a \delta_{C,D} \sum_{d \in Z_G(r)} \sum_{s=1}^{|\pi|} \sum_{t=1}^{|\chi|} \overline{\chi_{t,t}(d)} \pi_{s,j}(d) F^{C,\pi,i,i',s,j'}_{\rho} D^{e,id}_{s_0} \\ &= \delta_{C,D} \delta_{\chi,\pi} \sum_{s,t=1}^{|\pi|} \delta_{t,s} \delta_{t,j} F^{C,\pi,i,i',s,j'}_{\rho} D^{e,id}_{s_0} \\ &= \delta_{C,D} \delta_{\chi,\pi} F^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'}_{\rho} D^{e,id}_{s_0}, \end{split}$$

proving the first assertion. The second statement follows analogously.

#### Lemma 2.6.7:

Let  $\rho$  be an open ribbon,  $C \in G_{cj}$ ,  $r \in C$ ,  $\pi \in Z_G(r)_{irr}$  and corresponding indices i, i', j, j'. With  $s = \partial_0 \rho$  or  $s = \partial_1 \rho$  it then holds

$$[F_{\rho}^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'},B_s] = 0 \iff C = \{e\}.$$
(2.10)

Furthermore, if C consists of a central element  $c_0\in G$  it holds

$$[F_{\rho}^{C,\pi,0,0,j,j'}, A_s] = 0 \iff \pi = \mathrm{id}.$$
(2.11)

*Proof.* First note, that  $F_{\rho}^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'} \neq 0$  as well as  $A_s$  and  $B_s$ , since the ground state is not contained in the respective kernels. Using equation (2.8) we find that

$$\begin{aligned} A_{s_0} F_{\rho}^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'} &= \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{g \in G} \sum_{s=1}^{|\pi|} \pi_{s,j}(n(gq_i)) F_{\rho}^{C,\pi,i(gq_i),i',s,j'} A_{s_0}^g \\ B_{s_0} F_{\rho}^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'} &= F_{\rho}^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'} B_{s_0}^{\overline{c_i}} \end{aligned}$$

and by equation (2.9)

$$\begin{split} A_{s_1} F_{\rho}^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'} &= \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{g \in G} \sum_{s=1}^{|\pi|} \overline{\pi_{s,j'}(n(gq_{i'}))} F_{\rho}^{C,\pi,i,i(gq_{i'}),j,s} A_{s_1}^g \\ B_{s_1} F_{\rho}^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'} &= F_{\rho}^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'} B_{s_1}^{c_{i'}}. \end{split}$$

Therefore, if in the assertion the right hand sides of equations (2.10) and (2.11) are true then the respective left hand sides are implied.

Now assume  $F_{\rho}^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'}$  commutes with  $B_{s_0}$  and that  $C \neq \{e\}$ . Then, by the previous expressions we have

$$F^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'}_{\rho}B_{\mathfrak{so}} = B_{\mathfrak{so}}F^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'}_{\rho}B_{\mathfrak{so}} = \delta_{e,c_i}F^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'}_{\rho}B_{\mathfrak{so}} = 0.$$

By [BM08, Appendix B, Lemma 5] this contradicts that  $F_{\rho}^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'}$  is non-zero. Hence C must be equal to {e}. The case for  $B_{s_1}$  is proven in full analogy.

Next, assume that  $C = \{c_0\}$  with  $c_0 \in G$  central,  $F_{\rho}^{C,\pi,0,0,j,j'}$  commutes with  $A_{s_0}$  and that  $\pi$  is a non-trivial irreducible representation of  $Z_G(r)$ . Then

$$\begin{split} F^{C,\pi,0,0,j,j'}_{\rho}A_{s_0} &= \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{g \in G} \sum_{s=1}^{|\pi|} \pi_{s,j}(g) F^{C,\pi,0,0,s,j'}_{\rho} A_{s_0} \\ &= \delta_{\pi,\mathrm{id}} F^{C,\pi,0,0,j,j'}_{\rho} A_{s_0}, \end{split}$$

thus proving the claim. Again, the statement at the site  $s_1$  is proven analogously.

#### Lemma 2.6.8:

Let  $\rho$  be an open ribbon,  $C \in G_{cj}$ ,  $r \in C$ ,  $\pi \in Z_G(r)_{irr}$  and corresponding indices i, i', j, j'. With  $s = \partial_0 \rho$  or  $s = \partial_1 \rho$ , it then holds

$$[\mathsf{F}^{\mathsf{C},\pi,\mathfrak{i},\mathfrak{i}',\mathfrak{j},\mathfrak{j}'}_{\rho},\mathsf{D}^{\{e\},\mathrm{id}}_{s}]=\emptyset\iff(\mathsf{C},\pi)=(\{e\},\mathrm{id}).$$

*Proof.* The direction from left to right is obvious, since  $F_{\rho}^{\{e\},,id} = \mathbb{1}$ . For the other direction assume that  $[F_{\rho}^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'}, D_s^{\{e\},id}] = 0$ . Then

$$\mathsf{D}_{s}^{\{e\},\mathrm{id}}\mathsf{F}_{\rho}^{\mathsf{C},\pi,\mathfrak{i},\mathfrak{i}',\mathfrak{j},\mathfrak{j}'}=\mathsf{D}_{s}^{\{e\},\mathrm{id}}\mathsf{F}_{\rho}^{\mathsf{C},\pi,\mathfrak{i},\mathfrak{i}',\mathfrak{j},\mathfrak{j}'}\mathsf{D}_{s}^{\{e\},\mathrm{id}}$$

By Lemma 2.6.6 and [BM08, Appendix B, Lemma 5] this is only possible if  $C = \{e\}$  and  $\pi = id$ .

The ribbon operators as given in Proposition 2.6.4 obeys a decomposition rule when splitting the corresponding ribbons.

# Lemma 2.6.9:

Let  $C = \{c_1, \ldots, c_n\}$  be a conjugacy class of G,  $r \in C$  some representative and  $\pi$  an irreducible unitary representation of  $Z_G(r)$ , the centraliser of r in G. Choose elements  $q_1, \ldots, q_n$  such that  $c_i = q_i r \overline{q}_i$  for  $i = 1, \ldots, n$ , and let  $\rho, \rho_1, \rho_2$  be ribbons with  $\rho = \rho_1 \rho_2$ . Then

$$F^{C,\pi,I,J}_{\rho} = \sum_{K} F^{C,\pi,I,K}_{\rho_1} F^{C,\pi,K,J}_{\rho_2},$$

where we set I = (i, j), J = (i', j') and K is an according such tuple.

Proof. By definition

$$\begin{split} F_{\rho}^{C,\pi,\mathfrak{i},\mathfrak{i}',\mathfrak{j},\mathfrak{j}'} &= \sum_{z \in \mathsf{Z}_{G}(\mathfrak{r})} \overline{\pi_{\mathfrak{j},\mathfrak{j}'}(z)} F_{\rho}^{\overline{c}_{\mathfrak{i}},\mathfrak{q}_{\mathfrak{i}}z\overline{\mathfrak{q}}_{\mathfrak{i}'}} \\ &= \sum_{g \in G} \sum_{z \in \mathsf{Z}_{G}(\mathfrak{r})} \overline{\pi_{\mathfrak{j},\mathfrak{j}'}(z)} F_{\rho_{1}}^{\overline{c}_{\mathfrak{i}},\mathfrak{g}} F_{\rho_{2}}^{\overline{\mathfrak{g}}_{\mathfrak{c}}\mathfrak{i}} \overline{\mathfrak{g}}_{\mathfrak{q}_{\mathfrak{i}}z\overline{\mathfrak{q}}_{\mathfrak{i}'}} \\ &= \sum_{g \in G} \sum_{z \in \mathsf{Z}_{G}(\mathfrak{r})} \overline{\pi_{\mathfrak{j},\mathfrak{j}'}(z)} F_{\rho_{1}}^{\overline{c}_{\mathfrak{i}},\mathfrak{g}} F_{\rho_{2}}^{\overline{\mathfrak{g}}\mathfrak{q}_{\mathfrak{i}}\overline{\mathfrak{r}}\overline{\mathfrak{q}}_{\mathfrak{i}}g,\overline{\mathfrak{g}}\mathfrak{q}_{\mathfrak{i}}z\overline{\mathfrak{q}}_{\mathfrak{i}'}}. \end{split}$$

Now using that for each  $g \in G$  there exist unique  $q \in Q_C$  and  $n \in Z_G(r)$  such that g = qn we get, with the notation from the proof of Lemma 2.6.6 and setting  $q(g) := q_{\mathfrak{i}(g)}$ ,

$$F_{\rho}^{C,\pi,\mathfrak{i},\mathfrak{i}',\mathfrak{j},\mathfrak{j}'} = \sum_{g,h\in G} \sum_{z\in \mathsf{Z}_{G}(r)} \delta_{h,\overline{g}q_{\mathfrak{i}}} \overline{\pi_{\mathfrak{j},\mathfrak{j}'}(z)} F_{\rho_{1}}^{\overline{c}_{\mathfrak{i}},q_{\mathfrak{i}}} \overline{\pi(h)} \overline{q(h)} F_{\rho_{2}}^{q(h)\overline{r}\overline{q(h)},q(h)n(h)z\overline{q}_{\mathfrak{i}'}}.$$

Ordering the summation and using the properties of  $\pi$  we get

$$\begin{split} F_{\rho}^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'} &= \sum_{g,h\in G} \sum_{z\in Z_G(r)} \delta_{h,\overline{g}q_i} \overline{\pi_{j,j'}(\overline{n(h)}z)} F_{\rho_1}^{\overline{c}_i,q_i} \overline{\overline{n(h)}q(h)} F_{\rho_2}^{c_{i(h)},q(h)z\overline{q}_{i'}} \\ &= \sum_{g,h\in G} \sum_{t=1}^{|\pi|} \delta_{h,\overline{g}q_i} \overline{\pi_{j,t}(\overline{n(h)})} F_{\rho_1}^{\overline{c}_i,q_i} \overline{\overline{n(h)}q(h)} F_{\rho_2}^{C,\pi,i(h),i',t,j'} \\ &= \sum_{g\in G} \sum_{t=1}^{|\pi|} \overline{\pi_{j,t}(\overline{n(g)})} F_{\rho_1}^{\overline{c}_i,q_i} \overline{\overline{n(g)}q(g)} F_{\rho_2}^{C,\pi,i(g),i',t,j'}. \end{split}$$

Using that  $Q_C$  is a set of representatives of the elements of  $G/Z_G(r)$  we finally get

$$\begin{split} F^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'}_{\rho} &= \sum_{z \in \mathsf{Z}_{G}(r)} \sum_{t=1}^{|\pi|} \sum_{s=1}^{|C|} \overline{\pi_{j,t}(z)} F^{\overline{c}_{i},q_{i}z\overline{q_{s}}}_{\rho_{1}} F^{C,\pi,s,i',t,j'}_{\rho_{2}} \\ &= \sum_{t=1}^{|\pi|} \sum_{s=1}^{|C|} F^{C,\pi,i,s,j,t}_{\rho_{1}} F^{C,\pi,s,i',t,j'}_{\rho_{2}}. \end{split}$$

We can use the notation from the previous lemma to express the following in an elegant way.

# Lемма 2.6.10:

Given a ribbon  $\rho$ , and given a conjugacy classe C of G with representative  $r \in C$ , centraliser  $Z_G(r)$  and  $Q_C$  as above. Then, with the notation from Lemma 2.6.9, we have

$$\sum_{I} \left( \mathsf{F}_{\rho}^{C,\pi,I,J} \right)^{*} \mathsf{F}_{\rho}^{C,\pi,I,\mathsf{K}} = \delta_{J,\mathsf{K}} \mathbb{1}$$
$$\sum_{J} \mathsf{F}_{\rho}^{C,\pi,I,J} \left( \mathsf{F}_{\rho}^{C,\pi,\mathsf{K},J} \right)^{*} = \delta_{I,\mathsf{K}} \mathbb{1}$$

*Proof.* This follows from Lemma 2.6.3, Lemma 2.6.5 and the definition of the ribbon operators in Proposition 2.6.4:

$$\begin{split} \sum_{(i,j)} (F_{\rho}^{C,\pi,i,k,j,k'})^* F_{\rho}^{C,\pi,i,l,j,l'} &= \sum_{(i,j)} F_{\rho}^{\overline{C},\overline{\pi},i,k,j,k'} F_{\rho}^{C,\pi,i,l,j,l'} \\ &= \sum_{(i,j)} \sum_{y,z \in Z_G(r)} \pi_{j,k'}(y) \overline{\pi_{j,l'}(z)} F_{\rho}^{c_i,q_iyq_k} F_{\rho}^{\overline{c}_i,q_iz\overline{q}_l} \\ &= \sum_{(i,j)} \sum_{y,z \in Z_G(r)} \delta_{q_iy\overline{q}_k,q_iz\overline{q}_l} \pi_{j,k'}(y) \overline{\pi_{j,l'}(z)} F_{\rho}^{e,q_iy\overline{q}_k} \\ &= \sum_i \sum_{y,z \in Z_G(r)} \delta_{y\overline{q}_k,z\overline{q}_l} \pi_{l',k'} \overline{z} y F_{\rho}^{e,q_iy\overline{q}_k} \end{split}$$

Since  $Q_C$  is a set of representatives of the left cosets of  $Z_G(r)$  in G, we find

$$\begin{split} \sum_{(i,j)} (\mathsf{F}_{\rho}^{\mathsf{C},\pi,i,k,j,k'})^* \mathsf{F}_{\rho}^{\mathsf{C},\pi,i,l,j,l'} &= \sum_{i} \sum_{z \in \mathsf{Z}_{\mathsf{G}}(r)} \delta_{k,l} \pi_{l',k'} e \mathsf{F}_{\rho}^{\mathsf{e},q_{i}yq_{k}} \\ &= \sum_{i} \sum_{z \in \mathsf{Z}_{\mathsf{G}}(r)} \delta_{k,l} \delta_{l',k'} \mathsf{F}_{\rho}^{\mathsf{e},q_{i}yq_{k}} \\ &= \sum_{g \in \mathsf{G}} \delta_{k,l} \delta_{l',k'} \mathsf{F}_{\rho}^{\mathsf{e},g} \\ &= \delta_{k,l} \delta_{l',k'} \mathbb{1}, \end{split}$$

proving the first equation. The second equation follows from an analogous calculation.  $\hfill \Box$ 

The commutation relations of ribbons that overlap at their ends and of ribbons that cross each other relate to the fusion and braiding structure of the modular tensor category of finite dimensional representations of  $\mathcal{D}(G)$  [Kit03]. In the following we give explicit expressions for these commutation relations.

Lемма 2.6.11:

Let C, D be conjugacy classes of G and  $\pi, \chi$  irreducible representations of the resepective centralisers  $Z_G(r), Z_G(v)$  with  $r \in C$  and  $v \in D$ . Denote by  $q_k$  the elements of  $Q_C$  and by  $p_l$  those of  $Q_D$ . With the notation used previously we denote the decomposition of an element  $g \in G$  according to  $Q_D$  by g = p(g)m(g) and use the index notation s(g) defined by  $p(g) = p_{s(g)}$ . Let  $\rho, \sigma$  be ribbons.

*If*  $(\rho, \sigma)_{\prec}$  *then* 

$$\begin{split} F^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'}_{\rho} F^{D,\chi,s,s',t,t'}_{\sigma} = \\ &= \sum_{l=1}^{|\chi|} \chi_{l,t}(\mathfrak{m}(\bar{c}_{i}p_{s})) F^{D,\chi,s(\bar{c}_{i}p_{s}),s',l,t'}_{\sigma} F^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'}_{\rho}. \end{split}$$

If  $(\rho,\sigma)_\succ$  we have

$$\begin{split} F^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'}_{\rho}F^{D,\chi,s,s',t,t'}_{\sigma} = \\ &= \sum_{l=1}^{|\chi|} \frac{}{\chi_{l,t'}(\mathfrak{m}(\bar{c}_{i'}p_{s'}))}F^{D,\chi,s,s(\bar{c}_{i'}p_{s'}),s',t,l}F^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'}_{\rho}. \end{split}$$

*Proof.* Starting with the first assertion, i.e.  $(\rho, \sigma)_{\prec}$ , we have for hg, k,  $l \in G$  [BM08]:

$$F^{h,g}_{\rho}F^{k,l}_{\sigma} = F^{hk\overline{h},hl}_{\sigma}F^{h,g}_{\rho}.$$

Using this and setting  $\mathfrak{m}_{i,s}\coloneqq\mathfrak{m}(\bar{c}_ip_s)$  , we get

$$\begin{split} F^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'}_{\rho} F^{D,\chi,s,s',t,t'}_{\sigma} = & \sum_{\substack{n \in Z_G(r) \\ m \in Z_G(\nu)}} \overline{\pi_{j,j'}(n)} \overline{\chi_{t,t'}(m)} F^{\overline{c}_i \overline{d}_s c_i,\overline{c}_i p_s m \overline{p}_{s'}} F^{\overline{c}_i,q_i n \overline{q}_{i'}}_{\rho} \\ & = \sum_{\substack{n \in Z_G(\nu) \\ m \in Z_G(\nu)}} \overline{\chi_{t,t'}(\overline{m}_{i,s}m)} F^{\overline{d}_s(\overline{c}_i p_s)),p(\overline{c}_i p_s))m \overline{p}_{s'}} F^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'}_{\rho} \\ & = \sum_{\substack{n \in Z_G(\nu) \\ m \in Z_G(\nu)}} \overline{\chi_{t,t'}(\overline{m}_{i,s})} F^{D,\chi,s(\overline{c}_i p_s),s',l,t'} F^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'}_{\rho}. \end{split}$$

For the second assertion, i.e. for  $(\rho,\sigma)_\succ$  , we have with  $h,g,k,l\in G$  [BM08]

$$\mathsf{F}^{\mathsf{h},\mathsf{g}}_{\rho}\mathsf{F}^{\mathsf{k},\mathfrak{l}}_{\sigma} = \mathsf{F}^{\mathsf{k},\mathfrak{l}\overline{\mathfrak{g}}\overline{\mathfrak{h}}\mathfrak{g}}_{\sigma}\mathsf{F}^{\mathsf{h},\mathfrak{g}}_{\rho}.$$

Thus

$$\begin{split} F_{\rho}^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'}F_{\sigma}^{D,\chi,s,s',t,t'} &= \\ &= \sum_{\substack{n \in Z_{G}(r) \\ m \in Z_{G}(\nu)}} \overline{\pi_{j,j'}(n)} \overline{\chi_{t,t'}(m)} F_{\sigma}^{\overline{d}_{s},p_{s}} \overline{m\overline{p}_{s'}c_{i'}} F_{\rho}^{\overline{c}_{i},q_{i}} \overline{n\overline{q}_{i'}} \\ &= \sum_{\substack{n \in Z_{G}(\nu) \\ m \in Z_{G}(\nu)}} \overline{\chi_{t,t'}(mm(\overline{c}_{i'}p_{s'}))} F_{\sigma}^{\overline{d}_{s},p_{s}} \overline{m\overline{p(\overline{c}_{i'}p_{s'})}} F_{\rho}^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'} \\ &= \sum_{\substack{l=1 \\ l=1}}^{|\chi|} \overline{\chi_{l,t'}(m(\overline{c}_{i'}p_{s'}))} F_{\sigma}^{D,\chi,s,s(\overline{c}_{i'}p_{s'}),s',t,l} F_{\rho}^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'}. \end{split}$$

As an immediate consequence of this lemma we can calculate the commutation relations of two ribbons crossing each other.

# Lемма 2.6.12:

*Let*  $C, \pi, Q_C$  *and*  $D, \chi, Q_D$  *as usual, with*  $r \in C$  *and*  $\nu \in D$ *, and let*  $\rho, \sigma$  *be ribbons with*  $(\rho, \sigma)_{\times}$ *. Then* 

$$\begin{split} F^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'}_{\rho}F^{D,\chi,s,s',t,t'}_{\sigma} &= \sum_{i_1=1}^{|C|} \sum_{\substack{j_1=1\\j_2=1}}^{|\pi|} \sum_{s_1=1}^{|D|} \sum_{\substack{t_1=1\\t_2=1}}^{|\chi|} \overline{\chi_{t_1,t_2}(m_{i_1,s_1})} \pi_{j_1,j_2}(n_{s_1,i_1}) \times \\ &\times F^{D,\chi,s,s_{i_1,s_1},t,t_2}_{\sigma_1} F^{D,\chi,s_1,s',t_1,t'}_{\sigma_2} F^{D,\chi,s_1,s',t_1,t'}_{\sigma_2} F^{C,\pi,i,i_1,j,j_1}_{\rho_1} F^{C,\pi,i_{s_1},i_1,i',j_2,j'}_{\rho_2}, \end{split}$$

with

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{m}_{i_{1},s_{1}} &= \mathfrak{m}(\overline{c_{i_{1}}} p_{s_{1}}), & \mathfrak{n}_{s_{1},i_{1}} &= \mathfrak{n}(d_{s_{1}} q_{i_{1}}), \\ \mathfrak{s}_{i_{1},s_{1}} &= \mathfrak{s}(\overline{c_{i_{1}}} p_{s_{1}}), & \mathfrak{i}_{s_{1},i_{1}} &= \mathfrak{i}(d_{s_{1},q_{i_{1}}}), \end{split}$$

and we used the decomposition  $\rho = \rho_1 \rho_2$  and  $\sigma = \sigma_1 \sigma_2$  from the definition of  $(\rho, \sigma)_{\times}$ .

*Proof.* This is a direct consequence of the Lemmata 2.6.11 and 2.6.9.

Ribbon operators create excitations only at their endpoints, which follows from their commutation relations with the star and plaquette operators (see Lemma 2.6.2). Thus it is expected that the action of ribbon operators does not depend on the geometry of the ribbon but just on its endpoints. This was already mentioned in the seminal paper by Kitaev [Kit03] and elaborated on in more detail in [BM08]. We summarise this in the following lemma.

Lemma 2.6.13:

Let  $\rho, \rho'$  be deformation equivalent, open ribbons. Let  $R \subset \mathbb{Z}^2 \cup (\mathbb{Z}^2)^*$  be a region such that  $\rho, \rho'$  lie in R and such that all vertices and faces in  $\rho, \rho'$  are contained in R. Then it holds for all  $h, g \in G$ 

$$F_{\rho}^{h,g}\prod_{f,\nu\in R}A_{\nu}B_{f}=F_{\rho'}^{h,g}\prod_{f,\nu\in R}A_{\nu}B_{f}$$

*Proof.* This follows from the discussion in [BM08, Appendix C].

In addition to deforming ribbons it is also possible to invert ribbons. Since the excitations created by a ribbon operator at the ends of the ribbon are conjugate to each other, inversions should then exchange these excitations. This is indeed the case [BM08].

Lemma 2.6.14:

Let  $\rho$  be an open ribbon and let  $\overline{\rho}$  be an inversion of  $\rho$ . Let  $R \subset \mathbb{Z}^2 \cup (\mathbb{Z}^2)^*$  be a region such that  $\rho, \overline{\rho}$  lie in R and such that all vertices and faces in  $\rho, \overline{\rho}$  are contained in R. Then, for all  $h, g \in G$  it holds

$$F_{\rho}^{h,g} \prod_{f,\nu \in R} A_{\nu} B_{f} = F_{\overline{\rho}}^{\overline{g}\overline{h}g,\overline{g}} \prod_{f,\nu \in R} A_{\nu} B_{f}$$

*Proof.* This follows from the discussion in [BM08, Appendix C].

# 2.7 The Abelian Model

Much of the structures of ribbon operators becomes significantly simpler when considering finite *abelian* groups. Later in the proof of Haag duality for the quantum double model for finite abelian groups we will need some of these results. We will repeat some of the results from the previous sections here without proof, since we feel it enhances the readability of later sections, and add some further structural lemmas. In the following we will always assume that the group G is finite and abelian. Note that now conjugacy classes of G are given by the elements  $c \in G$ , and the centraliser  $Z_G(c)$  coincides with G. Hence irreducible representations of  $\mathcal{D}(G)$  are labelled by tuples  $(c, \chi)$  where  $c \in G$  and  $\chi$  is an irreducible representation of G. Note also that  $\chi$  is now necessarily one-dimensional. In the following we will often write for such tuples  $(\chi, c)$  with  $\chi$  an irreducible representation of G and  $c \in G$ .

Apart from obvious changes the transition to abelian groups does not result in very insightful differences in the shape of plaquette and star operators, as well as that of ribbon operators. The charge projections in Definition 2.5.3 become slightly simpler to read. With  $s \in \mathbb{Z}^2$  being a site,  $c \in G$  and  $\chi \in (G)_{irr}$  they become

$$D_s^{\chi,c} = \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{g \in G} \overline{\chi(g)} D_s^{c,g}.$$
(2.12)

The basis of ribbon operators Proposition 2.6.4 is now

$$F^{\chi,c}_{\rho} = \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{g} \overline{\chi(g)} F^{\overline{c},g}_{\rho},$$

with some ribbon  $\rho$ , and

$$(\mathsf{F}^{\chi,c}_{\rho})^* = \mathsf{F}^{\overline{\chi},\overline{c}}_{\rho},\tag{2.13}$$

by Lemma 2.6.5-

Lemma 2.7.1:

Let  $\rho$  be an open ribbon,  $c \in G$  and  $\chi \in G_{irr}$ . With  $s = \partial_0 \rho$  or  $s = \partial_1 \rho$  it then holds

$$[\mathsf{F}^{\chi,c}_{\rho},\mathsf{B}_{s}]=0\iff C=\{e\},$$

and

$$[F^{\chi,c}_{\rho},A_s] = 0 \iff \chi = \mathrm{id}.$$

Lемма 2.7.2:

Let  $\rho_1, \rho_2, \rho$  and  $\sigma$  be ribbons with  $\rho = \rho_1 \rho_2$ . Consider elements  $c, d \in G$  and irreducible representations  $\chi, \xi \in G_{irr}$ . Then we have the following:

$$F_{\rho}^{\chi,c} = F_{\rho_1}^{\chi,c} F_{\rho_2}^{\chi,c} \qquad and \qquad F_{\rho}^{\chi,c} F_{\rho}^{\xi,d} = F_{\rho}^{\chi\xi,cd}.$$

Furthermore,

- *if*  $(\rho, \sigma)_{\prec}$  *then*  $F^{\chi,c}_{\rho}F^{\xi,d}_{\sigma} = \overline{\xi(c)}F^{\xi,d}_{\sigma}F^{\chi,c}_{\rho}$ ,
- *if*  $(\rho, \sigma)_{\succ}$  *then*  $F^{\chi,c}_{\rho}F^{\xi,d}_{\sigma} = \xi(c)F^{\xi,d}_{\sigma}F^{\chi,c}_{\rho}$ ,
- and, if  $(\rho, \sigma)_{\times}$  then  $F_{\rho}^{\chi,c}F_{\sigma}^{\xi,d} = \xi(c)\chi(d)F_{\sigma}^{\xi,d}F_{\rho}^{\chi,c}$ .

The commutation relation between ribbon operators and plaquette and star operators suggest that we can regard the ribbon operators as operations on the ground state that create pairs of conjugate excitations at the ending points of ribbons. Furthermore, we can fuse such excitations by considering multiple ribbons starting at the same site. The excitation obtained by this procedure should be the result of the fusion rules of the underlying object that describes these excitations. I.e. in our case, the modular tensor category of finite dimensional representation of Drinfeld's quantum double  $\mathcal{D}(G)$  of the group G. For finite groups this has a particular simple structure, as the next lemma illustrates. More precisely we show that given n ribbon connecting with one end to a common site s we can, when acting on the ground state, express the product of the according ribbon operators by one ribbon operators associated to a ribbon that connects to s, multiplied with n-1 operators associated to ribbon connecting the remaining ending points of the original ribbons.

Lемма 2.7.3:

Let  $\rho_1, \ldots, \rho_n$  be open ribbons and s be some site. Assume that

 $\forall i \in \{1, \dots, n\} \exists ! j \in \{0, 1\} \colon \partial_j \rho_i = s.$ 

This gives a map  $\{1, ..., n\} \ni i \mapsto j_i \in \{0, 1\}$ . Furthermore assume that for all  $i, i' \in \{1, ..., n\}$  it holds that  $\partial_{1-j_i} \rho_i \neq \partial_{1-j_i'} \rho_{i'}$ . Let  $\chi_i, i = 1, ..., n$  be irreducible representations of G and elements  $c_i \in G$ , i = 1, ..., n. Set  $\chi := \chi_1 \cdots \chi_n$  and  $c := c_1 \cdots c_n$ .

Then there are ribbons  $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1}$  with  $\{\partial_0 \sigma_k, \partial_1 \sigma_k | k = 1, \ldots, n-1\} = \{\partial_{1-j_i} \rho_i | i = 1, \ldots, n\}$ , a ribbon  $\gamma$  with  $\partial_0 \gamma = s$  and  $\partial_1 \gamma = \partial_{1-j_i} \rho_i$  for some  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ , and irreducible representations  $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_n$  of G and elements  $d_1, \ldots, d_{n-1} \in G$  such that

$$F_{\rho_1}^{\chi_1,c_1}\cdots F_{\rho_n}^{c_n}\Omega = zF_{\sigma_1}^{\xi_1,d_1}\cdots F_{\sigma_{n-1}}^{\xi_{n-1},d_{n-1}}F_{\gamma}^{\chi,c}\Omega$$

where  $z \in \mathbb{C}$  and |z| = 1.

*Proof.* The proof works by induction over the number of ribbons. By means of inversions of ribbons, i.e. Lemma 2.6.14, we can assume w.o.l.g. that  $j(\{1, ..., n\}) = \{0\}$  for any n > 0. In other words we assume that all ribbons involved have their starting point at s since otherwise we could invert them due to the aforementioned lemma.

If n = 1 the claim is trivial. We will elaborate on the case n = 2 since this illustrates the basic idea of the proof. Let  $\rho_1, \rho_2$  be ribbons as in the assumptions.

Let  $\chi_1, \chi_2$  be irreducible representations of G and  $c_1, c_2 \in G$ . Let  $\overline{\rho}_1$  be an inversion of  $\rho_1$  such that  $\rho_2 \overline{\rho}_1$  is a ribbon. Then by Corollary 2.8.2 and Lemma 2.6.14 we have

$$F_{\rho_1}^{\chi_1,c_1}F_{\rho_2}^{\chi_2,c_2}\Omega = F_{\rho_1}^{\chi_1,c_1}F_{\rho_2}^{\chi_2,c_2}F_{\overline{\rho}_1}^{\chi_2,c_2}F_{\rho_1}^{\chi_2,c_2}\Omega$$
$$= zF_{\rho_1}^{\chi_1\chi_2,c_1c_2}F_{\rho_2\overline{\rho}_1}^{\chi_2,c_2}\Omega$$

where *z* is the factor given by the commutation relations in Lemma 2.7.2. Now let  $\sigma$  be a deformation of  $\rho_2 \bar{\rho}_1$  such that  $s \notin \sigma$ . We then have

$$\begin{split} F_{\rho_1}^{\chi_1,c_1} F_{\rho_2}^{\chi_2,c_2} \Omega &= z F_{\rho_1}^{\chi_1\chi_2,c_1c_2} F_{\sigma}^{\chi_2,c_2} \Omega \\ &= \tilde{z} F_{\sigma}^{\chi_2,c_2} F_{\rho_1}^{\chi_1\chi_2,c_1c_2} \Omega \end{split}$$

as claimed, wnd where  $\tilde{z}$  is the phase factor obtained by the last swap.

Now let  $\rho_1, \ldots, \rho_n$  be ribbons as in the preamble of the Lemma and assume that the claim holds for all any n - 1 such ribbons. Let  $\chi_1, \ldots, \chi_n$  be irreducible representation of G and  $c_1, \ldots, c_n \in G$ . Set  $\xi := \chi_2 \cdots \chi_n$  and  $d := c_2 \cdots c_n$ . Then

$$F_{\rho_{1}}^{\chi_{1},c_{1}}\cdots F_{\rho_{n}}^{\chi_{n},c_{n}}\Omega = zF_{\rho_{1}}^{\chi_{1},c_{1}}F_{\sigma_{2}}^{\xi_{2},d_{2}}\cdots F_{\sigma_{n-1}}^{\xi_{n-1},d_{n-1}}F_{\gamma}^{\xi,d}\Omega$$

where the ribbons  $\gamma$ ,  $\sigma_k$ , irreducible representations  $\xi_k$  and  $c_k \in G$  are corresponding to the claim. Let  $\overline{\gamma}$  be an inversion of  $\gamma$  such that  $\rho_1 \overline{\gamma}$  is a ribbon. Let  $\sigma_1$  be a deformation of  $\rho_1 \overline{\gamma}$ . Again, using the same Lemmas as above we have

$$\begin{split} F_{\rho_{1}}^{\chi_{1},c_{1}}\cdots F_{\rho_{n}}^{\chi_{n},c_{n}}\Omega &= \tilde{z}F_{\sigma_{2}}^{\xi_{2},d_{2}}\cdots F_{\sigma_{n-1}}^{\xi_{n-1},d_{n-1}}F_{\rho_{1}}^{\chi_{1},c_{1}}F_{\gamma}^{\xi,d}\Omega \\ &= yF_{\sigma_{2}}^{\xi_{2},d_{2}}\cdots F_{\sigma_{n-1}}^{\xi_{n-1},d_{n-1}}F_{\rho_{1}}^{\chi_{1},c_{1}}F_{\gamma}^{\xi,d}F_{\overline{\gamma}}^{\chi_{1},c_{1}}F_{\gamma}^{\chi_{1},c_{1}}\Omega \\ &= \tilde{y}F_{\sigma_{2}}^{\xi_{2},d_{2}}\cdots F_{\sigma_{n-1}}^{\xi_{n-1},d_{n-1}}F_{\gamma}^{\xi\chi_{1},c_{1}}F_{\rho_{1}\overline{\gamma}}^{\chi_{1},c_{1}}\Omega \\ &= \tilde{y}F_{\sigma_{2}}^{\xi_{2},d_{2}}\cdots F_{\sigma_{n-1}}^{\xi_{n-1},d_{n-1}}F_{\gamma}^{\xi\chi_{1},c_{1}}F_{\sigma_{1}}^{\chi_{1},c_{1}}\Omega \\ &= \tilde{y}F_{\sigma_{2}}^{\xi_{2},d_{2}}\cdots F_{\sigma_{n-1}}^{\xi_{n-1},d_{n-1}}F_{\gamma}^{\xi\chi_{1},c_{1}}F_{\gamma}^{\xi\chi_{1},c_{1}}\Omega \end{split}$$

The factors  $\tilde{z}$ , y,  $\tilde{y}$  and  $\hat{y}$  are products with *z* and phase factors resulting from the commutation relations of the ribbon operators. The last expression is of the form as in the claim.

The next lemmas show that under certain circumstances we can add triangles to the beginning or the end of a ribbon without changing the action of the ribbon operator on the ground state.

Lemma 2.7.4:

Let  $\rho$  be an open ribbon and denote  $s_0 := \partial_0 \rho$  and  $s_1 := \partial_1 \rho$ . Pick  $c \in G$  and an irreducible representation  $\chi$  of G. If there is a direct triangle  $\tau$  such that  $\tau \rho$  is a ribbon the following holds:

 $[F_{\rho}^{\chi,c}, A_{s_0}] = 0 \implies F_{\rho}^{\chi,c} = F_{\tau\rho}^{\chi,c}$ 

The analogue statement holds true if  $\rho\tau$  is a ribbon and the ribbon operator commutes with the star operator at  $s_1$ .

If there is a dual triangle  $\tau'$  such that  $\tau'\rho$  is a ribbon then

$$[F_{\rho}^{\chi,c}, B_{s_0}] = 0 \implies F_{\rho}^{\chi,c} = F_{\tau'\rho}^{\chi,c}$$

and again an analogue statement holds true if  $\rho \tau'$  is a ribbon.

*Proof.* By Lemma 2.6.7  $[F^{\chi,c}_{\rho}, A_{s_0}] = 0$  implies  $\chi = \mathrm{id}$ . Hence  $F^{\chi,c}_{\rho} = F^{\mathrm{id},c}_{\rho}$  and therefore

$$F^{\mathrm{id},c}_{\tau\rho} = \sum_{g,k\in G} T^g_\tau F^{\overline{c},\overline{g}k}_\rho = F^{\mathrm{id},c}_\rho$$

since  $\sum_{g \in G} T^g_{\tau} = I$ . Analogously the other case. For if  $\tau' \rho$  is a ribbon  $[F^{\chi,c}_{\rho}, B_{s_0}] = 0 \implies c = e$  and

$$F^{\chi,e}_{\tau\rho} = \sum_{g,k\in G} \overline{\chi(k)} L^e_{\tau'} \delta_{g,e} F^{e,\overline{g}k}_{\rho} = F^{\chi,e}_{\rho}$$

and again analogously for the second case.

Since G is abelian we also have that ribbon operators of closed ribbons commute with all star and plaquette operators.

Lemma 2.7.5:

Let  $\rho$  be any closed ribbon. Then for all  $h,g,k\in G$ 

$$[\mathsf{F}^{\mathsf{h},\mathsf{g}}_{\rho},\mathsf{A}^{\mathsf{k}}] = \mathsf{0} = [\mathsf{F}^{\mathsf{h},\mathsf{g}}_{\rho},\mathsf{B}^{\mathsf{k}}].$$

The proof can be found in [BM08, Appendix B.5]. A somewhat weaker statement of this is also true if we remove one triangle from a closed ribbon.

63

Lemma 2.7.6:

Let  $\rho$  be an open ribbon such that there is a direct triangle  $\tau$  with  $\tau \rho$  is a closed ribbon. Then, with  $\chi$ , c, s<sub>0</sub> as above, we have

 $[A_{s_0}, F_{\rho}^{\chi, c}] = 0 \implies [B_{s_0}, F_{\rho}^{\chi, c}] = 0$ 

Given instead that there is a dual triangle  $\tau'$  such that  $\tau'\rho$  is a closed ribbon. Then

 $[B_{s_0}, F_0^{\chi,c}] = 0 \implies [A_{s_0}, F_0^{\chi,c}] = 0$ 

*Proof.* 1.) The premises imply, by Lemma 2.7.4, that  $F_{\rho}^{\chi,c} = F_{\tau\rho}^{\chi,c}$ , and since  $\tau\rho$  is a closed ribbon the claim follows.

2.) The premises imply by Lemma 2.7.4, that  $F_{\rho}^{\chi,c} = F_{\tau'\rho}^{\chi,c}$ , and since  $\tau'\rho$  is a closed ribbon the claim follows.

### 2.8 The Thermodynamic Limit

Recall that we denote the collection of finite subsets of  $\mathbb{Z}^2$  by  $\mathcal{P}_f(\mathbb{Z}^2)$ . This is a partially ordered set with partial order given by the inclusion of sets. For finite sets  $\mathcal{O} \in \mathbb{P}_f(\mathbb{Z}^2)$  we set  $\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{O}} = \bigotimes_{e \in \mathcal{O}} \mathcal{H}_e$ . As described in Section 1.3 such systems are described from the perspective of operator algebras. We briefly recall the necessary notions here. For each edge  $e \in \mathbb{Z}^2$  we set  $\mathcal{A}_e = \mathcal{B}(l^2(G))$  and define the algebra of local observables in  $\mathcal{O} \in \mathcal{P}_f(\mathbb{Z}^2)$  by  $\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{O}) := \bigotimes_{e \in \mathcal{O}} \mathcal{A}_e$ . This results in a net  $\mathcal{O} \mapsto \mathcal{A}(\mathcal{O})$  of C\*-algebras and the algebra of local observables in  $\mathbb{Z}^2$  is given by  $\mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{loc}} = \bigcup_{\mathcal{O} \in \mathcal{P}_f(\mathbb{Z}^2)} \mathcal{A}(\mathcal{O})$ .

The quasilocal algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  of the system is defined as the inductive limit of this net, and it can be described by  $\mathcal{A}_{loc}$  as follows. There unique norm  $\|\cdot\|$  such that  $\mathcal{A} = \overline{\mathcal{A}_{loc}}^{\|\cdot\|}$  and  $\mathcal{A}$  is a C\*-algebra. Note, that if  $\Lambda \subset \mathbb{Z}^2$  is an infinite set, then in a similar way we obtain the algebra of observables localised in  $\Lambda$  by

$$\mathcal{A}(\Lambda) = \overline{\bigcup_{\substack{\mathcal{O} \in \mathcal{P}f(\mathbb{Z}^2)\\\mathcal{O} \subset \Lambda}} \mathcal{A}(\mathcal{O})}^{\|\cdot\|}.$$
(2.14)

By Theorem 1.3.1 the dynamics are given by a strongly continuous 1-parameter group of automorphisms  $\alpha$  of  $\mathcal{A}$  with generator  $\delta$ . For Kitaev's quantum double models finding a translational invariant ground state of the dynamics is a well-understood problem [Naa12a]. For abelian groups it is even possible to characterise the ground state that are not translational invariant [CNN16].

#### Тнеогем 2.8.1 [Naa12a; FN15]:

In the thermodynamic limit of Kitaev's quantum double model for finite groups on the planar square lattice there exists a unique translational invariant ground state  $\omega_0$  of the dynamics. This state is uniquely determined by

 $\omega_0(A_s) = \omega_0(B_s) = 1,$ 

for any site s in  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ . Moreover this state is pure.

In the following we use  $\omega_0$  to refer to the translational invariant ground state and the tuple  $(\pi_0, \mathcal{H}_0, \Omega)$  to refer to the cyclic representation obtained by the GNS construction for  $\omega_0$ . We often call this particular triple  $(\pi_0, \mathcal{H}_0, \Omega)$  the *ground state representation*. Since  $\pi_0$  is faithful and to simplify notation we usually identify  $\mathcal{A}$ with its image  $\pi_0(\mathcal{A})$  and deviate from this convention when we want to emphasise the dependency on the chosen representation.

From the properties of the ground state  $\omega_0$  we can conclude some additional properties from the discussion in Section 2.6.

Corollary 2.8.2:

Let  $\rho, \rho'$  and  $\sigma, \sigma'$  be deformation equivalent ribbons. Let  $\omega_0$  be the unique translational invariant ground state of the Kitaev Hamiltonian. Then for all  $A \in A$  and all  $g, h, k, l \in G$  it holds

$$\omega_0(\mathsf{F}^{\mathfrak{h},\mathfrak{g}}_{o}\mathsf{A}\mathsf{F}^{\mathfrak{l},\mathfrak{k}}_{\sigma}) = \omega_0(\mathsf{F}^{\mathfrak{h},\mathfrak{g}}_{o'}\mathsf{A}\mathsf{F}^{\mathfrak{l},\mathfrak{k}}_{\sigma'}).$$

*Proof.* Since  $\omega_0$  is the translationally invariant ground state of (2.4) it is invariant under all star and plaquette operators, i.e.  $\forall s \in \mathbb{Z}^2 : \omega(A_s) = 1 = \omega(B_s)$  (see [FN15; Naa12a]). Thus the assertion is a direct consequence of Lemma 2.6.13.  $\Box$ 

Corollary 2.8.3:

Let  $\rho, \sigma$  be open ribbons, and let  $\overline{\rho}, \overline{\sigma}$  be inverses thereof. Then for all  $A \in A$  and all  $g, h, k, l \in G$  it holds

 $\omega_0(F^{h,g}_{\rho}AF^{l,k}_{\sigma})=\omega_0(F^{\overline{g}\overline{h}g,\overline{g}}_{\overline{\rho}}AF^{\overline{k}\overline{l}k,\overline{k}}_{\overline{\sigma}}).$ 

*Proof.* Similar to the previous corollary this is a direct consequence of Lemma 2.6.14.  $\Box$ 

The following lemma will be of use in the following chapters as well.

Lemma 2.8.4:

*Given ribbons*  $\rho$  *and*  $\rho'$ *. Then, if*  $(\rho, \rho')_{\prec}$  *and*  $(\rho, \rho')_{\succ}$  *then* 

$$\forall g, g'h, h' \in G : \omega_0((F_{\rho}^{h,g})^*F_{\rho'}^{h',g'}) = \frac{1}{|G|} \delta_{h,h'} \delta_{g,g'}.$$

If at least one of the conditions on  $\rho$  and  $\rho'$  is not fulfilled then we have

$$\omega_0((\mathsf{F}^{\mathsf{h},\mathsf{g}}_{\rho})^*\mathsf{F}^{\mathsf{h}',\mathsf{g}'}_{\rho'}) = \frac{1}{|\mathsf{G}|^2} \delta_{\mathsf{h},e} \delta_{\mathsf{h}',e},$$

for all  $h, h', g, g' \in G$ .

*Proof.* The proof for the case  $\rho = \rho'$  can also be found in [BSW11]. Let  $\rho$  and  $\rho'$  be as above. Then by definition  $\partial_i \rho = \partial_i \rho'$  for i = 0, 1. Let  $h, h', g, g' \in G$ . Then, by Lemma 2.8.2 we can deform  $\rho'$  to  $\rho$  to get

$$\omega_{0}((F_{\rho}^{h,g})^{*}F_{\rho'}^{h',g'}) = \omega_{0}(F_{\rho}^{\overline{h},g}F_{\rho}^{h',g'}) = \delta_{g,g'}\omega_{0}(F_{\rho}^{\overline{h}h',g}).$$

Now we can use that the plaquette operators are stabilisers, i.e. set  $s:=\partial_0\rho,$  then by Lemma 2.6.2

$$\omega_{0}(F_{\rho}^{\overline{h}h',g}) = \omega_{0}(B_{s}F_{\rho}^{\overline{h}h',g}) = \omega_{0}(F_{\rho}^{\overline{h}h',g}B_{s}^{\overline{h}h'}) = \delta_{h,h'}\omega_{0}(F_{\rho}^{\overline{h}h',g}).$$

Similarly we get

$$\omega_{0}(F_{\rho}^{e,g}) = \omega_{0}(A_{s}F_{\rho}^{e,g}) = \frac{1}{|G|}\sum_{k\in G}\omega_{0}(F_{\rho}^{e,kg}A_{s}^{k}) = \frac{1}{|G|}\sum_{k\in G}\omega_{0}(F_{\rho}^{e,kg}) = \frac{1}{|G|},$$

where we used that  $\sum_{k \in G} F_{\rho}^{e,k} = 1$  and  $A_s = A_s^k A_s$  (see [BM08]). Thus, putting everything together, we get

$$\omega_{0}((F_{\rho}^{h,g})^{*}F_{\rho'}^{h',g'}) = \frac{1}{|G|}\delta_{h,h'}\delta_{g,g'},$$

as claimed.

For the second claim, note that  $\partial_i \rho \neq \partial_i \rho'$  for at least one  $i \in \{0, 1\}$ . Assume w.l.o.g. that  $\partial_0 \rho \neq \partial_0 \rho'$ . Set  $s := \partial_0 \rho$  and  $s' = \partial_0 \rho'$ . Then, as above

$$\begin{split} \omega_{0}((F_{\rho}^{h,g})^{*}F_{\rho'}^{h',g'}) &= \omega_{0}(F_{\rho}^{\overline{h},g}F_{\rho'}^{h',g'}B_{s}^{h}B_{s'}^{h'}) \\ &= \delta_{h,e}\delta_{h',e}\omega_{0}((F_{\rho}^{h,g})^{*}F_{\rho'}^{h',g'}). \end{split}$$

Analogous to the first claim we get

$$\omega_{0}((F_{\rho}^{e,g})^{*}F_{\rho'}^{e,g'}) = \frac{1}{|G|^{2}} \sum_{k,k' \in G} \omega_{0}(F_{\rho}^{e,kg}F_{\rho'}^{e,k'g'}) = \frac{1}{|G|^{2}}.$$

		L

# 2.9 NOTATION

In order to keep notation as clean as possible we will use some conventions which are complemented by the notational index in the backmatter of this thesis. We will use the greek letters  $\rho$ ,  $\sigma$  to denote ribbons and  $\epsilon$  for the trivial ribbon or certain small constants. The letter  $\tau$  will always refer to a triangle. If  $\tau$  and  $\tau'$  occur at the same instance then  $\tau$  is a direct triangle and  $\tau'$  always a dual triangle, if not mentioned otherwise.

Lower case letters from the middle of the latin alphabet are usually used for elements of the group G and *e* is always the identity. As indices group elements will always appear on the upper right of the indexed object. An exception is the Kronecker delta, where they appear in the lower right. For group elements  $g \in G$  we use the notation  $\bar{g} = g^{-1}$  to make some equations more readable. If  $z \in \mathbb{C}$  the symbol  $\bar{z}$  will always mean the complex conjugation of *z*.

The greek letters  $\chi$ ,  $\xi$ ,  $\varphi$  and  $\pi$  denote irreducible representations of finite groups. Conjugacy classes of the group G are denoted by letters C and D. We will use  $\pi$  also for representations of C\*-algebras, but it will be clear from the context when this is this the case and we then separate it from the use for representations of groups. Ribbon operators are usually denoted by a capital F decorated by some indices according to the definition. The notation  $A_s^g$  and  $B_s^g$  will always refer to a star and a plaquette operator at site s. Triangle operators are always denoted by T and L.

Capital calligraphic letters from the beginning of the latin alphabet are used for C\*-algebras, and capital letters from the middle of the alphabet for von-Neumann algebras with the exception that for certain von Neumann algebras we use calligraphic letters and for all other fractal letters. An exception is the symbol  $\mathcal{F}$  which is used for algebras generated by ribbons. Automorphisms of C\*- and von-Neumann algebras are usually referred to by the greek letters  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  and  $\tau$ , if no confusion arises. We use the letter  $\Lambda$  to denote cones, and the letter 0 for finite subgraphs of the graph  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ .

# Haag Duality in the Quantum Double Model for Finite Abelian Groups

3

In this chapter we prove Haag duality for cone algebras in the GNS representation of the translational invariant ground state of Kitaev's quantum double model for finite abelian groups. Before entering the proof let us explain what Haag duality is an what underlying ideas are which we use in the subsequent. The contents of this chapter are published in [FN15].

We consider Kitaev's quantum double model for a finite abelian groups defined on the square lattice embedded in the two-dimensional plane. We work in the thermodynamic limit of this model. I.e. we describe the system by the quasilocal algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  generated by the local algebras  $\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{O})$ , where  $\mathcal{O}$  are finite regions in  $\mathbb{Z}^2$ , together with the dynamics generated by the local Hamiltonians introduced in Section 2.4 and its unique translationally invariant ground state  $\omega_0$ . Recall the ground state representation ( $\mathcal{H}, \pi, \Omega$ ) given by the GNS representation of  $\omega_0$ .

By construction the local algebras  $\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{O})$  with  $\mathcal{O} \in \mathcal{P}_{f}(\mathbb{Z}^{2})$  satisfy *locality*: If  $\mathcal{O}' \in \mathcal{P}_{f}(\mathbb{Z}^{2})$  is any other finite region disjoint to  $\mathcal{O}$ , then the operators in  $\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{O})$  commute with all operators in  $\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{O}')$ . In the ground state representation locality can be written as  $\pi(\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{O})) \subset \pi(\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{O}^{c}))'$ , where  $\mathcal{O}^{c}$  is the complement of  $\mathcal{O}$ . In general this inclusion is strict. If, however,  $\Lambda$  is a *cone*, we will prove that in the ground state representation a stronger statement is true, namely  $\pi(\mathcal{A}(\Lambda))'' = \pi(\mathcal{A}(\Lambda^{c})'$ . This property is called *Haag duality*, and it can be used to characterise the superselection sectors of the quantum double models [Naa13a; FN15].

We start with defining cones and introduce the necessary notations for boundaries and sites being parts of cones. In the second section we prove Haag duality. The idea there is to understand how the Hilbert space of the ground state representation is obtained from local excitations above the ground state. This allows to decompose the Hilbert space into a direct sum of a Hilbert space containing excit-

ations inside a cone and a space containing excitations in the cone's complement. Concerning the first summand in this decomposition the ground state vector is in fact cyclic with respect to the cone algebra. The reason is that local excitations can be created by acting with ribbon operators on the ground state. This structure allows us to reduce the problem of showing Haag duality on  $\mathcal{H}$  to a commutation problem on this smaller Hilbert space using a result by Rieffel and van Daele [RD75].

# 3.1 Cones

The main motivation to consider cone-like regions is given by the localisation regions of single excitations of the ground state. These turn out to be suitably described by *cones*. How these cones are defined and which properties we need them to fulfill is described in the following. We will state a list of requirements as a definition and then give a family of regions which fulfill this list. Some of these requirements originate in the localisation properties of excitations sitting at the end of ribbons. Others are motivated as a technical requirement for proving a weaker form of the split property. Most importantly cones should be "ribbon connected" in the sense that we can connect any site inside the cone with ribbons without leaving the cone. Furthermore it should be possible to translate any finite subset of the lattice into the cone using some lattice translation.

First we discuss what we mean by the boundary of a subset of  $\Gamma = \mathbb{Z}^2$ , where we view  $\Gamma$  as a graph as in Section 2.1. We regard edges as a pair of vertices which are connected by an oriented edge. If we remove a vertex we also discard the edges that contain this vertex. If we remove an edge we do not remove the corresponding vertices. We say that a vertex is *blank* if it does not belong to an edge. The following is a slight refinement of the definitions in reference [FN15]

#### Definition 3.1.1:

Let  $\Lambda \subset \Gamma$  be a collection of edges and associated vertices and by  $\Lambda^{c}$  the set by first removing form  $\Gamma$  all edges in  $\Lambda$  and then removing all blank vertices. For this, we write  $\Lambda^{c} = \Gamma \setminus \Lambda$ . The interior  $int(\Lambda^{c})$  of  $\Lambda^{c}$  is defined by the collection of edges and vertices in  $\Lambda^{c}$  obtained by removing all vertices from  $\Gamma$  that are contained in  $\Lambda$ . The boundary  $\partial \Lambda^{c}$  of  $\Lambda^{c}$  is then defined to be  $\partial \Lambda^{c} := \Gamma \setminus (\Lambda \cup int(\Lambda^{c}))$  and we set  $\partial \Lambda := \partial \Lambda^{c}$ .



Note that the definition of  $\partial \Lambda$  is symmetric under the exchange of  $\Lambda$  and  $int(\Lambda^c)$ . Furthermore  $\Lambda \cup int(\Lambda^c)$  is a proper subset of  $\Gamma$ . That is to say  $\partial \Lambda$  is the "gap" between  $\Lambda$  and the interior of  $\Lambda^c$ . We also have the following.

Lemma 3.1.2: Let  $\Lambda \subset \mathbb{Z}^2$  be a set of edges and associated vertices. We then have

 $(\operatorname{int}(\Lambda^{c}))^{c} = \Lambda \cup \partial \Lambda.$ 

*Proof.* Let  $\Lambda \subset \mathbb{Z}^2$  as in the premises. Let  $E_{\Lambda}$  and  $V_{\Lambda}$  be the set of edges and vertices in  $\Lambda$ , respectively, and  $\Lambda$  is completely determined by these sets. The set of edges of  $\Lambda^c$  is then

$$\mathsf{E}_{\Lambda^{\mathsf{c}}} = \{ e \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \, | \, e \notin \Lambda \},\$$

and the set of vertices in  $\Lambda^c$  is given by

$$V_{\Lambda^c} = \{ \nu \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \, | \, \exists e \in \mathsf{E}_{\Lambda^c} : \nu \in e \}.$$

Using the definition we get for the correspondent sets of  $int(\Lambda^c)$ ,

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{E}_{\mathrm{int}(\Lambda^{\mathfrak{c}})} &= \{ e \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \, | \, \partial_0 e \notin V_{\Lambda} \wedge \partial_1 e \notin \mathsf{E}_{\Lambda} \} \\ \mathsf{V}_{\mathrm{int}(\Lambda^{\mathfrak{c}})} &= \{ \nu \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \, | \, \nu \notin \mathsf{E}_{\Lambda} \}. \end{split}$$

Using these we can determine  $(int(\Lambda^c))^c$ :

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{E}_{(\mathrm{int}(\Lambda^{\mathrm{c}}))^{\mathrm{c}}} &= \{ e \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \, | \, e \notin \mathrm{int}(\Lambda^{\mathrm{c}}) \} \\ &= \{ e \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \, | \, \partial_0 e \in V_\Lambda \lor \partial_1 e \in V_\Lambda \}, \end{split}$$

and

$$V_{(\operatorname{int}(\Lambda^{c}))^{c}} = \{ \nu \in \mathbb{Z}^{2} \mid \exists e \in \mathsf{E}_{(\operatorname{int}(\Lambda^{c}))^{c}} : \nu \in e \}.$$

The boundary  $\partial \Lambda$  is then described by

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{E}_{\partial\Lambda} &= \{ e \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \mid e \notin \mathsf{E}_{\mathrm{int}(\Lambda^c)} \land e \notin \mathsf{E}_{\Lambda} \} \\ &= \{ e \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \mid (\partial_0 e \in \mathsf{V}_{\Lambda} \lor \partial_1 e \mathsf{V}_{\Lambda}) \land \neg (\partial_0 e \in \mathsf{V}_{\Lambda} \land \partial_1 e \in \mathsf{V}_{\Lambda}) \} \\ &= \{ e \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \mid \partial_0 e \in \mathsf{V}_{\Lambda} \dot{\lor} \partial_1 \mathsf{V}_{\Lambda} \} \end{split}$$

and the vertices are given by

$$V_{\partial\Lambda} = \{ \nu \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \, | \, \exists e \in \mathsf{E}_{\partial\Lambda} : \nu \in e \}.$$

Combining this, leads us to the following:

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{E}_{\partial\Lambda} \cup \mathsf{E}_{\Lambda} &= \{ e \in \mathbb{Z}^2 \,|\, \partial_0 e \in \mathsf{V}_{\Lambda} \lor \partial_1 e \in \mathsf{V}_{\Lambda} \} \\ &= \mathsf{E}_{(\mathrm{int}(\Lambda^c))^c}, \end{split}$$

and

$$V_{\partial\Lambda} \cup V_{\Lambda} = V_{(int(\Lambda^c))^c}.$$

The next step consists in specifying when a triangle and a ribbon belong to a set.

#### Definition 3.1.3:

Given a subset  $\Lambda \subset \Gamma$ , a triangle  $\tau \subset \Gamma$  and a ribbon  $\rho \subset \Gamma$ . We say that  $\tau$  belongs to or is contained in  $\Lambda$  if the edge of  $\tau$  is in  $\Lambda$ . Similarly we say  $\rho$  belongs to  $\Lambda$  if all triangles of  $\rho$  belong to  $\Lambda$ . If this is the case we write  $\tau \subset \Lambda$  and  $\rho \subset \Lambda$ .

As we saw in Lemma 2.6.2, excitations above the ground states are localised at sites and can be detected by star and plaquette operators. Therefore, in order to distinguish whether an excitation is contained inside an area or not, we have to specify when a site is, which is rather obvious. Less clear on the other hand is the specification of a site sitting at the boundary of an area. For our purposes and keeping in mind Lemma 2.7.4 we use the following notion.

#### Definition 3.1.4:

Let  $\Lambda \subset \Gamma$  be again a subset and let s = (v, f) be any site. Then s is considered to be contained in  $\Lambda$ , writing  $s \in \Lambda$ , whenever for any edge  $e \in \Gamma$  with  $\partial e = v$  it holds  $e \in \Lambda$ .

We say that s is contained in  $\partial \Lambda$ , writing  $s \in \partial \Lambda$  whenever  $s \notin \Lambda$  and there are edges  $e \in \Lambda$  and  $e' \in \Lambda^c$  which bound f or are contain v.

In other words  $s = (v, f) \in \Lambda$  if the star at v is contained in  $\Lambda$ , and  $s \in \partial \Lambda$  if the star or the plaquette has non-empty intersection with  $\Lambda$  and if  $s \notin \Lambda$  (c.f. Figure 3.1 (b)).

Note that the definition of  $s \in \partial \Lambda$  is in fact symmetric<sup>1</sup> under swapping the roles of  $\Lambda$  and  $int(\Lambda^c)$ . The reason is Lemma 3.1.2, namely the boundary of  $\Lambda$  is contained in  $(int(\Lambda^c))^c$ . To see this, note that  $int((int(\Lambda^c))^c) = \Lambda$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>This was overlooked in reference [FN15].



The boundary of int  $((int(\Lambda^c))^c)$  is then given by

$$\partial(\operatorname{int}(\Lambda^{c}))^{c} = \mathbb{Z}^{2} \setminus (\operatorname{int}(\Lambda^{c}) \cup \Lambda) = \partial \Lambda.$$

Note, however, that there might be sites that are contained in  $\partial\Lambda$  that have empty intersection with  $\Lambda^c$ 

Definition 3.1.4 allows us to distinguish stars and plaquettes that are contained in  $int(\Lambda^c)$  from those having non-trivial intersection with  $\Lambda$ . We will use this later on to move excitations that sit on the boundary of cones into the interior of the respective cone.

Lemma 3.1.5:

Let  $\Lambda \subset \Gamma$  be some subset and let  $s = (v, f) \in int(\Lambda^c)$  be some site. Then for all edges e ending at v or bounding f it holds  $e \in \Lambda^c$ .

*Proof.* Assume that there was an edge  $e \in \Lambda$  ending at v or bounding f. Then in case it ends in v we have  $s \notin int(\Lambda^c)$ . In case e bounds f but does not end in v we have that both  $\partial_0 e$ ,  $\partial_1 e \in \Lambda$ . But then there is at least one edge e' ending at v and one of  $\partial_0 e$ ,  $\partial_1 e$  and hence  $e' \in \partial \Lambda$ . But then  $s \notin int(\Lambda^c)$ .

Finally the straightforward definition of a ribbon  $\rho$  starting or ending at  $\partial \Lambda$  is given by requiring that the starting and ending sites  $\partial_{0/1}\rho$  are contained in  $\partial \Lambda$ . With this definition we have that a ribbon  $\rho \subset \Lambda^c$  with, say,  $\partial_0 \rho \in \partial \Lambda$ , is at most one triangle apart from  $\Lambda$  in the following sense. There is a ribbon  $\rho_0 \subset \Lambda^c$  with  $\partial_0 \rho_0 \in \partial \Lambda$  such that  $\rho_0 \rho$  is a ribbon and  $\rho_0$  is either a single triangle or a trivial ribbon. (Here we have again Lemma 2.7.4 in mind.). This situation is depicted in Figure 3.1 (a).

We now come to the definition of cones. For any subset  $\mathcal{O} \subset \Gamma$  and any point  $y \in \mathbb{Z}^2$  we denote by  $y + \mathcal{O}$  the subset in  $\Gamma$  obtained by translating all pairs of vertices corresponding to edges in  $\mathcal{O}$  by y.

Definition 3.1.6:

A subset  $\Lambda \subset \Gamma$  is called cone if it satisfies all of the following criteria.

- 1. For any finite subset  $\mathfrak{O} \subset \Gamma$  there is a point  $y \in \mathbb{Z}^2$  such that  $y + \mathfrak{O} \subset \Lambda$ .
- 2. For any pair of sites  $s_0, s_1 \in \Lambda$  there is a ribbon  $\rho \subset \Lambda$  with  $\vartheta_{0/1}\rho = s_{0/1}$ .
- 3. For any pair of sites  $s_0, s_1 \in \partial \Lambda$  there are ribbons  $\rho_0, \rho_1 \subset \Lambda^c$  and  $\rho \subset \Lambda$  such that  $\rho_0 \rho \rho_1$  is a ribbon, and for i = 0, 1 we have that  $\partial_i \rho_i = s_i$ , and  $\rho_i$  is a single triangle or trivial.
- 4. For any pair of sites  $s_0, s_1 \in \partial \Lambda$  there is a ribbon  $\rho \subset \Lambda^c$  such that  $\partial_i \rho = s_i$  with i = 0, 1.



Figure 3.1: In both pictures the grey shaded region  $\Lambda$  indicates a cone. (a): Dotted lines indicate sites, especially  $s_1 \in \Lambda$  and  $s_2 \in \partial \Lambda$ . The black lines highlight the edges belonging to the stars and plaquettes at  $s_1$  and  $s_2$ . The ribbon  $\rho$  connects a site at  $\Lambda$  with a site in  $\partial \Lambda$ . (b): Edges that are drawn black are either contained in  $\Lambda$  or  $int(\Lambda^c)$  The grey bonds form the boundary  $\partial \Lambda$ .

The first condition is of technical nature and plays a role when proving that the weak closures of cone algebras in the vacuum representation are type  $II_{\infty}$  or type III factors. We refer to the details to [Naa11, Theorem 5.2].

The second and the third condition express a kind of connectedness: Any pair of sites inside a cone  $\Lambda$  can be connected with a ribbon, and sites at the boundary can be connected by ribbons that are contained in  $\Lambda$  up to single triangles at the ends. Both of them do not prohibit  $\Lambda$  having holes inside, they just make sure that it is sufficiently connected in the aforementioned sense. The last condition ensures that that the complement  $\Lambda^c$  is properly connected so that there are no holes in  $\Lambda$ .

As a result we can choose whether we want to connect sites at the boundary of the cone by ribbons that run in the exterior or in the interior of the cone up to triangles at the endpoints of the ribbon. In particular for any ribbon  $\rho \subset \Lambda^c$  with  $\partial_i \rho \in \partial \Lambda, i = 0, 1$  there exist ribbons  $\rho_0, \rho_1 \subset \Gamma$  and  $\tilde{\rho} \subset \Lambda$  such that  $\rho_0 \tilde{\rho} \rho_1$  is a ribbon,  $\partial_0 \rho_0 = \partial_1 \rho$ ,  $\partial_1 \rho_1 = \partial_0 \rho$  and  $\rho_0, \rho_1$  are trivial ribbons or single triangles. Furthermore, by condition 1, any cone is an infinite set.

Examples of cones can be generated by those in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ : let  $l_1 \neq l_2$  be two semiinfinite lines in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  emanating from a common point in  $\mathbb{Z}^2$  and enclosing an angle smaller than  $\pi$ . Denote by  $\Lambda$  the set of edges that are contained in area enclosed by or have non-empty intersection with the two lines (see also Figure 3.1 (b)). It can be easily checked that  $\Lambda$  is a cone, and in the following, if not specified otherwise,  $\Lambda$  will be a cone.

#### 3.2 Preliminaries

In this section we lay out the necessary notions and structure we will use in the subsequent sections to proof Haag duality.

For the start consider a cone  $\Lambda \subset \Gamma$ , denote the associated cone algebra by  $\mathcal{A}(\Lambda)$ and by  $\mathcal{A}(\Lambda^c)$  the one of the complement (see equation (2.14)). Recall that the tuple  $(\pi_0, \Omega, \mathcal{H}_0)$  denotes the GNS representation of the translationally invariant ground state  $\omega_0$ . For any region  $\mathcal{O} \subset \Gamma$  we denote the weak closure of  $\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{O})$  by  $\mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{O}} := \pi_0(\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{O}))''$ . As sketched above we aim at finding a subspace  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda} \subset \mathcal{H}_0$  such that  $\Omega$  is cyclic for  $\mathcal{R}_{\Lambda}$ . Since  $\mathcal{A}$  is simple, we will identify operators  $A \in \mathcal{A}$  with their image under  $\pi_0$ .

Let  $\rho$  be a ribbon and let again  $\mathcal{F}_{\rho} := \{F_{\rho}^{h,g} \mid h,g \in G\}$  be the algebra linearly generated by all ribbon operators at  $\rho$ . Note that the inclusion  $\mathcal{F}_{\rho} \subseteq \bigotimes_{e \in \rho} \mathcal{A}_e$  is usually proper since  $\mathcal{F}_{\rho}$  can be viewed as the subset of elements of the right hand side singled out by the commutation relations given by Lemma 2.6.2 (c.f.[BM08, B.8]). For cones  $\Lambda$  we denote by  $\mathcal{F}_{\Lambda} := \bigcup_{\rho \subset \Lambda} \mathcal{F}_{\rho}$  the algebra of ribbon operators localised in  $\Lambda$ . Analogously we denote  $\mathcal{F}_{\Lambda^c}$  the algebra of ribbon operators localised in  $\Lambda^c$ .

The first observation is that products of operators in  $\mathcal{F}_{\Lambda}$  and  $\mathcal{F}_{\Lambda^c}$  generate a norm-dense subspace of  $\mathcal{H}_0$  when applied to  $\Omega$  (compare also [Naa12b]).

# Lemma 3.2.1: Given that $\Lambda \subset \Gamma$ is a cone we have with the notation from above:

$$\overline{\mathcal{F}_{\Lambda}\mathcal{F}_{\Lambda^{c}}\Omega}^{\|\cdot\|}=\mathcal{H}_{0}.$$

*Proof.* Single triangle operators are contained in  $\mathcal{F}_{\Lambda}$  and  $\mathcal{F}_{\Lambda^c}$ . Since they form a basis of the edge algebras, operators in  $\mathcal{A}_{loc}(\Lambda)$  and  $\mathcal{A}_{loc}(\Lambda^c)$  are contained in  $\mathcal{F}_{\Lambda}$  and  $\mathcal{F}_{\Lambda^c}$ , respectively. But those are norm-dense in  $\mathcal{A}(\Lambda)$  and  $\mathcal{A}(\Lambda^c)$ , respectively, and together with cyclicity of  $\Omega$  we arrive at the claim.

Next, we define the subspace  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}$  containing the excitations in the cone  $\Lambda$ .

#### Definition 3.2.2:

Let  $\Lambda \subset \Gamma$  be a cone. We set  $\mathfrak{H}_{\Lambda} := \overline{\mathfrak{F}_{\Lambda}\Omega}^{\|\cdot\|} \subset \mathfrak{H}_{0}$  and write  $P_{\Lambda}$  for the projection onto  $\mathfrak{H}_{\Lambda}$ .

This subspace turns out to be left invariant by observables localised in the cone. Furthermore such observables are completely determined by their restriction to this space. The proof of this is the same as in [Naa12b, Lemma 3.5] and we won't repeat it here.

#### Lemma 3.2.3:

For any cone  $\Lambda \subset \Gamma$  the subspace  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda} \subset \mathcal{H}_{0}$  is invariant under  $\mathcal{A}(\Lambda)$ , i.e.  $\mathcal{A}(\Lambda)\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda} \subset \mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}$ . Furthermore any element  $\Lambda \in \mathcal{R}_{\Lambda}$  is completely determined by its restriction to  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}$ .

As a consequence we have that  $P_{\Lambda} \in \mathcal{R}'_{\Lambda}$ . One basic observation in the proof is that  $\mathcal{F}_{\Lambda}$  is dense in  $\mathcal{A}(\Lambda)$  in the uniform topology.

# 3.3 Three Lemmas

In the following we prove three Lemmas that are essential in gaining a better understanding of the Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}$ . Essentially we show that a similar but less obvious statement as in Lemma 3.2.3 holds true for operators commuting with those localised in  $\Lambda^c$ . I.e. we show that observables in the commutant of  $\mathcal{A}(\Lambda^c)$ leave  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}$  invariant. The main idea is to show that we can characterise  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}^{\perp}$  by certain ribbon operators in  $\mathcal{F}_{\Lambda^c}$  namely those which create non-trivial excitations in  $\operatorname{int}(\Lambda^c)$ . In order to do so we are essentially relying on the properties of ribbon operators discussed in Chapter 2.

The basic idea is the same as that of the proof of [Naa12b, Lemma 3.6]: We can characterize vectors of the form  $F_1 \cdots F_n \Omega$  to lie either in  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}$  or in  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}^{\perp}$  where  $F_1, \ldots, F_n \in \mathcal{A}$  are ribbon operators. Namely if  $F_1 \cdots F_n \Omega$  contains non-trivial excitations in  $int(\Lambda^c)$  then belongs to  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}^{\perp}$ . If there are no excitations in  $int(\Lambda^c)$  contained in this vector, it belongs to  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}$ . The next two lemmas show this in a stronger sense, namely that the orthogonal relation in the first case holds even if we apply any operator from  $\mathcal{A}(\Lambda^c)'$  to the vector.



The idea is to detect excitations with star and plaquette operators acting on the ending sites of the corresponding ribbons. For this recall the definition of the projections  $D_s^{\chi,c}$  in Definition 2.5.1 acting at a site s. To say that there is a charge in  $int(\Lambda^c)$ , which is created by some ribbon operator, amounts to seeing that there is some site  $s \in int(\Lambda^c)$ , such that  $D_s^{id,e}$  does not commute with this operator. Note that this follows from Lemma 2.6.6.

The first lemma shows that if a vector in  $\mathcal{H}$  contains only excitations in the *interior* of the complement of the cone  $\Lambda$ , then it is actually contained in  $\mathcal{H}^{\perp}_{\Lambda}$ .

# Lemma 3.3.1:

Let  $\hat{F} := \hat{F}_1 \cdots \hat{F}_n \in \mathcal{F}_{\Lambda^c}$  be a product of ribbon operators associated to ribbons in  $\Lambda^c$ . Then the following holds:

$$\left( \exists s \in \operatorname{int}(\Lambda^{c}) : [A_{s}, \hat{F}] \neq 0 \lor [B_{s}, \hat{F}] \neq 0 \right)$$

$$\Longrightarrow \left( (\forall F, C \in \mathcal{F}_{\Lambda}) (\forall X \in \mathcal{A}(\Lambda^{c})') : (\hat{F}F\Omega, XC\Omega) = 0 \right).$$

$$(3.1)$$

*Especially the left hand side implies*  $\widehat{\mathsf{F}}\Omega \in \mathcal{H}^{\perp}_{\Lambda}$ .

*Proof.* First note that because of Lemma 3.1.5  $s \in int(\Lambda^c)$ , implies  $A_s, B_s \in \mathcal{F}_{\Lambda^c}$ . The proof works by repeated use of the lemmas of the discussion in Section 2.6.

It is sufficient to work with ribbon operators labelled by irreducible representations of  $\mathcal{D}(G)$  as defined in Lemma 2.6.3. Consider arbitrary such ribbon operators  $\hat{F}_1, \ldots, \hat{F}_n \in \mathcal{F}_{\Lambda^c}$  and let  $C, F \in \mathcal{F}_{\Lambda}$  be some operators. By definition of  $\mathcal{F}_{\Lambda}$  the operators C and F are sums of products of ribbon operators localised in  $\Lambda$ . For convenience we set  $\eta := \hat{F}_1 \cdots \hat{F}_n F\Omega \in \mathcal{F}_{\Lambda^c} \mathcal{F}_{\Lambda}\Omega$  and  $\zeta := C\Omega \in \mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}$ .

Now for the proof of implication (3.1), namely, that if there are excitations in  $\eta$  created by  $\hat{F}_1, \ldots, \hat{F}_n \in \mathcal{F}_{\Lambda^c}$  then  $\eta$  is orthogonal to  $X\zeta$  for all  $C, F \in \mathcal{F}_{\Lambda}$  and all  $X \in \mathcal{A}(\Lambda^c)'$ .

Assume there exists a site  $s \in int(\Lambda^c)$  whose star operator  $A_s$  does not commute with  $\hat{F}_1 \cdots \hat{F}_n$ . Then, by equation (2.8) and locality, we have

$$\begin{aligned} (\eta, X\zeta) &= \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{k \in G} (\hat{F}_1 \cdots \hat{F}_n F A_s^k \Omega, X\zeta) \\ &= \frac{1}{|G|} \sum_{k \in G} \hat{\chi}_1(k) \cdots \hat{\chi}_n(k)(\eta, X\zeta) \end{aligned}$$

where  $\hat{\chi}_j(k)$  either coincides with the corresponding term of the non-trivial representation of  $\hat{F}_j$  if it doesn't commute with  $A_s$ , or  $\hat{\chi}_j(k) = 1$ . Since for abelian groups

the tensor product of irreducible representations is again irreducible (they are all 1-dimensional), the right hand side equals 0 since the appearing product representation is non-trivial. If the product representation was trivial then  $[A_s, \hat{F}_1 \cdots \hat{F}_n] = 0$  and hence would contradict the assumptions (see Lemma 2.6.7). Thus we arrive at  $(\eta, X\zeta) = 0$ .

Assume that there is a site  $s \in int(\Lambda^c)$  such that the associated plaquette operator  $B_s$  does not commute with  $\hat{F}_1 \cdots \hat{F}_n$ . Then there is at least one  $j \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$  with  $[B_s, \hat{F}^{\chi, c}_{\rho_j}] \neq 0$  implying  $c \neq e$  due to the commutation relations, see Lemma 2.6.7. More general there is a  $k \in G$  with  $k \neq e$  such that

$$\hat{F}_1 \cdots \hat{F}_n B_s = B_s^k \hat{F}_1 \cdots \hat{F}_n$$

giving

$$(\eta, X\zeta) = (B_s^k \widehat{F}_1 \cdots \widehat{F}_n C\Omega, \zeta) = (\eta, XFB_s^k \Omega) = 0.$$

We complement the previous lemma with the following, where we show that, if a vector in  $\mathcal{H}$  contains no excitations in the interior of the complement  $\Lambda^c$  of the cone  $\Lambda$ , then this vector belongs to  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}$ .

#### Lemma 3.3.2:

Let  $\hat{F} := \hat{F}_1 \cdots \hat{F}_n \in \mathcal{F}_{\Lambda^c}$  be a product of ribbon operators associated to ribbons in  $\Lambda^c$ . Then the following holds:

$$\left(\forall s \in \operatorname{int}(\Lambda^{c}) : [A_{s}, \hat{F}] = 0 \land [B_{s}, \hat{F}] = 0\right) \implies \hat{F}\Omega \in \mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}$$
(3.2)

*Proof.* Again, as in the previous proof, it is sufficient to work with ribbon operators labelled by irreducible representations of  $\mathcal{D}(G)$ . First some remarks about some general simplifications we are allowed to make. In case two ribbons  $\rho$ ,  $\sigma$  have the same starting and ending sites then, by Corollary 2.8.2, one of them can be deformed into the other, giving

$$\hat{\mathsf{F}}_{o}^{\chi,c}\hat{\mathsf{F}}_{\sigma}^{\tau,d}\Omega = \hat{\mathsf{F}}_{o}^{\chi\tau,cd}\Omega.$$
(3.3)

We always can assume that there are non-trivial and non-closed ribbons in the product  $\hat{F}_1 \cdots \hat{F}_n$ . If ribbon operators associated to closed ribbons appeared then we simply could commute them past the other operators in C to  $\Omega$  where they leave  $\Omega$  invariant. This can be seen by noting that if  $\rho$  is a closed ribbon and

 $\rho = \rho_1 \rho_2$  is a partition into ribbons then by Corollary 2.8.3 and Corollary 2.8.2 we have  $\hat{F}^{X,c}_{\rho_1}\Omega = \hat{F}^{X,c}_{\rho_1}\hat{F}^{\overline{X},\overline{c}}_{\overline{\rho}_2}\Omega = \Omega$ . Here  $\overline{\rho}_2$  is an inversion of  $\rho_2$  which, by construction, starts and ends at the same sites as  $\rho_1$ . Due to the commutation relations of ribbons, see the discussion in Section 2.6, we may pick up some phase factors which will not be important here.

In case that there are two ribbon operators  $\hat{F}_1$ ,  $\hat{F}_2$  associated to open ribbons  $\rho_1$ ,  $\rho_2$  such that  $\rho_1\rho_2$  is a closed ribbon we can write them as a product of a ribbon operator of a closed ribbon and an operator associated to an open ribbon. To see this we move  $\hat{F}_1$  and  $\hat{F}_2$  to each other using the commutation relations of ribbons. Then we use Lemma 2.7.2 to find

$$\hat{F}_{\rho_{1}}^{\chi,c}\hat{F}_{\rho_{2}}^{\xi,d} = \hat{F}_{\rho_{1}}^{\chi,c}\hat{F}_{\rho_{1}}^{\overline{\xi},d}\hat{F}_{\rho_{1}}^{\xi,d}\hat{F}_{\rho_{2}}^{\xi,d} = \hat{F}_{\rho_{1}}^{\chi\overline{\xi},c\overline{d}}\hat{F}_{\rho_{1}\rho_{2}}^{\xi,d}.$$
(3.4)

By the same lemma we can always assume that ribbons just appear at most once in each product.

Now we turn to the claim of the lemma, equation (3.2). We are performing an induction over the number of ribbon operators in  $\hat{F}_1 \cdots \hat{F}_n$ , i.e. over the number of ribbon operators outside  $\Lambda$ . Let's start with n = 1 and let  $\hat{F}_1 \in \mathcal{F}_{\Lambda^c}$  be a ribbon operator. Then we have that the ribbon  $\rho \subset \Lambda^c$ , which  $\hat{F}_1$  is associated to, is either of one of the following forms: It connects two sites in  $\partial \Lambda$  or at least one ending site of  $\rho$  is contained in  $int(\Lambda^c)$ .

Consider the case that  $\rho$  connects two sites in  $\partial \Lambda$ . Taking a look at Definition 3.1.4 we see that there are at most two triangles  $\tau, \tilde{\tau} \subset \Lambda^c$  such that  $\tau \rho \tilde{\tau} \subset \Lambda^c$  is a ribbon. By assumption and Lemma 2.7.4 we have that  $\hat{F}_1 \Omega = \hat{F}_{\tau \rho \tilde{\tau}} \Omega$ . But then we can invoke Corollary 2.8.3 and Corollary 2.8.2 to obtain a ribbon  $\bar{\rho} \subset \Lambda$  with  $\hat{F}_{\tau \rho \tilde{\tau}} \Omega = \hat{F}_{\bar{\rho}} \Omega$  and  $\hat{F}_{\bar{\rho}} \in \mathcal{A}(\Lambda)$ . In case that  $\rho$  has at least one ending site contained in  $\operatorname{int}(\Lambda^c)$  Lemma 2.6.7 (or an analogue calculation with Lemma 2.6.2) implies that  $\hat{F}_1 = \mathbb{1}$ . Hence in either case the vector is contained in  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}$ .

Now let n > 1 be arbitrary but fixed and assume that equation (3.2) holds for all  $\hat{F}_1, \ldots, \hat{F}_{n-1} \in \mathcal{A}(\Lambda^c)$ . Let therefore  $\hat{F}_1, \ldots, \hat{F}_n \in \mathcal{A}(\Lambda^c)$  be ribbon operators associated to ribbons in  $\Lambda^c$  and set  $\eta := \hat{F}_1 \cdots \hat{F}_n \Omega$ . The remainder of the proof can be subdivided into different cases corresponding to the different configurations ribbons. We will relate some of them to each other and proof the remaining cases. The two main cases are the following: Firstly, there could be  $k \leq n$  ribbons that start and end at  $\partial \Lambda$ . Secondly, there could be several ribbons having at least one end in  $int(\Lambda^c)$ . See also Figure 3.2.



Figure 3.2: The two main cases in Lemma 3.3.2 depicted in one image: On the left hand side of the cone  $\Lambda$  is the case where only ribbons occur that connect sites of  $\partial \Lambda$  whith each other. On the right hand side is the case with ribbons having ending sites in  $\partial \Lambda$ .

The first main case can be handled as follows. Assume that there is a ribbon that connects two sites at  $\partial \Lambda$ , say  $\rho_k$ ,  $1 \leq k \leq n$ . Then we can commute the associated ribbon operator  $\hat{F}_k$  in  $\eta$  to the right in front of  $\Omega$  thereby possibly obtaining a phase factor due to Lemma 2.7.2. But then, by using the argument from above, we can replace  $\hat{F}_k$  with some operator  $F_k \in \mathcal{A}(\Lambda)$  leaving a product of n - 1 operators in  $\mathcal{A}(\Lambda^c)$  in front of  $F_k\Omega$ .

The second main case is a bit more involved. Consider that there is no such ribbon as in the first main case. If there is a ribbon  $\rho$  having at least one ending site inside  $int(\Lambda^c)$  the following scenarios are possible. Firstly, one ending site of  $\rho$  which is contained in  $int(\Lambda^c)$  does not coincide with an ending site of another ribbon occurring in  $\eta$ . Secondly,  $\rho$  connects a site on  $\partial\Lambda$  with a site in  $int(\Lambda^c)$  at which  $k \ge 1$  other ribbons start or end.

In the first case we find, by Lemma 2.6.7, that the associated ribbon operator  $\hat{F}_{\rho}$  must be the identity operator. This reduces the product  $\hat{F}_1 \cdots \hat{F}_n \subset \mathcal{A}(\Lambda^c)$  in  $\eta$  to a product of n - 1 ribbon operators in  $\mathcal{A}(\Lambda^c)$ .

In the second case we can assume that every of these k ribbons connects to  $\partial \Lambda$ , since otherwise, we can just pick one of them that doesn't and use the previous procedure to remove it. Remember that we don't have to consider closed ribbons any more as well as open ribbons forming a closed loop. Now consider the ribbon operator  $\hat{F}_{\rho}$  associated to  $\rho$ . We can safely assume that  $\partial_1 \rho$  is the site of interest. The other case can be treated in complete analogy. If there is a ribbon  $\rho_1$  with  $\partial_0 \rho_1 = \partial_1 \rho$  then we first can deform  $\rho$  into a ribbon  $\tilde{\rho}$  such that  $\tilde{\rho}\rho_1$  is a ribbon. On the level of ribbon operators this means first commuting the associated ribbon

operator  $\hat{F}_{\rho}$  in  $\eta$  to the right in front of  $\Omega$  and then using Corollary 2.8.2 to replace it with an operator  $\hat{F}_{\rho}$ . After that we use the commutation relations of ribbon operators again to move  $\hat{F}_{\rho_1}$  to  $\hat{F}_{\rho}$ . We then can invoke equation (3.4) to obtain

$$\hat{F}^{\chi,c}_{\tilde{\rho}}\hat{F}^{\xi,d}_{\rho_1} = \hat{F}^{\chi\overline{\xi},c\overline{d}}_{\tilde{\rho}}F^{\xi,d}_{\tilde{\rho}\rho_1}.$$

The ribbon  $\tilde{\rho}\rho_1$  connects two sites at  $\partial\Lambda$  and we can use a previous argument to replace  $\hat{F}_{\tilde{\rho}\rho_1}$  in  $\eta$  by a ribbon operator in  $\mathcal{A}(\Lambda)$ .

If there is no ribbon  $\rho_1$  with  $\partial_0 \rho_1 = \partial_1 \rho$  we pick one ribbon  $\rho_1$  and apply Corollary 2.8.3 to replace it with a ribbon operator associated to a ribbon  $\bar{\rho}_1$  with  $\partial_0 \bar{\rho}_1 = \partial_1 \rho$ . But then we can proceed as before. Note that we also could have applied Lemma 2.7.3 instead to conclude the same for the second case.

By induction we now can conclude that for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and any product of ribbon operators  $\hat{F}_1, \dots, \hat{F}_n \in \mathcal{A}(\Lambda^c)$  the relation in equation (3.2) holds true.  $\Box$ 

We can now combine the previous lemmas to show that operators commuting with all operators from  $\mathcal{A}(\Lambda^c)$  leave the Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}$  invariant. This can be understood as such operators do not create excitations contained in  $\Lambda^c$  if acting on the ground state.

Lemma 3.3.3:

For any cone  $\Lambda \subset \Gamma$  it holds  $\mathcal{A}(\Lambda^c)' \mathcal{H}_{\Lambda} \subset \mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}$ , hence  $P_{\Lambda} \in \mathcal{R}_{\Lambda^c}$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\hat{F} := \hat{F}_1 \cdots \hat{F}_n$  be a product of ribbon operators  $\hat{F}_1, \ldots, \hat{F}_n \in \mathcal{F}_{\Lambda^c}$ . Furthermore let  $F, C \in \mathcal{F}_\Lambda$  and  $X \in \mathcal{A}(\Lambda^c)'$  be any, non-zero, operators. For convenience set  $\eta := \hat{F}F\Omega$  and  $\xi := C\Omega$ . Recall the definition of  $D_s$  in equation (2.12).

By Lemma 3.3.1 we have that if  $(\eta, X\xi) \neq 0$  holds for all  $F, C \in \mathcal{F}_{\Lambda}$  and  $X \in \mathcal{A}(\Lambda^c)'$  then for any  $s \in \operatorname{int}(\Lambda^c)$  the operator  $\widehat{F}$  commutes with  $D_s$ , i.e.  $[F, D_s] = 0$ . Now by Lemma 3.3.2 this implies  $\eta \in \mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}$ . To see this note that

$$\widehat{F}\Omega\in\mathfrak{H}_{\Lambda}\iff\left(\forall F\in\mathfrak{F}_{\Lambda}:\widehat{F}F\Omega\in\mathfrak{H}_{\Lambda}\right)$$

since  $\hat{F}F = F\hat{F}$  and  $\mathcal{F}_{\Lambda}\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda} \subseteq \mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}$ . The other direction of this equivalence can be seen by assuming that the right hand side was true while the left hand was not which immediately leads to a contradiction since  $\mathbb{1} \in \mathcal{F}_{\Lambda}$ . Summarizing this we obtain

$$(\eta, X\xi) \neq 0 \implies \eta \in \mathcal{H}_{\Lambda} \tag{3.5}$$

for all  $\eta = \hat{F}F\Omega$ ,  $\xi = C\Omega$  and  $\hat{F}$ , F, C, X as above.

By definition  $\mathcal{F}_{\Lambda^c}$  contains all matrix units of the edge algebras  $\mathcal{A}_e$  for  $e \in \Lambda^c$  since the former are products of triangle operators. Hence products of ribbon operators  $\hat{F}_1, \ldots, \hat{F}_n$  form a generating system of  $\mathcal{F}_{\Lambda^c}$ . Thus, by Lemma 3.2.1, the linear span of the set

$$\{\hat{F}_1 \cdots \hat{F}_n F\Omega | \hat{F}_1, \dots \hat{F}_n \in \mathcal{F}_{\Lambda^c} \text{ ribbon operators }, F \in \mathcal{F}_{\Lambda}, n \in \mathbb{N}\}$$

is a dense subspace of  $\mathcal{H}$ . From this we conclude that equation (3.5) holds for any  $\eta \in \mathcal{H}$  and  $\xi \in \mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}$ . Therefore

$$(\forall \psi \in \mathcal{H}) : \psi \in \mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}^{\perp} \implies ((\forall \phi \in \mathcal{H}_{\Lambda})(\forall X \in \mathcal{A}(\Lambda^{c})') : (\psi, X\phi) = 0)$$

and we arrive at  $\mathcal{A}(\Lambda^{c})'\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda} \perp \mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}^{\perp}$ .

# 3.4 The Reduced Commutation Problem

As the next step we want to consider the restrictions of the von Neumann algebras  $\mathcal{R}_{\Lambda}$  and  $\mathcal{R}_{\Lambda^c}$  to  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}$ . By [Tak79, Proposition II.3.10] both restrictions are again von Neumann algebras.

#### Definition 3.4.1:

For any cone  $\Lambda \subset \Gamma$  we write  $\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda} := \mathsf{P}_{\Lambda} \mathfrak{R}_{\Lambda} \mathsf{P}_{\Lambda} \upharpoonright_{\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}}$  and  $\mathfrak{B}_{\Lambda} = \mathsf{P}_{\Lambda} \mathfrak{R}_{\Lambda^{c}} \mathsf{P}_{\Lambda} \upharpoonright_{\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}}$  as subalgebras of  $\mathfrak{B}(\mathfrak{H}_{\Lambda})$ .

By using similar techniques as in the proof of the lemmas 3.3.1 and 3.3.2 we show that elements of the form  $A_s+iB_s$  with  $A_s \in A_s$  and  $B_s \in \mathcal{B}_s$  already generate  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}$  when applied to the ground state vector  $\Omega$ . Here  $\mathcal{A}_s$  is the self-adjoint part of  $\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}$ , and similarly for  $\mathcal{B}_s$ .

#### Lemma 3.4.2:

Let  $A_s$  be the self-adjoint part of  $A_{\Lambda}$  and  $B_s$  that of  $B_{\Lambda}$ . Then the space  $A_s\Omega + iB_s\Omega$  is dense in  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}$ .

*Proof.* First note that since both  $\mathcal{A}_s$  and  $\mathcal{B}_s$  are real vector spaces it suffices to show that FΩ and iFΩ are contained in  $\mathcal{A}_s\Omega + i\mathcal{B}_s\Omega$  for operators  $F \in \mathcal{F}_\Lambda$ . In order to do so we first show this to hold if F is a finite product of ribbon operators in  $\mathcal{F}_\Lambda$  and then conclude for general operators  $F \in \mathcal{F}_\Lambda$  by a density argument. The structure of the vector space  $\mathcal{H}_\Lambda$  that we elaborated on earlier in Lemma 3.2.1 and in the proofs of Lemma 3.3.1 and 3.3.2 is essential for this proof. This is to say that finite products of ribbon operators in  $\mathcal{F}_\Lambda$  applied to the vacuum vector Ω sufficiently

describe  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}$  and certain ribbon operators in  $\mathcal{F}_{\Lambda^c}$  map  $\Omega$  to vectors in  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}$  and can be expressed as the images of  $\Omega$  of certain elements of  $\mathcal{F}_{\Lambda}$ .

Throughout the proof we consider ribbon operators labelled by irreducible representations of the quantum double model  $\mathcal{D}(G)$ . We can assume that these labels are nontrivial, for they were trivial we just obtained the identity operator. Again we will use the charge projections  $D_s^{\chi,c}$  introduced in equation (2.12) which project onto the excitation given by  $(\chi, c)$  at site s. In particular, recall that we have  $D_s = D_s^{id,e} = A_s B_s$ .

Now let  $F_1, \ldots, F_n \in \mathcal{F}_\Lambda$  be ribbon operators with n > 0 and set  $F := F_1 \cdots F_n$ . The idea is to construct self-adjoint elements of  $\mathcal{A}_s$  and  $\mathcal{B}_s$  by taking linear combinations of products of projections  $A_s, B_s$  and products of ribbon operators in  $\mathcal{F}_\Lambda$  and  $\mathcal{F}_{\Lambda^c}$ . These self-adjoint operators are chosen in such a way that they map the state vector to the same vector as F. Again, as in previous proofs, we will work with an induction over the number of ribbon operators in F. With the same argument as in the proof of Lemma 3.3.2 we can assume that there are no ribbon operators associated to closed ribbons or trivial ribbons in F.

Let n = 1 and let  $\rho$  denote the corresponding ribbon. In case that both the star and the plaquette at least one of the ending sites of  $\rho$ , denoted by *s*, are contained in  $\Lambda$  we set

 $\tilde{F} := FD_s + D_sF^*$  and  $\hat{F} := i(FD_s - D_sF^*).$ 

Obviously these operators are selfadjoint hence contained in  $A_s$  and it can easily be checked that  $\tilde{F}\Omega = F\Omega$  and  $\hat{F}\Omega = iF\Omega$ . Therefore  $F\Omega$  and  $iF\Omega$  belong to  $A_s\Omega$ .

Assume that at both ends of  $\rho$  are contained in  $\Lambda$  but the plaquettes at both sites are not contained in  $\Lambda$ . Then the stars are still contained in  $\Lambda$ , by definition (c.f. Definition 3.1.4 and the discussion after) and the star operators are elements of  $A_s$ . In case  $[F, A_s] \neq 0$ , with  $s = \partial_0 \rho$  or  $s = \partial_1 \rho$ , it suffices to take

 $\tilde{F} := FA_s + A_sF^*$  and  $\hat{F} := i(FA_s - A_sF^*),$ 

since then  $\tilde{F}\Omega = F\Omega + \delta_{\chi,id}\Omega = F\Omega$  an analogously  $\hat{F}\Omega = iF\Omega$  where  $\chi$  is part of the label of F. These operators are selfadjoint and  $\tilde{F}, \hat{F} \in A_s$  hence  $F\Omega, iF\Omega \in A_s\Omega$ .

If, however,  $[F, A_s] = 0$  we can use Lemma 2.7.4 to extend  $\rho$  with triangles  $\tau, \tilde{\tau}$  such that  $\tilde{\rho} := \tau \rho \tilde{\tau}$  is a ribbon, and  $\partial_0 \tilde{\rho}, \partial_1 \tilde{\rho} \in \partial \Lambda$ . Furthermore we then have  $F_{\tilde{\rho}}\Omega = F\Omega$ . But now we can invoke Corollary 2.8.3 and Corollary 2.8.2 to find a

ribbon  $\overline{\rho} \subset \Lambda^c$  such that  $F\Omega = F^*_{\overline{\rho}}\Omega$ , and we set

$$\tilde{F} := \frac{1}{2}(F + F^*) + i\left(\frac{i}{2}(F_{\overline{\rho}} - F_{\overline{\rho}}^*)\right)$$

and it can easily be checked that the "real part" of  $\tilde{F}$  is an element of  $A_s$  and the "imaginary part" one of  $\mathcal{B}_s$ , hence  $\tilde{F} \in A_s + i\mathcal{B}_s$ . By construction  $F\Omega = \tilde{F}\Omega \in A_s\Omega + i\mathcal{B}_s\Omega$ . Similarly

$$\widehat{F} := \frac{i}{2}(F - F^*) + \frac{i}{2}(F_{\overline{\rho}} + F^*_{\overline{\rho}})$$

and  $iF\Omega = \widehat{F}\Omega \in \mathcal{A}_s\Omega + i\mathcal{B}_\Omega$ .

We now proceed by induction. Let n > 0 be arbitrary but fixed and assume that the assertion holds for all  $F_1, \ldots, F_{n-1} \in \mathcal{F}_{\Lambda}$ . Let  $F_1, \ldots, F_n \in \mathcal{F}_{\Lambda}$  be any non-trivial ribbon operators. If one of them was trivial then we could remove it and obtained n - 1 factors. Again we have different cases to treat. First of all we handle the case where we can remove or combine ribbon operators leaving us with n - 1 factors in the product. More precisely, consider that there are two ribbon operators associated to ribbons  $\rho_i, \rho_k$  with  $1 \leq i, k \leq n$  such that they start and end at the same site. Then either  $\partial_i \rho_i = \partial_i \rho_k$ , j = 0, 1 or  $\rho_i \rho_k$  is a closed ribbon. In either case in the product  $F_1 \cdots F_n$  we can bring  $F_i$  and  $F_k$  to the right by using the commutation relations of ribbon operators. Then we can use equation (3.3) and Lemma 2.7.2 to replace  $F_iF_i$  in front of  $\Omega$  with a single ribbon operator. If  $\rho_i\rho_k$  is closed then we have  $F_i^{\chi,c}F_j^{\xi,d}\Omega = F_{\rho_i}^{\chi\overline{\xi},c\overline{d}}\Omega$ . In case  $\partial_j\rho_i = \partial_j\rho_k, j = 0, 1$  we have  $F_i^{\chi,c}F_i^{\xi,d}\Omega = F_i^{\chi\xi,cd}\Omega$ . Again  $(\chi,c)$  and  $(\xi,d)$  are irreducible representations of  $\mathcal{D}(G)$ . That is, in both cases we end up with a product of n-1 ribbon operators in front of  $\Omega$ . This allows us to assume in the rest of the proof that in  $F_1 \cdots F_n$  each ribbon involved there is appearing exactly once.

The rest of the proof can be divided into three main cases. Let again  $F_1 \cdots F_n$  be the product of non-trivial ribbon operators in  $\mathcal{F}_{\Lambda}$ . Assume that there are no such ribbons as in the previous case. Then there are three possibilities: (I) either there exists a ribbon  $\rho$  involved in the product such that  $D_{\partial_i \rho} \in \mathcal{F}_{\Lambda}$  for at least one i = 0, 1, or (II) all ribbons end at  $\partial \Lambda$ , or (III) neither of both, i.e. for any ribbon involved in  $F_1 \cdots F_n$  it holds that  $\partial_i \rho \notin \partial \Lambda$  and  $D_{\partial_i \rho} \notin \mathcal{F}_{\Lambda}$  for both i = 1, 2.

Consider case (I), namely that  $D_{\partial_i \rho} \in \mathcal{F}_{\Lambda}$  for i = 0 or i = 1 for at least one ribbon involved in  $F_1 \cdots F_n$ . We set  $s := \partial_0 \rho$  and without loss of generality we can assume that  $F_{\rho} = F_n$  and i = 0. If the ribbon operator was not  $F_n$  we could use the commutation relations of ribbon operators to move this operator to the last place
in the product. We can divide the treatment of this case into two different cases. The first case is that there is a site  $s \in \Lambda$  such that  $[F_1 \cdots F_n, D_s] \neq 0$ . In the other case we have that for all sites  $s' \in \Lambda$  with  $D_{s'} \in \mathcal{F}_{\Lambda}$  it holds  $[F_1 \cdots F_n, D_{s'}] = 0$ .

Now for the first subcase of case (I). If there is a site  $s\in\Lambda$  with  $[F_1\cdots F_n,D_s]\neq 0$  we can set

$$\tilde{F} \coloneqq F_1 \cdots F_n D_s + D_s F_1^* \cdots F_n^* \quad \text{ and } \quad \hat{F} \coloneqq iF_1 \cdots F_n D_s - iD_s F_1^* \cdots F_n^*.$$

Then  $\tilde{F}, \hat{F} \in \mathcal{A}_s$  and it holds  $F_1 \cdots F_n \Omega = \tilde{F}\Omega$  and similarly  $iF_1 \cdots F_n \Omega = \hat{F}\Omega$ .

The case that for all sites  $s' \in \Lambda$  with  $D_{s'} \in \mathcal{F}_{\Lambda}$  it holds  $[F_1 \cdots F_n, D_{s'}] = 0$  can be treated as follows. Since we assumed that there is at least one ribbon  $\rho$  involved in the product, the corresponding ribbon operator is either trivial, by Lemma 2.6.7, or there is at least one additional ribbon ending or starting at one of the endpoints of  $\rho$ . We excluded the first case by assumption so we have to treat the second one. Therefore consider the situation where there are k ribbons  $\rho_{n-k}, \ldots, \rho_n$  in  $F_1 \cdots F_n$ ending at s. By Lemma 2.6.7 the condition that the operators commute with the charge projector is equivalent to  $\chi_{n-k} \cdots \chi_n = \text{id}$  and  $c_{n-k} \cdots c_n = e$ , where  $\chi_i$ are irreducible representations of G and  $c_i \in G$  with  $i = n - k, \ldots, n$ . But by Lemma 2.7.3 we have that there are ribbons  $\sigma_{n-k}, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1}$  such that they do not cross the site s, a ribbon  $\gamma$  having s as an ending site, irreducible representations  $\xi_{n-k}, \ldots, \xi_{n-1}$  of G and elements  $d_{n-k}, \ldots, d_{n-1} \in G$  such that

$$F\Omega = zF_{\rho_1}^{\chi_1,c_1}\cdots F_{\rho_{n-k-1}}^{\chi_{n-k-1},c_{n-k-1}}F_{\sigma_{n-k}}^{\xi_{n-k},d_{n-k}}\cdots F_{\sigma_{n-1}}^{\xi_{n-1},d_{n-1}}F_{\gamma}^{\chi,c}\Omega$$

where  $z \in \mathbb{C}$ , |z| = 1,  $\chi = \chi_{n-k} \cdots \chi_n$ ,  $c = c_{n-k} \cdots c_n$ , and  $F = F_{\rho_1}^{\chi_1, c_1} \cdots F_{\rho_n}^{\chi_n, c_n}$ . The commutation relation with the charge projection now tells us that  $\xi = id$  and c = e, hence  $F_{\gamma}^{\chi, c} = 1$ . This gives an expression with n - 1 ribbon operators acting on  $\Omega$  and we are done for this case.

Let's turn case (II), where in the product  $F_1 \cdots F_n \in \mathcal{F}_\Lambda$  there are only ribbons  $\rho_i, i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$  involved whose ending sites are contained in  $\partial \Lambda$ . By definition, c.f. Definition 3.1.4, it holds for all  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$  that  $D_{\partial_k \rho_i} \neq \mathcal{F}_\Lambda, k = 0, 1$  so we cannot treat this in the manner as the first main case. In the proof of Lemma 3.3.2 we used that we can replace ribbon operators associated to ribbons, which are contained in  $\Lambda^c$  and which connect sites on  $\partial \Lambda$ , to ribbon operators of ribbons which are contained in  $\Lambda$  and which connect the same sites, without changing the image of  $\Omega$  under these operators. Of course, this works the other way round, too.

So choosing

$$\tilde{\mathsf{F}} := \frac{1}{2} \left( \mathsf{F}_{\rho_1} \cdots \mathsf{F}_{\rho_n} + \mathsf{F}^*_{\rho_n} \cdots \mathsf{F}^*_{\rho_1} \right) + \mathfrak{i} \left( \frac{\mathfrak{i}}{2} (\mathsf{F}_{\tilde{\rho}_1} \cdots \mathsf{F}_{\tilde{\rho}_n} - \mathsf{F}^*_{\tilde{\rho}_n} \cdots \mathsf{F}^*_{\tilde{\rho}_1}) \right)$$
(3.6)

and

$$\widehat{F} := \frac{i}{2} \left( F_{\rho_1} \cdots F_{\rho_n} - F_{\rho_n}^* \cdots F_{\rho_1}^* \right) + \frac{i}{2} \left( F_{\tilde{\rho}_1} \cdots F_{\tilde{\rho}_n} + F_{\tilde{\rho}_n}^* \cdots F_{\tilde{\rho}_1}^* \right)$$
(3.7)

will do the job. We used the notation  $F_{\rho_i}$  instead of  $F_i$ , i = 1, ..., n to indicate the dependence on the ribbon. As above  $\tilde{\rho}_i$  indicates the ribbon obtained by extending  $\rho_i$  by triangles corresponding to Lemma 2.7.4 if necessary, and inverting it using Corollary 2.8.3. Then  $\tilde{F}, \tilde{F} \in \mathcal{A}_s + i\mathcal{B}_s$  and it can easily be verified that  $\tilde{F}\Omega = F_1 \cdots F_n\Omega$  and  $\hat{F}\Omega = iF_1 \cdots F_n\Omega$ .

It remains to treat case (III). Consider there is no ribbon  $\rho$  involved in F such that it falls under the two previous main cases. I.e. for any  $\rho \subset \Lambda$  appearing in F both of the ending sites  $s_i := \partial_i \rho$ , i = 0, 1 are such that  $\mathcal{D}_{s_i} \notin \mathcal{F}_{\Lambda}$  for i = 1, 2 and there are ribbons  $\rho$  involved in F with  $s_i \notin \partial \Lambda$  for at least one i = 1, 2. This means that any ending site s of any ribbon occurring in F is either contained in  $\partial \Lambda$  or close enough to the boundary of  $\Lambda$  that the plaquette at s is not contained in  $\Lambda$  any more. By Definition 3.1.4, however, if  $s \notin \Lambda$  then the star at s will nevertheless be still contained in  $\Lambda$ . Let now  $\rho$  be any ribbon in F for which at least one ending site s is not contained in the boundary of  $\Lambda$ , i.e.  $s \notin \partial \Lambda$ . Without loss of generality  $s = \partial_0 \rho$ . Then, by construction of  $\Lambda$  and by Definition 3.1.4,  $\Lambda_s \in \mathcal{F}_{\Lambda}$ .

There are two cases appearing here, namely either  $[A_s, F] \neq 0$ , or for any ending sites s of ribbons  $\rho$  in F with  $s \notin \partial \Lambda$  it holds  $[A_s, F] = 0$ . In case  $[A_s, F] \neq 0$  for one such ribbon  $\rho$  we simply set

$$\tilde{F} := F_1 \cdots F_n A_s + A_s F_1^* \cdots F_n^* \quad \text{and} \quad \hat{F} := iF_1 \cdots F_n A_s - iA_s F_1^* \cdots F_n^*.$$
(3.8)

Then  $\tilde{F}, \hat{F} \in A_s$  and it holds  $F_1 \cdots F_n \Omega = \tilde{F}\Omega$  and similarly  $iF_1 \cdots F_n \Omega = \hat{F}\Omega$ .

In case  $[A_s, F] = 0$  for any ending site s of  $\rho$  with  $s \notin \partial \Lambda$  we proceed as follows. Let  $\rho$  be such a ribbon, and without loss of generality let  $s = \partial_0 \rho \notin \partial \Lambda$ . By Lemma 2.7.4, there is a direct triangle  $\tau \in \Lambda$  such that  $\tau \rho$  is a ribbon with  $F_{\tau\rho}\Omega = F_{\rho}\Omega$ . Then by the discussion after Definition 3.1.4 and the definition of cones,  $\partial_0 \sigma \in \partial \Lambda$ . The analogue statement holds true, if  $s = \partial_1 \rho$  with  $\sigma = \rho \tau$  and  $\tau$  according to Lemma 2.7.4. If we apply this to each ribbon in F we end up at the situation in the second main case from where we can proceed accordingly.

With these preparations we are finally in a position to prove the main theorem. In particular, the last lemma allows us to use the result of Rieffel and Van Daele mentioned before.

Тнеогем 3.4.3:

*Cone algebras of the quantum double model for finite abelian groups on the infinite square lattice satisfy Haag duality in the vacuum representation.* 

*More precisely, if*  $\Lambda \subset \Gamma$  *is a cone then* 

 $\pi_0 \left( \mathcal{A}(\Lambda^c) \right)' = \pi_0 \left( \mathcal{A}(\Lambda) \right)''.$ 

*Proof.* The argument is exactly the same as that given in reference [Naa12b]. For the convenience of the reader, we will restate it here.

It remains to prove  $\mathcal{A}(\Lambda^c)' \subset \mathcal{A}(\Lambda)''$  since, by locality, the other direction already holds. By construction it holds that  $\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda} \subset \mathcal{B}'_{\Lambda}$  (as sub-algebras of  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda})$ ) and both,  $\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}$  and  $\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}$ , are von-Neumann algebras on the same Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}$ . Hence, by [RD75, Theorem 2], the statement of Lemma 3.4.2 is equivalent to  $\mathcal{A}_{\Lambda} = \mathcal{B}'_{\Lambda}$ .

Furthermore, by [Tak79, Proposition II.3.10], it holds that  $\mathcal{B}'_{\Lambda} = P_{\Lambda} \mathcal{R}'_{\Lambda^{c}} P_{\Lambda} \upharpoonright_{\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}}$ . Now let  $B \in \mathcal{R}'_{\Lambda^{c}}$  and denote  $B_{\Lambda} := P_{\Lambda} B P_{\Lambda} \upharpoonright_{\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}} \in \mathcal{B}'_{\Lambda}$ . Then  $B_{\Lambda} \in \mathcal{A}_{\Lambda}$  and, by Lemma 3.2.3, there exists a unique element  $A \in \mathcal{R}_{\Lambda}$  such that  $B_{\Lambda} = P_{\Lambda} A P_{\Lambda} \upharpoonright_{\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}}$ .

To proof the claim it suffices to show that B = A. Pick any  $\hat{F} \in \mathcal{F}_{\Lambda^c}$  and  $F \in \mathcal{F}_{\Lambda}$ . Then

 $B\hat{F}F\Omega = \hat{F}BF\Omega = \hat{F}B_{\Lambda}F\Omega = \hat{F}AF\Omega = A\hat{F}F\Omega$ 

giving A = B, by Lemma 3.2.1, and consequently  $B \in \Re_{\Lambda}$ .

# Jones-Kosaki-Longo Index and Further

# 4 Structure

# 4.1 Superselection Sectors

As we have seen in Section 2.6 acting with local observables on the unique translationally invariant ground state  $\omega_0$  always creates pairs of excitations. The excitations can be detected using the charge projections from Definition 2.5.3, or using operators associated to closed ribbon encircling the excitation [BM08]. This implies that if  $\psi \in \mathcal{H}$  is a state containing only local excitations above the ground state we can use local observables to remove these excitations. I.e. globally the state  $\psi$ is the ground state plus some local excitations. This suggests that to create single excitations, if they exist at all, one cannot use local observables.

One way to obtain single excitations would be the following. Consider a ribbon  $\rho \subset \mathbb{Z}^2$  together with a ribbon operator F which will create a pair of conjugate excitations at the end sites of  $\rho$ . The idea now is to take one end of the ribbon  $\rho$  to infinity while keeping the other end fixed. If applied to the ground state vector  $\Omega$  the resulting operator then creates an excitation at the fixed end of the ribbon and at infinity. It is still possible to decide which excitation has been created by measuring at the fixed end of  $\rho$  but there is no local operator that can remove this excitation from the ground state. It is also clear form the preceding section that we can move such an excitation on the lattice using local operations. Assuming now for a moment that we could apply the above procedure to obtain two states,  $\psi$  and  $\phi$ , that contain different excitations, then by construction one can check that  $\langle \psi | A | \phi \rangle = 0$  for all local observables A, i.e.  $A \in A_{loc}$ . Hence these states obey a *superselection rule* [WWW52]. That is, physical observables can distinguish the states  $\phi$  and  $\psi$  but it is not possible to change them into each other.

There are some problems with this approach. The limit of a sequence of ribbon operators, where for growing index the length of the ribbon goes to infinity, does not converge in the uniform topology of  $\mathcal{A}$  (neither does the sequence of vectors). Therefore such operations are not part of  $\mathcal{A}$ . Furthermore, this procedure somewhat depends on the ground state representation, since it was implicitly assumed that we can act on the ground state vector. In addition, the ground state  $\Omega$  is cyclic for  $\pi_0(\mathcal{A})$ , hence  $\mathcal{H}_0$  consists only of states that can be created by acting with local observables on the ground state (compare also to Lemma 3.2.1).

It turns out, however, that this approach is the right way to go and that it is possible to make such a construction rigorous. However, instead of taking limit of ribbon operators with ribbons extending eventually to infinity, one considers a sequence of automorphism of A which converge strongly to an automorphism of  $\mathcal{A}$  [Naa11; FN15]. In fact this gives rise to equivalence classes of representations, where states obtained from  $\omega_0$  by these automorphisms are inequivalent to  $\omega_0$ . Even more, the GNS representations of these states satisfy a selection criterion for cone-like localised excitations, and inequivalent representations belong to distinct equivalence classes of representations. It also follows that each representative of these equivalence classes satisfy a DHR-like selection criterion. If one extends the selection criterion to allow more general representations of A, then one obtains a family of equivalence classes, or superselection sectors (or sectors), which reflect the charge content in the thermodynamic limit of the model. This realises the DHR theory of superselection sectors [DHR74] in the sense of the BF framework for string-like excitations [BF82]. The construction in this chapter itself in principle allows us to only construct a few sectors, namely those corresponding to the single excitations created by semi-infinite ribbons. The analysis in the subsequent chapter shows that these are in fact all sectors satisfying this criterion, i.e we already obtain a full classification of the superselection sectors of the quantum double models for finite abelian groups.

In what follows we review the construction in [FN15]. We put slight emphasis on the construction of the charge transporters that carry charges from one cone into another, since we will use them in the subsequent sections.

#### 4.1.1 Semi-infinite ribbons

Consider a cone  $\Lambda \subset \mathbb{Z}^2$  which we fix from now on. Let  $\rho$  be a semi-infinite ribbon in  $\Lambda$ , i.e. one end,  $\partial_0 \rho$  is fixed while the other end is sent to infinity. We denote by  $(\rho_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  a sequence of ribbons in  $\Lambda$  with  $\rho_n \subset \rho$ ,  $\rho_{n-1}$  properly contained in  $\rho_n$ , and  $\partial_0 \rho_n = \partial_0 \rho$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . By Lemma 2.6.6 each ribbon operator  $F_n^{\chi,c} := F_{\rho_n}^{\chi,c}$ , with  $(\chi, c) \in \hat{G} \times G$ , creates a pair of excitations of type  $(\chi, c)$  at its ending sites when acting on the ground state. On the level of observables, the resulting state is given by  $\omega_{\rho_n}^{(\chi,c)}(\cdot) = \omega_0(F_n^{\chi,c} \cdot (F_n^{\chi,c})^*)$ . This motivates the definition of

$$\alpha_n^{\chi,c}(A) \coloneqq F_n^{\chi,c} A(F_n^{\chi,c})^*, \quad A \in \mathcal{A},$$

which is an automorphism, by Lemma 2.7.2 and equation (2.13).

PROPOSITION 4.1.1 [FN15]:

Let  $\rho$  be a semi-infinite ribbon, and let  $(\rho_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  be a sequence of ribbons contained in  $\rho$  with  $\rho_n \subset \rho$ ,  $\rho_{n-1}$  properly contained in  $\rho_n$ , and  $\partial_0 \rho_n = \partial_0 \rho$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Let  $(\chi, c) \in \widehat{G} \times G$ . Then for each  $\mathcal{A} \in \mathcal{A}$  the limit

$$\alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}(A) := \lim_{n \to \infty} \alpha_n^{\chi,c}(A)$$

converges uniformly and defines an automorphism  $\alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$  fulfilling the following properties:

- 1.  $\alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}(A) = A$  for  $A \in \mathcal{A}$  whenever  $\operatorname{supp}(A) \cap \rho = \emptyset$ .
- 2.  $\forall A \in \mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{loc}}$ :  $\alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}(A) = \alpha_{\hat{o}}^{\chi,c}(A)$  for any ribbon  $\hat{\rho} \subset \rho$  with  $\mathrm{supp}(A) \cap \rho \subset \hat{\rho}$ .

The first property implies that  $\alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}$  is localised in any cone  $\Lambda$  containing  $\rho$ , i.e. for all  $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Lambda^c)$  it holds  $\alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}(A) = A$ . For reasons that will become apparent later we define localisation for \*-morphisms of  $\mathcal{A}$  into  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_0)$ .

Definition 4.1.2:

A \*-morphism  $\alpha$  of A into  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_0)$  is said to be localised in the cone  $\Lambda \subset \mathbb{Z}^2$  if for all  $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Lambda^c)$  we have  $\alpha(A) = A$ .

Composing  $\alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}$  with the ground state  $\omega_0$  gives a state which describes a single excitation at  $\partial_0 \rho$ . Note that the automorphism  $\alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}$  still depends on the ribbon  $\rho$ . However, this will not be a problem as we are interested in representations describing a single charges and it turns out later that for different ribbons  $\rho$  and  $\rho'$  the corresponding automorphisms  $\alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}$  and  $\alpha_{\rho'}^{\chi,c}$  give rise to equivalent representations and hence belong to the same sector. For different labels ( $\chi$ , c) and ( $\xi$ , d) in  $\hat{G} \times G$  however, the representations are inequivalent as was shown in [FN15].

**PROPOSITION 4.1.3:** Given  $(\chi, c), (\xi, d) \in \widehat{G} \times G$  and a semi-infinite ribbon  $\rho$ . If  $(\chi, c) \neq (\xi, d)$  the corresponding localised automorphisms  $\alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}$  and  $\alpha_{\rho}^{\xi,d}$  belong to different superselection sectors.

Consider now the state  $\omega_s^{\chi,c} := \omega_0 \circ \alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}$  with  $s = \partial_0 \rho$ , and denote its GNS representation by  $\pi_s^{\chi,c}$ . Using Corollary 2.8.2 and Lemma 2.7.2 one can see that  $\omega_s^{\chi,c}$ , and hence  $\pi_s^{\chi,c}$ , only depends on s and not on the particular ribbon  $\rho$  (For the corresponding statement in the toric code, see [Naa11, Lemma 3.6]). If s' is another site and  $\omega_{s'}^{\chi,c}$  is the state obtained from a semi-infinite ribbon starting at s', we can choose a ribbon  $\hat{\rho}$  with  $\partial_0 \hat{\rho} = s'$  and such that the composition  $\hat{\rho}\rho$  is a ribbon. Since  $\omega_{s'}^{\chi,c}$  does not depend on the ribbon we have that  $\omega_{s'}^{\chi,c} = \omega_0 \circ \alpha_{\hat{\rho}\rho}^{\chi,c}$ . Since  $\alpha_{\hat{\rho}\rho}^{\chi,c} = Ad_{F_{\hat{\rho}}^{\chi,c}} \circ \alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}$  the representations  $\pi_s^{\chi,c}$  and  $\pi_{s'}^{\chi,c}$  are unitarily equivalent as well. This and the localisation properties of the automorphisms  $\alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}$  allow us to prove that representations  $\pi_s^{\chi,c}$  can be localised in cones as well.

## **PROPOSITION 4.1.4:**

Let  $\rho$  be a semi-infinite ribbon with  $s := \partial_0 \rho$ , and let  $(\chi, c) \in \hat{G} \times G$ . Let  $\pi_s^{\chi, c}$  be the GNS representation of the state  $\omega_s^{\chi, c} := \omega_0 \circ \alpha_{\rho}^{\chi, c}$ . Then for any cone  $\Lambda \subset \mathbb{Z}^2$  we have

 $\pi_{0}\restriction_{\mathcal{A}(\Lambda^{c})} \cong \pi_{s}^{\chi,c}\restriction_{\mathcal{A}(\Lambda^{c})},$ 

where  $\pi \upharpoonright_{\mathcal{A}(\Lambda^c)}$  denotes the restriction of  $\pi$  to the algebra  $\mathcal{A}(\Lambda^c)$ .

*Proof.* The proof is the same as that of the corresponding that statement in [Naa11, Theorem 3.7]. Let  $\rho$  and  $(\chi, c) \in \hat{G} \times G$  as above. The representation  $(\pi_0 \circ \alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}, \mathcal{H}_0, \Omega)$  is a cyclic representation of the state  $\omega_s^{\chi,c}$  and hence  $\pi_s^{\chi,c} \cong \pi_0 \circ \alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}$ .

Now let  $\Lambda$  be a cone containing  $\partial_0 \rho$  and, by the preceding discussion, we can assume that  $\rho \subset \Lambda$ . Since  $\alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}$  is localised in  $\Lambda$ , we have  $\pi_0 \circ \alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}(A) = \pi_0(A)$  for any  $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Lambda^c)$ , and the claim follows.

Now consider a cone  $\Lambda$  with  $s \notin \Lambda$ . Then by the preceding discussion,  $\pi_s^{\chi,c}$  is unitarily equivalent to  $\pi_{s'}^{\chi,c}$ . Thus the claim follows here as well.

This shows that the representations  $\pi_s^{\chi,c}$  satisfy a DHR like selection criterion for string-like localised excitations (c.f. [DHR74; BF82]). Note that this is automatically true for the representation  $\pi_0 \circ \alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}$ . In fact, this is true for any representation  $\pi$  of  $\mathcal{A}$  that is equivalent to  $\pi_s^{\chi,c}$ .



In order to see this consider any cone  $\Lambda$ , let  $\mathcal{H}$  is the Hilbert space on which  $\mathcal{A}$  is represented by  $\pi$ , and let  $\mathcal{H}_s^{\chi,c}$  be the Hilbert space obtained by the GNS representation of  $\omega_s^{\chi,c}$ . Let  $U : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}_s^{\chi,c}$  be the unitary operator with  $U\pi(A) = \pi_s^{\chi,c}(A)U$  for all  $A \in \mathcal{A}$ , and let  $V : \mathcal{H}_s^{\chi,c} \to \mathcal{H}_0$  be the unitary operator with  $V\pi_s^{\chi,c}(A) = AV$  for all  $A \in \mathcal{A}(\Lambda^c)$ . Using Haag duality, it is now easy to check that VU sets up the equivalence  $\pi \upharpoonright_{\mathcal{A}(\Lambda^c)} \cong \pi_0 \upharpoonright_{\mathcal{A}(\Lambda^c)}$ , and  $VU\pi(\mathcal{A})U^*V^* \subset \mathcal{A}(\Lambda)''$ .

It is therefore tempting to define a superselection criterion for cone-like localised excitations in the following way.

# Definition 4.1.5:

We say that a representation  $\pi$  of A satisfies the selection criterion if for all cones  $\Lambda \subset \mathbb{Z}^2$  it follows that

$$\pi \restriction_{\mathcal{A}(\Lambda^{c})} \cong \pi_{0} \restriction_{\mathcal{A}(\Lambda^{c})} .$$

$$(4.1)$$

Another consequence of the previous discussion is that whenever we derive properties of the automorphisms  $\alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}$  they are automatically true for the representations in the same equivalence class<sup>1</sup>.

# 4.1.2 Transportability

Next we turn to transportability of sectors, which implies that for different semiinfinite ribbons  $\rho$  and  $\rho'$  the automorphisms  $\alpha_{\rho'}^{\chi,c}$  and  $\alpha_{\rho'}^{\chi,c}$  belong to the same sector.

Take a semi-infinite ribbon  $\rho$ ,  $(\chi, c) \in \hat{G} \times G$  and  $\alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}$  as above, which is thus localised in the cone  $\Lambda$ . Transportability now means that for any other cone  $\Lambda' \subset \mathbb{Z}^2$  there exists an automorphism  $\beta$  of  $\mathcal{A}$  localised in  $\Lambda'$  such that  $\alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}$  is unitarily equivalent to  $\beta$ . The unitary implementing this equivalence is in general not included in  $\mathcal{A}$ .

**Proposition 4.1.6:** 

Let  $\rho$  and  $\rho'$  be semi-infinite ribbons and  $(\chi, c) \in \widehat{G} \times G$ . Then the corresponding localised automorphisms of  $\mathcal{A}$ ,  $\alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}$  and  $\alpha_{\rho'}^{\chi,c}$ , are unitarily equivalent.

*Sketch of proof.* For the full proof we refer to reference [FN15]. First we assume that  $\rho$  and  $\rho'$  start at the same site. Then the two states obtained by composing the ground state with the automorphisms are equal by Corollary 2.8.2 and hence the representations obtained from composing  $\pi_0$  with  $\alpha_0^{\chi,c}$  and  $\alpha_0^{\chi,c}$  are cyclic

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>We implicitly identified  $\alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}$  with  $\pi_0 \circ \alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}$  since we already identified  $\pi_0(\mathcal{A})$  with  $\mathcal{A}$ .

representations of the same state, thus unitarily equivalent. Note that this unitary U can be chosen such that  $U\Omega = \Omega$  and this fixes U uniquely. If the ribbons  $\rho$  and  $\rho'$  do not start at the same site one can extend  $\rho$  to  $\partial_0 \rho'$  by a ribbon. Since the ribbon operator corresponding to the ribbon extending  $\rho$  is a unitary operator this gives rise to an automorphism which is unitarily equivalent to  $\alpha_{\rho'}^{\chi,c}$ , and also unitarily equivalent to  $\alpha_{\rho'}^{\chi,c}$  by the previous remark.

If  $\Lambda'$  is a cone containing both  $\rho$  and  $\rho'$  then the unitary V implementing the equivalence between  $\alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}$  and  $\alpha_{\rho'}^{\chi,c}$  is contained in  $\mathcal{A}(\Lambda')''$ . To see this consider  $A \in \mathcal{A}((\Lambda')^c)$ . Localisation then implies  $VA = V\alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}(A) = \alpha_{\rho'}^{\chi,c}V = AV$ , hence  $V \in \mathcal{A}((\Lambda')^c)' = \mathcal{A}(\Lambda')''$  by Haag duality. The unitary V can be interpreted as transporting the single excitation at  $\partial_0 \rho$  to an excitation at  $\partial_0 \rho'$ .

More generally, if  $\pi$  is a representation of  $\mathcal{A}$  satisfying the selection criterion, then it gives rise to transportable \*-morphisms. Take cones  $\Lambda$ ,  $\tilde{\Lambda}$  and unitaries W,  $\tilde{W}$  implementing the corresponding equivalences in the selection criterion. Then  $\alpha := \operatorname{Ad}_W \circ \pi$  and  $\beta := \operatorname{Ad}_{\tilde{W}} \circ \pi$  are \*-morphisms of  $\mathcal{A}$  that are localised in  $\Lambda$  respectively  $\tilde{\Lambda}$  and  $\tilde{W}W^*$  is a unitary from from  $\alpha$  to  $\beta$ . Note however, that  $\alpha(\mathcal{A}(\Lambda)) \subset \mathcal{A}(\Lambda)''$  and similarly for  $\beta$ . Thus in general  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are not \*-morphisms of  $\mathcal{A}$  into itself. We return to this later.

The above observations motivate the following definition.

#### Definition 4.1.7:

Let  $\Lambda$  be a cone and  $\alpha$  a \*-morphism of A into  $\mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H}_0)$  localised in  $\Lambda$ . We say that  $\alpha$  is transportable if for any cone  $\Lambda'$  there exists a \*-morphism  $\beta$  of A into  $\mathbb{B}(\mathcal{H}_0)$  localised in  $\Lambda'$  that is unitarily equivalent to  $\alpha$ . The unitary operator V is referred to as a charge transporter.

In our case an explicit construction of the charge transporters between  $\alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}$  and  $\alpha_{\rho'}^{\chi,c}$  can be given [FN15].

#### **Proposition 4.1.8:**

Let  $\rho$  and  $\rho'$  be semi-infinite ribbons and  $(\chi, c) \in \widehat{G} \times G$ , and let V be an intertwiner of  $\alpha_{\rho'}^{\chi,c}$  and  $\alpha_{\rho'}^{\chi,c}$ . Let  $(\rho_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  and  $(\rho'_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  be sequences as in Proposition 4.1.1. For each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  consider a ribbon  $\sigma_n$  with  $\partial_0 \sigma_n = \partial_1 \rho_n$  and  $\partial_1 \sigma_n = \partial_1 \rho'_n$  such that  $\rho_n \sigma_n$  is a ribbon and the distance of  $\sigma_n$  to  $\partial_0 \rho$  and  $\partial_0 \rho'$  goes to infinity as  $n \to \infty$ . Then we have that

$$V = \operatorname{w-lim}_{n \to \infty} \mathsf{F}^{\chi, c}_{\rho'_n} \mathsf{F}^{\overline{\chi}, \overline{c}}_{\rho_n \sigma_n}$$

*Furthermore*,  $V\alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}(A) = \alpha_{\rho'}^{\chi,c}(A)V$  for all  $A \in A$ . 94 *Proof.* The proof is given in [FN15], however we recall it here for convenience. With the notation from above we define a sequence of unitaries by  $V_n := F_{\rho'_n}^{\chi,c} F_{\rho_n \sigma_n}^{\overline{\chi},\overline{c}}$ . We need to show that this sequence converges weakly and that it indeed is a charge transporter of  $\alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}$  and  $\alpha_{\rho'}^{\chi,c}$ . Consider first that  $\partial_0 \rho = \partial_0 \rho'$ . By applying Lemma 2.7.2, Corollary 2.8.2 and Corollary 2.8.3 it follows that for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  we have  $V_n \Omega = \Omega$ .

Furthermore, for each  $A \in \mathcal{A}_{loc}$  there is an  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $V_n \alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}(A) = \alpha_{\rho'}^{\chi,c}(A)V_n$ . This can be seen by choosing n big enough so that  $F_{\sigma_n}^{\overline{\chi},\overline{c}}A = AF_{\sigma_n}^{\overline{\chi},\overline{c}}$  and, by Proposition 4.1.1, both,  $\alpha_{\rho'}^{\chi,c}(A) = \alpha_{\rho_n}^{\chi,c}(A)$  and  $\alpha_{\rho'}^{\chi,c}(A) = \alpha_{\rho'_n}^{\chi,c}(A)$ . Hence  $V_n \alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}(A) = V_n \alpha_{\rho_n}^{\chi,c}(A) = \alpha_{\rho'_n}^{\chi,c}(A)V_n = \alpha_{\rho'}^{\chi,c}(A)V_n$ . Considering  $V\Omega = \Omega$  it follows that for any  $A, B \in \mathcal{A}_{loc}$  we have

$$\begin{aligned} (\alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}(A)\Omega, V\alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}(B)\Omega) &= (\alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}(A)\Omega, \alpha_{\rho'}^{\chi,c}(B)V_{n}\Omega) \\ &= (\alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}(A)\Omega, V_{n}\alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}(B)\Omega). \end{aligned}$$

Consequently this is true for any A,  $B \in A$  and since the sequence  $(V_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  is uniformly bounded it converges weakly to V. Furthermore, the limit does not depend on the sequences  $(\rho_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ ,  $(\rho'_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  and  $(\sigma_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  as long as the properties in Proposition 4.1.1 are fulfilled.

Now assume that  $\rho$  and  $\rho'$  start at different sites. We can choose a ribbon  $\hat{\rho}$  starting at  $\partial_0 \rho'$  and ending at  $\partial_0 \rho$  such that  $\hat{\rho}\rho$  is a ribbon. Furthermore, let  $\sigma_n$  as in the premises of the theorem. The ribbon operator  $F_{\hat{\rho}}^{\chi,c}$  is unitary and we have that  $\alpha_{\hat{\rho}\rho}^{\chi,c} = \operatorname{Ad}_{F_{\hat{\sigma}}^{\chi,c}} \circ \alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}$ .

Consider now the intertwiner  $\hat{V}$  of  $\alpha_{\rho'}^{\chi,c}$  and  $\alpha_{\hat{\rho}\rho}^{\chi,c}$ . Let  $((\hat{\rho}\rho)_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  be the sequence given by composing for each n the ribbon  $\hat{\rho}$  with  $\rho_n$ . Then  $\hat{V} = w-\lim_{n\to\infty} F_{\rho'_n}^{\chi,c} F_{(\hat{\rho}\rho)_n\sigma_n}^{\overline{\chi},\overline{c}}$ . Next we set  $V_n := F_{\rho'_n}^{\chi,c} F_{(\hat{\rho}\rho)_n\sigma_n}^{\overline{\chi},\overline{c}} F_{\rho_n}^{\overline{\chi},\overline{c}} = F_{\rho'_n}^{\chi,c} F_{\rho_n\sigma_n}^{\overline{\chi},\overline{c}}$  and with the same arguments as above it can be checked that  $V_n \alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}(A) = \alpha_{\rho'}(A)V_n$  for  $A \in \mathcal{A}_{loc}$  and n big enough. Hence w- $\lim_{n\to\infty} V_n = V$  and  $V = \hat{V}F_{\hat{\rho}}^{\chi,c}$  is the intertwiner for  $\alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}$  and  $\alpha_{\rho'}^{\chi,c}$ .

We already noted that the intertwiner V for  $\alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}$  and  $\alpha_{\rho'}^{\chi,c}$  is contained in the von-Neumann algebra  $\mathcal{A}(\Lambda)''$ , where  $\Lambda$  is a cone containing both  $\rho$  and  $\rho'$ . This is problematic in so far as that in order to define fusion and braiding one needs that the intertwiners are contained in the same algebra the  $\alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}$  act on. Moreover, if  $\pi$  is a representation satisfying the selection criterion,  $\Lambda$  a cone and U the unitary operator setting up the equivalence  $\pi \upharpoonright_{\mathcal{A}(\Lambda^c)} \cong \pi_0 \upharpoonright_{\mathcal{A}(\Lambda^c)}$ , it follows for any  $\Lambda \in \mathcal{A}$  that  $\mathrm{U}\pi(\Lambda)\mathrm{U}^* \in \mathcal{A}(\Lambda)''$ . To see this let  $B \in \mathcal{A}(\Lambda^c)$ . Then

 $\pi_0(B)U\pi(A)U^* = U\pi(BA)U^* = U\pi(B)U^*\pi_0(A)$  and by Haag duality the claim follows. Thus, as mentioned earlier, the localised \*-morphisms  $Ad_U \circ \pi$  are in general not automorphisms of A.

These problems can be cured by considering an auxiliary algebra  $\mathcal{A}^{a}$  which contains  $\mathcal{A}''$  and where these \*-morphisms actually become endomorphisms (c.f. [BF82; Naa11; FN15]), and where the charge transporters are contained in. This was not necessary up to now, since the localised morphisms we constructed were actually automorphisms of  $\mathcal{A}$ . It can be shown, however, that they can be extended to weakly continuous endomorphisms of  $\mathcal{A}^{a}$  in the same way as in [BF82]. We omit the definition of the auxiliary algebra and the discussion of the extension of the automorphisms to it. The reason is that this mainly of technical issue and we are primarily interested in the overall structure. Let us note, however, that for the definition of  $\mathcal{A}^{a}$  it is necessary to fix a cone  $\Lambda^{a}$ . The important property of  $\mathcal{A}^{a}$  is that for each cone  $\Lambda$  with  $\Lambda \subset (\Lambda^{a} + x)^{c}$  for some  $x \in \mathbb{Z}^{2}$ , we have  $\mathcal{A}(\Lambda)'' \subset \mathcal{A}^{a}$  [FN15]. In the following we largely suppress the auxiliary in our notion and only refer to it if necessary. The discussion in this subsection can now be summarised as follows.

# Тнеогем 4.1.9:

Let G be a finite abelian group and let  $\pi_0$  be the GNS representation of the unique translational invariant ground state of the quantum double model for G. Then for each pair  $(\chi, c)$ , where  $\chi$  is a character of G and  $c \in G$ , there is an equivalence class of representations satisfying the selection criterion (4.1). The representation  $\pi_0 \circ \alpha_P^{\chi,c}$ , where  $\alpha_P^{\chi,c}$  is localised in some cone  $\Lambda$  and constructed as above, is a representative of such an equivalence class. The equivalence classes corresponding to distinct pairs  $(\chi, c)$  are disjoint.

# 4.1.3 Braiding and Fusion

Fusion describes the particle content of the outcome of two particles merging. More abstractly, it describes in which irreducible sectors the tensor product of two sectors decomposes. As this is a property of the equivalence classes of representations we define the tensor product for the automorphisms  $\alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}$  from the previous section.

Braiding, on the other hand, describes the outcome of moving one particle around another. In terms of tensor products it is given by the map that interchanges the factors in the tensor product of two sectors. In the following we define both for the equivalence classes of which the representations  $\pi_0 \circ \alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}$  are representatives.

In order to define the tensor product between two sectors we need a definition of both the tensor product of automorphisms and the intertwiners between different tensor products. As mentioned before, in order to define the intertwiners it is necessary to transition to a slightly larger algebra  $\mathcal{A}^{\alpha}$ , for the intertwiners of the automorphisms are not contained in  $\mathcal{A}$ . However, we are not going too much into the details here since it does not add much insight (the construction is essentially the same as in [Naa11] with the obvious modifications).

Let  $(\chi, c)$  and  $(\xi, d)$  be elements of  $\hat{G} \times G$ , and let  $\rho, \rho'$  be semi-infinite ribbons. The tensor product is then defined by [FN15]

$$\alpha^{\chi,c}_{\rho}\otimes \alpha^{\xi,d}_{\rho'}\coloneqq \alpha^{\chi,c}_{\rho}\circ \alpha^{\xi,d}_{\rho'}.$$

Note that if  $\rho' = \rho$  we have that  $\alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c} \otimes \alpha_{\rho}^{\xi,d} = \alpha_{\rho}^{\chi\xi,cd}$ . This can be seen by evaluating the expression on the left hand side on local observables and then using Proposition 4.1.1 and Lemma 2.7.2. For localised \*-morphisms  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  of  $\mathcal{A}$  the tensor product is defined in a similar way by

$$\alpha\otimes\beta\coloneqqlpha^{lpha}\circ\beta,$$

where  $\alpha^{\alpha}$  is the extension of  $\alpha$  to the auxiliary algebra  $\mathcal{A}^{\alpha}$ . Now let  $\alpha, \alpha', \beta$ , and  $\beta'$  be localised \*-morphisms with V and W intertwiners between  $\alpha$  and  $\alpha'$ , and  $\beta$  and  $\beta'$ . Then it can be checked that

$$V\otimes W:=V\alpha^{\mathfrak{a}}(W)$$

is an intertwiner between  $\alpha \otimes \beta$  and  $\alpha' \otimes \beta'$ . Given  $\alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}$  and  $\alpha_{\rho'}^{\xi,d}$  as above this implies that

$$\alpha_{o}^{\chi,c} \otimes \alpha_{o'}^{\xi,d} \cong \alpha_{o}^{\chi\xi,cd}$$

by transportability. I.e. fusing two sectors with labels  $(\chi, c)$  and  $(\xi, d)$  results in the sector with label  $(\chi\xi, cd)$ .

The braiding is defined by an intertwiner between  $\alpha \otimes \beta$  and  $\beta \otimes \alpha$ . For this one needs to introduce an ordering relation between cones that allows to speak about the relative position between excitations [FN15]. More precisely, we want to be able to say that a cone is to the left to another one. This can be achieved by fixing a reference cone, say the cone  $\Lambda^{\alpha}$  used for the auxiliary algebra  $\mathcal{A}^{\alpha}$ . One defines a total ordering on the set of cones as follows. Take two cones  $\Lambda_1, \Lambda_2$  and choose  $x \in \mathbb{Z}^2$  such that  $\Lambda_1, \Lambda_2 \subset (\Lambda^{\alpha} + x)^c$ . Then we say  $\Lambda_1 < \Lambda_2$ , if  $\Lambda_1$  can be rotated counterclockwise around its apex until it has non-empty intersection with  $\Lambda^{\alpha} + x$ such that for any intermediate angle it is disjoint from  $\Lambda_2$  (see also [Naa11]). Now let  $\rho$  and  $\rho'$  be semi-infinite ribbons located in cones  $\Lambda_1$  and  $\Lambda_2$ , respectively, and assume that there is a cone  $\Lambda$  with  $\Lambda \supset \Lambda_1 \cup \Lambda_2$ . Let  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  be transportable \*-morphisms localised in  $\Lambda_1$  and  $\Lambda_2$ , respectively. Then one chooses a cone  $\hat{\Lambda}_2 < \Lambda_1$  and an intertwiner V such that  $\operatorname{Ad}_V \circ \beta$  is localised in  $\hat{\Lambda}_2$  and  $V \in \mathcal{A}^{\alpha}$ . Setting

$$\varepsilon_{\alpha,\beta} := (V \otimes \mathbb{1}_{\alpha})^* (\mathbb{1}_{\alpha} \otimes V) = V^* \alpha^{\alpha}(V)$$

defines an intertwiner between  $\alpha \otimes \beta$  and  $\beta \otimes \alpha$ . It then follows that  $\epsilon_{\alpha,\beta}$  does not depend on the chosen cones, but only on the relation  $\hat{\Lambda}_2 < \Lambda_1$ . Furthermore it satisfies the braid equations and it is natural (see [Hal07] or [Naa11, Lemma 4.8]) and hence it is a braiding in the categorical sense. For the automorphisms  $\alpha_{\rho'}^{\chi,c} \otimes \alpha_{\rho'}^{\xi,d}$  the braiding can then be calculated to be [FN15]

$$\epsilon_{\alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c},\alpha_{\sigma}^{\xi,d}} = \overline{\chi}(d)\overline{\xi}(c)\mathbb{1}$$

Similarly to the case of the toric code [Naa11] one can now show that the sectors of the automorphisms  $\alpha_{\rho}^{\chi,c}$  form a braided monoidal category and are equivalent as such to the braided monoidal category of finite dimensional representations of  $\mathcal{D}(G)$  (see also [Hal07]). We will later see in Theorem 4.2.11, that these are in fact all superselection sectors of the quantum double model for the group G.

#### 4.2 Approximate Split Property and Jones-Kosaki-Longo index

When constructing superselection sectors of a theory an immediate question that arises is whether all sectors have been constructed. Here this can be answered by calculating an index associated to the inclusion of certain von-Neumann algebras. This is very similar to the situation in algebraic quantum field theory where such an index is related to the statistical dimension of the superselection sectors [Lon91] (see [Hal07] for an overview). This index we are considering here is the one introduced by Kosaki [Kos86] for arbitrary factors which coincides with the one in [DHR74] and which is related to Jone's index for type-II<sub>1</sub> [Jon83; JS97].

Analogously to the toric code [Naa13a] we show that for abelian finite groups G the cone index is given by  $|G|^2$  which determines the number of super-selection sectors and implies that the category of super-selection sectors is equivalent to the modular tensor category of finite dimensional representations of  $\mathcal{D}(G)$ . The statements are proved in the same manner as in [Naa13a] while using the techniques that were developed in the proof of Haag duality for the cone algebras in the vacuum representation.



Figure 4.1: Two cones with  $\Lambda_1 \ll \Lambda_2$ . Note that stars and plaquettes in  $\Lambda_2^c$  have empty intersection with  $\Lambda_1$ . Similarly, stars and plaquettes in  $\Lambda_1$  have empty intersection with  $\Lambda_2^c$ .

The basic idea is to show that for pairs of disjoint cones  $\Lambda_1, \Lambda_2$  which are far enough separated from each other the von-Neumann algebras  $\widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Lambda)$  and  $\mathcal{R}(\Lambda) \vee \{V_g \mid g \in H\}$  coincide, where  $H = G \times \widehat{G}$  and G is an abelian group. Very similarly to the proof of Haag duality we break down the problem to one on a sub-Hilbert space of  $\mathcal{H}$ .

We first start with introducing the necessary notions. Let  $\Lambda_1, \Lambda_2 \subset \mathbb{Z}_2$  be two cones. We say  $\Lambda_1 \ll \Lambda_2$  if there is no star and no plaquette in  $\Lambda_1 \cup \Lambda_2^c$  that has non-empty intersection with both cones. We denote by  $\mathcal{C}^2$  be the collection of sets  $\Gamma = \Lambda_1 \cup \Lambda_2 \subset \mathbb{Z}_2$  where  $\Lambda_1$  and  $\Lambda_2$  are disjoint cones such that there is a cone  $\Lambda_1 \ll \Lambda$  and  $\Lambda_2 \subset \Lambda^c$ . An illustration of this can be found in Figure 4.1.

#### Definition 4.2.1:

*Fix*  $\Gamma = \Lambda_1 \cup \Lambda_2 \in \mathbb{C}^2$  and let  $\rho_0$  be a fixed ribbon with  $\partial_0 \in \Lambda_1$  and  $\partial_1 \in \Lambda_2$ . Denote the set of finite ribbons in  $\Gamma$  by  $\mathfrak{p}(\Gamma)$ . We set

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{F}(\Gamma) &:= \{ \mathsf{F}_{\rho} \in \mathcal{A}(\Gamma) \, | \, \rho \in \mathfrak{p}(\Gamma) \}, \\ \mathfrak{F}(\bar{\Gamma}) &:= \{ \mathsf{F}_{\rho} \in \mathcal{A}(\Gamma) \, | \, \rho \in \mathfrak{p}(\Gamma) \cup \{ \rho_0 \} \}. \end{split}$$

Moreover we define

$$\mathfrak{F}(\Gamma) := \{ \mathsf{F}_1 \cdot \mathsf{F}_n \,|\, \mathsf{F}_1, \dots, \mathsf{F}_n \in \mathfrak{F}(\Gamma) \},\\ \mathfrak{F}(\overline{\Gamma}) := \{ \mathsf{F}_1 \cdot \mathsf{F}_n \,|\, \mathsf{F}_1, \dots, \mathsf{F}_n \in \mathfrak{F}(\overline{\Gamma}) \}.$$

Set  $\mathfrak{A} := \mathfrak{R}(\Gamma) \vee \{V_g \mid g \in H\}, \mathfrak{B} := \mathcal{A}(\Gamma^c) \text{ and } \mathfrak{H}_{\overline{\Gamma}} := \overline{\mathfrak{A}\Omega}^{\|\cdot\|}.$ 

First we show that the Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_{\overline{\Gamma}}$  is densely generated from the ground state by the ribbon operators in  $\mathfrak{F}(\overline{\Gamma})$ .

Lemma 4.2.2:

Let  $\Gamma \in \mathbb{C}^2$  and consider  $\mathfrak{H}_{\overline{\Gamma}}$  and  $\mathfrak{F}(\overline{\Gamma})$  as defined above. We then have

 $\mathcal{H}_{\overline{\Gamma}} = \overline{\operatorname{span}\left(\mathfrak{F}(\overline{\Gamma})\Omega\right)}^{\|\cdot\|}.$ 

*Proof.* The proof for this statement completely goes along the lines of that of [Naa13a, Lemma 4.4] with suitable adjustments. We repeat the arguments here while making the suitable modifications. First recall that the unitary operators  $V_g$  with  $g \in H$  are constructed by considering a pair of semi-infinite ribbons  $\rho_1 \subset \Lambda_1$  and  $\rho_2 \subset \Lambda_2$ .

As in the proof of [Naa13a, Lemma 4.4] we consider ribbons  $\xi_1$  and  $\xi_2$  with  $\partial_0\xi_1 = \partial_0\rho_1$ ,  $\partial_1\xi_1 = \partial_0\rho_0$ ,  $\partial_0\xi_2 = \partial_1\rho_0$  and  $\partial_1\xi_2 = \partial_0\rho_2$ . Hence the ribbon  $\xi_1\rho_0\xi_2$  connects the ribbons  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  through  $\Gamma^c$ . Now fiy any  $g \in H$ . Furthermore, by the construction of  $V_g$  we have  $V_g\Omega = F_{\xi_1\rho_0\xi_2}^{\overline{g}}\Omega$ . Since  $V_g$  is the weak limit of ribbon operators  $F_n^g$  of finite lengths we can calculate the commutation relations between  $V_g$  and any element  $F \in \mathcal{F}(\Gamma)$ , i.e.  $F_n^g F = \alpha(g)FF_n$  where  $\alpha(g)$  is some phase depending on g. If n is large enough  $\alpha(g)$  does not depend on n any more and therefore  $V_g F = \alpha(g)FV_g$  by separate weak continuity. Hence  $V_g F\Omega = \alpha(g)FV_g\Omega = \alpha(g)FF_{\xi_1\rho_0\xi_2}\Omega \in \mathfrak{F}(\overline{\Gamma})\Omega$ . By denseness of the linear span of  $\mathcal{F}(\Gamma)$  in  $\mathcal{A}(\Gamma)$  the claim follows.

Lemma 4.2.3:

With the notation from above we have for all  $\Gamma \in \mathbb{C}^2$  that

 $\mathfrak{AH}_{\overline{\Gamma}} \subset \mathfrak{H}_{\overline{\Gamma}},$  $\mathfrak{B}'\mathfrak{H}_{\overline{\Gamma}} \subset \mathfrak{H}_{\overline{\Gamma}},$ 

#### and elements from both algebras are uniquely determined by their restriction to $\mathcal{H}_{\overline{\Gamma}}$ .

*Proof.* Again, the idea of the proof is essentially the same as that of [Naa13a, Lemma 4.5]. However, we need to employ the techniques developed in the proofs of Lemmas 3.3.1, 3.3.2 and 3.3.3.

First, we treat the claims for  $\mathfrak{A}$ . The statement  $\mathfrak{AH}_{\overline{\Gamma}} \subset \mathfrak{H}_{\overline{\Gamma}}$  is obvious and follows from the definition of  $\mathfrak{H}_{\overline{\Gamma}}$ . For the second claim for  $\mathfrak{A}$ , consider  $A, A' \in \mathfrak{A}$  such that  $A\eta = A'\eta$  for any  $\eta \in \mathfrak{H}_{\overline{\Gamma}}$ . We have to show that this implies  $A\xi = A'\xi$  for all  $\xi \in \mathfrak{H}$ , since this then implies that A = A'. However, using the same argument as in the

proof of Lemma 3.2.1, we have that  $\mathfrak{F}(\Gamma^c)\mathfrak{F}(\Gamma)\Omega$  is norm dense in  $\mathfrak{H}$ . Thus, it suffices to show that  $A\widehat{F}F\Omega = A'\widehat{F}F\Omega$  for all  $\widehat{F} \in \mathfrak{F}(\Gamma^c)$  and  $F \in \mathfrak{F}(\Gamma)$ . So, take  $\widehat{F} \in \mathfrak{F}(\Gamma^c)$  and  $F \in \mathfrak{F}(\Gamma)$ . Since  $\mathfrak{A}$  is generated by  $\mathcal{A}(\Gamma)''$  and the unitary operators  $V_g$  with  $g \in G$ , the operator  $\widehat{F}$  commutes with A and A'. Thus,  $A\widehat{F}F\Omega = \widehat{F}AF\Omega = \widehat{F}A'F\Omega = A'\widehat{F}F\Omega$ . Using a density argument, this implies  $A\xi = A'\xi$  for all  $\xi \in \mathfrak{H}$  and thus A = A'.

To show that  $\mathfrak{B}'\mathcal{H}_{\overline{\Gamma}} \subset \mathcal{H}_{\overline{\Gamma}}$  we first prove analogous statements to Lemma 3.3.1 and Lemma 3.3.1. More precisely, given  $\hat{F} \in \mathfrak{F}(\Gamma^c)$  we show that

$$\begin{aligned} &\left(\exists s \in \operatorname{int}(\Gamma^{c}) : [A_{s}, \widehat{F}] \neq 0 \lor [B_{s}, \widehat{F}] \neq 0\right) \\ \implies \left((\forall F, C \in \mathfrak{F}(\overline{\Gamma}))(\forall X \in \mathfrak{B}') : (\widehat{F}F\Omega, XC\Omega) = 0\right), \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.2)$$

and

$$\left(\forall s \in \operatorname{int}(\Gamma^{c}) : [A_{s}, \hat{F}] = 0 \land [B_{s}, \hat{F}] = 0\right) \implies \hat{F}\Omega \in \mathcal{H}_{\overline{\Gamma}}.$$
(4.3)

Having established that, it then follows, as in Lemma 3.3.3, that  $(\widehat{F}F\Omega, XC\Omega) \neq 0 \implies \widehat{F}F\Omega \in \mathcal{H}_{\overline{\Gamma}}$  for all  $\widehat{F} \in \mathfrak{F}(\Gamma^c)$  and all  $F, C \in \mathfrak{F}(\overline{\Gamma})$ . By Lemma 4.2.2 the linear span of  $\mathfrak{F}(\overline{\Gamma})\Omega$  is dense in  $\mathcal{H}_{\overline{\Gamma}}$ . Furthermore, vectors of the form  $\widehat{F}F\Omega$  with  $\widehat{F} \in \mathfrak{F}(\Gamma^c)$  and  $F \in \mathfrak{F}(\overline{\Gamma})$  span a dense subspace of  $\mathcal{H}$ . Therefore we find

$$(\forall \psi \in \mathcal{H}_{\overline{\Gamma}}^{\perp})(\forall \eta \in \mathcal{H}_{\overline{\Gamma}})(\forall X \in \mathcal{B}) : (\psi, X\eta) = 0.$$

Now for the proof of equations (4.2) and (4.3). Since this will essentially be a modification of the ones of Lemma 3.3.1 and Lemma 3.3.2 we will recall their structure while focusing on the modifications and refer for the details to the aforementioned proofs.

We start with equation (4.2). Recall from the proof of Lemma 4.2.2 that for  $F \in \mathfrak{F}(\Gamma)$  and  $g \in H$  it follows that  $V_g F\Omega = \alpha(g)FF_{\rho_0}^g$  where  $\alpha(g)$  is a phase depending on g and  $\rho_0$  is the ribbon fixed at the beginning of this section which connects  $\Lambda_1$  with  $\Lambda_2$ . Also note, that for  $s \in int(\Gamma^c)$  we have that  $[A_s, V_g] = 0 = [B_s, V_g]$  for all  $g \in H$ . Together with locality and Lemma 4.2.2 this implies that for any  $\eta \in \mathcal{H}_{\overline{\Gamma}}$  we have that  $A_s\eta = \eta = B_s\eta$  for such sites. Consequently, we can just restate the proof of Lemma 3.3.1 here. I.e. let  $\hat{F} = \hat{F}_1 \cdots \hat{F}_n \in \mathfrak{F}(\Gamma^c)$ ,  $C, F \in \mathfrak{F}(\overline{\Gamma})$  and  $X \in \mathfrak{B}'$ . Consider the ribbon operators  $\hat{F}_1, \ldots, \hat{F}_n$  being labelled by irreducible representations of  $\mathcal{D}(G)$ , i.e. by tuples  $(\chi_i, k_i), i = 1, \ldots, n$  where  $\chi_i$  are characters

of G and  $k_i \in G$ . Assume first that there is a site  $s \in \Gamma^c$  such that  $[A_s, \hat{F}] \neq 0$ . Then

$$\begin{aligned} (\hat{\mathsf{F}}\mathsf{F}\Omega,\mathsf{X}\mathsf{C}\Omega) &= (\hat{\mathsf{F}}\mathsf{F}\Omega,\mathsf{A}_s\mathsf{X}\mathsf{C}\Omega) = \frac{1}{|\mathsf{G}|}\sum_{\mathsf{k}\in\mathsf{G}}\hat{\chi}_1(\mathsf{k})\cdots\hat{\chi}_n(\mathsf{k})(\hat{\mathsf{F}}\mathsf{F}\mathsf{A}_s^{\mathsf{k}}\Omega,\mathsf{X}\mathsf{C}\Omega) \\ &= \frac{1}{|\mathsf{G}|}\sum_{\mathsf{k}\in\mathsf{G}}\hat{\chi}_1(\mathsf{k})\cdots\hat{\chi}_n(\mathsf{k})(\hat{\mathsf{F}}\mathsf{F}\Omega,\mathsf{X}\mathsf{C}\Omega) = \mathsf{0}, \end{aligned}$$

where  $\hat{\chi}_i(k)$  is either zero or given by  $\chi_i(k)$ . Since  $A_s$  does not commute with  $\hat{F}$  at least one of the factors  $\hat{\chi}_i(k)$  will be non-zero, and since  $\hat{G}$  is a group, the sum vanishes.

Similarly, if for some  $s\in {\rm int}(\Gamma^c)$  we have  $[B_s,\widehat{F}]\neq 0$  then there is a  $k\in G$  with  $k\neq e$  such that

$$(\widehat{\mathsf{FF}}\Omega, \mathsf{XC}\Omega) = (\widehat{\mathsf{FFB}}_{\mathsf{s}}^{\mathsf{k}}\Omega, \mathsf{XC}\Omega) = \mathfrak{0}.$$

Now let us turn to equation (4.3). Again, let  $\hat{F} = \hat{F}_1 \cdots \hat{F}_n \in \mathfrak{F}(\Gamma^c)$  and consider the ribbon operators  $\hat{F}_1, \ldots, \hat{F}_n$  being labelled by irreducible representations of  $\mathcal{D}(G)$ . Without losing generality we can make some simplifying assumptions. We assume that none of these operators is trivial or corresponds to a closed ribbon. Furthermore we assume that no ribbon in the product can be joined together to another ribbon (see Lemma 2.6.9) and that every ribbon occurs just once in the product (see Lemma 2.6.11). As in Lemma 3.3.2 we prove the statement by induction over the number of ribbon operators in  $\hat{F}$ .

Assume now that for any  $s \in int(\Gamma^c)$  it follows that  $[A_s, \hat{F}] = 0 = [B_s, \hat{F}]$ . Take n = 1, i.e.  $\hat{F} = \hat{F}_1$ . Then  $\hat{F}$  is only non-trivial if its corresponds to a ribbon  $\xi$  whose endpoints are at the boundary  $\partial\Gamma$  of  $\Gamma$ . By Corollaries 2.8.2 and 2.8.3 can deform and invert ribbons without changing the action of the corresponding ribbon operator on the ground state. Therefore, if  $\xi$  connects  $\Lambda_1$  with  $\Lambda_2$ , we can find (possibly trivial) ribbons  $\rho_1 \subset \Lambda_1$  and  $\rho_2 \subset \Lambda_2$  such that  $\hat{F}\Omega = \hat{F}_{\rho_1}\hat{F}_{\rho_0}\hat{F}_{\rho_2}\Omega$ . Otherwise, we get  $\hat{F}\Omega = \hat{F}_{\rho_1}\Omega$ , i = 1, 2 for ribbons  $\rho_1 \subset \Lambda_1$  and  $\rho_2 \subset \Lambda_2$  (see also Lemma 3.3.2). In both cases, we find  $\hat{F}\Omega \in \mathcal{H}_{\overline{\Gamma}}$ .

Now assume that for n = k - 1 the statement is true. Let  $\hat{F} = \hat{F}_1 \cdots \hat{F}_k \in \mathcal{F}(\Gamma^c)$  as above and assume that  $[A_s, \hat{F}] = 0 = [B_s, \hat{F}]$  for any  $s \in int(\Gamma^c)$ . There are two possibilities to consider now: Case (I), there is at least one ribbon occurring in the product  $\hat{F}$  that has both ends at the boundary  $\partial\Gamma^c$ . Case (II), the product contains only ribbons that have at least one end in the bulk  $int(\Gamma^c)$ .

By using the commutation relations between ribbon operators, case (I) can be handled as in the case n = 1 to replace one ribbon operator with both ends on  $\partial \Gamma^c$  with a ribbon operator from  $\mathcal{F}(\overline{\Gamma})$ . By locality this leaves a product of k - 1 ribbon operators from  $\mathcal{F}(\Gamma^c)$  in front of  $\Omega$ .

In case (II) we can assume that for each site  $s \in int(\Gamma^c)$  there are either zero or at least two ribbons in  $\hat{F}$  that end at s. If there was a site in  $int(\Gamma^c)$  with just one ribbon end, the ribbon operator corresponding to this ribbon must necessarily be trivial by the assumed commutation relations with the star and plaquette operators at this side. Now safely assuming that this is not the case, we can always clean up a site s at which ribbons end according to Lemma 2.7.3 leaving us with one ribbon ending at s and a trivial ribbon operator associated to this ribbon. Hence, when acting on  $\Omega$  there are only k - 1 ribbon operators in  $\hat{F}$  left.

This lemma also implies that the projection  $P_{\widehat{\Gamma}} : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}_{\widehat{\Gamma}}$  is contained in  $\mathfrak{B}''$ . Denote by  $\mathfrak{A}_{\overline{\Gamma}} := P_{\overline{\Gamma}}\mathfrak{A}P_{\overline{\Gamma}}$  and  $\mathfrak{B}_{\overline{\Gamma}} := P_{\overline{\Gamma}}\mathfrak{B}''P_{\overline{\Gamma}}$  the restrictions of  $\mathfrak{A}$  and  $\mathfrak{B}''$  to  $\mathcal{H}_{\overline{\Gamma}}$ . Denote the self-adjoint cones of the restricted algebras by  $\mathfrak{A}_s$  and  $\mathfrak{B}_s$ .

Lемма 4.2.4: The space  $(\mathfrak{A}_s + \mathfrak{i}\mathfrak{B}_s) \Omega$  is dense in  $\mathcal{H}_{\hat{\Gamma}}$ .

*Proof.* We follow the ideas of the proof of [Naa13a, Lemma 4.6] and employ the techniques of the proof of Lemma 3.4.2. More precisely, we show in the following that for any  $\hat{F} \in \mathfrak{F}(\hat{\Gamma})$  there are operators  $A, A' \in \mathfrak{A}_s$  and  $B, B' \in \mathfrak{B}_s$  such that  $F\Omega = (A + iB)\Omega$  and  $iF\Omega = (A' + iB')\Omega$ . Since by Lemma 4.2.2 the linear span of  $\mathfrak{F}(\bar{\Gamma})\Omega$  is dense in  $\mathcal{H}_{\hat{\Gamma}}$  this then proves the statement.

The proof will again be an induction over the number of ribbon operators in  $\hat{F}$ . Analogously to the previous proof, we may assume that there are no closed ribbons appearing in  $\hat{F}$  and no trivial ribbon operators. Furthermore we can assume that no ribbon in  $\hat{F}$  appears more than once, and that there are no pairs of ribbons that join to a ribbon. If this were the case we could clean them up using the techniques described in subsections 2.6 and 2.7. Note that whenever there is a ribbon operator in  $\hat{F}$  that corresponds to  $\rho_0$  we can replace the operator by  $V_g$  for an appropriate element  $g \in G$ . Given a site  $s \in \mathbb{Z}^2$  we use the notation  $D_s$  for the operator  $D_s^{id,e}$ , where the latter is defined as in equation (2.12).

Now let n = 1. There are several possibilities. First,  $\hat{F} = F_{\rho_0}$ . Then  $\hat{F}_R := V_g D_s + D_s V_g^*$  and  $\hat{F}_I := i (V_g D_s - D_s V_g^*)$  with  $s = \partial_0 \rho_0$  or  $s = \partial_1 \rho_0$  fulfill  $\hat{F}_R, \hat{F}_I \in \mathfrak{A}_s$  and  $\hat{F}_R \Omega = \hat{F} \Omega = -i \hat{F}_I \Omega$ . Secondly,  $\hat{F}$  contains a ribbon operator that

does not commute with  $D_s \in \mathcal{F}(\Gamma)$ . Then we can define  $F_R, F_I \in \mathfrak{A}_s$  the same way as in the first case. Thirdly,  $\hat{F}$  does commute with any  $D_s \in \mathcal{F}(\Gamma)$ . This is now completely analogous to the situation in the proof of Lemma 3.4.2 and there exists  $A, A' \in \mathfrak{A}_s$  and  $B, B' \in \mathfrak{B}_s$  satisfying  $\hat{F}\Omega = (A + iB)\Omega = -i(A' + iB')\Omega$ . Essentially this is proved by observing that the ribbon in  $\hat{F}$  must create an excitation near the boundary of  $\Gamma$ . This excitation can either be detected with a star operator, in which case we can proceed as in the preceding case. Or, when the ribbon does not commute with any star operator, the ribbon can be replaced with a ribbon in  $\Gamma^c$  having the same starting and ending sites. The details for this can be found in the proof of Lemma 3.4.2.

We can now turn to assuming that the statement was true for n = k - 1 ribbon operators and let  $\hat{F} \in \mathfrak{F}(\overline{\Gamma})$  with  $\hat{F} = \hat{F}_1 \cdots \hat{F}_k$ . First note, that by assumption  $\hat{F}$ does not contain closed ribbons and and no pairs of ribbons that join to a ribbon. Furthermore, there are no trivial ribbon operators and no multiple ribbon operators associated to the same ribbon in  $\hat{F}$ . Again, as in the proof of Lemma 3.4.2 there are three cases to consider. Case (I) is that there is a ribbon  $\rho$  occurring in  $\hat{F}$  for which  $D_{\partial_i \rho} \in \mathcal{F}(\Gamma)$  for at least one i = 0 or i = 1. Case (II) is that all ribbons in  $\hat{F}$  end in  $\partial \Gamma$ . The third case, (III), is that there are ribbons  $\rho$  occurring in  $\hat{F}$  with at least one ending site s  $\notin \partial \Lambda$  but also for all ending sites s of all ribbons in  $\hat{F}$  it holds it holds  $D_s \notin \Lambda$ .

Case (I) is fully analogous to the situation in Lemma 3.4.2. Either  $\rho$  is the only ribbon which ends at site s, in which case we can proceed by setting  $F_R := D_s \hat{F}^* + \hat{F}D_s$  and  $F_I := i (\hat{F}D_s - \hat{F}^*D_s)$ , or there are multiple ribbons in  $\hat{F}$  ending at s. In the latter case we can use Lemma 2.7.3 to clean up that site such that there is only one ribbon left connected to this site. In case there is a ribbon  $\rho$  with  $\rho_0 \subset \rho$  we split it into three parts  $\rho = \rho_1 \rho_0 \rho_2$  and factor the ribbon operator  $F_\rho$  into  $F_{\rho_1} F_{\rho_0} F_{\rho_2}$  according to Lemma 2.6.9. Using the commutation relations of ribbons, we can bring  $F_{\rho_0}$  in  $\hat{F}\Omega$  in front of  $\Omega$  and replace it there with  $V_g$  for some suitable  $g \in H$ .

In case (II), where all ribbons in  $\hat{F}$  end at  $\partial\Gamma$  we can essentially replace each ribbon with one in  $\Gamma^c$  that starts and ends at the same sites as its counterpart in  $\Gamma$ . If necessary some ribbons need to be extended by triangle operators, see Lemma 2.7.4. Let  $\rho_1, \ldots, \rho_k \subset \Gamma \cup \{\rho_0\}$  be the ribbons involved in  $\hat{F}$  and  $\tilde{\rho}_1, \ldots, \tilde{\rho}_k$  their counterparts in  $\Gamma^c$ . Then  $\hat{F}_R$  and  $\hat{F}_I$  can be defined as in equations (3.6) and (3.7), respectively.

In case (III), each ending site s of any ribbon in  $\hat{F}$  is either contained in  $\partial \Lambda$  or very close to  $\Lambda$ . By very close, we mean that the star at s is contained in  $\Gamma$  whereas the plaquette is not. For details, see Definition 3.1.4 and the discussion afterwards. In case there is a ribbon in  $\hat{F}$  with one ending site  $s \notin \partial \Lambda$  and with  $[A_s, F] \neq 0$ , we can set  $F_R$  and  $F_I$  as in equation (3.8). Note that in this case  $A_s \in \mathfrak{F}(\Gamma)$ . In case that all ribbons with at least one ending site  $s \notin \partial \Lambda$  satisfy  $[A_s, F] = 0$  for all such sites s, we can extend the ribbons with direct triangles by Lemma 2.7.4 in such a way that their action on the ground state  $\Omega$  does not change and the ending sites of the extended ribbons are contained in  $\partial \Lambda$ . Replacing all ribbon operators in  $\hat{F}$  by such ribbons we obtain an operator  $\hat{F}' \in \mathfrak{F}(\overline{\Gamma})$  with  $\hat{F}'\Omega = \hat{F}\Omega$ , and all ribbons in  $\hat{F}'$  end in  $\partial \Lambda$ . Hence we find ourselves in the second case.

Very similarly to the proof of Haag duality for cone algebras in Theorem 3.4.3 and in the proof of [Naa13a, Lemma 4.1] we can now apply a result by Rieffel and van Daele [RD75] (or [Tak79, Lemma IV.5.7]), which states that Lemma 4.2.4 is equivalent to  $\mathfrak{A}_{\overline{\Gamma}} = \mathfrak{B}'_{\overline{\Gamma}}$  as von-Neumann algebras on  $\mathcal{H}_{\overline{\Gamma}}$ .

# Тнеогем 4.2.5:

Let  $\Gamma = \Lambda_1 \cup \Lambda_2 \in \mathbb{C}^2$  and let  $\Re(\Gamma) = \pi_0(\mathcal{A}(\Gamma))''$  and  $\widehat{\Re}(\Gamma) = \pi_0(\mathcal{A}(\Gamma^c)')'$ . Choose charge transporters  $\{V_g \mid g \in H\}$  between  $\Lambda_1$  and  $\Lambda_2$ . Then

 $\widehat{\mathfrak{R}}(\Gamma) = \mathfrak{R}(\Gamma) \vee \{ V_g \, | \, g \in H \}.$ 

*Proof.* Let  $\Gamma \in \mathbb{C}^2$  and  $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma)$ ,  $\widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Gamma)$  as in the assertion. Set  $\mathfrak{A} := \mathcal{R}(\Gamma) \vee \{V_g \mid g \in H\}$ and  $\mathfrak{B} := \pi_0(\mathcal{A}(\Gamma^c))$ , and let  $\mathcal{H}_{\overline{\Gamma}} := \overline{\mathfrak{A}\Omega}^{\|\cdot\|}$  with projection  $P_{\overline{\Gamma}} : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}_{\overline{\Gamma}}$ . Then by Lemma 4.2.3 both algebras,  $\mathfrak{A}$  and  $\mathfrak{B}'$ , leave  $\mathcal{H}_{\overline{\Gamma}}$  invariant, and by Lemma 4.2.4 and [RD75, Theorem 2] their restrictions  $\mathfrak{A}_{\overline{\Gamma}} = P_{\Gamma}\mathfrak{A}P_{\Gamma}$  and  $\mathfrak{B}_{\overline{\Gamma}} = P_{\overline{\Gamma}}\mathfrak{B}''P_{\overline{\Gamma}}$  satisfy  $A_{\overline{\Gamma}} = B'_{\overline{\Gamma}}$ . Note, that by [Tak79, Proposition II.3.10]  $P_{\overline{\Gamma}}\mathfrak{B}'P_{\overline{\Gamma}} = (P_{\overline{\Gamma}}\mathfrak{B}P_{\overline{\Gamma}})'$ . Hence, by Lemma 4.2.3, it follows that  $\mathfrak{A} = \mathfrak{B}'$  which completes the proof.

Next we want to prove that for any pair of cones  $\Gamma \in \mathbb{C}^2$  the von-Neumann algebra  $\widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Gamma)$  is isomorphic to the crossed product  $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma) \rtimes_{\alpha} H$  where  $\alpha$  is a representation of H as automorphisms on  $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma)$  given by  $\alpha_g(A) = V_g A V_g^*$ ,  $g \in H, A \in \mathcal{R}(\Gamma)$ . In order to do so we need some prerequisites. These essentially stem from an explicit proof of the approximate split property in [Naa12b] and we state a generalised version here for the case of abelian groups G. We adapt the following from [Naa12b] and use the tools from Chapter 2.

First we introduce some notations. Let  $\Lambda_1$  and  $\Lambda$  be cones with  $\Lambda_1 \ll \Lambda$ . Let  $\Lambda_0 := (\Lambda_1 \cup \Lambda^c)^c = \Lambda_1^c \cap \Lambda$ . We define the interior of  $\Lambda_0$  by  $int(\Lambda_0) := \Lambda_0 \setminus \partial \Lambda_1$ 

(recall that  $\partial \Lambda_1 \subset \Lambda_0^c$  and similarly for  $\partial \Lambda$ , see also Definition 3.1.1.) We pick a fixed ribbon  $\rho_0 \subset \Lambda_0$  with  $\partial_0 \rho_0 \in \partial \Lambda_1$  and  $\partial_1 \rho_0 \in \partial \Lambda$ , and by the discussion after Definition 3.1.4 we may choose  $\rho_0$  such that there are ribbons  $\sigma \subset \Lambda_1$  and  $\sigma' \subset \Lambda^c$  such that  $\sigma \rho_0 \sigma'$  is again a ribbon. In addition to this we choose a site  $s_0 \in int(\Lambda_0)$  and a ribbon  $\rho_{s_0} \subset \Lambda_0$  such that  $\partial_0 \rho_{s_0} = s_0$  and  $\partial_1 \rho_{s_0} \in \partial \Lambda_1$ . Again, we require that  $\rho_{s_0}$  is chosen such that there exists a ribbon  $\sigma \subset \Lambda_1$  such that  $\rho_{s_0} \sigma$  is a ribbon. For each site  $s \in int(\Lambda_0)$  fix a ribbon  $\rho_s$  with  $\partial_0 \rho_s = s$  and  $\partial_1 \rho_s = s_0$ . Define  $\Theta := \{\rho_s \mid s \in int(\Lambda_0) \cup \{s_0\}\}$ .

As before we let  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda_1}$  and  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda^c}$  be the Hilbert spaces obtained by taking the closure of the linear span of products of ribbons in  $\Lambda_1$  and  $\Lambda^c$ , respectively, acting on the ground state. Furthermore set  $\mathfrak{F}_0 := \{F_{\rho_1} \cdots F_{\rho_n} | \rho_1, \ldots, \rho_n \in \Theta \cup \{\rho_0\}\}$ . We denote by  $\mathcal{H}_0$  the Hilbert space given by the closure of the linear span of  $\mathfrak{F}_0\Omega$ . With the notation  $\mathfrak{F}(\Lambda_1)$  and  $\mathfrak{F}(\Lambda^c)$  as above we find the following.

#### Lemma 4.2.6:

*The space* span  $\mathfrak{F}(\Lambda_1)\mathfrak{F}_0\mathfrak{F}(\Lambda^c)\Omega$  *norm is dense in*  $\mathcal{H}$ *.* 

*Proof.* By Lemma 3.2.1 products of ribbon operators with ribbons in  $\mathbb{Z}^2$  span a dense subspace of  $\mathcal{H}$ . Hence, what we will show is that for each ribbon operator  $F_{\rho} \in \mathcal{A}$  with ribbon  $\rho$  there are operators  $F_1 \in \mathfrak{F}(\Lambda_1), F_0 \in \mathfrak{F}_0$  and  $F_2 \in \mathfrak{F}(\Lambda^c)$  such that  $F_{\rho}\Omega = F_1F_0F_2\Omega$ . The claim then immediately follows, since in a product of ribbon operators, we can always commute operators with each other at the cost of complex phases.

So, let  $F_{\rho}$  be as above. Essentially what we are going to do is to separate the parts in  $\rho$  that lie in  $\Lambda_0$  and express the resulting factors of the ribbon operators via operators in  $\mathfrak{F}_0$ . This is possible, since, when acting on  $\Omega$  we can deform and invert  $\rho$  without affecting the vector  $F_{\rho}\Omega$  (see e.g. Lemmas 2.6.13 and 2.6.14). The first four cases are analogous to those in the proof of [Naa12b, Lemma 4.3]. It is obvious that, if  $\partial_i \rho$  are both contained either in  $\Lambda_1$  or in  $\Lambda^c$ , there is an operator  $F \in \mathfrak{F}(\Lambda_1)$  or  $F \in \mathfrak{F}(\Lambda^c)$  such that  $F\Omega = F_{\rho}\Omega$ . In the following we assume that  $\rho$  is not a closed loop, for if this was the case,  $F_{\rho}\Omega = \Omega$ . Set  $s' := \partial_0 \rho$  and  $s := \partial_1 \rho$ .

Assume that  $s' \in \Lambda_1$  and  $s \in int(\Lambda_0)$ . Let  $\rho_s \in \Theta$  be the corresponding ribbon to s and consider  $\rho_{s_0}$  as chosen before. Let  $\sigma \in \Lambda_1$  such that  $\partial_0 \sigma = \partial_1 \rho_{s_0}$  and  $\partial_1 \sigma = s'$ . Then, by Lemmas 2.6.13, 2.6.14 and 2.7.2, there are a ribbon operator  $F_1 = F_{\sigma} \in \mathfrak{F}(\Lambda_1)$ , a product of ribbon operators  $F_0 = F_{\rho_s}F_{\rho_{s_0}} \in \mathfrak{F}_0$  and a complex phase  $a \in \mathbb{C}$  such that  $F_{\rho}\Omega = aF_1F_0\Omega$ .

Now, assume that  $s' \in \Lambda^c$  and  $s \in \operatorname{int} \Lambda_0$ . Let  $\rho_s \in \Theta$  and let  $\sigma \subset \Lambda^c$  be a ribbon with  $\partial_0 \sigma' = \partial_1 \rho_0$  and  $\partial_1 \sigma' = s'$ . Furthermore, let  $\sigma \subset \Lambda_1$  be a ribbon with  $\partial_0 \sigma = \partial_1 \rho_{s_0}$  and  $\partial_1 \sigma = \partial_0 \rho_0$ . Then there are ribbon operators  $F_{\rho_0}, F_{\rho_{s_0}}, F_{\rho_s} \in \mathfrak{F}_0$ ,  $F_{\sigma'} \in \mathfrak{F}(\Lambda^c)$  and  $F_{\sigma} \in \mathfrak{F}(\Lambda)$ , and a complex phase  $a \in \mathbb{C}$  such that  $F_{\rho}\Omega = cF_{\sigma}F_{\rho_s}F_{\rho_s}F_{\sigma'}\Omega$ .

Consider now the case in which  $s' \in \Lambda_1$  and  $s \in \Lambda^c$ . Then we can pick a deformation  $\tilde{\rho}$  of  $\rho$  such that  $\tilde{\rho} = \sigma \rho_0 \sigma'$  with  $\sigma \in \Lambda_1$  and  $\sigma' \in \Lambda^c$ . By Lemma 2.7.2 it follows that  $F\Omega$  has the desired form.

If  $s, s' \in int(\Lambda_0)$  we pick  $\rho_s, \rho_{s'} \in \Theta$  and find ribbon operators  $F_{\rho_s}, F_{\rho_{s'}} \in \mathfrak{F}_0$ with  $F_{\rho}\Omega = F_{\rho_s} \cdot F_{\rho_{s'}}\Omega$ .

Now for the last three more difficult cases. We only treat one of them, since the others can be treated in an analogous way using the arguments from above. Consider first  $s' \in \partial \Lambda_1$  and  $s \in int(\Lambda_0)$ . By the remark after Lemma 3.1.5 the ribbon  $\rho$  is at most one triangle apart from  $\Lambda_1$ , that is, either there is at most one bond in  $\Lambda_0$  between  $\rho$  and  $\Lambda_1$ . This leaves us with two sub-cases to consider.

First, assume that there is no such bond. Hence we can pick a ribbon  $\sigma \subset \Lambda_1$  such that  $\partial_0 \sigma = s'$  and  $\partial_1 \sigma = \partial_0 \rho_0$ . Then, with  $\rho_s \in \Theta$ , we can find ribbon operators  $F_{\sigma} \in \mathfrak{F}(\Lambda_1), F_{\rho_o}, F_{\rho_s} \in \mathfrak{F}_0$  such that  $F_{\rho}\Omega = F_{\sigma}F_{\rho_o}F_{\rho_s}\Omega$ .

For the second sub-case consider that there is a triangle  $\tau \in \Lambda_0$  such that  $\tau\rho$  is a ribbon and  $\partial_0 \tau \in \partial \Lambda_1$ . W.l.o.g. we can assume that  $F_\rho = F_\rho^{\chi,c}$  with  $(\chi, c) \in \hat{G} \times G$ . By Lemma 2.7.2 we have that  $F_\rho^{\chi,c} = F_\rho^{\chi,c} F_\rho^{id,c}$  and these factors commute. Assume that  $\tau$  is direct. Then by Lemmas 2.7.4 and 2.6.7 it holds that  $F_\rho^{id,c} = F_{\tau\rho}^{id,c}$  and we can apply the procedure from the preceding paragraph to  $F_{\tau\rho}^{id,c}$ . We still have to treat the factor  $F_\rho^{\chi,e}$ . In order to do so, let  $\tau'$  be the first triangle in  $\rho$ , i.e.  $\partial_0 \tau' = s'$ . If necessary, we first deform  $\rho$  in  $\Lambda_0$  such that removing  $\tau'$  from  $\rho$  results in a ribbon  $\tilde{\rho}$  with  $\partial_0 \tilde{\rho} \in int(\Lambda_0)$ . If  $\tau'$  is dual we find by Lemmas 2.7.4 and 2.6.7 that  $F_{\rho}^{\chi,e}\Omega = F_{\rho}^{\chi,e}\Omega$  and we can treat  $F_{\rho}^{\chi,e}$  as above. If, however,  $\tau'$  is direct, we can append a dual triangle  $\tau''$  to  $\tilde{\rho}$  such that  $\tau''\tilde{\rho}$  is a ribbon and  $F_{\rho}^{\chi,e} = F_{\tau''\tilde{\rho}}^{\chi,e}$ . Then there are three possibilities. Either  $\partial_0 \tau'' \in int(\Lambda_0)$ ,  $\partial_0 \tau'' \in \partial\Lambda_1$  with no bond distance to  $\Lambda_1$ , or  $\partial_0 \tau'' \in \partial\Lambda_1$  with one bond distance to  $\Lambda_1$ . The first possibilities can be treated as before, and the last one belongs to the case where the first triangle  $\tau$  in  $\rho$  is dual, which can be treated analogously.

The remaining difficult cases are given when  $s' \in int(\Lambda_0)$  and  $s \in \partial(\Lambda^c)$ , and when  $s' \in \partial\Lambda_1$  and  $s \in \partial(\Lambda^c)$ . However, these can be treated in an analogous manner as the preceding case together with arguments from the first part of this proof.

**Proposition 4.2.7:** 

Let  $\Lambda_1 \ll \Lambda$  be cones and  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda_1}, \mathcal{H}_0$  and  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda^c}$  as before. Then there exists a unitary  $U : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}_{\Lambda_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\Lambda^c} \otimes \mathcal{H}_0$  which is determined by

$$UF_1F_0F_2\Omega = F_1\Omega \otimes F_2\Omega \otimes F_0\Omega, \tag{4.4}$$

with  $F_1 \in \mathfrak{F}(\Lambda_1), F_0 \in \mathfrak{F}_0$  and  $F_2 \in \mathfrak{F}(\Lambda^c)$ .

*Proof.* The proof of the previous lemma shows that for any product F of ribbon operators in  $\mathcal{A}$  there exist operators  $F_1 \in \mathfrak{F}(\Lambda_1), F_0 \in \mathfrak{F}_0$  and  $\mathfrak{F}_2 \in \mathfrak{F}(\Lambda^c)$  such that  $F\Omega = F_1F_0F_2\Omega$ . Hence, equation (4.4) defines a linear map from a dense subspace of  $\mathcal{H}$  to  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\Lambda^c} \otimes \mathcal{H}_0$  with dense image. Let  $F_1, F'_1 \in \mathfrak{F}(\Lambda_1)$ ,  $F_0, F'_0 \in \mathfrak{F}_0$  and  $F_2, F'_2 \in \mathfrak{F}(\Lambda^c)$ . We just need to show that U is an isometry, i.e.  $(UF_1F_0F_2\Omega, UF'_1F'_0F'_2\Omega) = (F_1F_0F_2\Omega, F'_1F'_0F'_2\Omega)$ . Note that

$$(\mathsf{U}\mathsf{F}_1\mathsf{F}_0\mathsf{F}_2\Omega,\mathsf{U}\mathsf{F}_1'\mathsf{F}_0'\mathsf{F}_2'\Omega) = (\mathsf{F}_1\Omega,\mathsf{F}_1'\Omega)(\mathsf{F}_2\Omega,\mathsf{F}_2'\Omega)(\mathsf{F}_0\Omega,\mathsf{F}_0'\Omega).$$

Assume now that  $F_0 \neq F'_0$ . Then there exists a site  $s \in \mathbb{Z}^2$  such that the star or the plaquette operator at s does not commute with  $F_0$  or  $F'_0$ . Here, "or" is not exclusive. Then it is easy to see that  $(UF_1F_0F_2\Omega, UF'_1F'_0F'_2\Omega) = 0$ . So it remains to show that  $(F_1F_0F_2\Omega, F'_1F'_0F'_2\Omega) = 0$ . There are two possibilities now. The first one, case (I), is given by  $s \in int(\Lambda_0)$  and the second, case (II), consists of the case where the star and plaquette operators at all sites in  $int(\Lambda_0)$  commute with  $F_0$  and  $F'_0$ .

Consider first case (I), where there is a site  $s \in int(\Lambda_0)$  such that the star or plaquette operator does not commute with  $F_0$  or  $F'_0$ . By locality the star and plaquette operators commute with  $F_1, F_2, F'_1, F'_2$  and it immediately follows that  $(F_1F_0F_2\Omega, F'_1F'_0F'_2\Omega) = 0$ .

Let us turn to case (II), that is, the plaquette and star operators at all sites in  $int(\Lambda_0)$  commute with both operators,  $F_0$  and  $F'_0$ . This implies that both operators cannot contain non-trivial ribbon operators except for those associated to  $\rho_0$ , since by construction ribbon operators in  $F_0$  and  $F'_0$  must either be associated to  $\rho_0$  or to ribbons that end at the site  $s_0 \in int(\Lambda_0)$ . Furthermore,  $\rho_0$  was chosen such that  $\rho_0 \subset \Lambda_0$  and therefore  $F_0$  and  $F'_0$  commute with  $F_1, F_2, F'_1$  and  $F'_2$ . Since local operators can only create an even number of excitations above the ground state (see Lemma 3.2.1), and  $F_0, F'_0$  each create different single excitations at both  $\partial\Lambda_1$  and  $\partial\Lambda^c$  it follows that there is no operator F in  $\mathfrak{F}(\Lambda_1)$  or  $\mathfrak{F}(\Lambda^c)$  such that  $FF_0\Omega = \Omega$  or  $FF'_0\Omega = \Omega$ . Hence  $(F_1F_0F_2\Omega, F'_1F'_0F'_2\Omega) = 0$ .

Now consider the case where  $F_0 = F'_0$ , hence  $(F_0\Omega, F'_0\Omega) = 1$ . By unitarity of ribbon operators and by locality we have that  $(F_1F_0F_2\Omega, F'_1F'_0F'_2\Omega) = (F_1F_2\Omega, F'_1F'_0P'_2\Omega) = (F_1F_2\Omega, F'_1F'_2\Omega) = ((F'_1)^*F_1\Omega, F_2^*F'_2\Omega)$ . Hence, the only interesting case here is if there is a site in  $\mathbb{Z}^2$  such that the star or plaquette operator does not commute with at least one of the operators  $(F'_1)^*F_1$  or  $F_2^*F'_2$ . If there was no such site, then these operators would commute with all star and plaquette operators. Hence these operators would only contain trivial ribbon operators or ribbon operators associated to closed ribbons and thus  $(F_i\Omega, F'_i\Omega) = 1$  and  $(F_1F_0F_2\Omega, F'_1F'_0F'_2\Omega) = 1$ . Now let  $s \in \mathbb{Z}_2$  be such that the star or plaquette operator, or both, do not commute with  $(F'_1)^*F_1$  or  $F_2^*F'_2$ , or both. Then  $((F'_1)^*F_1\Omega, \Omega) = (F_1\Omega, F'_1\Omega) = 0$  and/or  $(F_2^*\Omega, F_2\Omega) = 0$ . And also  $((F'_1)^*F_1\Omega, F_2^*F'_2\Omega) = 0$  by locality and therefore  $(F_1F_0F_2\Omega, F'_1F'_0F'_2\Omega) = 0$ .

From all this, it follows that  $(UF_1F_0F_2\Omega, UF'_1F'_0F'_2\Omega) = (F_1F_0F_2\Omega, F'_1F'_0F'_2\Omega)$  for all  $F_1, F'_1 \in \mathfrak{F}(\Lambda_1), F_2, F'_2 \in \mathfrak{F}(\Lambda^c)$  and  $F_0, F'_0 \in \mathfrak{F}_0$ . By Lemma 4.2.6 it then follows that U is in fact a unitary from  $\mathcal{H}$  to  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\Lambda^c} \otimes \mathcal{H}_0$ .

For completeness we state the result that the ground state  $\omega$  satisfies the approximate split property for cones. The proof can be taken verbatim from the one for [Naa12b, Theorem 4.5].

# Тнеогем 4.2.8:

The translationally invariant ground state  $\omega$  of Kitaev's quantum double model for finite abelian groups satisfies the approximate split property. I.e. let  $\Lambda_1 \ll \Lambda$  be cones and  $\Re(\Lambda_1)$  and  $\Re(\Lambda)$  the associated von-Neumann algebras in the ground state representation. Then there exists a type-I factor  $\mathbb{N}$  such that

# $\mathfrak{R}(\Lambda_1) \subset \mathfrak{N} \subset \mathfrak{R}(\Lambda).$

Note that this can be proven without the above construction (see [Naa12a, Theorem 11.3] and [FN15])<sup>2</sup>. However, the construction provides an explicit realisation of the intermediate type-I factor. Note also, that the approximate split property implies that  $\Re(\Lambda_1) \vee \Re(\Lambda^c)$  is unitarily equivalent to  $\Re(\Lambda_1) \otimes \Re(\Lambda^c)$ . The unitary in Proposition 4.2.7 provides an explicit implementation of this fact. Another advantage of this direct construction is that it allows us to prove that the von Neumann algebra  $\widehat{\Re}(\Gamma) = \Re(\Gamma^c)'$  is isomorphic to the crossed product of  $\Re(\Gamma)$  with the group  $H = G \times \hat{G}$ , where  $\Gamma = (\Lambda_1 \cup \Lambda_2) \in \mathbb{C}^2$  is a pair of cones. This was proven to be true for the toric code where  $G = \mathbb{Z}_2$  [Naa13a], and now we are able to show that this is also true for arbitrary finite abelian groups.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>These references use a combination of results of references [Tak58] and [DL83].

Given a pair of cones  $\Gamma = (\Lambda_1 \cup \Lambda_2) \in \mathbb{C}^2$ , and the von Neumann algebras  $\widehat{\Re}(\Gamma) = \Re(\Gamma^c)'$  and  $\Re(\Gamma)$ . Let  $\{V_g \mid g \in H\}$  be a set of charge transporters between  $\Lambda_1$  and  $\Lambda_2$ , and let  $\alpha$  be the group of automorphisms on  $\Re(\Gamma)$  defined by  $\alpha_g(A) := V_g A V_g^*$ ,  $g \in H$ ,  $A \in \Re(\Gamma)$ . Let  $\mathcal{K} := \mathcal{H} \otimes \ell^2(H)$ , where  $\ell^2(H)$  is the Hilbert space of square summable complex-valued functions of the group H. Then, by the discussion after Definition 1.2.13 which leads to equation (1.7), the crossed product  $\Re(\Gamma) \rtimes_{\alpha} H$  is isomorphic to the von Neumann algebra spanned by  $\{A \otimes \mathbb{1}, V_g \otimes \lambda_g \mid A \in \Re(\Gamma), h, g \in H\}$ , where  $\lambda$  is the left regular representation of G on  $\ell^2(H)$ .

In our case it is *a priori* not clear, whether the automorphisms  $\alpha_g$  with  $g \in H$  and  $g \neq e$  are free.

#### Тнеогем 4.2.9:

Given a pair of cones  $\Gamma = (\Lambda_1 \cup \Lambda_2) \in \mathbb{C}^2$ , the map given by

$$\Phi(X) = \sum_{g \in H} A_g V_g,$$

with  $X = \sum_{g \in H} (A_g \otimes 1) (V_g \otimes \lambda_g) \in \Re(\Gamma) \rtimes_{\alpha} H$  defines a \*-isomorphism

 $\Phi: \mathfrak{R}(\Gamma)\rtimes_{\alpha} H \to \widehat{\mathfrak{R}}(\Gamma)$ 

such that  $\Phi(\mathfrak{R}(\Gamma)) = \mathfrak{R}(\Gamma)$ .

*Proof.* The proof is mostly along the same lines as the corresponding one for the toric code in [Naa13a]. We recall it here with the necessary modifications.

Clearly,  $\Phi$  is a \*-homomorphism. Furthermore  $\Re(\Gamma)$  can be identified with the diagonal part of  $\Re(\Gamma) \rtimes_{\alpha} H$ , and therefore  $\Phi(\Re(\Gamma)) \subseteq \Re(\Gamma)$ .

We start by showing that  $\Phi : \Re(\Gamma) \rtimes_{\alpha} H \to \widehat{\Re}(\Gamma)$  is surjective. We do this by first showing that  $\Phi$  is normal, i.e. for normal states  $\varphi$  on  $\widehat{\Re}(\Gamma)$  the states  $\varphi \circ \Phi$  on  $\widehat{\Re}(\Gamma) \rtimes_{\alpha} H$  are normal as well. If  $\Phi$  is normal, then its image is a von Neumann algebra in  $\widehat{\Re}(\Gamma)$  containing both  $\Re(\Gamma)$  and the unitaries  $\{V_g \mid g \in H\}$ . Since by Theorem 4.2.5  $\widehat{\Re}(\Gamma)$  is already the smallest von Neumann algebra containing these, this implies that  $\Phi$  is surjective.

Let  $\varphi \in \widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Gamma)_*$  be a state. Then there exists a sequence  $(\psi_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  of states in  $\mathcal{K}$  such that  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|\psi_n\|^2 < \infty$  and  $\varphi(X) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (\psi, X\psi)$  for all  $X \in \widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Gamma)$  (see e.g. [Tak79, Proposition II.3.20]). Let  $(\delta_g)_{g \in H}$  be the canonical basis in  $\ell^2(H)$  with  $\delta_g(k) = \delta_{g,k}$ . Define vectors  $\xi_n := \sum_{g \in H} \psi_n \otimes \delta_g \in \mathcal{K}$  and  $\zeta_n := \psi_n \otimes \delta_e \in \mathcal{K}$  with  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and e the identity element in H. Then  $\varphi(X) := \sum_n (\xi_n, X\zeta_n)$  defines a

normal functional on  $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma) \rtimes_{\alpha} H$  and for all X it follows that

$$\begin{split} \varphi(X) &= \sum_{n} (\xi_{n}, X\zeta_{n}) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \sum_{g, h, k \in H} (\psi_{n} \otimes \delta_{k}, (A_{g} \otimes \mathbb{1})(V_{g} \otimes \lambda_{g})\psi_{n} \otimes \delta_{e}) \\ &= \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \sum_{g \in H} (\psi_{n}, A_{g}V_{g}\psi_{n}). \end{split}$$

Hence  $\phi = \phi \circ \Phi$  is a normal state.

Now for injectivity of  $\Phi$ , i.e. X = 0 whenever  $\Phi(X) = 0$ . By definition of  $\Gamma = \Lambda_1 \cup \Lambda_2$  we can choose a cone  $\Lambda$  with  $\Lambda_1 \ll \Lambda$  and  $\Lambda_2 \subset \Lambda^c$ . Let  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda_1}$  and  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda^c}$  be Hilbert spaces as defined in Definition 3.2.2, and let  $\mathcal{H}_0$  be the Hilbert space defined before Lemma 4.2.6. The definition of  $\mathcal{H}_0$  required the specification of a ribbon  $\rho_0 \subset \Lambda_0 = (\Lambda_1^c \cap \Lambda) \setminus \partial \Lambda_1$  with  $\partial_0 \rho_0 \in \partial \Lambda_1$  and  $\partial_1 \rho_0 \in \partial \Lambda^c$ . Furthermore, there exists a ribbon  $\rho$  with  $\partial_0 \rho \in \Lambda_1$  and  $\partial_1 \rho \in \Lambda_2$  such that for all  $g \in H$  we have  $V_g \Omega = F_{\rho}^g \Omega$ . We can choose  $\rho_0$  such that  $\rho_0 \subset \rho$ . Let  $U : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}_{\Lambda_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\Lambda^c} \otimes \mathcal{H}_0$  as in Proposition 4.2.7. Hence,  $U\mathcal{R}(\Lambda_1)U^* \subset \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda_1})$  and  $U\mathcal{R}(\Lambda_2)U^* \subset \mathcal{B}(\Lambda_2)$ .

For every  $g \in H$  we define a set of orthonormal states by  $\Omega_g := F_{\rho_0}^g \Omega$ . Let  $P_{\Omega_g}, g \in H$  be the one-dimensional projections associated with these vectors, and set  $P_g := UP_{\Omega_g}U^* = \mathbb{1} \otimes \mathbb{1} \otimes P_{\Omega_g}$ . Note that  $P_g \in (U\mathcal{R}(\Gamma)U^*)'$  for all  $g \in H$ . Given  $X \in \mathcal{R}(\Gamma) \rtimes_{\alpha} H$  and  $k \in H$ , then

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{P}_{\mathsf{k}} \mathsf{U} \Phi(\mathsf{X}) \mathsf{U}^* &= \mathsf{P}_{\mathsf{k}} \mathsf{U} \sum_{\mathsf{g} \in \mathsf{H}} \mathsf{A}_{\mathsf{g}} \mathsf{V}_{\mathsf{g}} \mathsf{U}^* \\ &= \sum_{\mathsf{g} \in \mathsf{H}} \mathsf{U} \mathsf{A}_{\mathsf{g}} \mathsf{U}^* \mathsf{P}_{\mathsf{k}} \mathsf{U} \mathsf{V}_{\mathsf{g}} \mathsf{U}^* \end{split}$$

Next, show that  $P_k UV_g U^* \zeta \otimes \Omega = \delta_{k,g} UV_g U^* \zeta \otimes \Omega$  for any  $g, h \in H$  and any  $\zeta \in \mathcal{H}_{\Lambda_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\Lambda^c}$ . From this it follows, that if  $\Phi(X)\zeta \otimes \Omega = 0$  for any  $\zeta \in \mathcal{H}_{\Lambda_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\Lambda^c}$  then  $A_g U^* \zeta = 0$  for all  $g \in H$ , where  $X = \sum_{g \in H} A_g V_g$ . Hence, by Lemma 4.2.3, also  $A_g = 0$  for all  $g \in H$ .

By the definition of  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda_1}$  and  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda^c}$  we only need to show this for products of ribbon operators, i.e. for operators  $F \in \mathfrak{F}(\Gamma)$ . Let  $F \in \mathfrak{F}(\Gamma)$ , and  $\xi = F\Omega$ . Note that  $U\xi = \zeta \otimes \Omega$  with  $\zeta \in \mathcal{H}(\Lambda_1) \otimes \mathcal{H}(\Lambda^c)$ . Then  $UV_g U^* U\xi = UV_g F\Omega = \alpha(g) UFF_{\rho}^g \Omega$ , with  $\alpha(g) \in \mathbb{C}$  and  $|\alpha(g)| = 1$ , where we used the commutation relations between ribbon operators. In addition, we used that the unitary operators  $V_g$  are weak limits of sequences of ribbon operators, and that the multiplication is separate weakly continuous (as in the proof of Lemma 4.2.2).

Since  $\rho_0 \subset \rho$  there are ribbons  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  such that  $\rho = \rho_1 \rho_0 \rho_2$ . Hence

$$\begin{split} UV_g U^* U\xi &= \alpha(g) UFF^g_{\rho_1} F^g_{\rho_0} F^g_{\rho_2} \Omega \\ &= \alpha(g) UFU^* \left(F^g_{\rho_1} \Omega \otimes F^g_{\rho_2} \Omega \otimes F_{\rho_0} \Omega\right). \end{split}$$

Using the definition of  $P_k$  we find  $P_k UV_g U^* \zeta \otimes \Omega = \delta_{k,g} UV_g U^* \zeta \otimes \Omega$ . Since vectors of the form  $F\Omega$  with  $F \in \mathfrak{F}(\Gamma)$  span a dense subspace of  $\mathcal{H}_{\Gamma}$  this holds for all  $\zeta \in \mathcal{H}_{\Lambda_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\Lambda^c}$ . Hence, let  $X \in \mathcal{R}(\Gamma) \rtimes_{\alpha} H$  with  $X = \sum_{g,h} (A_g \otimes \mathbb{1})(V_g \otimes E_{h,gh})$ , and assume that  $\Phi(X) = 0$ .

Then for every  $k \in H$  and every  $\zeta \in \mathcal{H}_{\Lambda_1} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{\Lambda^c}$  it follows that

$$0 = P_k U \Phi(X) U^* \zeta \otimes \Omega = U A_k V_k U^* \zeta \otimes \Omega,$$

hence, by Lemma 4.2.2,  $A_k = 0$  and thus X = 0.

An immediate consequence of this theorem is that the unitary operators  $V_g$  with  $g \in G$  and  $g \neq e$  are not elements of  $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma)$ . Furthermore, we can apply the discussion of Section 1.2.4 to our situation.

COROLLARY 4.2.10:  $\Re(\Gamma) \subseteq \widehat{\Re}(\Gamma)$  is an irreducible inclusion of factors with index |G|. The action  $\alpha$  of G on  $\widehat{\Re}(\Gamma)$  is not inner.

*Proof.* As a UHF algebra  $\mathcal{A}$  is simple (see e.g. [BR96]), thus  $\pi$  is faithful and, by purity of  $\omega$  (see [FN15, Theorem 3.5]), irreducible. Therefore, by locality  $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma) \vee \mathcal{R}(\Gamma^c) = \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  for regions  $\Lambda$ . It follows that  $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma)' \cap \widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Gamma) = \mathbb{C}$  (see also [Naa13a, Lemma 3.2]). Since  $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma) \subseteq \widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Gamma)$  this implies that  $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma)$  is a factor. Similarly, we have  $\widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Gamma)' \vee \widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Gamma) \supseteq (\widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Gamma) \cup \mathcal{R}(\Gamma)')' = \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ , and therefore  $\widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Gamma)$  is a factor as well. Consequently, by Proposition 1.2.17, the automorphisms  $\alpha_g$  for  $g \in H$  and  $g \neq e$  are free, and therefore not inner. By Proposition 1.2.19  $\{V_g\}_{g\in H}$  is a Pimsner-Popa basis and the unique conditional expectation  $\mathcal{E}: \widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Gamma) \to \mathcal{R}(\Gamma)$  given by  $\mathcal{E}(\sum_{g \in H} A_g V_g) = A_0$ , with some indexing  $(A_g)_{g\in H}$  of elements in  $\widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Gamma)$ , has index |G|.

This result allows us to conclude that the number of superselection sectors in the quantum double models for finite abelian groups is given by  $|G|^2$ , as expected. For the toric code this is proved in [Naa13a, Theorem 4.9]. In our situation the proof carries over verbatim so that we need not to prove it here.

#### Тнеогем 4.2.11:

In Kitaev's quantum double model for finite abelian groups G on the infinite 2D lattice, the cone index  $[\widehat{\Re}(\Gamma) : \Re(\Gamma)]$  is equal to  $|G|^2$ . This implies that there are exactly  $|G|^2$ distinct superselection sectors. Furthermore the sectors are not degenerate and each sector has statistical dimension one.

# 4.3 Further Structure of the Inclusion

The previous sections we singled out some properties of cone algebras in the representation of the translational invariant ground state of Kitaev's quantum double model for a finite group G on an infinite plane. Of particular interest in this section is the result that the commutants of von Neumann algebras associated with pairs of cones can be identified with the crossed product of the von Neumann algebras of the same cones and the group  $H = G \times \hat{G}$ . In the following we further analyse this structure.

Recall that  $\Re(\Gamma) = \pi(\mathcal{A}(\Gamma))''$  and  $\widehat{\Re}(\Gamma) = \pi(\mathcal{A}(\Gamma^c))'$ , where  $(\pi, \Omega, \mathcal{H})$  is the cyclic representation of the translational invariant ground state  $\omega$ , and  $\Gamma = \Lambda_1 \cup \Lambda_2 \in \mathbb{C}^2$  is a pair of disjoint, and sufficiently separated cones. Let  $\alpha$  be the automorphic action of  $H = G \times \widehat{G}$  on  $\Re(\Gamma)$  given by the charge transporters by  $\alpha_g(A) := V_g A V_g^*$ ,  $A \in \Re(\Gamma)$ ,  $g \in G$ , and the group G is considered finite and abelian. The structure obtained in the previous section was summarised in Corollary 4.2.10, and we recall it here for convenience.

**Proposition 4.3.1:** 

*The algebras*  $\Re(\Gamma) \subseteq \widehat{\Re}(\Gamma)$  *is an irreducible inclusion of factors. Furthermore,*  $\widehat{\Re}(\Gamma)$  *is isomorphic to*  $\Re(\Gamma) \rtimes_{\alpha} H$  *and the action of*  $\alpha$  *is free. The map*  $\mathcal{E} : \widehat{\Re}(\Gamma) \to \Re(\Gamma)$  *defined by* 

$$\mathcal{E}(\mathbf{X}) = \mathbf{A}_{e}, \quad \mathbf{X} = \sum_{g \in \mathbf{H}} \mathbf{A}_{g} \mathbf{V}_{g} \in \widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Gamma),$$

*is the unique normal conditional expectation and has index*  $Ind(\mathcal{E}) = \frac{1}{|G|^2}$ .

We now want to point out a downward basic construction onto the  $\alpha$ -invariant subalgebra of  $\Re(\Gamma)$ . Since this is a structure that mainly depends on the properties of  $\widehat{\Re}(\Gamma)$  as a crossed product, we first discuss the more general case of arbitrary crossed products and then apply it to  $\widehat{\Re}(\Gamma)$ .

We start with considering a dynamical system  $(\mathfrak{M}, \mathsf{K}, \alpha)$  on some Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  as in Definition 1.2.12 and with K now some arbitrary abelian finite group. We assume that  $\mathfrak{M}$  is a factor and that the action  $\alpha$  is free on  $\mathfrak{M}$ . In addition, we require

that there are unitary operators  $\{V_g | g \in K\}$  on  $\mathcal{H}$  implementing  $\alpha$ . Then  $\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} K$  is a factor as well, by Proposition 1.2.17. By the discussion after Definition 1.2.13 the crossed product  $\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} K$  is isomorphic to the von Neumann algebra on  $\mathcal{H} \times \ell^2(G)$  generated by

$$\{A\otimes \mathbb{1}\,|\, A\in\mathfrak{M}\}\cup\{V_g\otimes\lambda_g\,|\, g\in K\},$$

where  $\lambda : G \to \ell^2(K)$  is the left regular representation of K. The canonical embedding  $\pi : \mathfrak{M} \to \mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} K$  is given by

$$\pi(\mathsf{A}) := \mathsf{A} \otimes \mathsf{1}, \, \mathsf{A} \in \mathfrak{M},$$

and for all  $g \in K$  the operators

$$\Lambda(g) = V_q \otimes \lambda_q,$$

define a faithful unitary representation of G on  $\mathcal{H} \otimes \ell^2(K)$  (see also equation 1.7). The normal conditional expectation  $E : \mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} G \to \pi(\mathfrak{M})$  is given by

$$\mathsf{E}(\mathsf{X}) := \mathsf{A}_{e},$$

where  $X = \frac{1}{|K|} \sum_{g \in K} A_g \Lambda(g)$ , and  $(A_g), g \in G$  is some labelling of elements in  $\pi(\mathfrak{M})$ . We denote the fixed point algebra under the action  $\alpha$  by

$$\mathfrak{M}_{0} := \{ A \in \mathfrak{M} \, | \, \forall g \in \mathsf{K} : \alpha_{g}(A) = A \}$$

$$(4.5)$$

which is again a von Neumann algebra. This algebra is accompanied by a normal conditional expectation  $E_0 : \mathfrak{M} \to \mathfrak{M}_0$  given by

$$\mathsf{E}_{0}(\mathsf{A}) := \frac{\mathsf{I}}{|\mathsf{K}|} \sum_{g \in \mathsf{K}} \mathsf{V}_{g} \mathsf{A} \mathsf{V}_{g}^{*}$$

It is simple to see that  $E_0(\mathfrak{M}) = \mathfrak{M}_0$ , and that  $E_0$  satisfies the criteria of a conditional expectation. Next, we define for each  $\chi \in \hat{K}$  an orthogonal projection

$$Q_{\chi} := \sum_{g \in K} \overline{\chi(g)} \Lambda(g), \tag{4.6}$$

and it can be checked that  $\Lambda(g)Q_{\chi} = \chi(g)Q_{\chi}$ ,  $\Lambda(g) = \sum_{\chi \in \hat{K}} \chi(g)Q_{\chi}$ , and  $Q_{\chi}Q_{\xi} = \delta_{\chi,\xi}P_{\chi}$  for any  $g \in K$  and any  $\chi, \xi \in \hat{K}$ .

Lemma 4.3.2:

The projections  $P_{\chi}, \chi \in \hat{K}$  as defined in equation (4.6) satisfy the following properties. For all  $\chi \in \hat{K}$  we have

- $\forall A \in \pi(\mathfrak{M}) : E_0(A)P_{\chi} = Q_{\chi}AQ_{\chi}$
- $\forall A \in \pi(\mathfrak{M}) : E_0(A) = \sum_{\chi \in \hat{K}} Q_{\chi} A Q_{\chi'}$
- $E(Q_{\chi}) = \frac{1}{|K|}\mathbb{1},$
- $\forall X \in \mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} K : E(X)Q_{\chi} = \frac{1}{|K|}XQ_{\chi}.$
- $\mathfrak{M}_0 = (\mathfrak{M}' \cup \{\mathsf{P}_{\chi}\})'.$

*Proof.* The first assertion follows from straightforward calculation, and the second is implied by the first, considering  $P_X P_{\xi} = \delta_{\chi,\xi} P_X$  for any  $\chi, \xi \in \hat{K}$ . The third is obvious from the definitions of E and the projections, and the fourth is again a simple calculation. It is clear that  $\mathfrak{M}_0 \subseteq (\mathfrak{M}' \cup \{P_X\})'$ . Conversely, let  $X \in (\mathfrak{M}' \cup \{P_X\})'$ . Note that  $\mathfrak{M}' \subseteq \mathfrak{M}'_0$  and thus, for all  $Y \in \mathfrak{M}'_0$  we have [X, Y] = 0, hence  $X \in \mathfrak{M}_0$ .

For all  $g \in G$  and  $A \in \mathfrak{M}$  we have  $\Lambda(g)A \otimes 1 \Lambda(g)^* = \alpha_g(A) \otimes 1$ , so this implies that

$$\pi(\mathfrak{M}_0) = \{ X \in \pi(\mathfrak{M}_0) \, | \, \forall g \in \mathsf{K} : \Lambda(g)X = X\Lambda(g) \}.$$

By faitfhulness of both  $\pi$  and  $\Lambda$ , the normal conditional expectation  $\tilde{E}_0 := \pi \circ \mathcal{E}_0 \circ \pi^{-1}$  satisfies the same properties as listed in Lemma 4.3.2 with respect to  $Q_{\chi}$  and  $\pi(\mathfrak{M}_0)$ .

PROPOSITION 4.3.3: Let  $(\mathfrak{M}, \mathsf{K}, \alpha)$  be a dynamical system,  $\mathfrak{M}$  a factor, and  $\alpha$  unitarily implemented on  $\mathfrak{H}$ . Let  $Q_{\chi}, \chi \in \hat{\mathsf{K}}$  be the projections as in equation 4.6. Then for any  $\chi \in \hat{\mathsf{K}}$ 

 $\langle \pi(\mathfrak{M}_0), Q_{\chi} \rangle \cong \mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} \mathsf{K}.$ 

*Furthermore*,  $\pi(\mathfrak{M}_0)$ , and hence  $\mathfrak{M}_0$  is a factor. The index of  $\mathsf{E}_0$  is  $\mathrm{Ind}(\mathsf{E}_0) = \frac{1}{|\mathsf{K}|}$ .

*Proof.* The existence of a \*-isomorphism between  $\langle \pi(\mathfrak{M}_0), Q_{\chi} \rangle$  and  $\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} K$  follows from Lemma 4.3.2 and [Kos98, Proposition 3.12]. This also implies that  $\mathrm{Ind}(\mathsf{E}_0) = \frac{1}{|\mathsf{K}|}$ . The same proposition also implies that  $\pi(\mathfrak{M}_0)$  is a factor, and so is  $\mathfrak{M}_0$  by faithfulness of the representation  $\pi$ .

This proposition singles out the algebra  $\pi(\mathfrak{M}_0)$  and the conditional expectation  $E_0$  as a downward basic construction of the inclusion  $\pi(\mathfrak{M}) \subseteq \mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} K$ . For the next steps we interject a small technical lemma.

#### Lemma 4.3.4:

Let  $\mathfrak{N}_1, \mathfrak{N}_2$  and  $\mathfrak{N}_3$  be von Neumann algebras over some common Hilbert space  $\mathfrak{H}$ . Then

 $\mathfrak{N}_1 \cap (\mathfrak{N}_2 \vee \mathfrak{N}_3) = (\mathfrak{N}_1 \cap \mathfrak{N}_2) \vee (\mathfrak{N}_1 \cap \mathfrak{N}_3).$ 

*Proof.* We have that

 $\mathfrak{N}_1 \cap (\mathfrak{N}_2 \cup \mathfrak{N}_3) = (\mathfrak{N}_1 \cap \mathfrak{N}_2) \cup (\mathfrak{N}_1 \cap \mathfrak{N}_3).$ 

With  $(\mathfrak{N}_1 \vee \mathfrak{N}_2) = (\mathfrak{N}_1 \cup \mathfrak{N}_2)'' = (\mathfrak{N}_1' \cap \mathfrak{N}_2')'$ , the bicommutants of each side are then

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{N}_1 \cap (\mathfrak{N}_2 \cup \mathfrak{N}_3)'' &= (\mathfrak{N}_1' \vee (\mathfrak{N}_2 \cup \mathfrak{N}_3)')' \\ &= (\mathfrak{N}_1 \cap (\mathfrak{N}_2 \vee \mathfrak{N}_3)), \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} (\mathfrak{N}_1 \cap \mathfrak{N}_2) \cup (\mathfrak{N}_1 \cap \mathfrak{N}_3))'' &= (\mathfrak{N}_1 \cap \mathfrak{N}_2)'' \lor (\mathfrak{N}_1 \cap \mathfrak{N}_3)'' \\ &= (\mathfrak{N}_1 \cap \mathfrak{N}_2) \lor (\mathfrak{N}_1 \cap \mathfrak{N}_3). \end{split}$$

Lemma	4.3.5:
-------	--------

Let  $(\mathfrak{M}, K, \alpha)$  be as in the previous proposition. Then the inclusion  $\mathfrak{M}_0 \subseteq \mathfrak{M}$  is irreducible, *i.e.* 

 $\mathfrak{M}'_0 \cap \mathfrak{M} = \mathbb{C}\mathbb{1}.$ 

*Proof.* Note that  $\mathfrak{M}_0 = \mathfrak{M} \cap \{V_g \mid g \in K\}'$  by construction. Using that  $\mathfrak{M}$  is a factor and that the operators  $V_g$  with  $g \in K$  and  $g \neq e$  are not contained in  $\mathfrak{M}$ , we find

$$\mathfrak{M}'_{0} \cap \mathfrak{M} = (\mathfrak{M}' \cup \{V_{g} \mid g \in K\})'' \cap \mathfrak{M}$$
$$= \mathfrak{M} \cap \{V_{g} \mid g \in K\}''$$
$$= \mathbb{C}\mathbb{1}.$$

The structure of the embedding  $\pi(\mathfrak{M}_0) \subset \pi(\mathfrak{M})$  is illustrated as follows.

#### Lemma 4.3.6:

The map  $\pi(\mathfrak{M}_0) \ni X \mapsto XQ_{\chi} \in Q_{\chi}(\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} K)Q_{\chi}$  is a \*-isomorphism for any choice of  $\chi \in \widehat{K}$ .

*Proof.* Fix any  $\chi \in \widehat{K}$ . For convenience let  $l_{\chi}$  denote the map  $\pi(\mathfrak{M}_0) \ni X \mapsto XQ_{\chi} \in Q_{\chi}\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} KQ_{\chi}$ . This map is non-zero by  $l_{\chi}(\mathbb{1}) = Q_{\chi}$ . Furthermore it is a \*-homomorphism since  $l_{\chi}(XY) = XYQ_{\chi} = XQ_{\chi}YQ_{\chi} = l_{\chi}(X)l_{\chi}(Y)$ . Since  $(\mathfrak{M}_0)$  is a factor and  $l_{\chi}$  is non-trivial,  $l_{\chi}$  is injective, by [JS97, Corollary A.3.2].

To prove surjectivity consider  $X \in \mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} K$ . Then  $X = \sum_{g \in G} A_g \Lambda(g)$  with  $(A_g)_{g \in G}$  some labelling of elements of  $\pi(\mathfrak{M})$ , and, using Lemma 4.3.2, we have

$$\begin{aligned} Q_X X Q_X &= Q_X \sum_{g \in K} A_g \Lambda(g) Q_X = \sum_{g \in K} \chi(g) Q_X A_g Q_X \\ &= \sum_{g \in K} \chi(g) \tilde{E}_0(A_g) Q_X \end{aligned}$$

which is of the form  $YQ_{\chi}$  with  $Y \in \pi(\mathfrak{M}_0)$ .

By [KR97, Proposition 5.5.6]  $Q_{\chi}(\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} K)Q_{\chi}$  viewed as a von Neumann algebra on  $Q_{\chi} \mathcal{H} \otimes \ell^{2}(K)$  is a factor. The lemma implies that, when restricted to the subspaces  $[P_{\chi} \mathcal{H} \otimes \ell^{2}(K)]$ , the von Neumann algebra  $\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} K$  becomes a copy of  $\mathfrak{M}_{0}$ .

We can also give a separate proof for that  $\mathfrak{M}_0$  is a factor if  $\mathfrak{M}$  is a factor.

**Proposition 4.3.7:** 

*Given a dynamical system*  $(\mathfrak{M}, \mathsf{K}, \alpha)$  *on some Hilbert space*  $\mathfrak{K}$  *with*  $\alpha$  *free and implemented on*  $\mathfrak{K}$  *by unitaries* { $V_q | g \in \mathsf{K}$ }*. Then* 

 $\mathfrak{M}_0\cap\mathfrak{M}_0'=\mathfrak{M}\cap\mathfrak{M}'\cap\{V_g\,|\,g\in K\}'$ 

*Especially, if*  $\mathfrak{M}$  *is a factor, then*  $\mathfrak{M}_0$  *is a factor.* 

*Proof.* First of all, note that  $\mathfrak{M}_0 = \mathfrak{M} \cap \{V_g \mid g \in K\}'$ . By the previous lemma we have for the center of  $\mathfrak{M}_0$ :

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{M}_{0} \cap \mathfrak{M}_{0}' &= (\mathfrak{M} \cap \{ \mathbf{V}_{g} \,|\, g \in \mathsf{K} \}') \cap (\mathfrak{M}' \vee \{ \mathbf{V}_{g} \,|\, g \in \mathsf{K} \}'') \\ &= (\mathfrak{M} \cap \mathfrak{M}' \cap \{ \mathbf{V}_{g} \,|\, g \in \mathsf{K} \}') \vee (\mathfrak{M} \cap \{ \mathbf{V}_{g} \,|\, g \in \mathsf{K} \}' \cap \{ \mathbf{V}_{g} \,|\, g \in \mathsf{K} \}'') \end{split}$$

Since the action  $\alpha$  is free, we have  $\mathfrak{M} \cap \{V_g \mid g \in K\}' \cap \{V_g \mid g \in K\}'' = \mathbb{C}1$ , and thus

$$\mathfrak{M}_0 \cap \mathfrak{M}'_0 = \mathfrak{M} \cap \mathfrak{M}' \cap \{V_q \mid g \in K\}',$$

which is the claim.

Now we turn back to the setting of the previous section. Let  $\Gamma \in C^2$  and  $\{V_g | g \in H\}$  be the charge transporters of the quantum double model with  $H = G \times \hat{G}$  and G a finite abelian group. Consider the algebras  $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma)$  and  $\widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Gamma)$  as in the previous section, and define

$$\mathcal{R}_{0} := \{ A \in \mathcal{R}(\Gamma) \, | \, \forall g \in H : V_{g}AV_{g}^{*} = 0 \}$$

and

$$\mathcal{E}_{0}(A) := \frac{1}{|G^{2}|} \sum_{g \in H} V_{g} A V_{g}^{*}$$
(4.7)

for all  $A \in \mathcal{R}(\Gamma)$ . Recall the definition

$$P_{\chi} = \frac{1}{|G^2|} \sum_{g \in H} \overline{\chi(g)} V_g$$

for  $\chi \in \hat{H}$ , and for convenience we write  $P_0 := P_{id}$ .

Lemma 4.3.8:

With the notation from above we have  $\mathfrak{R}_0 = \mathfrak{R}(\Gamma) \cap \{P_0\}'$ .

*Proof.* First, we have that  $\mathcal{R}_0 \subset \mathcal{R}(\Gamma) \cap \{P_0\}'$ , as, given  $A \in \mathcal{R}(\Gamma)$ ,  $\alpha_g(A) = A$  for all  $g \in H$  if and only if  $V_g A = AV_g$  for all  $g \in H$ .

To show  $\mathcal{R}_0 \supset \mathcal{R}(\Gamma) \cap \{P_0\}'$  we need the structure of the  $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma)$ . We only need to consider products of ribbon operators, since such products span a dense subset of  $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma)$ . Let  $F \in \mathcal{R}(\Gamma)$  be a product of ribbon operators with ribbons localised in  $\Gamma$ . Then for each  $g \in H$  we have that  $V_gF = \gamma(g)FV_g$  where  $\gamma(g) \in \mathbb{C}$  is a phase (see [FN15]). Assume now that F commutes with P<sub>0</sub>, i.e.  $\sum_{g \in H} [F, V_g] = 0$ . But this is only possible if F commutes with all summands and hence  $F \in \mathcal{R}_0$ . To see this note that  $\sum_{g \in H} FV_g = \sum_{g \in H} \gamma(g)FV_g$ . Since ribbon operators in F are unitary this implies  $\sum_{g \in H} V_g = \sum_{g \in H} \gamma(g)V_g$  and hence  $\alpha(g) = 1$  for all  $g \in H$ . By induction we find that if F is a sum of products of ribbon operators then  $[P_0, F] = 0$  implies  $[V_g, F] = 0$  for each  $g \in H$ .

The previous discussion then implies the following.

#### **Proposition 4.3.9:**

*With*  $\Gamma \in \mathbb{C}^2$  *and*  $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma)$ *,*  $\widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Gamma)$ *,*  $\mathcal{R}_0$ *, and*  $\mathcal{E}_0$  *as before, we have that* 

- $\mathcal{E}_{0} : \mathcal{R}(\Gamma) \to \mathcal{R}_{0}$  is a normal conditional expectation with index  $\mathrm{Ind}(\mathcal{E}_{0})$ ,
- $\mathfrak{R}_0$  is a factor, and  $\mathfrak{R}_0 \subseteq \mathfrak{R}(\Gamma)$  is irreducible,
- for all  $\chi \in \hat{H}$  we have  $\widehat{\mathfrak{R}}(\Gamma) \cong \langle \mathfrak{R}(\Gamma), \mathsf{P}_{\chi} \rangle$ ,
- for any  $\chi \in \widehat{H}$  the map  $\mathfrak{R}_0 \ni A \mapsto AP_{\chi} \in P_{\chi}\widehat{\mathfrak{R}}(\Gamma)P_{\chi}$  is a \*-isomorphism.

Summarising this,  $\Re_0 \subseteq \Re(\Gamma) \subseteq \widehat{\Re}(\Gamma)$  with the normal conditional expectations  $\mathcal{E}$  and  $\mathcal{E}_0$  constitute a basic construction.

*Proof.* All points directly follow from the preceding discussion except for the basic construction. But this follows from [Kos98, Theorem 3.12].  $\Box$ 

The normal conditional expectation  $\mathcal{E} : \widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Gamma) \to \mathcal{R}(\Gamma)$  is a normal, linear, completely positive [NTU60] and unit preserving map.

#### Definition 4.3.10:

A linear map  $E : \mathfrak{M} \to \mathfrak{N}$  between von Neumann algebras is called a channel, if E is normal, unit preserving and completely positive.

Thus the conditional expectation  $\mathcal{E}$  is a channel<sup>3</sup> with input system  $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma)$  and output  $\widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Gamma)$ . Channels from a von Neumann algebra  $\mathfrak{M}$  into the bounded operators  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{K})$  of some Hilbert space  $\mathcal{K}$  can be represented as a composition of an isometric embedding of  $\mathfrak{M}$  into a larger Hilbert space  $\mathcal{L}$  and a normal representation of  $\mathfrak{M}$  on  $\mathcal{L}$ . This is the content of a theorem by Stinespring ([Pau13, Theorem 4.1], see also [Tak79, Theorem IV.3.6] for von Neumann algebras).

#### Тнеогем 4.3.11:

Let A be a unital C\*-algebra and let  $E : A \to B(K)$  be a completely positive and unit preserving map. Then there exists a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{L}$ , a representation  $\pi : A \to B(\mathcal{L})$  and an isometry  $U : K \to \mathcal{L}$  such that for all  $A \in A$ 

$$\mathsf{E}(\mathsf{A}) = \mathsf{U}^* \pi(\mathsf{A}) \mathsf{U}. \tag{4.8}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>For a physical motivation for the definition of channels, see [NC09; Wil11; Key02]. The definition for von Neumann algebras can be found, for instance, in [Kri+06].

If  $\pi(\mathcal{A})$ U $\mathcal{K}$  is dense in  $\mathcal{L}$ , then the triple  $(\pi, U, \mathcal{L})$  is unique up to unitaries, i.e. if  $(\pi', U', \mathcal{L}')$  is another such triple satisfying equation (4.8), then there exists a unitary  $V : \mathcal{L} \to \mathcal{L}'$  such that VU = U'V and  $U\pi(\mathcal{A}) = \pi'(\mathcal{A})U'$  for all  $\mathcal{A} \in \mathcal{A}$ .

This representation of channels (or more general, completely positive maps) can be understood as a generalisation of the GNS representation.

#### DEFINITION 4.3.12:

Let  $E : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{K})$  be a completely positive and unit preserving map. A triple  $(\pi, \mathbb{U}, \mathcal{L})$  obtained from Theorem 4.3.11 is called Stinespring dilation. The triple  $(\pi, \mathbb{U}, \mathcal{L})$  is called minimal Stinespring dilation, if  $\pi(\mathcal{A})\mathbb{U}\mathcal{K}$  is norm dense in  $\mathcal{L}$ .

Let  $E : \mathfrak{M} \to \mathfrak{B}(\mathfrak{K})$  be a channel, and let  $E_* : \mathfrak{B}(\mathfrak{K})_* \to \mathfrak{M}_*$  be the unique completely positive map given by  $E_*(\omega)(A) = \omega(E(A))$  for all  $A \in \mathfrak{M}$  and all  $\omega \in \mathfrak{B}(\mathfrak{K})_*$ . If  $\omega$  is a normal state on  $\mathfrak{B}(\mathfrak{K})$  describing the preparation of a physical system, then  $E_*(\omega)$  is the state of the system after undergoing the evolution given by the channel. If  $\omega$  was initially pure, this is not necessarily true anymore for  $E_*(\omega)$ . From a more information theoretical point of view, the quantum channel E describes how information is transmitted from the input system  $\mathfrak{B}(\mathfrak{H})$  to the output system  $\mathfrak{M}$ . The Stinespring dilation theorem can now be interpreted as that this evolution can be understood as an isometric interaction of the system with an environment, i.e. the evolution is given by the coupling of the system to the environment  $\mathcal{L}$  via the isometry U. Due to the coupling to the environment information can be lost to the environment. The channel describing this is called the complementary channel.

#### Definition 4.3.13:

Let  $E : \mathfrak{M} \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{K})$  be a quantum channel, and let  $(\pi, \mathcal{U}, \mathcal{L})$  be a Stinespring dilation of E. The channel  $E_{(\pi, \mathcal{U}, \mathcal{L})}^{c} : \pi(\mathfrak{M})' \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{K})$  given by

 $\mathsf{E}^{\mathsf{c}}_{(\pi,\mathsf{U},\mathcal{L})}(\mathsf{A}) := \mathsf{U}\mathsf{A}\mathsf{U}^*,$ 

for all  $A \in \pi(\mathfrak{M})'$  is called complementary channel of E w.r.t.  $(\pi, U, \mathcal{L})$ .

For conditional expectations  $E : \mathfrak{M} \to \mathfrak{N}$ , with  $\mathfrak{N} \subseteq \mathfrak{M}$  acting on  $\mathcal{H}$ , the Stinespring dilation was characterised in [NTU60].

Now we come back to the situation on Kitaev's quantum double model for a finite abelian group G. In our case, the \*-isomorphism  $\Phi : \Re(\Gamma) \rtimes_{\alpha} H \to \widehat{\Re}(\Gamma)$  constructed in Theorem 4.2.9 provides us with the minimal Stinespring dilation.. Recall, that the Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  on which  $\Re(\Gamma)$  and  $\widehat{\Re}(\Gamma)$  act is the Hilbert space
obtained by the GNS construction from the unique translationally invariant ground space  $\omega$ . Let  $U : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H} \otimes \ell^2(H)$  be given by

$$U\xi = \xi \otimes \delta_e$$

where *e* is the unit of G, and  $\xi \in \mathcal{H}$ . Then one can check that U is an isometry, and the adjoint is given by

$$\mathbf{U}^*(\boldsymbol{\xi}\otimes\boldsymbol{\delta}_{\mathbf{g}})=\boldsymbol{\delta}_{\mathbf{g},e}\boldsymbol{\xi},$$

with  $\xi \in \mathcal{H}$ .

### Proposition 4.3.14:

Let  $\Gamma \in \mathbb{C}^2$ , and let  $\mathcal{E} : \widehat{\mathbb{R}}(\Gamma) \to \mathbb{R}(\Gamma)$  and  $U : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H} \otimes \ell^2(H)$  as before. Let  $\Phi : \mathbb{R}(\Gamma) \rtimes_{\alpha} H \to \widehat{\mathbb{R}}(\Gamma)$  be the \*-isomorphism constructed in Theorem 4.2.9. Then the tuple  $(V, \mathcal{H}', \Phi^{-1})$  is a minimal Stinespring dilation for  $\mathcal{E}$ , *i.e.* 

- $\forall X \in \widehat{\mathcal{R}} : \mathcal{E}(X) = U^* \Phi^{-1}(X) U$ ,
- the space  $\Phi^{-1}(\widehat{\mathfrak{R}}) U \mathfrak{H}$  is dense in  $\mathfrak{H}'$ .

*Proof.* First of all note, that  $\mathcal{E}$  is a channel [NTU60]. Next, we recall the definition of  $\Phi$ . Given  $X \in \widehat{\mathcal{R}}$  we can write it as  $X = \sum_{g \in G} A_g V_g$  with  $A_g \in \mathcal{R}$  and the unitaries  $V_g$  from the unitary representation  $V : G \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ . The corresponding outer action of G on  $\mathcal{R}$  is denoted by  $\alpha$ , i.e. for  $A \in \mathcal{R}$  and  $g \in G$  it is given by  $\alpha_g(A) = V_g A V_g^*$ .

The crossed product  $\Re(\Gamma) \rtimes_{\alpha} H$  on  $\mathcal{H} \otimes \ell^{2}(H)$  is spanned by elements of the form  $X = \sum_{g \in H} (A_{g} \otimes 1)(V_{g} \otimes \lambda_{g})$  where  $(A_{g})_{g \in H}$  is some indexing of elements of  $\Re(\Gamma)$  and  $\lambda$  is the left regular representation of H on  $\ell^{2}(H)$ . The \*-isomorphism  $\Phi$  is then given as

$$\Phi(\sum_{g\in H} (A_g\otimes \mathbb{1})(V_g\otimes \lambda_g)) = \sum_{g\in H} A_g V_g,$$

and its inverse is given by

$$\Phi^{-1}(\sum_{g\in \mathsf{H}}\mathsf{A}_g\mathsf{V}_g)=\sum_{g\in \mathsf{H}}(\mathsf{A}_g\otimes \mathbb{1})(\mathsf{V}_g\otimes \lambda_g).$$

With  $Y = \sum_{g \in H} A_g V_g$  we then have

$$\Phi^{-1}(Y)U\xi = \sum_{g \in H} (A_g V_g \xi) \otimes \delta_g$$
(4.9)

and thus

$$U^* \Phi^{-1}(Y) U\xi = A_e \xi.$$

This holds for all  $\xi \in \mathcal{H}$  and since elements of the form  $\sum_{g \in H} A_g V_g$  form a dense subalgebra of  $\widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Gamma)$  we arrive at

 $\mathcal{E}(\mathbf{Y}) = \mathbf{U}^* \Phi^{-1}(\mathbf{Y}) \mathbf{U}$ 

for all  $Y \in \widehat{\mathfrak{R}}(\Gamma)$ . The denseness of  $\Phi^{-1}(\widehat{\mathfrak{R}})V\mathfrak{H}$  in  $\mathfrak{H}'$  directly follows from equation (4.9).

This structure allows to draw a connection to error correction<sup>4</sup> and private subspaces. The following definition is due to reference [Cra+15].

#### Definition 4.3.15:

Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be a Hilbert space,  $\mathfrak{M}$  a von Neumann algebra,  $\mathsf{E} : \mathfrak{M} \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{K})$  a quantum channel and  $\mathsf{P} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{K})$  an orthogonal projection. A von Neumann algebra  $\mathfrak{N} \subset \mathcal{B}(\mathsf{P}\mathcal{K})$  is called private for  $\mathsf{E}$  w.r.t.  $\mathsf{P}$ , if

 $\operatorname{Ad}_{\mathsf{P}} \circ \mathsf{E}(\mathfrak{M}) \subseteq \mathfrak{N}'.$ 

*The von Neumann algebra*  $\mathfrak{N}$  *is said to be* correctable for E w.r.t. P, *if there exists a quantum channel*  $R : \mathfrak{N} \to \mathfrak{M}$  *such that* 

 $\mathrm{Ad}_{\mathsf{P}}\circ\mathsf{E}\circ\mathsf{R}=\mathrm{id}_{\mathfrak{N}}.$ 

We say that  $\mathfrak{N}$  is private (correctable) for E, if  $P = \mathbb{1}$ .

Proposition 4.3.14 allows to apply [Cra+15, Theorem 4.7] to the present situation.

### Proposition 4.3.16:

Given  $\mathcal{E} : \widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Gamma) \to \mathcal{R}(\Gamma)$  as before, and let  $(V, \mathcal{H}', \Phi^{-1})$  be the minimal Stinespring dilation from Theorem 4.3.14. Then the von Neumann algebra  $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma)'$  is private for  $\mathcal{E}$ . Moreover,  $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma)'$  is correctable for the complementary channel  $\mathcal{E}^{c}$  w.r.t. this dilation, and the correction map  $\mathcal{R} : \mathcal{R}(\Gamma)' \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}')$  is given by  $\mathcal{R}(X) = X \otimes \mathbb{1}, X \in \mathcal{R}(\Gamma)'$ .

*Proof.* By definition, the von Neumann subalgebra  $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma)' \subset \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  is private for the channel  $\mathcal{E}$  if  $\mathcal{E}(\widehat{\mathcal{R}}) \subset \mathcal{R}(\Gamma)''$ . Since  $\mathcal{E}(\widehat{\mathcal{R}}) = \mathcal{R}(\Gamma)$  this is fulfilled. By [Cra+15,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>for further reading on error correction and its generalisation to von Neumann algebras, see [KL95; BNS98; KLP05; BKK07b; BKK07a; Chu+11]



Theorem 4.7]  $\Re(\Gamma)'$  is then also correctable for the complementary channel  $\mathcal{E}^c$  of  $\mathcal{E}$  w.r.t.  $(V, \mathcal{H}', \Phi^{-1})$ . That is, there exists a channel  $\Re : \Re(\Gamma)' \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}')$  such that  $\mathcal{E}^c \circ \Re = \operatorname{id}_{\Re(\Gamma)'}$ . It is now easy to see that the channel  $\Re(\Gamma) : \Re(\Gamma)' \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}')$  defined by  $\Re(X) = X \otimes \mathbb{1}$  fulfills exactly this criterion.

### 4.4 TOTAL QUANTUM DIMENSION AND SECRET SHARING

In what follows we discuss the structure of the inclusion  $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma) \subseteq \widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Gamma)$  from an operational point of view. In particular it is possible to show that the Jones-Kosaki-Longo index  $\operatorname{Ind}(\mathcal{E})$  is associated to a structure that is very similar to the structure found for the total quantum dimension in the analysis of the quantum double models for finite system sizes. These results are published in [FNO17] and the purpose of this section is to give a brief review of the important statements.

The conditional expectation  $\mathcal{E} : \mathcal{R}(\Gamma) : \widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Gamma)$  is unique, satisfies  $\mathcal{E}(X^*X) \ge \frac{1}{|G|^2}X^*X$  for all  $X \in \widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Gamma)$ , and its index is  $\mathrm{Ind}(\mathcal{E}) = |G|^2$ . From Theorem 4.2.11 (for more details, see the discussion after Definition 3.5 in [Naa13a]) it follows that the index of  $\mathcal{E}$  is equal to the square of the total quantum dimension  $\mathcal{D}^2$  of  $\mathcal{D}(G)$ , i.e.

$$\mathrm{Ind}(\mathcal{E})=\sum_{\alpha}d(\rho_{\alpha})^{2},$$

where the sum goes over the charge sectors, and  $d(\rho_{\alpha})$  is the statistical dimension of representatives of the sectors.

The structure of the inclusion  $\Re(\Gamma) \subset \widehat{\Re}(\Gamma)$  is related to the occurrence of a *secret sharing scheme* [FNO17]. These schemes share information between several parties in a way that the information is hidden from an adversary. Equivalently, secret sharing schemes describe how to share a secret between several shareholders such that each shareholder alone is not capable of recovering the secret from their share, but it needs a minimal number of shareholders to collaborate in order to decode the secret [CGL99; Got00].

In quantum systems such schemes are described by a partition of the system into subsystems, *part*, a subset of system's Hilbert space, the *code space*, and a conditions on the parties and on the vectors of the code space [Got00]. Each party has only access to observables on their part of the system. Furthermore, parts are distinguished into authorised parts, which can access the secret using operations on their part of the system, and unauthorised parts, which cannot decode the information with local operations on their part of the system. Decoding operations

is understood as being able to distinguish the code states. Depending on whether the information encoded in the code space is quantum or classical, the code space is a subspace of the system's Hilbert space, or a set of orthogonal states. This also means, that if we enlarge an unauthorised part by adding an authorise one, the resulting new part is authorised.

In our case, the authorised parts are given by the cones  $\Lambda_1$  and  $\Lambda_2$ , where  $\Gamma = \Lambda_1 \cup \Lambda_2 \in \mathbb{C}^2$ . There is only one unauthorised part which is  $\Gamma^c$ . The local operations of each of theses systems are  $\mathcal{R}(\Lambda_1)$ ,  $\mathcal{R}(\Lambda_2)$ , and  $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma^c)$ . The code states are given by classes of vectors  $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma)V_g\Omega$ , where  $\Omega$  is the cyclic state implementing the ground state  $\omega_0$ , and  $V_{g_{g\in H}}$  is a fixed set of charge transporters from  $\Lambda_1$  to  $\Lambda_2$ . Note, that for each  $g, h \in H$  and  $A, B \in \mathcal{R}(\Gamma)$  we have

$$(AV_{q}\Omega, BV_{h}\Omega) = \delta_{h,q}(AV_{q}\Omega, BV_{q}\Omega),$$

by the construction of the charge transporters and the commutation relations of ribbon operators. This implies that the vectors  $AV_g\Omega$  and  $BV_h\Omega$  are not superposable with respect to observables in  $\mathcal{R}(\Lambda_1)$  and  $\mathcal{R}(\Lambda_2)$ : If  $\phi$  is a phase, and  $\psi := \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(AV_g\Omega + e^{i\phi}BV_h\Omega)$ , then

$$2(\psi, C\psi) = (AV_{g}\Omega, CAV_{g}\Omega) + (BV_{h}\Omega, CBV_{h}\Omega)$$

for all  $C \in \mathcal{R}(\Lambda_1)$ , and the same holds true for all  $C \in \mathcal{R}(\Lambda_2)$ . In addition, for each  $A, B \in \mathcal{R}(\Gamma)$ , there are projections in  $\mathcal{R}(\Lambda_1)$  and  $\mathcal{R}(\Lambda_2)$  which can distinguish the vectors  $AV_g\Omega$  and  $BV_h\Omega$  for each  $g, h \in H$ : To construct the charge transporters one needs to specify fixed sites  $s_i \in \Lambda_i$ , i = 1, 2. If A, B = 1 it suffices to choose the charge projections in Definition 2.5.1 at  $s_1$  and  $s_2$ . If A, B are products of ribbon operators, then can choose loops around the regions in  $\Lambda_1$  and  $\Lambda_2$  in which A and B act non-trivially and takes the projections onto the charge in these regions (for such operators, c.f. [BM08]). Finally, by locality we have for any operator  $E \in \mathcal{R}(\Gamma^c)$ , any  $g, h \in H$  and  $A, B \in \mathcal{R}(\Gamma)$ :

$$(AV_q\Omega, EBV_h\Omega) = \delta_{h,q}(AV_q\Omega, EBV_q\Omega).$$

This means that the code states are correctable with respect to errors imposed by operators in  $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma^c)$  [Got00]. Hence, encoding information by applying the charge transporters to vectors in  $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma)\Omega$  results in vectors from the code space. These states cannot be distinguished by an adversary having only access to observables in  $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma^c)$ . Hence, if restricted to the algebra  $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma^c)$  these states coincide.

The above discussion allows to conclude that the cones  $\Lambda_1$  and  $\Lambda_2$  can be viewed as authorised parts of a secret sharing scheme for classical information, and  $\Gamma^{c}$  as unauthorised. The code states are in fact the classes of vectors  $\Re(\Gamma)V_{q}\Omega$ with  $g \in H$ . The classical information is encoded on states from  $\Re(\Gamma)\Omega$  by using the charge transporters  $\{V_q \mid g \in H\}$ . The fact that  $\widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Gamma) \cong \mathcal{R}(\Gamma) \rtimes_{\alpha} H$ , or  $\mathrm{Ind}(\mathcal{E}) = |\mathsf{G}|^2$ implies that this choice of code states is maximal in the sense, that there are no additional code states we can add without violating the conditions on the secret sharing scheme [FNO17]. In addition, we have that  $\Re(\Gamma^c) \subset \Re(\Gamma)'$  and this inclusion is strict, since  $\Re(\Gamma^c) = \widehat{\Re}(\Gamma)$ . For instance, the projections onto the total charges in  $\Lambda_1$  and  $\Lambda_2$ , respectively, are contained in  $\Re(\Gamma)'$ , but not in  $\Re(\Gamma^c)$ . An adversary having access only to the observables in the algebra  $\Re(\Gamma^c)$  therefore cannot determine the total charge in either cone  $\Lambda_1$  and  $\Lambda_2$ . However, it is not so clear to connect the privacy of  $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma)'$  with respect to the channel  $\mathcal{E}$  directly to this picture. However, in both situations we find, as discussed below, that the index characterised the amount of information that can be hidden from an adversary. For private subspaces in secret sharing schemes in finite dimensions this is much clearer [KKS08].

There is yet another facet to this. The logarithm of the index of the inclusion  $\Re(\Gamma) \subset \widehat{\Re}(\Gamma)$  can be related to a relative entropy [PP86; Hia90]. This relative entropy can be interpreted as a the amount of information that can be hidden in the secret sharing scheme [FNO17]. We briefly review the according discussion in reference [FNO17] to which we refer for the details. Given a normal state  $\phi$  on  $\widehat{\Re}(\Gamma)$ , then the relative entropy between  $\widehat{\Re}(\Gamma)$  and  $\Re(\Gamma)$  w.r.t.  $\phi$  is given as

$$H_{\varphi}(\widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Gamma)|\mathcal{R}(\Gamma)) = \sup_{\varphi_{\mathfrak{i}}} \sum_{\mathfrak{i}} [S(\mathfrak{p}_{\mathfrak{i}}\varphi_{\mathfrak{i}}, \varphi) - S(\mathfrak{p}_{\mathfrak{i}}\varphi_{\mathfrak{i}} \upharpoonright \mathcal{R}(\Gamma), \varphi \upharpoonright \mathcal{R}(\Gamma))],$$

where the supremum is taken over all finite families  $(\phi_i)_{i \in I}$  of normal states on  $\widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Gamma)$  such that  $\phi = \sum_i p_i \phi_i$ , where  $(p_i)_{i \in I}$  is a probability distribution over the finite index set I. The relative entropy  $S(p_i \phi_i, \phi)$  used here is a generalisation of the relative entropy of finite dimensional systems (c.f. [OP93])<sup>5</sup>. It can be shown that  $H_{\phi}(\widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Gamma)|\mathcal{R}(\Gamma))$  is non-negative and can be interpreted as the additional amount of information an encode in the state  $\phi$ , if we use operations of  $\widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Gamma)$  instead of  $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma)$  [FNO17]. The relative entropy between  $\widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Gamma)$  and  $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma)$  w.r.t. to the conditional

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The order of the arguments in  $S(p_i\phi_i, \phi)$  is reversed comparted to the definition in [OP93].



Figure 4.2: Relation between different concepts related to the total quantum dimension in Kitaev's quantum double model for finite abelian groups. The dotted lines are the relations that are established in [FNO17]. The total quantum dimension can be obtained from combinations entanglement entropies of certain regions [KP06; LW05]. It also can be obtained from the Jones-Kosaki-Longo index. Both, the topological entanglement entropy and the logarithm of the index can be interpreted in terms of a secret sharing scheme as the amount of information that can be hidden from an adversary.

expectation & is defined as

$$\mathsf{H}_{\mathcal{E}}(\widehat{\mathfrak{R}}(\Gamma), \mathfrak{R}(\Gamma)) \coloneqq \sup_{\Phi} \mathsf{H}_{\Phi}(\widehat{\mathfrak{R}}(\Gamma), \mathfrak{R}(\Gamma)),$$

and the supremum is taken over all faithful normal states  $\phi$  on  $\widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Gamma)$  such which fulfill  $\mathcal{E} \circ \phi = \phi$ . It then follows that

$$\mathsf{H}_{\mathcal{E}}(\mathcal{R}(\Gamma), \mathcal{R}(\Gamma)) = \log \left( \mathrm{Ind}(\mathcal{E}) \right),$$

which also proves that there are states  $\phi$  on  $\widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Gamma)$  such that  $H_{\phi}(\widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Gamma)|\mathcal{R}(\Gamma)) > 0$ . The relative entropy  $H_{\mathcal{E}}(\widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Gamma), \mathcal{R}(\Gamma))$ , and therefore the total quantum dimension  $\mathcal{D}$ , give us an upper bound on the amount of information we can possibly encode in a state on  $\widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Gamma)$  if we use the additional operators in this algebra which are not contained in the algebra  $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma)$ . Together with the discussion of the secret

sharing scheme, the total quantum dimension (more precisely, its logarithm) can be interpreted as the maximum amount of information that can be hidden using the charge transporters.

Let us summarise this discussion. The index of the inclusion  $\mathcal{R}(\Gamma) \subset \widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Gamma)$  is equal to the square of total quantum dimension  $\mathcal D$  of the modular tensor category of finite dimensional representations of  $\mathcal{D}(G)$ . At the same time, it can be interpreted as the dimension of the code space of a secret sharing scheme for classical information. Furthermore, the relative entropy of the inclusion  $\Re(\Gamma) \subset \widehat{\Re}(\Gamma)$  with respect to the channel  $\mathcal{E}$  is equal to the logarithm of the index, i.e.  $H_{\mathcal{E}}(\widehat{\mathcal{R}}(\Gamma), \mathcal{R}(\Gamma)) = \log \mathcal{D}^2$ , hence giving an upper bound on the information that can be hidden in the secret sharing scheme. This is strikingly similar to the properties one finds in the analysis of the quantum double models in finite system sizes. There the total quantum dimension of  $\operatorname{Rep}_{f}(\mathcal{D}(G))$  can be obtained from the the topological entanglement entropy S<sub>top</sub>. The topological entanglement entropy of the quantum double model is a zero order correction in the area law of the ground state. It can be interpreted as the reduction of the von Neumann entropy of the ground state restricted to a finite region due to the presence of anyonic excitations [KP06; LW06]. For the ground state of Kitaev's quantum double models the topological entanglement entropy is proportional to  $\mathcal{D}$  [KP06; LW06]. Moreover, it was shown, that  $S_{top}$  can be interpreted as the rate of a secret sharing scheme [KFM16], though the scheme is different from ours. The relation between these different concepts discussed above is depicted in Figure 4.2.

### 5 Summary and Outlook

Due to their stability against local perturbations and their potential to implement unitary gates for quantum computation, topologically ordered systems have gained broad interest as possible candidates for quantum memories and fault tolerant quantum computation. Among the different models that are usually investigated to better understand topological order, the quantum double models proposed by Kitaev are the most prominent examples whose structure is relatively simple and well understood, and which combine many of the properties topological ordered systems ought to have [Kit03]. It is this structure which makes this class of models also appealing as toy models in the study of topologically ordered systems in the thermodynamic limit.

The name "quantum double models" stems from the fact that the local excitations above the ground state are characterised by the irreducible representations of Drinfel'd's quantum double  $\mathcal{D}(G)$  of a finite group G that enters the construction of the model [Kit03]. Thus, the local excitations are anyons and their statistics is very different from fermions and bosons. If the group underlying the construction is finite and abelian, an assumption we make in large parts of this thesis, the irreducible representations are then labelled by elements of the group  $H = G \times \hat{G}$ , where  $\hat{G}$  is the group of irreducible characters of G. The fusion and braiding rules are given by the multiplication rules of the group H [FN15]. Depending on the topology of the surface in which Kitaev's quantum double model is embedded, the ground state space is degenerate and the number of ground states depends only on the surface's genus. On the plain square lattice, i.e. in the thermodynamic limit, there only exists one translationally invariant ground state, and this state is pure [FN15; Naa12a]. There are other ground states of the dynamics which are associated with single excitations, but are neither translationally invariant nor necessarily pure [CNN16].

Since the structure of local excitations in these models is well understood in terms of the ribbon operators, this allows for a straightforward construction of states in the thermodynamic limit that contain single excitations: Local excitations always occur in conjugate pairs at the end of ribbons, and a single excitation can be obtained by fixing one end and moving the other end to infinity. This results in states containing cone-like localised excitations, and one can show that the representations of the quasilocal algebra A associated to these states do not depend on the ribbon or the position of the excitations up to unitary equivalence. In fact, these representations are representatives of equivalence classes of representations of A that are selected by a DHR-like superselection criterion.

The equivalence classes that are distinguished by the selection criterion are called superselection sectors and describe the elementary charges of the model. A representation obeys the superselection criterion, if it is equivalent to the representation of the translationally invariant ground state outside of cones. It then turns out that the explicitly constructed representations that contain single excitations are representatives of distinct superselection sectors, if the label of the excitations are different. However, the representations constructed in this way are a priori representatives of only some classes. In order to fully classify the sectors one needs an additional technical property called Haag duality for cone algebras in the ground state representation. It allows to show that the properties of an explicitly constructed representation carry over to its whole equivalence class. In addition, Haag duality can be used to define braiding and fusion on the superselection sectors, which then can be used to show that the sectors containing the explicitly constructed representations form a braided monoidal category. The latter can then be shown to be isomorphic to the modular tensor category of irreducible representations of  $\mathcal{D}(G)$ .

By locality, operators localised inside a cone commute with the operators localised in the complement of the cone. Haag duality is the converse statement: operators that commute with all operators localised in the complement of a cone are in fact themselves localised inside the cone. A large part of this thesis is devoted to show that Haag duality holds for cone algebras in the GNS representation of the translationally invariant ground state of the quantum double model in the case of finite abelian groups. This is achieved by understanding the structure of the local excitations created inside and outside of a cone  $\Lambda$ . In particular, the proof relies on the characterisation of a certain Hilbert subspace  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}$  of the Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$ . Here  $\mathcal{H}$  is the Hilbert space obtained from the GNS construction of the translationally

invariant ground state  $\omega_0$ . This subspace  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}$  contains excitations created only inside the cone  $\Lambda$ ; excitations localised outside  $\Lambda$  are contained in its orthogonal complement. This allows to restrict both the algebra  $\pi_0(\mathcal{A}(\Lambda))$  of operators localised inside the cone and the algebra  $\pi_0(\mathcal{A}(\Lambda^c))'$  of operators commuting with those in the complement of  $\Lambda$ , to  $\mathcal{H}_{\Lambda}$ . Here the prime denotes the commutant of the algebra in  $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  and  $\pi_0$  is the GNS representation of  $\omega_0$ . A result by Rieffel and van Daele [RD75] allows then to conclude Haag duality for the cone algebras, i.e. the equality  $\pi(\mathcal{A}(\Lambda))'' = \pi(\mathcal{A}(\Lambda^c))'$ .

That Haag duality is not necessarily fulfilled for any subset of the square lattice is illustrated by the algebra of observables associated to the union  $\Gamma = \Lambda_1 \cup \Lambda_2$  of two disjoint cones  $\Lambda_1, \Lambda_2$ . There Haag duality fails: the commutant of the algebra of observables localised in  $\Gamma^c$  is strictly larger than the algebra of observables localised in  $\Gamma$ . A recent result [Naa13a] shows that the Jones-Kosaki-Longo index of the corresponding inclusion of von Neumann algebras allows to give an upper bound on the number of superselection sectors which the theory supports. The second part of this thesis is devoted to the analysis of the algebra  $\pi_0(\mathcal{A}(\Gamma^c))'$ . This algebra is generated by  $\pi_0(\mathcal{A}(\Gamma))''$  and the charge transporters from  $\Lambda_1$  to  $\Lambda_2$ . The charge transporters form a unitary representation of the group  $H = G \times \hat{G}$ , and as in the toric code [Naa13a], the algebra  $\pi_0(\mathcal{A}(\Gamma^c))'$  is shown to be isomorphic to the crossed product of  $\pi_0(\mathcal{A}(\Gamma))''$  with the group H. The proof relies on the tools and the understanding of the local excitations developed in the proof of Haag duality. These tools can also be used to conclude that the algebra  $\pi_0(\mathcal{A}(\Gamma))''$  is isomorphic to the tensor product  $\pi_0(\mathcal{A}(\Lambda_1))'' \otimes \pi_0(\mathcal{A}(\Lambda_2))$  if the cones  $\Lambda_1$  and  $\Lambda_2$  are sufficiently separated from each other. This property is called *approximate* split property and is proved by explicitly constructing a unitary which implements the equivalence. As mentioned earlier, the von Neumann algebra  $\pi_0(\mathcal{A}(\Gamma^c))'$  is isomorphic to the crossed product of  $\pi_0(\mathcal{A}(\Gamma))''$  with the group H. This implies that the Jones-Kosaki-Longo index of the inclusion  $\pi_0(\mathcal{A}(\Gamma))'' \subset \pi_0(\mathcal{A}(\Gamma^c))'$  is equal to  $|G|^2$ , which in turn is the square of total quantum dimension  $\mathcal{D}$  of  $\mathcal{D}(G)$ . As this gives an upper bound to the number of superselection sectors [Naa13a], this proves that all superselection sectors are completely characterised by the finite dimensional representations of  $\mathcal{D}(G)$  (see also [KLM01] for a similar result in the setting of conformal field theory).

The inclusion  $\pi_0(\mathcal{A}(\Gamma))'' \subset \pi_0(\mathcal{A}(\Gamma^c))'$  carries more structure: The conditional expectation implementing the restriction of the larger algebra  $\pi_0(\mathcal{A}(\Gamma^c))'$ to  $\pi_0(\mathcal{A}(\Gamma))''$  is in fact a quantum channel. The commutant  $\pi_0(\mathcal{A}(\Gamma))'$  of the ob-

servables localised in  $\Gamma$  is then a private subalgebra with respect to  $\mathcal{E}$ . This seems to be related to the existence of a secret sharing scheme for classical information associated with the inclusion  $\pi_0(\mathcal{A}(\Gamma))'' \subset \pi_0(\mathcal{A}(\Gamma^c))'$ . If  $\Omega$  is the vector implementing the translationally invariant ground state, the charge transporters contained in the larger algebra can be used to prepare states from the ground state vector  $\Omega$  that are indistinguishable for operators localised in the complement of  $\Gamma^c$ , i.e. contained in the algebra  $\pi_0(\mathcal{A}(\Gamma^c))''$ . On the other hand, these states can be distinguished by operators localised in the cones  $\Lambda_1$  and  $\Lambda_2$ . The number of states, or rather classes of states, that can be prepared in this way is given by the index, hence the total quantum dimension  $\mathcal{D}$ . This is complemented by the observation that the logarithm of the Jones-Kosaki-Longo index equal to a relative entropy of the inclusion with respect to  $\mathcal{E}$  [Hia90; PP86]. This relative entropy can be interpreted as the additional information one can encode in a state using operators from  $\pi_0(\mathcal{A}(\Gamma^c))''$ [FNO17].

The structure found for the index is very similar to the structure found when analysing the quantum double models in finite system sizes. There the logarithm of the total quantum dimension can be obtained from the topological entanglement entropy, where it characterises a correction of the von Neumann entropy of the ground state restricted to a finite region, due to the presence of anyons in the system [KP06; LW06]. In addition, the topological entanglement entropy, and hence the logarithm of  $\mathcal{D}$ , can be interpreted as the sharing rate of a secret sharing scheme for certain regions [KFM16]. This suggests that the underlying concept of the total quantum dimension for the thermodynamic limit is the same as for finite system sizes, and sheds some new light on the structure of the total quantum dimension.

### 5.1 Outlook

As remarked in Section 4.4 the Jones-Kosaki-Longo index in Kitaev's quantum double model for finite abelian groups is accompanied by a structure that is very similar to that found in the analysis of this model in finite system sizes. Judging from the situation in finite system sizes, where it is known that the area law, and hence the topological entanglement entropy, is stable under the quasi-adiabatic continuation [Mar+14], one would expect that the index is stable against perturbations of the Hamiltonian with local interactions. As long as the gap above the ground state energy in the spectrum of the Hamiltonian is not closed, such

perturbations do not lead to a phase transition. Furthermore, one would expect that the superselection sectors are invariant. A useful tool in this analysis could be the generalisation of the quasi-adiabatic continuation to the thermodynamic limit [Bac+11]. More precisely, in reference [Bac+11] it was shown that ground states of such perturbed Hamiltonian are automorphically equivalent to the ground states of the original Hamiltonian by a so-called spectral flow. This flow satisfies a Lieb-Robinson bound and therefore maps strictly localised observables to observables that are only quasi-local. As a consequence, single excitations of the resulting deformed Kitaev model can no longer be expected to be cone-like localised. This also suggests that selection criterion in Definition 4.1.5 in this strictly local form is then not valid anymore, and should be replaced by a more suitable one.

It seems possible, but laborious, to proof Haag duality for cone algebras in the ground state representation in the non-abelian case as well. This requires a more detailed understanding of the commutation relations of ribbon operators with focus on relating the appearing sums and coefficients to the fusion coefficients and R-matrix elements of  $\operatorname{Rep}_{f} \mathcal{D}(G)$ . Furthermore, it should be possible to use some of the techniques developped for the corresponding proof in the abelian case. We have seen for the quantum doubles model for finite abelian groups that the category of localised endomorphisms is equivalent to the modular tensor category of finite dimensional representations of  $\mathcal{D}(G)$ . It is expected that this is also the case if the underlying group is non-abelian. However, it is not so clear how to describe the superselection sectors and what the corresponding objects are that play, for instance, the role of the inclusion  $\pi_0(\mathcal{A}(\Gamma))'' \subset \pi_0(\mathcal{A}(\Gamma^c))'$  in the abelian case. One problem that arises here is, that the irreducible representations of  $\mathcal{D}(G)$  are no longer necessarily one-dimensional, and thus describe non-abelian anyons. Hence, the anyons now have inner degrees of freedom which transform non-trivially under the fusion and braiding. This is indicated by the form of the ribbon operators when labelled by irreducible representations of  $\mathcal{D}(G)$  as well as their fusion and braiding rules (c.f. Proposition 2.6.4 and Lemmata 2.6.11 and 2.6.14). A promising approach is to use amplimorphism of the quasilocal algebra A into the tensor product of Awith finite dimensional matrix algebras. This is discussed in reference [Naa15] in more detail, where such amplimorphisms where constructed. Similar approaches for one-dimensional spin chains can be found in the references [SV93; NS97].

Inclusions  $\mathfrak{N} \subset \mathfrak{N}$  of von Neumann algebras with conditional expectation  $E : \mathfrak{M} \to \mathfrak{N}$  of finite index provide a large class of examples of von Neumann

algebras that are correctable in the sense of reference [Cra+15]: the von Neumann algebra  $\mathfrak{N}'$  is private for E, and therefore  $\mathfrak{N}'$  is correctable for any complementary channel  $E^c$  of E. In the case of crossed products there is more structure. If  $\mathfrak{N}$  is a factor, and  $\mathfrak{M} = \mathfrak{N} \rtimes_{\alpha} G$  for some finite group G acting freely on  $\mathfrak{N}$ , then the subgroups of G are in one-to-one correspondence with intermediate subfactors of  $\mathfrak{N} \rtimes_{\alpha} G$ , and for each such subfactor  $\mathfrak{L}$  there exists a conditional expectation  $E_H:\mathfrak{N}\rtimes_\alpha G\to\mathfrak{L}$  [Cho78]. The commutant  $\mathfrak{L}'$  is then private for the associated conditional expectation E<sub>H</sub>. One question here is, whether there exists a projection P such that  $\mathfrak{N}'$  is private for  $E_H$  with respect to P. The observation that the relative entropy of the inclusion  $\Re(\Gamma) \subset \widehat{\Re}(\Gamma)$  with respect to  $\mathcal{E}$  characterises the amount of information that is erased from the private subalgebra under the complementary channel, suggests that a similar interpretation exists for general inclusion  $\mathfrak{N} \subset \mathfrak{M}$ if there exists a conditional expectation  $E: \mathfrak{M} \to \mathfrak{N}$  of finite index. Furthermore, it should be possible to translate this discussion to channels from von Neumann algebras into bounded operators acting on some Hilbert space, since, by [Pau13, Theorem 3.18], channels give rise to conditional expectations onto the algebra of fixed points of the channel.

### Acknowledgements

After having written down this thesis I find myself puzzled about how many people influenced my way of thinking and supported me during my time in the Hannover group through countless discussions, long evenings, the time spent together, etc.

First, I want to express my gratitude to my supervisor Reinhard Werner for giving me the opportunity to work in this group of great people and making it possible to finish this project. I am grateful for having the opportunity to benefit from his knowledge on quantum information theory and fundamentals of quantum mechanics. It was a pleasure working in the Hannover group!

I feel greatly indebted to Pieter Naaijkens, who gave me the opportunity to work on this project and could interest me for the beautiful topic of quantum spin systems. The fruitful collaboration, countless discussions, his support and feedback on manuscripts made this thesis possible. Thank you for all this!

There were numerous people involved reading the manuscripts of the thesis and giving me feedback. I owe much to Deniz, Christoph S., Courtney, Inken, Lars, Kais, René, Terry and Tobias G. who took the time and patience for this, asking questions, finding typographical errors, and telling me "that's a long sentence". Your contributions helped a lot to improve the quality of the thesis.

During the time in the group there was also time for less work related things. I enjoy remembering the countless games of Towerfall with the sandwich group and the (at least) equally frequent matches of table football. Especially I would like to thank Christina, Julie, Sania, Cedric, Courtney and Ash for the chats, discussions and great time spent outside (and inside) work as much as I would like to thank

Bernhard, Lars, Kais, René for many hours of kicker, discussions, and long evenings. The time spent together enriched my life and supported me in difficult times. I thank Christopher for expanding my taste of music and dragging me to enjoyable concerts.

Many thanks go to Courtney for sharing his vast knowledge on topological order in many exciting discussions.

I also want to thank Fabian, who introduced me to the concept of habit tracking. This helped me to arrange and control my schedule and eventually allowed me to finish the thesis in time.

Many thanks go to our secretary Wiebke. Thank you for the nice chats in the coffee breaks, and your organisation and support with administrative struggles!

For the joint work on the uncertainty paper I like to thank Kais and Rene for awakening my interest in uncertainty measures. Also I like to thank Tobias Osborne for the joint work on the index paper and his support.

Special thanks go to my parents, my brother and my sister for their love and support. Without them, this thesis would not have been possible.

Finally, I gratefully acknowledge the financial support of the European Research Council (ERC) through the Discrete Quantum Simulator (DQSIM) project.

## Literature

[Aff+87]	Ian Affleck, Tom Kennedy, Elliott H. Lieb and Hal Tasaki. 'Rigorous results on valence-bond ground states in antiferromagnets'. <i>Phys. Rev. Lett.</i> 59.7 (1987), pp. 799–802. doi: 10.1103/physrevlett.59.799.
[Bac+11]	Sven Bachmann, Spyridon Michalakis, Bruno Nachtergaele and Robert Sims. 'Automorphic Equivalence within Gapped Phases of Quantum Lattice Systems'. <i>Communications in Mathematical Physics</i> 309.3 (2011), pp. 835–871. ISSN: 0010-3616. DOI: 10.1007/s00220-011-1380-0. arXiv: 1102.0842.
[Bac+15]	Sven Bachmann, Eman Hamza, Bruno Nachtergaele and Amanda Young. 'Product Vacua and Boundary State Models in d Dimensions'. <i>Journal of Statistical Physics</i> 160.3 (2015), pp. 636–658. doi: 10.1007/ s10955-015-1260-7. arXiv: 1410.0398.
[Bau+15]	Johannes Bausch, Toby S. Cubitt, Angelo Lucia, David Perez-Garcia and Michael M. Wolf. 'Size-Driven Quantum Phase Transitions' (2015). arXiv: 1512.05687.
[BB15]	Sven Bachmann and Andreas Bluhm. 'Local factorisation of the dy- namics of quantum spin systems' (Aug. 2015). eprint: 1508.05254.
[BF82]	Detlev Buchholz and Klaus Fredenhagen. 'Locality and the structure of particle states'. <i>Communications in Mathematical Physics</i> 84.1 (1982), pp. 1–54. ISSN: 0010-3616. DOI: 10.1007/BF01208370.
[BH11]	Sergey Bravyi and MatthewB. Hastings. 'A Short Proof of Stability of Topological Order under Local Perturbations'. <i>Communications in</i>

*Mathematical Physics* 307.3 (2011), pp. 609–627. ISSN: 0010-3616. DOI: 10.1007/s00220-011-1346-2.

- [BHM10] Sergey Bravyi, Matthew Hastings and Spyridon Michalakis. 'Topological quantum order: stability under local perturbations'. *Journal of Mathematical Physics* 51 (2010), p. 093512. DOI: 10.1063/1.3490195. arXiv: 1001.0344.
- [BHV06] S. Bravyi, M. B. Hastings and F. Verstraete. 'Lieb-Robinson Bounds and the Generation of Correlations and Topological Quantum Order'. *Physical Review Letters* 97 (5 2006), p. 050401. DOI: 10.1103/ PhysRevLett.97.050401.
- [BKK07a] Cedric Beny, Achim Kempf and David W. Kribs. 'Quantum Error Correction of Observables'. *Phys. Rev. A* 76, (2007), p. 042303. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevA.76.042303. arXiv: 0705.1574.
- [BKK07b] Cédric Bény, Achim Kempf and David W. Kribs. 'Generalization of Quantum Error Correction via the Heisenberg Picture'. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 98.10 (2007). DOI: 10.1103/physrevlett.98.100502. arXiv: quantph/0608071.
- [BM06] H. Bombin and M. A. Martin-Delgado. 'Topological Quantum Distillation'. Phys. Rev. Lett. 97.18 (2006). DOI: 10.1103/physrevlett.97. 180501.
- [BM08] H. Bombin and M. A. Martin-Delgado. 'Family of non-Abelian Kitaev models on a lattice: Topological condensation and confinement'. *Physical Review B* 78.11, 115421 (2008), p. 115421. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevB. 78.115421. arXiv: 0712.0190 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [BN12] Sven Bachmann and Bruno Nachtergaele. 'Product vacua with boundary states'. *Phys. Rev. B* 86.3 (2012). ISSN: 1550-235X. DOI: 10.1103/ physrevb.86.035149.
- [BN13] Parsa Bonderson and Chetan Nayak. 'Quasi-topological phases of matter and topological protection'. *Physical Review B* 87.19 (2013), p. 195451. DOI: 10.1103/physrevb.87.195451. arXiv: 1212.6395.
- [BNS98] Howard Barnum, M. A. Nielsen and Benjamin Schumacher. 'Information transmission through a noisy quantum channel'. *Phys. Rev. A* 57.6 (1998), pp. 4153–4175. DOI: 10.1103/physreva.57.4153. arXiv: quant-ph/9702049.

- [Bom13] H. Bombin. 'An Introduction to Topological Quantum Codes'. "Topological Codes", in "Quantum Error Correction", edited by Daniel A. Lidar and Todd A. Brun, Cambridge University Press, New York, 2013 (2013). arXiv: 1311.0277.
- [BR96] Ola Bratteli and Derek W. Robinson. *Operator Algebras and Quantum Statistical Mechanics*. Vol. 1-2. Springer, 1996. ISBN: 3540614435.
- [Bre14] Courtney G. Brell. 'Generalized Color Codes Supporting Non-Abelian Anyons' (2014). DOI: 10.1103/physreva.91.042333. arXiv: 1408.
   6238.
- [Bro+11] Benjamin J Brown, Wonmin Son, Christina V Kraus, Rosario Fazio and Vlatko Vedral. 'Generating topological order from a two-dimensional cluster state using a duality mapping'. *New Journal of Physics* 13.6 (2011), p. 065010. DOI: 10.1088/1367-2630/13/6/065010. arXiv: 1105.2111.
- [Bro+13] Benjamin J. Brown, Stephen D. Bartlett, Andrew C. Doherty and Sean D. Barrett. 'Topological Entanglement Entropy with a Twist'. *Physical Review Letters* 111, (2013), p. 220402. DOI: 10.1103/physrevlett.111. 220402. arXiv: 1303.4455.
- [BSW11] Salman Beigi, Peter W. Shor and Daniel Whalen. 'The Quantum Double Model with Boundary: Condensations and Symmetries'. Communications in Mathematical Physics 306 (3 2011), pp. 663–694. ISSN: 0010-3616. DOI: 10.1007/s00220-011-1294-x.
- [Cam+11] Paolo Camassa, Roberto Longo, Yoh Tanimoto and Mihály Weiner. 'Thermal States in Conformal QFT. I'. Communications in Mathematical Physics 309.3 (2011), pp. 703–735. DOI: 10.1007/s00220-011-1337-3. arXiv: 1101.2865.
- [CC07] C. Castelnovo and C. Chamon. 'Entanglement and topological entropy of the toric code at finite temperature'. *Phys. Rev. B* 76, (2007), p. 184442. DOI: 10.1103/physrevb.76.184442. arXiv: 0704.3616.
- [Ced+15] C. Cedzich, F. A. Grünbaum, C. Stahl, L. Velázquez, A. H. Werner and R. F. Werner. 'Bulk-edge correspondence of one-dimensional quantum walks'. *Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical, Volume Number 21 (2016)* Journal Number 21 (2016) (2015). DOI: 10. 1088/1751-8113/49/21/21LT01. arXiv: 1502.02592.

- [CGL99] Richard Cleve, Daniel Gottesman and Hoi-Kwong Lo. 'How to Share a Quantum Secret'. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 83.3 (1999), pp. 648–651. DOI: 10. 1103/physrevlett.83.648. arXiv: quant-ph/9901025.
- [CGW10] X. Chen, Z.-C. Gu and X.-G. Wen. 'Local unitary transformation, longrange quantum entanglement, wave function renormalization, and topological order'. *Phys. Rev. B* 82.15, 155138 (2010), p. 155138. DOI: 10. 1103/PhysRevB.82.155138. arXiv: 1004.3835 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [CGW11] Xie Chen, Zheng-Cheng Gu and Xiao-Gang Wen. 'Classification of gapped symmetric phases in one-dimensional spin systems'. *Phys. Rev. B* 83 (3 2011), p. 035107. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevB.83.035107.
- [Cha87] David Chandler. *Introduction to modern statistical mechanics*. Oxford University Press, 1987. 288 pp. ISBN: 978-0-19-504276-4.
- [Che+13] Xie Chen, Zheng-Cheng Gu, Zheng-Xin Liu and Xiao-Gang Wen. 'Symmetry protected topological orders and the group cohomology of their symmetry group'. *Phys. Rev. B* 87.15 (2013). ISSN: 1550-235X. DOI: 10.1103/physrevb.87.155114.
- [Cho78] Hisashi Choda. 'A Galois correspondence in a von Neumann algebra'. Tohoku Mathematical Journal 30.4 (1978), pp. 491–504. DOI: 10.2748/ tmj/1178229909.
- [Chu+11] Amber Church, David W. Kribs, Rajesh Pereira and Sarah Plosker. 'Private Quantum Channels, Conditional Expectations, and Trace Vectors'. Quantum Info. Comput. 11.9-10 (2011), pp. 774–783. ISSN: 1533-7146. arXiv: 1210.6625. URL: http://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm? id=2230936.2230940.
- [CN08] Han-Dong Chen and Zohar Nussinov. 'Exact results of the Kitaev model on a hexagonal lattice: spin states, string and brane correlators, and anyonic excitations'. *Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical* 41.7 (2008), p. 075001. DOI: 10.1088/1751-8113/41/7/075001.
- [CNN16] Matthew Cha, Pieter Naaijkens and Bruno Nachtergaele. 'The complete set of infinite volume ground states for Kitaev's abelian quantum double models' (2016). arXiv: 1608.04449.
- [CPW15a] Toby S. Cubitt, David Perez-Garcia and Michael M. Wolf. 'Undecidability of the spectral gap'. Nature 528.7581 (2015), pp. 207–211. DOI: 10.1038/nature16059. arXiv: 1502.04573.
- 140

[CPW15b]	Toby Cubitt, David Perez-Garcia and Michael M. Wolf. 'Undecidabil- ity of the Spectral Gap (short version)' (2015). arXiv: 1502.04135.
[Cra+15]	Jason Crann, David W. Kribs, Rupert H. Levene and Ivan G. Todorov. 'Private algebras in quantum information and infinite-dimensional complementarity'. <i>J. Math. Phys.</i> 57.1 (2015), p. 015208. doi: 10.1063/ 1.4935399. arXiv: 1510.06672.
[CV13]	L. Cincio and G. Vidal. 'Characterizing Topological Order by Studying the Ground States on an Infinite Cylinder'. <i>Physical Review Letters</i> 110.6 (2013). ISSN: 1079-7114. DOI: 10.1103/physrevlett.110.067208.
[Den+02]	Eric Dennis, Alexei Kitaev, Andrew Landahl and John Preskill. 'Topo- logical quantum memory'. <i>J.Math.Phys.</i> 43 (2002), pp. 4452–4505. DOI: 10.1063/1.1499754. arXiv: quant-ph/0110143 [quant-ph].
[DHR74]	Sergio Doplicher, Rudolf Haag and John E. Roberts. 'Local observ- ables and particle statistics II'. <i>Communications in Mathematical Physics</i> 35 (1 1974), pp. 49–85. ISSN: 0010-3616. DOI: <b>10.1007/BF01646454</b> .
[DL83]	Claudio D'Antoni and Roberto Longo. 'Interpolation by type I factors and the flip automorphism'. <i>Journal of Functional Analysis</i> 51.3 (1983), pp. 361–371. doi: 10.1016/0022-1236(83)90018-6.
[DPR91]	R. Dijkgraaf, V. Pasquier and P. Roche. 'Quasi Hopf algebras, group cohomology and orbifold models'. <i>Nuclear Phys. B Proc. Suppl.</i> 18B (1991). Recent advances in field theory (Annecy-le-Vieux, 1990), pp. 60–72. ISSN: 0920-5632. DOI: 10.1016/0920-5632(91)90123-V.
[Dri88]	V. G. Drinfel'd. 'Quantum groups'. <i>Proceedings of the International Con-</i> <i>gress of Mathematicians, Vol. 1, 2 (Berkeley, Calif., 1986).</i> Vol. 41. 2. Provid- ence, RI: Springer Science + Business Media, 1988, pp. 898–915. DOI: 10.1007/bf01247086.
[Ein90]	Torbjörn Einarsson. 'Fractional statistics on a torus'. <i>Physical Review Letters</i> 64.17 (1990), pp. 1995–1998. DOI: 10.1103/physrevlett.64. 1995.
[Emc00]	Gerard Emch. <i>Algebraic Methods in Statistical Mechanics and Quantum Field Theory</i> . Dover Publications, 2000.

- [EN14] Dominic V. Else and Chetan Nayak. 'Classifying symmetry-protected topological phases through the anomalous action of the symmetry on the edge' (2014). DOI: 10.1103/physrevb.90.235137. arXiv: 1409. 5436.
- [Got00] Daniel Gottesman. 'Theory of quantum secret sharing'. *Physical Review A* 61.4 (2000). ISSN: 1094-1622. DOI: 10.1103/physreva.61.
   042311. arXiv: quant-ph/9910067.
- [Got97] D. Gottesman. 'Stabilizer codes and quantum error correction'. PhD thesis. California Institute of Technology, 1997. arXiv: quant - ph/ 9705052.
- [Gou93] M.D. Gould. 'Quantum double finite group algebras and their representations'. BAZ 48.02 (1993), p. 275. ISSN: 1755-1633. DOI: 10.1017/ s0004972700015707.
- [Gro+09] D. Gross, V. Nesme, H. Vogts and R. F. Werner. 'Index theory of one dimensional quantum walks and cellular automata'. *Communications in Mathematical Physics* (2009), pp. 419–454. DOI: 10.1007/s00220-012-1423-1. arXiv: 0910.3675 [quant-ph].
- [Haa16] Jeongwan Haah. 'An Invariant of Topologically Ordered States Under Local Unitary Transformations'. Commun. Math. Phys. 342.3 (2016), pp. 771–801. DOI: 10.1007/s00220-016-2594-y. arXiv: 1407.2926.
- [Haa79a] Uffe Haagerup. 'Operator valued weights in von Neumann algebras I'. Journal of Functional Analysis 32.2 (1979), pp. 175–206. DOI: 10.1016/ 0022-1236(79)90053-3.
- [Haa79b] Uffe Haagerup. 'Operator valued weights in von Neumann algebras II'. Journal of Functional Analysis 33.3 (1979), pp. 339–361. DOI: 10.1016/ 0022-1236(79)90072-7.
- [Hal07] Hans Halvorson. 'Algebraic Quantum Field Theory'. Philosophy of Physics. Elsevier BV, 2007, pp. 731–864. DOI: 10.1016/b978-044451560-5/50011-7. arXiv: math-ph/0602036.
- [Hal88] F. D. M. Haldane. 'Model for a Quantum Hall Effect without Landau Levels: Condensed-Matter Realization of the "Parity Anomaly"'. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 61 (18 1988), pp. 2015–2018. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.61. 2015.

[Has11]	Matthew B. Hastings. 'Topological Order at Nonzero Temperature'. <i>Physical Review Letters</i> 107 (21 2011), p. 210501. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevLett. 107.210501. arXiv: 1106.6026.
[Hia88]	Fumio Hiai. 'Minimizing indices of conditional expectations onto a subfactor'. <i>Publications of the Research Institute for Mathematical Sciences</i> 24.4 (1988), pp. 673–678. DOI: 10.2977/prims/1195174872.
[Hia90]	Fumio Hiai. 'Minimum index for subfactors and entropy'. <i>J. Operator Theory</i> 24.2 (1990), pp. 301–336. ISSN: 0379-4024. DOI: 10.2969/jmsj/04320347.
[Hol13]	Alexander S Holevo. <i>Quantum systems, channels, information: a math-</i> <i>ematical introduction</i> . Vol. 16. Walter de Gruyter, 2013. DOI: 10.1515/ 9783110273403.
[HT72]	Yoshinory Haga and Zirô Takeda. 'Correspondence between sub- groups and subalgebras in a cross product von Neumann algebra'. <i>Tohoku Mathematical Journal</i> 24.2 (1972), pp. 167–190. DOI: 10.2748/ tmj/1178241528.
[HW05]	M. B. Hastings and Xiao-Gang Wen. 'Quasiadiabatic continuation of quantum states: The stability of topological ground-state degeneracy and emergent gauge invariance'. <i>Phys. Rev. B</i> 72 (4 2005), p. 045141. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevB.72.045141.
[Jon83]	V. F. R. Jones. 'Index for subfactors'. <i>Inventiones Mathematicae</i> 72.1 (1983), pp. 1–25. ISSN: 0020-9910. DOI: 10.1007/bf01389127.
[JP13]	Arthur Jaffe and Fabio L. Pedrocchi. 'Topological Order and Reflection Positivity' (2013). doi: 10.1209/0295-5075/105/40002. arXiv: 1310. 5370.
[JS97]	V. Jones and V. S. Sunder. <i>Introduction to Subfactors</i> . London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1997. DOI: 10.1017/cb09780511566219.
[Kas95]	Christian Kassel. <i>Quantum Groups</i> . Vol. 155. Graduate Texts in Mathematics. New York: Springer New York, 1995, pp. xii+531. ISBN: 0-387-94370-6. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4612-0783-2.
[Key02]	Michael Keyl. 'Fundamentals of quantum information theory'. <i>Physics</i> <i>Reports</i> 369.5 (2002), pp. 431–548. doi: 10.1016/S0370-1573(02) 00266-1.

- [KFM16] Kohtaro Kato, Fabian Furrer and Mio Murao. 'Information-theoretical analysis of topological entanglement entropy and multipartite correlations'. *Phys. Rev. A* 93.2 (2016), p. 022317. DOI: 10.1103/physreva. 93.022317. arXiv: 1505.01917.
- [Kim12] Isaac H. Kim. 'Perturbative analysis of topological entanglement entropy from conditional independence'. *Phys. Rev. B* 86.24 (2012). DOI: 10.1103/physrevb.86.245116. arXiv: 1210.2360.
- [Kit03] A.Yu. Kitaev. 'Fault-tolerant quantum computation by anyons'. *Annals of Physics* 303.1 (2003), pp. 2–30. DOI: 10.1016/s0003-4916(02)00018-0. arXiv: quant-ph/9707021.
- [Kit09] Alexei Kitaev. 'Periodic table for topological insulators and superconductors' (2009). DOI: 10.1063/1.3149495. arXiv: 0901.2686.
- [Kit97] A. Yu. Kitaev. 'Quantum Error Correction with Imperfect Gates'. Quantum Communication, Computing, and Measurement. Springer Science + Business Media, 1997, pp. 181–188. DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4615-5923-8\_19.
- [KKS08] Dennis Kretschmann, David W. Kribs and Robert W. Spekkens. 'Complementarity of private and correctable subsystems in quantum cryptography and error correction'. *Phys. Rev. A* 78.3 (2008). DOI: 10.1103/ physreva.78.032330. arXiv: 0711.3438.
- [KL09] Alexei Kitaev and Chris Laumann. 'Topological phases and quantum computation' (2009). arXiv: 0904.2771.
- [KL87] V. Kalmeyer and R. B. Laughlin. 'Equivalence of the resonatingvalence-bond and fractional quantum Hall states'. *Physical Review Letters* 59.18 (1987), pp. 2095–2098. DOI: 10.1103/physrevlett.59.2095.
- [KL95] Emanuel Knill and Raymond Laflamme. 'A Theory of Quantum Error-Correcting Codes' (1995). DOI: 10.1103/physreva.55.900. arXiv: quant-ph/9604034.
- [KLM01] Yasuyuki Kawahigashi, Roberto Longo and Michael Mueger. 'Multiinterval Subfactors and Modularity of Representations in Conformal Field Theory'. Commun.Math.Phys. 219:631-669,2001 (2001). DOI: 10. 1007/PL00005565. arXiv: math/9903104.
- 144

[KLP05]	David Kribs, Raymond Laflamme and David Poulin. 'Unified and Generalized Approach to Quantum Error Correction'. <i>Phys. Rev. Lett.</i> 94.18 (2005). DOI: 10.1103/physrevlett.94.180501. arXiv: quant- ph/0412076.
[Kog79]	John B. Kogut. 'An introduction to lattice gauge theory and spin systems'. <i>Reviews of Modern Physics</i> 51.4 (1979), pp. 659–713. doi: 10. 1103/revmodphys.51.659.
[Kos86]	Hideki Kosaki. 'Extension of Jones' theory on index to arbitrary factors'. <i>Journal of Functional Analysis</i> 66.1 (1986), pp. 123–140. ISSN: 0022-1236. DOI: 10.1016/0022-1236(86)90085-6.
[Kos98]	Hideki Kosaki. <i>Type III factors and index theory</i> . Vol. 43. Research Insti- tute of Mathematics, Global Analysis Research Center, Seoul National University, 1998.
[KP06]	Alexei Kitaev and John Preskill. 'Topological Entanglement Entropy'. <i>Physical Review Letters</i> 96.11, 110404 (2006), p. 110404. doi: 10.1103/physrevlett.96.110404. arXiv:arXiv:hep-th/0510092.
[KR97]	R.V. Kadison and J.R. Ringrose. <i>Fundamentals of the Theory of Operator Algebras</i> . Fundamentals of the Theory of Operator Algebras. American Mathematical Society, 1997.
[Kri+06]	David W. Kribs, Raymond Laflamme, David Poulin and Maia Lesosky. 'Operator quantum error correction'. <i>Quantum Info. Comput.</i> 6.4 (2006), pp. 382–399. arXiv: quant-ph/0504189. url: http://dl.acm.org/ citation.cfm?id=2012086.2012092.
[KT73]	J M Kosterlitz and D J Thouless. 'Ordering, metastability and phase transitions in two-dimensional systems'. <i>Journal of Physics C: Solid State Physics</i> 6.7 (1973), pp. 1181–1203. DOI: 10.1088/0022-3719/6/7/010.
[Lan08]	Lev D. Landau. 'On the Theory of Phase Transitions'. <i>Ukrainian Journal</i> of <i>Physics</i> 53 (2008).
[LL13]	Yuan-Ming Lu and Dung-Hai Lee. 'Gapped symmetric boundaries of symmetry protected topological phases' (2013). arXiv: 1311.1807.
[Lon89]	Roberto Longo. 'Index of subfactors and statistics of quantum fields I'. <i>Communications in Mathematical Physics</i> 126.2 (1989), pp. 217–247. DOI: 10.1007/bf02125124.

- [Lon91] Roberto Longo. 'Index of subfactors and statistics of quantum fields
   II'. Communications in Mathematical Physics 139.2 (1991), pp. 285–309.
   DOI: 10.1007/bf02102957.
- [LW05] Michael A. Levin and Xiao-Gang Wen. 'String-net condensation: A physical mechanism for topological phases'. *Phys. Rev. B* 71.4 (4 2005), p. 045110. DOI: 10.1103/physrevb.71.045110. arXiv: cond-mat/ 0404617.
- [LW06] Michael Levin and Xiao-Gang Wen. 'Detecting Topological Order in a Ground State Wave Function'. *Physical Review Letters* 96.11 (11 2006), p. 110405. DOI: 10.1103/physrevlett.96.110405. arXiv: condmat/0510613.
- [Mar+14] Michaël Mariën, Koenraad M. R. Audenaert, Karel Van Acoleyen and Frank Verstraete. 'Entanglement Rates and the Stability of the Area Law for the Entanglement Entropy' (Nov. 2014). arXiv: 1411.0680.
- [MM97] István Montvay and Gernot Münster. *Quantum fields on a lattice*. Cambridge University Press, 1997. ISBN: 9780521599177.
- [MN36] F. J. Murray and J. v. Neumann. 'On Rings of Operators'. *The Annals of Mathematics* 37.1 (1936), p. 116. DOI: 10.2307/1968693.
- [Moc03] Carlos Mochon. 'Anyons from nonsolvable finite groups are sufficient for universal quantum computation'. *Physical Review A* 67.2 (2003).
   DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevA.67.022315.
- [Moc04] Carlos Mochon. 'Anyon computers with smaller groups'. *Physical Review A* 69.3 (2004). DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevA.69.032306.
- [Naa11] Pieter Naaijkens. 'Localized Endomorphisms in Kitaev's Toric Code on the Plane'. *Reviews in Mathematical Physics* 23.04 (2011), pp. 347– 373. DOI: 10.1142/s0129055x1100431x. arXiv: 1012.3857 [math-ph].
- [Naa12a] P. Naaijkens. 'Anyons in infinite quantum systems : QFT in d=2+1 and the Toric Code'. Dissertation. Radboud Universiteit Nijmegen, 2012. URL: http://hdl.handle.net/2066/92737.
- [Naa12b] Pieter Naaijkens. 'Haag Duality and the Distal Split Property for Cones in the Toric Code'. Letters in Mathematical Physics 101.3 (2012), pp. 341–354. DOI: 10.1007/s11005-012-0572-7. arXiv: 1106.4171 [math-ph].

[Naa13a]	Pieter Naaijkens. 'Kosaki-Longo index and classification of charges in
	2D quantum spin models'. Journal of Mathematical Physics 54.8 (2013),
	p. 081901. doi: 10.1063/1.4818272. arXiv: 1303.4420 [math-ph].

- [Naa13b] Pieter Naaijkens. 'Quantum spin systems on infinite lattices' (2013). arXiv: 1311.2717.
- [Naa15] Pieter Naaijkens. 'Kitaev's Quantum Double Model from a Local Quantum Physics Point of View'. Advances in Algebraic Quantum Field Theory. Springer Science + Business Media, 2015, pp. 365–395. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-21353-8\_9. arXiv: 1508.07170.
- [Nay+08] Chetan Nayak, Steven H. Simon, Ady Stern, Michael Freedman and Sankar Das Sarma. 'Non-Abelian anyons and topological quantum computation'. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 80 (3 2008), pp. 1083–1159. DOI: 10. 1103/RevModPhys.80.1083. arXiv: 0707.1889.
- [NC09] Michael A. Nielsen and Isaac L. Chuang. Quantum Computation and Quantum Information. Cambridge University Press, 2009. DOI: 10. 1017/cbo9780511976667.
- [NO09] Z. Nussinov and G. Ortiz. 'Sufficient symmetry conditions for Topological Quantum Order'. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 106.40 (2009), pp. 16944–16949. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0803726105.
- [NOS06] Bruno Nachtergaele, Yoshiko Ogata and Robert Sims. 'Propagation of Correlations in Quantum Lattice Systems'. J. Stat. Phys. 124 (2006), pp. 1–13. doi: 10.1007/s10955-006-9143-6. arXiv: math-ph/ 0603064.
- [NS10] B. Nachtergaele and R. Sims. 'Lieb-Robinson Bounds in Quantum Many-Body Physics'. ArXiv e-prints (2010). DOI: 10.1090/conm/529/ 10429. arXiv: 1004.2086 [math-ph].
- [NS97] Florian Nill and Kornél Szlachányi. 'Quantum Chains of Hopf Algebras with Quantum Double Cosymmetry'. Communications in Mathematical Physics 187 (1 1997), pp. 159–200. ISSN: 0010-3616. DOI: 10.1007/s002200050132. arXiv: hep-th/9507174.
- [NTU60] M. Nakamura, M. Takesaki and H. Umegaki. 'A remark on the expectations of operator algebras'. *Kodai Mathematical Seminar Reports* 12.2 (1960), pp. 82–90. DOI: 10.2996/kmj/1138844264.

- [OP93] Masanori Ohya and Dénes Petz. *Quantum entropy and its use*. Texts and Monographs in Physics. Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 1993, pp. viii+335.
   ISBN: 3-540-54881-5. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-57997-4.
- [Osb06] Tobias J. Osborne. 'The Dynamics of 1D Quantum Spin Systems Can Be Approximated Efficiently'. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 97, (2006), p. 157202. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.97.157202. arXiv: quant-ph/0508031.
- [Osb07] Tobias J. Osborne. 'Simulating adiabatic evolution of gapped spin systems'. *Phys. Rev. A* 75, (2007), p. 032321. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevA. 75.032321. arXiv: quant-ph/0601019.
- [Pau13] Vern Paulsen. Completely Bounded Maps and Operator Algebras. Cambridge University Press, 2013. 300 pp. ISBN: 0521816696.
- [PP86] Mihai Pimsner and Sorin Popa. 'Entropy and index for subfactors'. Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4) 19.1 (1986), pp. 57–106. ISSN: 0012-9593. URL: http://www.numdam.org/item?id=ASENS\_1986\_4\_19\_1\_57\_0.
- [RD75] M. A. Rieffel and A. van Daele. 'The Commutation Theorem for Tensor Products of von Neumann Algebras'. Bulletin of the London Mathematical Society 7.3 (1975), pp. 257–260. DOI: 10.1112/blms/7.3.257.
- [RS15] Wojciech De Roeck and Marius Schütz. 'Local Perturbations Perturb Exponentially- Locally' (2015). DOI: 10.1063/1.4922507. arXiv: 1501.
   04571.
- [RSW09] Eric Rowell, Richard Stong and Zhenghan Wang. 'On Classification of Modular Tensor Categories'. *Communications in Mathematical Physics* 292.2 (2009), pp. 343–389. DOI: 10.1007/s00220-009-0908-z. arXiv: 0712.1377.
- [Rue69] David Ruelle. *Statistical Mechanics*. Ed. by A. S. Wightman. Mathematical Physics Monograph Series. W. A. Benjamin, Inc, 1969.
- [Şah+14] Mehmet Burak Şahinoğlu, Dominic Williamson, Nick Bultinck, Michael Mariën, Jutho Haegeman, Norbert Schuch and Frank Verstraete.
   'Characterizing Topological Order with Matrix Product Operators' (2014). arXiv: 1409.2150.
- [Sak71] Shôichirô Sakai. C\*-*Algebras and W\*-Algebras*. Springer Nature, 1971. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-61993-9.

- [Sch+12] Norbert Schuch, Didier Poilblanc, J. Ignacio Cirac and David Perez-Garcia. 'Topological order in PEPS: Transfer operator and boundary Hamiltonians'. *Physical Review Letters* 111, (2012), p. 090501. DOI: doi: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.111.090501. arXiv: 1210.5601.
- [Sch12] K. Schmüdgen. *Unbounded self-adjoint operators on Hilbert space*. Springer Science & Business Media, 2012.
- [Sun87] V. S. Sunder. An Invitation to von Neumann Algebras. Springer New York, 1987. DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4613-8669-8.
- [SV93] K. Szlachányi and P. Vecsernyés. 'Quantum symmetry and braid group statistics in G-spin models'. Communications in Mathematical Physics 156.1 (1993), pp. 127–168. ISSN: 0010-3616. DOI: 10.1007 / bf02096735.
- [Tak03a] Masamichi Takesaki. Theory of Operator Algebra II. Ed. by Joachim Cuntz and Vaughan F.R. Jones. Vol. 125. Encyclopaedia of Mathematical Sciences. Springer Berlin / Heidelberg, 2003.
- [Tak03b] Masamichi Takesaki. Theory of Operator Algebra III. Ed. by Joachim Cuntz and Vaughan F.R. Jones. Vol. 127. Encyclopaedia of Mathematical Sciences. Springer Berlin / Heidelberg, 2003.
- [Tak55] Zirô Takeda. 'Inductive limit and infinite direct product of operator algebras'. *Tohoku Mathematical Journal* 7.1-2 (1955), pp. 67–86. DOI: 10. 2748/tmj/1178245105.
- [Tak58] Masamichi Takesaki. 'On the direct product of W\*-factors'. Tohoku Mathematical Journal 10.1 (1958), pp. 116–119. DOI: 10.2748/tmj/ 1178244749.
- [Tak79] Masamichi Takesaki. Theory of Operator Algebra I. Ed. by Joachim Cuntz and Vaughan F.R. Jones. Vol. 124. Encyclopaedia of Mathematical Sciences. Springer Science + Business Media, 1979. DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4612-6188-9.
- [Wat90] Yasuo Watatani. 'Index for C\*-subalgebras'. *Memoirs of the American Mathematical Society* 83.424 (1990). DOI: 10.1090/memo/0424.
- [WDF90] X. G. Wen, E. Dagotto and E. Fradkin. 'Anyons on a torus'. *Phys. Rev.* B 42.10 (1990), pp. 6110–6123. DOI: 10.1103/physrevb.42.6110.
- [Wil11] Mark M. Wilde. 'From Classical to Quantum Shannon Theory' (2011). arXiv: 1106.1445.

- [WWW52] G. Wick, A. Wightman and E. Wigner. 'The Intrinsic Parity of Elementary Particles'. *Physical Review* 88.1 (1952), pp. 101–105. DOI: 10. 1103/physrev.88.101.
- [WWZ89] X. G. Wen, Frank Wilczek and A. Zee. 'Chiral spin states and superconductivity'. *Phys. Rev. B* 39.16 (1989), pp. 11413–11423. DOI: 10. 1103/physrevb.39.11413.
- [ZGV14] Yi Zhang, Tarun Grover and Ashvin Vishwanath. 'General procedure for determining braiding and statistics of anyons using entanglement interferometry' (2014). DOI: 10.1103/physrevb.91.035127. arXiv: 1412.0677.

### Index

\*-algebra, 2 \*-derivation, 28 C\*-algebra, 2 unital, 2 algebra auxiliary, 96 local, 26 of local observables, 27 quasilocal, 27 antipode, 33 basic construction, 12 bi-algebra, 33 braiding, 33 centraliser, 31 channel, 119 complementary, 120 correctable, 122 private, 122 character of G, 32 charge projections, 47 charge transporter, 94 co-product, 33 co-unit, 33

code space, 123 conditional expectation, 10 cone, 73 auxiliary, 96 boundary, 70 interior, 70 total ordering, 97 conjugacy class, 31 crossed product, 19 cyclic representation, 5 cyclic vector, 4 dual edge, 39 dual face, 39 dual vertex, 39 dynamical system, 18 von Neumann, 18 dynamics, 27 edge, 39 ergodic, 21 face, 39 factor, 8 irreducible inclusion, 8 subfactor, 8

type I, 9 type II, 9 type III, 9 free, 21 frustration free, 46

### GNS

construction, 4 representation, 5 theorem, 5 GNS construction, 4 ground state representation, 65

Hopf algebra, 33 quasi-triangular, 33

index of subfactors, 11 interaction, 27 interaction range, 27 intertwiner, 94 irreducible inclusion, *see* factor irreducible representation of G, 31

kinematics, 26 Kitaev Hamiltonian, 46

local Hamiltonian, 27 locality, 27, 69

morphism localised, 91 transportable, 94

### part

authorised, 123 unauthorised, 123 parties, 123 Pimsner-Popa

basis, 15 inequality, 15 plaquette, 41 plaquette operator, 45 product, 32 projection abelian, 9 finite, 9 infinite, 9 properly infinite, 9 purely infinite, 9 quantum double, 33 quantum double model, 43 representation, 4 faithful, 4 ribbon, 40 closed, 40 composable, 40 contained in region, 72 crossed, 42 decomposition rule, 45 deformation, 43 deformation equivalent, 43 disjoint, 40 ends/starts at boundary, 73 inverse, 42 left joint, 41 left-right joint, 42 overlapping, 40 right joint, 41 simple deformation, 43 ribbon operator, 45 abelian case, 60 algebra, 49 charge conjugation, 51, 56

crossed ribbons, 58 operator, 44 deformation, 59 overlap, 40 inversion, 59 trivial representation, 32 joins, 57 unit, 32 labelled by irreducible representations of  $\mathcal{D}(G)$ , 50 vertex, 39 splitting, 55 secret sharing scheme, 123 sectors, 90 fusion of, 97 superselection, 90 selection criterion, 93 site, 40 contained in boundary, 72 contained in region, 72 spatial support, 27 stabiliser Hamiltonian, 46 star, 41 star operator, 45 state, 3 faithful, 3 tracial, 3 Stinespring dilation, 120 minimal, 120 strip, 40 superselection rule, 89 support, 27 topology strong operator, 7 uniform, 2 weak operator, 7 triangle, 40 contained in region, 72 direct, 40 dual, 40

# NOTATIONAL INDEX

(C, π), 35	$Z_{G}(g), 31$
$(\pi, U, L)$ , 120	$Z_G(r)_{irr}$ , 47
$(\pi_{\omega}, \mathfrak{H}_{\omega}, \Omega)$ , 5	$[\mathfrak{M}:\mathfrak{N}]$ , 11
$(\rho_1, \rho_2)_{\prec}, 41$	Λ <sup>a</sup> , 96
$(\rho_1, \rho_2)_{\succ}, 41$	Λ <sub>0</sub> , 105
$(\rho_1,\rho_2)_{\times}$ , 42	$\Lambda_1 < \Lambda_2, 97$
$(\rho_1,\rho_2)_{\prec\succ}$ , 42	$\Lambda_1 \ll \Lambda_2, 99$
A <sub>s</sub> , 45	$\Lambda_{(m,n)}^{(h,g),(k,l)}$ , 50
A <sub>loc</sub> , 27	$\Omega_{(m,n)}^{(h,g),(k,l)}, 47$
B <sub>s</sub> , 45	$\Phi(0), 27$
C, 31	Θ 106
$D_{s}^{C,\pi}$ , 47	\$ 29
D <sup>h,g</sup> , 47	0,28
$E_{c}^{c}$ $120$	$\lor$ , 40
$-(\pi, \mathbf{u}, \mathcal{L})$ ,	$\mathbb{C}^2$ , 99
$EC_{,\pi,I,J}$ 55	A, 27
$F_{\rho}^{C,\pi,i,i',j,j'}$ 50	$\mathcal{A}(\mathcal{O})$ , 26
$F_{0}^{h,g}$ , 45	$\mathcal{A}(\{e\}), 26$
G <sub>ci</sub> , 47	Aª, 96
G <sub>irr</sub> , 47	$\mathcal{D}(G)$ , 33
$H_{\Phi}(\Lambda)$ , 27	<b></b> <i></i> (Γ), 99
Η <sub>0</sub> , 46	$\mathcal{F}(\overline{\Gamma})$ , 99
L <sup>h</sup> <sub>τ</sub> , 44	<b>F</b> <sub>ρ</sub> , 49
Q <sub>C</sub> , 31	A, 99
Τ <sup>g</sup> <sub>τ</sub> , 44	<b>B</b> , 99

 $\mathfrak{F}(\Gamma)$ , 99  $\mathfrak{F}(\overline{\Gamma}), 99$  $\mathfrak{M} \rtimes_{\alpha} \mathsf{G}, 19$  $\mathfrak{M}_0, 114$ **p**(Γ), 99 plaq(s), 41 $\mathrm{star}(s), 41$ <u></u>*g*, 31  $\overline{\rho},42$ ðρ, 40 **∂**τ, 40 ρ, 40  $\rho_1\cap\rho_2=\emptyset,40$  $\operatorname{supp}(A),27$ τ, 40  $\tau', 40$ ¢, 22 c<sub>i</sub>, 31  $d_{\Phi}, 27$  $e\leqslant \mathsf{f,8}$ f, 39 i(g), 31 n(g), 31 q(g), 31 q<sub>i</sub>, 31 s, 40
## Curriculum Vitae

Full Name	Leander Karl	Wilhelm	Fiedler
I ull I vullic	Deanact Rail	11 micini	riculti

Date of Birth 28.02.1987

- Place of Birth Böblingen
- Citizenship German

## Academic Career

1998 - 2006	Abitur at Parler Gymnasium Schwäbisch Gmünd
2006 - 2012	Studies in Physics at Universität Leipzig
2009	Bachelor Thesis at the Institute for Experimental Physics Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Frank Cichos Title: Manipulation of the Diffusion of Nanoparticles
2012	Master Thesis at the Institute for Theoretical Physics Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Rainer Verch Title: Deformation of Quantum Field Theories on Black Hole Horizons
2012 - 2016	Research scientist at Institut für Theoretische Physik of Leibniz Universität Hannover under Prof. Reinhard F. Werner.

157